
 
 
 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
 
Date Wednesday 11 March 2020 

Time 9.30 am 

Venue Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham 

 
 

Business 
 

Part A 
 

Items during which the Press and Public are welcome to 
attend. 

Members of the Public can ask questions with the Chairman’s 
agreement 

 
1. Apologies for Absence   

2. Substitute Members   

3. Declarations of Interest   

4. Minutes of the meeting held on 29 January 2020  (Pages 5 - 14) 

5. Selective Licensing: Report of Interim Corporate Director of 
Regeneration and Local Services, Durham County Council  
(Pages 15 - 44) 

6. Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy: Report of Head of 
Partnerships and Community Engagement, Durham County 
Council  (Pages 45 - 104) 

7. Health and Social Care Integration: Verbal update of Corporate 
Director of Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council   

8. County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan. 
2020-25: Report of Corporate Director of Adults and Health 
Services, Durham County Council, and Chief Officer Durham 
Dales, Easington and Sedgefield and North Durham Clinical 
Commissioning Groups  (Pages 105 - 166) 

9. North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust update: Report 
of Head of Strategy & Corporate Affairs, North Tees and 
Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust  (Pages 167 - 186) 



 

 

10. GP Workforce Sustainability: Report of Director of 
Commissioning, Strategy and Development, Durham Dales, 
Easington and Sedgefield CCG and North Durham CCG  (Pages 
187 - 198) 

11. Vaping Consensus Statement: Update from Director of Public 
Health, Durham County Council and Chief Officer, Durham Dales, 
Easington & Sedgefield and North Durham CCG  (Pages 199 - 
204) 

12. County Durham Approach to Wellbeing: Update of Director of 
Public Health, Durham County Council  (Pages 205 - 214) 

13. Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns: Presentation of Director 
of Public Health, Durham County Council  (Pages 215 - 224) 

14. Children and Young People's Mental Health and Wellbeing Local 
Transformation Plan Assurance report: Report Director of Public 
Health, Durham County Council and Director of Corporate 
Programmes, Delivery and Operations, County Durham CCG's  
(Pages 225 - 326) 

15. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

16. Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the 
discussion of items containing exempt information   

 
Part B 

 
Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the 

public (consideration of exempt or confidential information) 
 

17. Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the 
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration   

 
Helen Lynch 

Head of Legal and Democratic Services 
 
County Hall 
Durham 
3 March 2020 
 
 
To: The Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
 Councillors L Hovvels, O Gunn and J Allen 
 
 J Robinson Adult and Health Services, Durham 

County Council 
 J Pearce Children and Young People’s Services, 

Durham County Council 



 

 

 A Healy Public Health, County Durham Adult and 
Health Services, Durham County 
Council 

 Dr D Smart North Durham Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

 Dr S Findlay Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

 Dr J Smith Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

 S Jacques County Durham and Darlington NHS 
Foundation Trust 

 J Gillon North Tees and Hartlepool NHS 
Foundation Trust 

 J Illingworth Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS 
Foundation Trust 

 V Mitchell City Hospitals Sunderland NHS 
Foundation Trust 

 B Jackson Healthwatch County Durham 
 R Chillery Harrogate and District NHS Foundation 

Trust 
 L Jeavons North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington  

and Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning  
Groups and Durham County Council 

 S White 
 
K Wanley 

Office of the Police, Crime, and Victim’s 
Commissioner 
County Durham and Darlington Fire and 
Rescue Service 

 L Hall Housing Solutions 
 
 

Contact: Jackie Graham Tel: 03000 269704 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

At a Meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held in Committee Room 2, 
County Hall, Durham on Wednesday 29 January 2020 at 9.30 am 

 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor L Hovvels (Chairman) 
 

Members of the Board: 
Dr S Findlay, Councillor O Gunn, L Hall, A Healy, L Jeavons, V Mitchell, J Pearce, 
J Robinson and Dr D Smart 
 

1 Apologies for Absence  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor J Allen, N Bailey, D 
Brown, R Chillery, J Gillon, J Illingworth, B Jackson, S Jacques Dr J Smith 
and S White 
 

2 Substitute Members  
 
D Lowry for R Chillery, Dr L Murthy for B Jackson, L Buckley for J Gillon, J 
Carling for S White and R Turnbull for D Brown 
 

3 Declarations of Interest  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

4 Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 27 November 2019 were agreed as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 
 
The Chair congratulated County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation 
Trust for receiving a Care Quality Commission ‘good’ rating. 
 

5 Health Protection Assurance Annual Report  
 
The Board received a report of the Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council that presented an update on health protection assurance 
arrangements in County Durham (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 4



The Director of Public Health reported that the Health Protection Assurance 
and Development Group oversee five main strands of health protection 
activity and had given assurances that satisfactory arrangements were in 
place to protect the public on: 
 

 Screening programmes 

 Immunisation programmes 

 Outbreaks and communicable diseases 

 Strategic regulation interventions 

 Preparedness and response to incidents and emergencies 
 
The Consultant at the Health Protection Agency, Public Health England 
advised that there had been an increase in mumps in younger adults and 
teens and that good work had been carried out in Aycliffe Young People’s 
Centre.  Work across the NHS had been taking place to increase the 
awareness and uptake of the MMR vaccination. 
 
The Director of Public Health commented that flu continued to be a challenge 
especially for some groups such as pregnant women and children however 
the Flu Board would pick this up. 
 
The Chief Clinical Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales, Easington and 
Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning Groups (ND/DDES CCG) asked what 
contingencies were in place should any cases of the Coronavirus present in 
County Durham.  The Consultant in Public Health explained that this was a 
rapidly evolving situation nationally and guidance keeps changing as the 
situation changes.  She assured the Board that there were contingencies in 
place and that support would be provided for those people returning from 
areas that were affected.  Website information was being used as advice 
changes so quickly and a lot of communication had taken place with the local 
authority, schools, prisons and messages to GPs and hospitals about what to 
do if someone presents with the virus.  The test results were taking 
approximately 24-48 hours to process and out of 97 UK nationals tested all 
had been negative so far.  Further to a question from the Chief Operating 
Officer, evidence had shown from China that testing was carried out when 
symptoms presented as they were looking for the virus within the respiratory 
system. 
 
Councillor Gunn commented that the working group at Aycliffe Young 
People’s Centre was recently judged by Ofsted as outstanding in terms of the 
children and young people involvement.  The Director of Public Health 
assured the Board that the Public Health team work with Aycliffe Young 
People’s Centre and have identified a member of Children’s Services to 
become part of the Flu group to ensure that the health protection was part of 
every day business and that children had a voice. 
 

Page 6



Resolved: 
(i) That the content of the report be noted. 
(ii) That local performance continues to be higher than England and 

regional averages and above target for most screening and 
immunisation programmes be noted. 

(iii) That the report provides broad assurance that effective processes are 
in place for each of the key strands of health protection activity be 
noted. 

(iv) That the need for further assurance in relation to flu immunisation 
and the outcome of a national review of screening be supported. 

(v)  
(vi) That further identification and response to emerging health 

protection priorities and be updated accordingly be supported. 
 

6 Strategic Partnerships Governance review  
 
The Board considered a report of the Head of Partnerships and Community 
Engagement, Durham County Council that presented the current review of 
strategic partnership arrangements and requested views and opinions to 
influence the review (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Head of Partnerships and Community Engagement gave a detailed 
presentation that highlighted the following:- 
 

 Background 

 Moving from Good to Great 

 Number of Partnerships 

 County Durham Vision 2035 

 Health and Wellbeing Board development session November 2019 

 Health and Wellbeing Board Structure 

 Integrated Care Board/Integrated Steering Group for Children 
Structure 

 Benchmarking 

 Details on 4 options 

 Streamlining and restructuring current arrangements 
 
The Chief Operating Officer, North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation 
Trust commented that it was important that the strategic governance review 
was focussed on what is required within County Durham which in turn would 
feed up to the Integrated Care Partnership and Integrated Care Systems. .   
The Chief Operating Officer added that as the ICPs develop it was important 
to ensure that decisions made in Durham remain that way and that it was 
timely to look at the governance arrangements.  He went on to say that plans 
were evolving but as Durham was such as big county with a large population 
it was important that as many decisions as possible remained here rather 

Page 7



than being made at a wider geography.  It was therefore important to have 
strong representation at the groups regional/sub-regional groups.  
 
The Police, Crime and Victims’ Commissioner representative was wary of 
combining the County Durham Partnership with the Health and Wellbeing 
Board as the two already had large agendas.  He advocated to continue with 
a separate County Durham Partnership. 
 
Further to a question from the Healthwatch representative, the Head of 
Partnerships and Community Engagement advised that there was no 
preferred option and feedback via the survey was important from the Health 
and Wellbeing Board.  He went on to say that there were strengths in all four 
options. 
 
The Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s services said that 
the vision for County Durham was the starting point and agreed that joining 
the County Durham Partnership with this board would prevent a challenging 
agenda and he could not see how that would work. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the presentation on the review of governance arrangements for 
County Durham’s Strategic Partnership arrangements be received. 

(ii) That the survey circulated following the meeting, to contribute to the 
review, be completed. 

 

7 Health and Social Care Integration  
 
The Board received an update on health and social care integration from the 
Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council.  
She advised that Sarah Burns had been appointed to the Head of Integrated 
Commissioning post. The work to integrate commissioning arrangements 
was progressing with an operating model starting to evolve.  A launch event 
to celebrate the journey so far would take place in February/March and the 
system plan for County Durham would be reported to the Board in March.  
The films shown before the commencement of the meeting would be shared 
with partners and would be used to support recruitment within County 
Durham. 
 
Resolved: 
That the update be noted. 
 

8 Digital developments to support integration arrangements  
 
The Board received a report of the Head of Commissioning, Durham County 
Council that gave an update on the work underway within the North East and 
Cumbria Integrated Care system (ICS), Integrated Care Partnerships (ICP), 

Page 8



as well as activity within the County Durham Integrated Care Partnership 
(CDICP) in relation to digital projects (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Service Manager Operational Support, Adult and Health Services, 
Durham County Council gave a detailed presentation highlighting the 
following:- 
 

 A new regional digital strategy 

 Vision and Objectives 

 5 programme themes 

 20 programme activities 

 County Durham Integrated Care Partnership activity 

 Great North Care Record 
 
In conclusion, the Service Manager explained that the digital strategy and 
action plan aligned to the five year system plan. 
 
The Chair of North Durham CCG believed that patients would be empowered 
having full access to their medical records and asked if this would extend to 
hospital records.  The Service Manager explained that the Great North Care 
Record was focused around the consultation of what was willing to be shared 
for example.Durham County Council’s case management could open up a 
social care client portal.  She would take this back to ask for a full response. 
 
The Healthwatch representative said that this would not be user friendly for 
some of the population and asked if efforts would be made to include those 
people who were not able to easily use the online route.  The Service 
Manager recognised that there was not solution for all and that the Digital 
Group had discussed what could be done around technology to provide a 
better offer for the individual.  This would be included in the action plan. 
 
The Director of Integrated Community Services explained that the health call 
roll out would start in residential and nursing care homes followed by people 
living at home. 
 
Further to a question from Councillor Gunn, the Service Manager explained 
that this was part of the five year plan and would link to communities and 
engagement. 
 
The Chief Operating Officer, ND/DDES CCG said that he had been pushing 
this for a long time and there was a need for patients to look at their own 
records online. 
 
Resolved: 
That the report be noted. 
 

Page 9



9 Using County Durham's Approach to Wellbeing  
 
The Board received a report of the Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council that shared details of a case study in using the County Durham 
Approach to Wellbeing (for copy see file of Minutes). 
 
The Director of Public Health and the Strategic Manager One Point/Think 
Family Services gave a detailed presentation that highlighted the following:- 
 

 County Durham’s Approach to Wellbeing – resilience and wellbeing, 
principles and commitments 

 Wellbeing approach – people and place and supporting systems 

 Project 1 – place based approach to early help 

 Project 2 – holiday activities with food 

 Principles to be adopted 

 Making a difference to place based approach to early help projects and 
holiday activities with food 

 
Councillor Gunn said that there was a lot of good work taking place in the 
communities that share a lot of similarities but that also have noticeable 
differences.  Voluntary organisations, Children and Family workers and Area 
Action Partnership Co-ordinators work together to arrange essential holiday 
activities.  She asked what learning from that could be applied to other 
organisations and projects.  The Strategic Manager advised that for place 
based work it was essential to engage with the children, young people and 
families about issues that were important to them, including any services that 
were not currently accessible to them.  She added that this was in the early 
stages of development and would see improvements as services were 
developed. 
 
Referring to the development of a Youth Council, Councillor Gunn 
commented that going forward the liaison with young people and 
communities would further enhance the current offer to children and young 
and would also be a valuable resource on which to draw to ensure their voice 
was heard. 
 
The Chair said that the community were very capable and willing to take 
control and that this approach would help to empower them.  She was also 
pleased to hear how powerful it was to have the voice of the child being 
recognised. 
 
Resolved: 
That the use of the Approach to Wellbeing in this case study and the 
opportunity it has brought to encourage greater community engagement and 
co-production in the development of new services be noted. 
 

Page 10



10 Think Autism Strategy - update report  
 
The Board received a joint report of the Corporate Director of Adult and 
Health Services, Durham County Council, and Corporate Director of Children 
and Young People's Services, Durham County Council that gave an update 
as to progress following the launch of the all age ‘Think Autism’: Autism 
Strategy and Action Plan across County Durham (2018/19-2020/21) (for copy 
see file of Minutes). 
 
The Strategic Commissioning Manager Learning Disability/ Mental Health 
and the Strategic Manager Specialist Inclusion Support, Durham County 
Council informed the Board of the progress made on the six priority areas of 
the strategy and action plan. 
 
The Chair asked how partners could support Autism week and was advised 
that communications were already taking place and that partners were 
involved in the planning stages. 
 
Councillor Gunn said that this had been a success last year.  She asked if 
there were any further details available on the action plan and strategy and 
was advised that the local offer platform had been shaped and was linked to 
the Autism Champion. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the findings of the report be noted. 
(ii) That the next steps as outlined in the report be agreed. 
(iii) That support of the implementation of the All Age Autism Strategy be 

continued. 
 

11 Mental Health Strategic Partnership update  
 
The Board received a report of the Director of Commissioning, Strategy and 
Delivery - Mental Health and Learning Disabilities, Clinical Commissioning 
Groups that outlined a number of key outcomes and deliverables against the 
Strategic Plan by the five workstreams (for copy see file of minutes). 
 
Councillor Gunn was interested in Kooth, an online counselling programme, 
and how young people access that.  She was also pleased to see the 
successful trailblazer bid with just under £1m being secured for County 
Durham. Finally, she asked how we would encourage people to talk about 
mental health and how to raise awareness.  In terms of Kooth, the Director of 
Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery advised that there were routine 
reports available on uptake of the programme and he would circulate to the 
board.  The Director of Public Health confirmed that there were a range of 
activities planned across the County and links would be circulated for the 
Time to Change website. 

Page 11



 
Further to a question about the work being carried out in relation to suicides 
and the evidence of the impact of that, the Strategic Public Health Manager 
advised that there was a system wide approach on prevention that supported 
people who were in crisis and at risk of taking their own lives.  She added 
that full details could be found in the report and that there had been a slight 
reduction from last year. 
 
As the County Council’s Mental Health Champion, the chair asked if the 
same good practice was being applied in other organisations.  She was 
advised that this was prevalent in many organisations such as the CCGs, 
Police and Fire.  There was also dedicated post in Business Durham. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the progress made be noted. 
(ii) That to receive a further update relating to ambitions and priorities 

beyond 2020, linked to the developing new Joint Health & 
Wellbeing Strategy be agreed. 

 

12 Housing, Homes and Health  
 
The Board received a report of the Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council that gave an overview of the importance of housing and the home 
environment in improving health outcomes for the population of County 
Durham and provided an update on the work undertaken to address housing 
and health needs across the county (for copy see file of minutes).  
 
The Strategic Public Health Manager and the Housing Solutions Manager 
highlighted the importance of housing on health and outlined the next steps 
for extending the action of the council and partners to promote a system-wide 
approach to this work. 
 
Councillor Gunn thanked the officers for the detailed report that set out 
clearly the impact of poor housing and homelessness on people including 
children and young people.  The report also set out the costs to the NHS and 
she pointed out the great work taking place despite working to the confines of 
the Council’s financial envelope. 
 
Resolved: 

(i) That the content of the report be noted. 
(ii) That the options for Housing Partnership groups to work collaboratively 

to further explore opportunities to initiate a strategic Housing and 
Health Group which would include the council, NHS and housing 
provider partners be agreed. 

 

13 Health and Wellbeing Board campaigns  

Page 12



 
The Board noted a presentation from the Director of Public Health, on the 
following public health campaigns (for copy of presentation see file of 
minutes): 
 

 Alcohol 

 Dry January 

 Tobacco 

 Mental Health  

 Breastfeeding 

 Flu 
 

Page 13



This page is intentionally left blank



 

            

       

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

11 March 2020 

 Selective Licencing  

   

Report of Geoff Paul, Interim Corporate Director of Regeneration 
and Local Services, Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 
Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to update members of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board on the progress made in relation to Durham County 
Council’s business case for county wide selective licencing and to 
inform members of consultation prior to a presentation by the Strategic 
Manager for Housing.  

Executive summary 

2 County Durham has approximately 241,600 residential properties 
across 290 settlements.  The county stretches from the North Pennines 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) in the west to the North 
Sea Heritage Coast in the east.  
  

3 The county has a dispersed settlement pattern of towns and villages 
which is a legacy of the rise and fall of mining, steel and other heavy 
industries.  The housing offer in the county reflects issues of its post-
industrial history.  Whilst there are some beautiful places to live in the 
county, with a mix of traditional, older housing and more modern family 
accommodation which are well connected to labour markets and for 
which very strong demand is clearly evident, there remains a general 
oversupply of poorer quality terraced housing.  In localised areas, this 
stock can be subject to lower demand and can be associated with 
higher than average proportions of longer-term empty properties.  

4 The Housing Act 2004 gave local authorities the powers to introduce 
selective licensing of privately rented homes in order to tackle problems 
in their areas that result from low housing demand and/or significant 
anti-social behaviour.  This means that landlords who rent out 
properties in an area that is subject to selective licensing are required to 

 

Page 15

Agenda Item 5



obtain a licence from the local authority for each of their properties in 
order to rent them out.  
 

5 Selective licensing is a discretionary scheme for local authorities and 
covers privately rented properties.  The Housing Act 2004 allows local 
housing authorities to designate areas for Selective Licensing to support 
the improvement of privately rented properties, providing certain 
conditions are met.  
 

6 In areas designated, landlords must apply for a licence if they want to 
rent out a property, this includes landlords who rely on lettings agents to 
manage their properties on their behalf.  This means the council can 
check whether they are a “fit or proper person” to be a landlord or letting 
agent, as well as making other stipulations concerning management of 
the property and appropriate safety measures.   The stipulations are 
listed in the licence conditions and the conditions are at the discretion of 
the local authority although there are 5 mandatory conditions.  

  

7 Failure to do this could result in a fine and/or a criminal conviction.  
There are positive impacts for both tenants and landlords associated 
with selective licencing in problematic areas.  

  
8 In April 2015 additional criteria was introduced which extended the 

conditions for designating an area to include: areas experiencing poor 
property conditions; an influx of migration; a high level of deprivation; 
and high levels of crime, thus enabling local authorities to make 
effective use of selective licensing to address specific problems in 
certain areas.  

  
9 Under the amendments introduced in 2015, should a local authority 

decide to make a designation that covers more than 20% of its 
geographical area or more than 20% of the private rented stock, an 
application to the Secretary of State will be required.  
 

10 In January 2020 Durham County Council’s Cabinet agreed to the 
proposed areas and to formally consult on these proposals over a 10-
week period.  Then to receive a further report detailing the results of the 
consultation exercise with a view to reviewing the proposals and 
submitting a formal application to the Secretary of State to set up a SLS 
in Durham. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



Recommendations 
 
11 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommemded to: 

 
(a) Note and comment on the information provided in the report and 

presentation. 

(b) Promote the Selective Licensing consultation and encourage 
feedback. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 17



Background 

12 The Housing Act 2004 gave local authorities the powers to introduce 
selective licensing of privately rented homes in order to tackle problems 
in their areas that result from low housing demand and/or significant 
anti-social behaviour.  This means that landlords who rent out 
properties in an area that is subject to selective licensing are required to 
obtain a licence from the local authority for each of their properties in 
order to rent them out.  

  
13 Selective licensing is a discretionary scheme for local authorities and 

covers privately rented properties.  The Housing Act 2004 allows local 
housing authorities to designate areas for Selective Licensing to support 
the improvement of privately rented properties, providing certain 
conditions are met.  

  
14 In areas designated, landlords must apply for a licence if they want to 

rent out a property, this includes landlords who rely on lettings agents to 
manage their properties on their behalf.  This means the council can 
check whether they are a “fit or proper person” to be a landlord or letting 
agent, as well as making other stipulations concerning management of 
the property and appropriate safety measures.   The stipulations are 
listed in the licence conditions and the conditions are at the discretion of 
the local authority.  
 

15 Failure to do this could result in a fine.  There are positive impacts for 
both tenants and landlords associated with selective licencing in 
problematic areas.  It can lead to:  

  
(a) more reliable, longer term tenancies, 

(b)  better quality and safer property standards,  

(c) fewer empty properties,  

(d) reduced levels of homelessness,  

(e) increased property and rent values,  

(f) safer, more pleasant areas to live due to lower levels of crime, 
littering and other anti-social activity.  

 

 

 

Page 18



16 Landlords have access to:  
  

(a) help to deal with problem tenants,  

(b) support and advice on how to be a better landlord,  

(c) opportunities to join landlords' forums and be involved in the 
development of future local initiatives.  

17 In April 2015 additional criteria was introduced which extended the 
conditions for designating an area to include: areas experiencing poor 
property conditions; an influx of migration; a high level of deprivation; 
and high levels of crime, thus enabling local authorities to make 
effective use of selective licensing to address specific problems in 
certain areas.  

  

18 Under the amendments introduced in 2015, should a local authority 
decide to make a designation that covers more than 20% of its 
geographical area or more than 20% of the private rented stock, an 
application to the Secretary of State will be required.  

  
19 For selective licensing to work effectively, it should form part of a wider 

strategic approach to an area.  Local authorities should ensure selective 
licensing complements other measures where other measures alone 
are not enough to tackle the underlying housing problems of a specific 
area.  

  

20 Selective licensing must be consistent with the Council’s overall housing 
strategy and be co-ordinated with procedures for homelessness, empty 
homes, anti-social behaviour and housing market renewal activity.  The 
authority must also demonstrate the role of other partners such as 
police and social services in ensuring the designation reaches its goal.  

  
21 A designation can run for a maximum of five years and the 

administration of the scheme can be funded from the licence fee.   

County Durham Housing in Context  

  

22 County Durham has of approximately 241,600 residential properties 
across 290 settlements.  The county stretches from the North Pennines 
Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) in the west to the North 
Sea Heritage Coast in the east.  

23 The county has a dispersed settlement pattern of towns and villages 
which is a legacy of the rise and fall of mining, steel and other heavy 
industries.  The housing offer in the county reflects issues of its post-
industrial history.  Whilst there are some beautiful places to live in the 

Page 19



county, with a mix of traditional, older housing and more modern family 
accommodation which are well connected to labour markets and for 
which very strong demand is clearly evident, there remains a general 
oversupply of poorer quality terraced housing.  In localised areas, this 
stock can be subject to lower demand and can be associated with 
higher than average proportions of longer-term empty properties.  

  
24 Long term empty properties can be clustered in particular locations, 

tenures or even settlements.  The council understands the impact that 
long term empty homes can have on a community and will work to bring 
stock back into use where possible.  

  

25 It is recognised that without local or government funding to tackle 
housing regeneration in deprived communities these areas will continue 
to decline.   Lack of funding is likely to constrain the ability of local areas 
to respond to regeneration needs.  

  
26 Prior to Large Scale Voluntary Transfers (LSVTs) in Durham social 

housing stock was brought up to the decent homes standard then 
following LSVT social housing providers have continued investment in 
their stock and areas.  

  

27 Following austerity savings in local government, the resource available 
to services within the private rented sector (PRS) continues to reduce 
and as a result, quality can lag in the PRS.  Without any investment, it 
will continue to do so.  

  
28 A new Housing and Homelessness Strategy for County Durham was 

published in 2019  This will show how the proposed selective licencing 
will be co-ordinated with procedures for homelessness, empty homes, 
antisocial behaviour and housing market renewal activity.  

  

29 This application for selective licencing will demonstrate the role of other 
partners such as police and social services in ensuring the designation 
reaches its goal.  

  
30 At recent town and villages regeneration meetings attended by the 

Portfolio Holders for Economic Regeneration and Strategic Housing and 
Assets, the issues within the PRS were consistently raised by local 
Members.  

 

 
 

 

Page 20



Conditions for applying for a selective licence designation  
  

31 The Housing Act 2004 (amended 2015) sets out the conditions required 
for a selective licencing designation.  The designation may be made if 
the area to which it relates satisfies one or more of the following 
conditions:  

  
(a) low housing demand;  

(b) anti-social behaviour;  

(c) poor property conditions;  

(d) high levels of migration; 

(e) high levels of deprivation; and  

(f) high levels of crime.  

32 In considering whether to designate an area for selective licensing on 
the grounds of the above, consideration should be given to whether the 
area has a high proportion of property in the private rented sector.  
Nationally the private rented sector currently makes up almost 20% of 
the total housing stock in England, according to the most recent English 
Housing Survey of 2015/16.  

  

33 In addition, when considering whether to make a selective licensing 
designation the local authority must first identify the objective it intends 
designation will help it achieve.  It must also consider whether there are 
any other courses of action available that would achieve the same 
objective.  

  
34 It is also important in any application to demonstrate how selective 

licensing will work in partnership with other existing initiatives (e.g. 
landlord accreditation).  Selective licensing itself is not a stand-alone 
tool.  

  

35 Overall, the Government intends that selective licensing be used only 
where absolutely necessary and whilst it is often seen as the only 
solution in local communities, the criteria surrounding it means that it is 
a complex and extremely time-consuming approach, but where 
appropriately used it can be part of an overall solution to particular 
challenges.  

  
36 If the problems of anti-social behaviour are only associated with a small 

number of properties, Special Interim Management Orders (SIMO) 
should be considered rather than a selective licensing designation.  This 

Page 21



authorises the council to take control of the residential property, 
however, it should only be used as a last resort for the most problematic 
of properties and only for one or two properties in a street, not for whole 
streets of properties.  

  
37 Once a SIMO has been made, the council effectively becomes the 

temporary landlord of the premises concerned.  Whilst it does not obtain 
any interest in the property, it becomes responsible for its proper 
management and for ensuring that any immediate health, safety or 
welfare concerns are dealt with as soon as possible.  Once a SIMO has 
been made, the landlord may not become involved in the management 
of the property or create tenancies or licences.  However, the council 
may only issue new tenancies and licences with the approval of the 
landlord.   
 

38 SIMO’s are therefore only a single measure in the council’s response to 
issues in the private rented sector.  

  

Consultation requirements  
  

39 In seeking to progress a selective licensing designation, local authorities 
must take reasonable steps to consult persons who are likely to be 
affected and consider any representations made in accordance with the 
consultation.  Consultation should include local residents, including 
tenants, landlords and where appropriate, their managing agents and 
other members of the community who live or operate businesses or 
provide services within the proposed designation.  

  
40 Consultation should be widely publicised using various channels of 

communication.  Once the consultation has been completed the results 
should then be published and made available to the local community, 
including a summary of the responses received and should demonstrate 
how these have either been acted on or not, giving reasons.  

  
41 Where selective licensing requires confirmation from secretary of state it 

cannot come into force until three months after it has been confirmed by 
the Secretary of State.  

 

Proposed Selective Licensing in County Durham  
  

42 Data has been considered from Durham County Council, Durham 
Constabulary and Durham Fire and Rescue Service and has been 
broken down into Middle Super Output Area (66 in total) 
 

Page 22



43 It is proposed that 43 of the 66 areas are to be designated as they meet 
one or more of the conditions, this equates to approximately 65% of the 
MSOAs or 75% of the PRS stock 

 
44 The evidence focussed on low demand, anti-social behaviour and 

deprivation and will not be considering any designations on the 
conditions of migration, poor property conditions or crime.  It is 
proposed there will be four designations: 

 
(a) Designation 1 – low demand 

(b) Designation 2 – ASB 

(c) Designation 3 – Low Demand & ASB 

(d) Designation 4 – Deprivation  

Consultation in County Durham 

45 Consultation commenced on 17th February 2020 and will run until 27th 
April 2020 and will include representation at numerous venues and 
audiences: 
 

(a) Two Landlord events 

(b) A minimum of 21 drop in sessions for residents across county to be 
held in customer access points and libraries 

(c) Attendance at planned meetings 

(d) Awareness raising of consultation & how people can take part 
through social media 

(e) Formal letters to internal and external partners for example 
Durham constabulary, social housing providers etc. 

46 Feedback can be given on line at www.durham.gov.uk/consultation, 
staff will be available at events to assist with the completion of surveys if 
needed.  

Next Steps  

47 All responses to consultation will be analysed to inform a business case 
to be presented to Durham County Council cabinet members in June 
2020.  

48 Following cabinet approval, the business case will be submitted to the 
Secretary of State for consideration. 
 

Page 23

http://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation


49 A selection of workstreams will be set up with both internal and external 
partners to consider: 

 

(a) Procedures needed to deliver a successful scheme 

(b) Recruitment of staff 

(c) Potential impact on partners 

Author 

Lynn Hall Tel:  03000 265728 

  

Page 24



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications – Under the Housing Act 2004 the introduction of 
Selective Licensing requires the Council to demonstrate that the conditions 
triggering eligibility for the imposition of such restriction are applicable in all or 
part of the area.  If more than 20% of the Council’s area is to be the subject of 
Selective Licensing, approval is required from the Secretary of State. 

 
Finance - Interim measures to be funded from reserves.  New licensing 

activity will be funded from the licence fees, although any further issues 
encountered will be flagged in the business case. 
  

Consultation - Consultation required with staff, landlords, residents and 
members.  
 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty – Not Applicable 
 
Climate change – No implications 
 
Human Rights – Not Applicable 
 
Crime and Disorder - The aim of this approach is to reduce crime and 
antisocial behaviour in certain geographical areas.  
 

Staffing - Within existing staffing resource until approval received from 
secretary of state then recruitment will take place and funded from selective 
licensing fees. 

  
Accommodation – Fixed desk accommodation will be required for 
approximately 35 staff and the remaining staff with “hot desk” within current 
locations with enforcement staff potentially co locating with Durham 
Constabulary. 
 

Risk - The areas may decline if selective licensing designation is not 
introduced.  An application requiring Secretary of State approval might not be 
approved.  Landlords opposed to Selective Licensing could mount a legal 
challenge 
 

Procurement – Not Applicable 
 

Page 25



This page is intentionally left blank



Selective Licensing of 

Private Landlords 

11 March 2020

P
age 27



What is Selective Licensing?

• Introduced under Part 3 of the Housing Act 

2004 

• Allows a local authority to designate either 

part or the whole of its area for selective 

licensing providing certain conditions are met. 

• It applies to all privately rented properties 

within a designated area and landlords will 

need to apply to the local authority for a 

licence.  

P
age 28



Selective Licensing Criteria

• Low Housing Demand

• A significant and persistent problem caused by anti-

social behaviour

• Poor Property Conditions

• High Levels of Migration

• High Levels of Deprivation

• High Levels of Crime

In addition for all conditions apart from low housing 

demand and ASB the area must have high levels of 

privately rented accommodationP
age 29



Why Selective Licensing?

• Poor housing and management can lead to housing 

market decline/failure

• Housing strategy – objective to improve the quality 

and management of privately rented properties in 

County Durham

• Better protect tenants

• Tackle poor landlords offering unsatisfactory 

accommodation and poor management practices

• Provide support and  training to landlords and tenants

P
age 30



Private Rented Sector Map

P
age 31



PRS Statistics

0.0

10.0

20.0

30.0

40.0

50.0

60.0

70.0

D
u
rh

a
m

 C
it
y

A
n

n
fi
e
ld

 P
la

in
 S

o
u
th

 a
n
d

 S
o
u

th
 M

o
o
r

H
o
rd

e
n

D
a
w

d
o
n
 a

n
d
 S

e
a
h
a
m

 H
a
rb

o
u
r

S
h

ild
o
n

L
e
a

d
g
a
te

 N
o
rt

h
 a

n
d
 C

o
n

s
e
tt

 E
a
s
t

S
p

e
n
n
y
m

o
o

r-
G

re
e
n
 L

a
n
e
 a

n
d
 D

e
a

n
 B

a
n
k

E
a

s
in

g
to

n
 C

o
lli

e
ry

 N
o

rt
h

G
ile

s
g

a
te

 M
o
o
r

L
a
n

g
le

y
 M

o
o
r 

a
n
d

 N
e
v
ill

e
s
 C

ro
s
s

B
is

h
o
p
 A

u
c
k
la

n
d
 a

n
d
 S

o
u
th

 C
h
u
rc

h

C
h
ilt

o
n
 a

n
d

 F
e
rr

y
h
ill

 S
ta

ti
o
n

E
s
h
 W

in
n
in

g
 a

n
d

 U
s
h

a
w

 M
o
o

r 
W

e
s
t

C
o
rn

fo
rt

h
 a

n
d
 F

e
rr

y
h
ill

M
u

rt
o

n
 S

o
u
th

 a
n

d
 S

o
u
th

 H
e

tt
o
n

N
e
w

to
n
 A

y
c
lif

fe
 E

a
s
t

N
e
w

to
n
 A

y
c
lif

fe
 C

e
n

tr
a

l

B
la

c
k
h

a
lls

P
e

lt
o

n
 a

n
d

 G
ra

n
g

e
 V

ill
a

D
e
lv

e
s
 a

n
d
 L

e
a
d
g
a
te

 S
o

u
th

A
n

n
fi
e
ld

 P
la

in
 N

o
rt

h
 a

n
d

 D
ip

to
n
 S

o
u
th

A
c
re

 R
ig

g
 a

n
d
 P

e
te

rl
e
e

 C
e
n
tr

a
l

S
ta

n
le

y
 N

o
rt

h
 a

n
d

 K
ip

 H
ill

C
ra

g
h
e

a
d
 a

n
d
 S

o
u
th

 S
ta

n
le

y

L
a
n

g
le

y
 P

a
rk

 C
o

rn
s
a
y
 a

n
d
 S

a
tl
e
y

B
o

w
b
u
rn

 a
n

d
 S

h
in

c
lif

fe

C
ro

o
k
 S

o
u
th

 a
n
d
 W

ill
in

g
to

n
 N

o
rt

h

S
h

o
tt
o
n

 C
o
lli

e
ry

B
e

a
rp

a
rk

 a
n
d
 W

it
to

n
 G

ilb
e
rt

A
y
c
lif

fe
 V

ill
a
g
e

 N
e
w

to
n
 A

y
c
lif

fe
 S

o
u
th

E
a

s
in

g
to

n
 C

o
lli

e
ry

 S
o
u
th

 a
n
d
 E

d
e
n

 H
ill

F
ra

m
w

e
llg

a
te

 M
o

o
r 

a
n
d
 P

it
y
 M

e

B
y
e
rs

 G
re

e
n
 a

n
d

 S
p
e

n
n
y
m

o
o
r

S
t 

H
e
le

n
s
 A

u
c
k
la

n
d

 a
n
d
 W

e
s
t 
A

u
c
k
la

n
d

B
u

rn
o
p
fi
e
ld

 D
ip

to
n
 N

o
rt

h
 a

n
d
 T

a
n

to
b
ie

C
o
c
k
to

n
 H

ill
 a

n
d
 E

th
e

rl
e
y
 D

e
n
e

T
h
o
rn

le
y
 D

e
a
f 
H

ill
 a

n
d

 W
h
e

a
tl
e
y
 H

Il
l

C
o
n

s
e
tt

 W
e
s
t 
a
n

d
 C

a
s
tl
e

s
id

e

H
u
tt

o
n
 H

e
n

ry
 a

n
d

 W
in

g
a
te

S
h

e
rb

u
rn

 a
n

d
 W

e
s
t 
R

a
in

to
n

C
h
e

s
te

r-
le

-S
tr

e
e
t 
W

e
s
t 
a
n
d
 P

e
lt
o
n
 F

e
ll

C
o
u

n
d
o
n
 a

n
d
 W

ill
in

g
to

n
 S

o
u
th

C
a
s
s
o

p
 a

n
d

 C
o
x
h
o
e

S
a

c
ri
s
to

n
 a

n
d
 W

a
ld

ri
d
g

e

F
is

h
b
u

rn
 a

n
d
 T

ri
m

d
o
n
s

D
a
lt
o
n
-l

e
-D

a
le

 a
n
d
 D

e
n
e
s
id

e

B
ra

n
d
o
n

C
h
e

s
te

r-
le

-S
tr

e
e
t 
S

o
u
th

C
ro

o
k
 N

o
rt

h
 H

o
w

d
e
n
-l

e
-W

e
a

r 
a

n
d
 T

o
w

…

H
e
n

k
n
o

w
le

 a
n
d
 W

o
o
d
h

o
u
s
e
 C

lo
s
e

P
a

s
s
fi
e

ld
 a

n
d
 S

h
o
tt
o

n

S
p

e
n
n
y
m

o
o

r 
N

o
rt

h
 a

n
d

 T
u
d
h
o
e

B
a

rn
a
rd

 C
a
s
tl
e

 a
n
d
 S

ta
rt

fo
rt

h

S
e

a
h
a
m

 N
o
rt

h
 a

n
d
 S

e
a
to

n

H
a
m

s
te

rl
e
y
 a

n
d
 S

ta
in

d
ro

p

B
o

u
rn

m
o
o

r 
a

n
d
 G

re
a
t 
L

u
m

le
y

M
e

d
o
m

s
le

y
 a

n
d
 S

h
o
tl
e
y

B
e

a
m

is
h

 O
u

s
to

n
 a

n
d
 U

rp
e
th

B
e

lm
o

n
t 
a
n

d
 C

a
rv

ill
e

L
a
n

c
h

e
s
te

r

S
ta

n
h
o
p

e
 a

n
d
 W

o
ls

in
g

h
a
m

C
h
e

s
te

r-
le

-S
tr

e
e
t 
N

o
rt

h

M
id

ri
d
g

e
 a

n
d

 W
o

o
d
h
a
m

 V
ill

a
g
e

B
is

h
o
p
 M

id
d

le
h
a

m
 a

n
d
 S

e
d
g
e
fi
e
ld

B
o

w
e
s
 a

n
d
 M

id
d

le
to

n
-i
n
-T

e
e
s
d
a
le

B
ra

s
s
id

e
 a

n
d
 N

e
w

to
n
 H

a
ll

%
 P

R
S

% PRS

P
age 32



Proposals
• Data collected across the county

• Broken down by Middle Super Output Area (66 in 

total)

• 43 areas included in the proposals as meet one 

or more of the conditions (approx. 65% of the 

MSOAs or 75% of the PRS stock)

• We will not be replying on the conditions of 

migration, poor property conditions or crime

• Evidence focussed on low demand, anti-social 

behaviour and deprivation

P
age 33



Designations

• Designation 1 – Low Demand

• Designation 2 – ASB

• Designation 3 – Low Demand & ASB

• Designation 4 – Deprivation 

P
age 34



Map of all areas included in 

proposals

P
age 35



Anti-social BehaviourP
age 36



House Prices

P
age 37



DeprivationP
age 38



Licence Conditions & Fees

• Mandatory conditions set by legislation

• Additional local conditions relating to

• Tenancy Management

• Property Management

• Anti-social Behaviour

• The licence fee is proposed to be 

approximately £500 and payable in two parts

P
age 39



Penalties

• Landlords who fail to obtain a licence or 

breach licence conditions could face 

prosecution or civil penalty notice

• Rent Repayment Orders (RRO)

• Banning Orders

• Rogue Landlords Database

P
age 40



Consultation

• 17th February – 27th April 2020

• 2 landlord events

• 21 drop in sessions for residents across county

• Attendance at planned meetings

• Raise awareness of consultation & how people 

can take part

• Support and assist residents to “Have their Say”

P
age 41



We want to hear people’s views ….

Online at

www.durham.gov.uk/consultation

Or contact us on 03000 268000

selectivelicensing@durham.gov.uk

P
age 42

http://www.durham.gov.uk/consultation
mailto:selectivelicensing@durham.gov.uk


Next Steps …..

• Formal consultation

• Analyse the results of the consultation

• Feedback to everyone who took part

• Cabinet to make a decision on whether 

to submit a business case to secretary 

of state

P
age 43



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

Health and Wellbeing Board    
 

11 March 2020 

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

2020-25 

 

Report of Gordon Elliott, Head of Partnerships and Community 
Engagement, Durham County Council 

Electoral division affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The purpose of this report is to present the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy (JHWS) 2020-2025 for agreement.  The strategy is attached as 
Appendix 2. 

Executive summary 

2 The JHWS is a legal requirement under the Health and Social Care Act 
2012, to ensure health and social care agencies work together to agree 
services and initiatives which should be prioritised.   
 

3 The Health and Wellbeing Board has the responsibility to deliver the 
JHWS, which is informed by the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
(JSNA), as part of Durham Insight, which is an assessment of the 
current and future health, wellbeing and social care needs of residents 
in County Durham. 
 

4 The JHWS is aligned to the Director of Public Health Annual Report 
2018, the County Durham Vision 2035, the Five-Year Health and Care 
System Plan and the North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care 
System Plan. 
 

5 The current JHWS 2016-19 ran until the end of 2019, therefore the 
JHWS 2020-15 meets our duty under the Health and Social Care Act 
2012.   
 

6 The JHWS has been developed to provide a holding position for a year 
whilst further work is undertaken.  The strategy will be reviewed in 2021 
and further developed for 2021-25. 
 

Page 45

Agenda Item 6



7 A range of consultation has been undertaken on the strategy, details of 
which are provided in this report.  The consultation feedback has been 
used to inform the strategy which will be presented to the Board for 
agreement at the meeting on 11 March and will also be used to shape 
the refreshed strategy for 2021-25. 

Recommendation 

8 Members of  the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 
 
(a) Agree the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-25.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 46



Background 

9 At the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting in November 2019, the draft 
JHWS 2020-25 was presented for comment.  Following discussion at 
the meeting, it was agreed that a strategy would be developed to 
provide a holding position for a year while a strategic governance review 
of partnerships was undertaken, linked to the new County Durham 
Vision 2035.  The strategy will then be refreshed and further developed 
in 2021, following the outcome of the governance review. 
 

10 The 2021 strategy refresh will also consider the Marmot 10-year review, 
which was recently published, to ensure there is alignment with these 
recommendations and the JHWS objectives. 

 

JHWS Consultation 
 
11 Consultation took place between December 2019 and February 2020 on 

the JHWS, which included public consultation via the Durham County 
Council website, partner consultation including Public Health, Area 
Action Partnerships and Investing in Children.  Children and Young 
People and Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees were also offered an opportunity to comment on the JHWS. 
 

12 The Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
noted the content of the JHWS at their meeting in January 2020. The 
committee welcomed the strategy and were happy to hear of the close 
work with children and young people in developing the starting well 
priority.  The committee agreed with the strategic priorities and 
objectives in the JHWS. 
 

13 The Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
noted the content of the JHWS at their meeting in January 2020 and 
support the life course approach.  The committee agreed with the 
strategic priorities and objectives in the JHWS and noted the 
importance of including the social determinants of health in the strategy. 
 

14 Adults, Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee noted  
they would like to see the strategy to be more explicit in what is meant 

by active travel and how it can be delivered in a responsible and 

sustainable manner. This has been amended in the narrative of the 

JHWS. Members also commented on the level of development in early 

years. 

15 There were 84 responses to the public consultation.  All three of the 
strategic priorities had high levels of agreement with the strategic 
priorities: 

Page 47



(a) 95% agreeing ‘starting well’   
(b) 96% agreeing ‘living well’   
(c) 97% agreeing ‘ageing well’   

 
16 There was support for the wellbeing approach with members of the 

public keen to see partners working collaboratively and innovatively with 
local communities.  
 

17 Young people aged between 5-21 provided feedback on the JHWS.  
Overall the young people agreed that the strategic priorities were 
correct as they covered the life course. Young people provided 
feedback on how they felt the strategic priorities and objectives could be 
achieved, including working with children, young people and families to 
better understand how to live well, mental health support, and 
intergenerational activities and support.  
 

18 As a result of the consultation, details of the changes made to the 
JHWS are outlined below. 

 
19 Feedback on the objective that ‘no child will be born to a mother who 

smokes’ has suggested that this may be disparaging to this group of 
women.  Feedback from another group has also noted that this is a 
good objective to have. To reflect comments, the wording has been 
amended to ‘we will have a smoke free environment with over 95% of 
our residents not smoking and an ambition that pregnant women and 
mothers will not smoke’ 
  

20 Following feedback, the strategy has been strengthened to include 
reference to a ‘Think Family’ approach and the links between an 
improved environment and improved health and wellbeing are made 
clearer.  

 

JHWS Vision and Strategic Priorities 

21 The vision for the JHWS is ‘County Durham is a healthy place, where 
people live well for longer’. 
 

22 It was agreed at the Health and Wellbeing Board meeting in November 
2018 that a life course approach would be used in the strategy, focusing 
on the following three priorities: 
 
(a) Starting well 
(b) Living well 
(c) Ageing well 

 

Page 48



23 Mental health and wellbeing and the social determinants of health are 
cross cutting themes across all priorities and the work of the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.  

 

Strategic Objectives 
 
24 The strategy is developed under the three strategic priorities outlined in 

paragraph 22 of the report, with six strategic objectives chosen across 
the three priorities, which are of importance given the impact they have 
on people’s health and wellbeing. There was widespread agreement 
with the strategic objectives through the public consultation.  
 

25 Following consultation feedback the strategic objective ‘We will have a 
smoke free environment with over 95% of our residents not smoking 
and an ambition that no child will be born to a mother who smokes’ was 
amended.   
 

26 The six Strategic Objectives have been agreed as follows:   
 

(a) Improve healthy life expectancy and reduce the gap within County 
Durham and between County Durham and England  

(b) We will have a smoke free environment with over 95% of our 
residents not smoking and an ambition that pregnant women and 
mothers will not smoke 

(c) Close the gap in the employment rate between those living with a 
long-term health condition, learning disability, in contact with 
secondary mental health services and the overall employment rate 

(d) Over 90% of our children aged 4-5 years, and 79% of children aged 
10-11 years are of a healthy weight 

(e) Improved self-reported wellbeing 
(f) Increase the number of organisations involved in Better Health at 

Work Award 

 
Core Deliverables 
 
27 The JHWS includes a number of core deliverables that identify the key 

areas of work which the Health and Wellbeing Board will focus on, 
linked to the priorities and objectives.   
 

28 A number of actions have amended wording or are new following 
consultation. A full list of core deliverables is shown in Appendix 3.   

 
29 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) is being undertaken alongside the 

development of the strategy which is attached at Appendix 4. 
 

 

Page 49



Conclusion 

30 The development of the JHWS has been led by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, supported by a multi-agency working group.  The 
strategy has been informed by updates on policy information, 
consultation and evidence from the JSNA. The JHWS is aligned to the 
Director of Public Health Annual Report 2018, the County Durham Place 
Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-2025 and the North East 
and North Cumbria Integrated Care System Plan. 

 

Background papers 

• Draft JHWS 2020-25.  Report to Health and Wellbeing Board, 
November 2019  

  

Author 
Julie Bradbrook      Tel: 03000 267325 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 50



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 

Legal Implications 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 places clear duties on local authorities 
and Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to prepare a JHWS. 
 

Finance 
Ongoing pressure on the public services will challenge all agencies to 

consider how best to ensure effective services are delivered in the most 

efficient way. 

 

The demographic profile of the County in terms of both an ageing and 

projected increase in population will present future budget pressures to the 

County Council and NHS partners for the commissioning of health and social 

care services.    

 

Consultation 
Details of consultation are provided in the report. 

 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
An EIA is being undertaken alongside the development of the JHWS 

 

Climate Change 
There are no climate change implications 

 

Human Rights 
There are no adverse implications 

 

Crime and Disorder 
The JHWS is aligned with and contributes to the current priorities within the 
Safe Durham Partnership Plan which focuses on crime and disorder. 
 

Staffing 
There are no staffing implications. 

 

Accommodation 
There are no accommodation implications  

 

Risk 
There are no risk implications  
 
 

 

Page 51



Procurement 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 outlines that commissioners should take 

regard of the JHWS when exercising their functions in relation to the 

commissioning of health and social care services.  

Page 52



Appendix 2:  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2025 

 

Attached as a separate document 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 53



Appendix 3:  Core Deliverables in the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2020-2025 

 
STARTING WELL 

• Improve the quality, responsiveness and equity of access to our services to 
meet the needs of all children and young people, including those who have 
special educational needs and disabilities, by considering their family and 
community  

• Identify perinatal mental health issues during the antenatal period and 
embedded pathways for support into practice  

• Develop the national trailblazer for mental health support teams in 
identified schools 

• Work within Education, Children’s Services and universal health services to 

improve the workforce’s ability to understand mental health, and where 

appropriate undertake a brief intervention and signpost or refer 

accordingly. 

• Support women to achieve a smoke free pregnancy through whole system 

change and tackling tobacco dependency in pregnancy as an addiction not 

a lifestyle choice 

• Support spatial policy and regeneration programmes which aim to improve 

health and reduce health inequalities 

• Develop and implement the Health and Wellbeing Framework for education 

settings to improve the health of children 

• Support women to initiate and continue breastfeeding their babies through 

the County Durham ‘Call to Action’ to change the culture of breastfeeding 

in our county, whilst promoting and maintaining UNICEF Gold Baby 

Friendly Accreditation within key services 

• Develop a countywide offer around physical activity and good nutrition 

including addressing the issues of holiday activities specifically targeting 

vulnerable communities and health inequalities 

• Reduce preventable unintentional injuries among children and young 

people and reduce inequalities, through the implementation of the County 

Durham Prevention of Unintentional Injuries Framework  

• Consider a range of population approaches to improving children’s oral 

health across County Durham including community water fluoridation 

• Increase the roll out in schools of ‘poverty proofing the school day’ which 
includes cutting the cost of the schools’ day 

• Support the effective transition of identified vulnerable young people aged 

14+ towards adulthood and their transition to adult services where required  

• NEW Improve speech, language and communication outcomes for children 
across the County to support school readiness  

Page 54



LIVING WELL 

• Work with a range of partners to deliver Making Every Contact Count to 
enable every contact to be a health contact  

• Ensure opportunities for service users and their carers to be involved in the 
development and co-production of services are maximised  

• Implement the approach to wellbeing which builds on the positive work in 
communities and involves communities in decisions about services 

• Develop our countywide approach to reducing stigma and discrimination 
across communities, workplaces and schools though working with the Time 
to Change hub 

• Develop a healthy settings approach to support health improvement and 
reduced health inequalities across a range of settings, including early years 
schools, workplaces, pharmacies, leisure facilities and voluntary and 
community sector organisations 

• Better identify the rate of self-harm and reduce the levels of suicide across 
County Durham 

• Reduce the prevalence of harm caused by smoking through tobacco 
control measures and redesigning the stop smoking service to improve the 
services to tackle tobacco-related ill health 

• Develop a Sexual Health Strategy for County Durham to ensure equitable 
access and a strategic focus on reducing sexually transmitted infections 
and good contraceptive health  

• Support the drive for a minimum unit price for alcohol to create a County 
Durham that has reduced harm from alcohol 

• Increase the use of active travel to encourage physical activity (including 
cycling and walking) to reduce traffic emissions related respiratory illness 
and carbon emissions  

• Increase the uptake of national/local screening programmes and work to 
address inequalities in access and outcomes 

• Help people to manage their own long-term conditions including diabetes 
and respiratory conditions through self-management programmes through 
a range of methods, including digitally, to access advice, self-help in minor 
illnesses and health promotion  

• Attract more businesses and the voluntary and community sector to 
participate and achieve the Better Health at Work award including 
encouraging organisations to sign the Time to Change Employer pledge 

• Increase the number of organisations using the volunteering kite mark, 
which is managed by Durham Community Action 

• Implement strategies for vulnerable population groups, for example, those 
with learning disabilities and autism.   

• Develop initiatives for community home treatment as an alternative to crisis 
services 

• Ensure procurement processes encourage providers to have a focus on 
health within the workplace 

Page 55



• Work with the Economic Partnership to maximise local opportunities for 
economic and job development, including apprenticeships, with a focus on 
closing the gap in employment opportunities for those with a long-term 
health condition or disability 

• Contribute to the implementation of the Housing Strategy where this relates 
to housing and health include accommodation services for people with the 
most complex needs  

• NEW Implement initiatives to support individuals to develop healthy eating 
habits and take part in physical activity 

• NEW Raise awareness of benefits to health from the perspective of an 
appropriate work life balance, in helping manage stress and anxiety 

 

AGEING WELL 

• Promote the uptake of the flu vaccinations including flu, pneumococcal and 
shingles through marketing campaigns and collaborative, place-based 
working across County Durham. 

• Ensure dementia is identified and diagnosed at an early stage and families, 
carers and communities are helped to manage their condition  

• Following the success of early adopters, increase the number of 
communities across the County who are empowered to become dementia 
friendly communities, with support from Dementia Action alliance, 
Alzheimer’s Society and AAP’s where engaged  

• Work with partners and providers to reduce the incidence of falls and 
fractures in older people through age appropriate development in the built 
environment, training and digital technology  

• Develop housing and care options specifically to meet the needs of the 
older and disabled people within our communities 

• Increase the scale and integration of out of hospital services, based around 
communities and improve population health outcomes  

• Ensure the frail elderly are able to live well at home for as long as possible 
and receive high quality, consistent levels of service  

• Increase referrals and adaptations done by the warm and healthy homes 
programme  

• Support carers in their caring role so they are able to maintain their own 
health and wellbeing  

• Support community connectivity and the approach to wellbeing to help 

address social isolation and loneliness 

• Implement the approach to wellbeing which builds on the positive work in 
communities and involves communities in decisions about services 

• Work with Primary Care Networks to ensure social prescribing provides 
sufficient opportunities for people to access the help they need 

• Improve the end of life pathway to ensure providers aspire to delivering 
support to people at the end of their life to deliver personal, bespoke care.   

Page 56



• NEW Identify opportunities for intergenerational experience, learning and 
skills sharing in communities 

• NEW Undertake Health Equity Audit of Care Connect with a view to 
making the most of opportunities to promote health and wellbeing 

• NEW Explore opportunities to promote Making Every Contact Count in 
domiciliary care 

• NEW Ensure work on economic inclusion takes account of the greater 
proportion of older people in the population 

• NEW Review and strengthen the County Durham Dementia Strategy, 
particularly in regard to prevention 

• NEW Consider rural proofing for health in policy, planning and 

commissioning of services 

• NEW Work with providers to increase the offer of fit for purpose 
sustainable housing stock to enable occupancy of residents into later years 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 57



Appendix 4:  Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2025 
Equality Impact Assessment 

 
Attached as a separate document 

Page 58



 

   
 

 

Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 

 
2020 – 2025 

(a review will take place in 2021) 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 59



 
  

2 
 

Contents 

Foreword .............................................................................................................................. 3 

What is the Health and Wellbeing Board? ............................................................................. 4 

County Durham Vision 2035 .................................................................................................. 4 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment ......................................................................................... 5 

Building on our assets ........................................................................................................... 6 

Evidence for our strategic priorities ................................................................................... 6 

Where are we in 2020? ......................................................................................................... 7 

Our Strategic Priorities .......................................................................................................... 9 

Starting Well ...................................................................................................................... 9 

Living Well ......................................................................................................................... 9 

Ageing Well ..................................................................................................................... 10 

Alignment with other key strategic plans ............................................................................ 10 

Figure 1: Geographies - Integrated Care System, Integrated Care Partnership, Place based 

and Primary Care Networks ............................................................................................. 11 

Our objectives ..................................................................................................................... 11 

What changes can you expect to see? ................................................................................. 12 

Approach to Wellbeing........................................................................................................ 13 

Figure 2: Approach to Wellbeing........................................... Error! Bookmark not defined. 

STARTING WELL .................................................................................................................. 14 

Strategic priority 1: Starting Well ..................................................................................... 16 

Why is this important? .................................................................................................... 16 

LIVING WELL ....................................................................................................................... 19 

Strategic priority 2: Living Well ........................................................................................ 20 

Why is this important? .................................................................................................... 20 

AGEING WELL ...................................................................................................................... 24 

Strategic priority 3: Ageing Well ...................................................................................... 25 

Why is this important? .................................................................................................... 25 

Enabling factors .................................................................................................................. 28 

Performance Management Framework ............................................................................... 29 

Appendix 1: JHWS priorities and links to other strategic partnership plans ...................... 30 

 

Page 60



 
  

3 
 

Foreword  

Welcome to the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board’s fifth Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy.   
 
The Health and Social Care Act 2012 required all upper tier local authorities to establish 
Health and Wellbeing Boards.  The County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board was 
formally established as a committee of Durham County Council in April 2013. 
 
As Chair and Vice Chair we are pleased to say that the Board have had a successful year, 
having worked to improve people’s health and reduce health inequalities across the county.   
We have delivered on the six priorities in the JHWS 2016-19, and achievements aligned to 
these include: 
 

• Increased number of businesses signing up to the county’s Breastfeeding Friendly 
scheme 

• Continuing downward trends in under 18 conceptions 

• Introduction of the ‘Active 30’ programme in schools  

• Delivery of the Youth Aware of Mental Health programme to secondary school pupils 
to help them cope with anxiety, depression and encourage them to make healthy 
lifestyle choices 

• Delivering the Prevention at scale pilot, which focuses on mental health 

• Significant reductions in smoking prevalence across the county 

• Increased take up of screening for breast, cervical and bowel cancer 

• Good performance in preventing delayed transfers of care from hospital 

• Good proportion of people using social care saying that they have enough choice and 
control over the care and services they receive 

• Further development of ‘Dementia Friendly Communities’ 

• Development of the three-year Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment (PNA), which 
considers the health needs of the population and the provision of pharmaceutical 
services. 

 
Moving forward, we continue to be supported by partners to deliver our vision to ensure 
County Durham is a healthy place, where people live well for longer. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
Councillor Lucy Hovvels MBE    Dr Stewart Findlay 

Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board   Vice Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board 
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult and    Chief Officer, North Durham and Durham Dales, 
Health Services      Easington & Sedgefield Clinical Commissioning 
       Group 

Page 61



 
  

4 
 

What is the Health and Wellbeing Board?  

Health and Wellbeing Boards were established under the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 
This legislation gives the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board specific functions as 
follows: 

• To develop a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), which provides an overview 
of the current and future health and wellbeing needs of the people of County 
Durham; 

• To develop a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS), which is based on 
evidence in the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment; 

• A responsibility and duty to encourage integrated working between commissioners 
of health services, public health and social care services, for the purposes of 
advancing the health and wellbeing of the people in its area; 

• Power to encourage those who provide services related to social determinants of 
health to work closely with the Health and Wellbeing Board; 

• To produce a Pharmaceutical Needs Assessment which looks at the current provision 
of pharmacy services across County Durham, and whether there are any potential 
gaps to service delivery. 

County Durham Vision 2035  

The County Durham Vision 2035 is a document developed with partners to provide a shared 
understanding of what everyone wants our county to look like in 15 years’ time. It provides 
strategic direction and enables us to work more closely together, removing organisational 
boundaries and co-delivering services for the benefit of our residents. 
 
The County Durham Vision 2035 contains three strategic ambitions to develop County 
Durham over the next 15 years: 

• More and Better jobs 

• People live long and independent lives 

• Connected communities  

The objectives contained under the vision ambition “People live long and independent lives” 

have a health focus and the JHWS also has an influence around the ambition for connected 

communities as well as the effect of poverty and deprivation on health. In addition, the 

JHWS will form part of the delivery mechanism for the Vision.  

The JHWS will have a rapid review after a year to ensure full alignment with the County 

Durham Vision implementation and the partnership review. This will ensure that the 

priorities set out in the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy are fully embedded with the 

refreshed partnerships and delivery plan of the vision. 

 

The Health and Wellbeing Board’s vision is underpinned by the JSNA and is: 
 

‘County Durham is a healthy place, where  
people live well for longer’ 

 

Page 62



 
  

5 
 

County Durham Plan 
The County Durham Plan sets out a range of development proposals as well as planning 
policies for the county until 2035. The plan presents a vision for potential housing, jobs and 
the environment until 2035 as well as the transport, schools and healthcare to support it. 
These will cover housing, businesses and jobs, protection of the historic and natural 
environment. They will also cover what should be put in place to support development, such 
as major transport links, new or expanded schools and healthcare provision and community 
facilities and will influence he delivery of this strategy. 
 
Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) helps to inform the planning and improvement 
of local services and guides us in making the best use of funding available. It builds a picture 
of current and future health and wellbeing needs of local people. This is used to shape joint 
commissioning priorities to improve health and wellbeing as well as reduce health 
inequalities in our communities. Over the last year our JSNA has been transformed to create 
a tool that is fit for the future and rooted in intelligence and wider evidence about what 
drives health and wellbeing across the county.  
 
The development of assets within the JSNA is a key priority. By focussing only on the 
“needs” of local communities we do not acknowledge the importance of the assets or take 
account of the protective factors and strength within individuals and across communities. 
This should incorporate practical skills, capacity and knowledge of residents and the 
networks and connections in a community. In short it should cover:  

• Where we live  

• Our Services  

• Our community  
 
The JSNA is now part of Durham Insight which is a shared intelligence, research and 
knowledge base for County Durham, informing strategic planning across Durham County 
Council and its partners. This site includes in depth JSNA and Insight factsheets, health 
needs assessments, health equity audits and lots of topic-based intelligence including 
infographics, maps and story maps. New intelligence content is regularly added, and the site 
is continuously being developed and improved. www.durhaminsight.info  
 
During 2019 recent additions to Durham Insight include JSNA factsheets on Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND), and Children Looked After (CLA) plus the 
development of a vulnerable children’s landing page and infographics to support our new 
Primary Care Networks (PCNs).  
 
The JSNA, along with the use of evidence and local conversations, helps us to focus on the 
most important issues for our communities across County Durham. 
 

 

Page 63



 
  

6 
 

Building on our assets 

County Durham has many assets that can support and protect health, some of these are set 
out below. 

 

 
 
 
 
Evidence for our strategic priorities 
Data and intelligence had been coupled with the evidence base and knowledge of local 
circumstances to prioritise the key areas of focus in the strategy. 

* A Cree is County Durham’s version of Australia’s Men’s Shed. Crees  aim to engage with those at 

risk of suicide by talking social isolation and self-harm through skill-sharing and informal learning 

to promote social interaction. Although Crees were originally aimed at men, some have developed 

for women and young people. 

14,000 businesses 

21 green flags for 

Where we live 

12 miles of Heritage Coast 

parks and open spaces 

2 in 5 residents live in rural areas 

150 miles of former railway paths 

Building 

523,000 people live here 

9 Dementia friendly communities 

43 Crees* 

14 Area Action Partnerships 

74% People of working 

age are in employment 

59,000 

on our 
assets 

4 colleges 

33 further education 

establishments 

13 special educational 

needs schools 

1 University 

234 primary schools 

52 secondary schools 

                 65 GP Practices 

        126 Pharmacies 

 

 

Breastfeeding 
friendly businesses 

 

39 libraries 

12 council 
owned leisure 
centres 

Our communities Our Services 

Durham Cathedral, 
Peninsula and Castle is a 
UNESCO world heritage site. 

Page 64



 
  

7 
 

Where are we in 2020? 

The key health and factors which impact on health have been drawn out from the JSNA and 
utilised to inform the priorities for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  
 
This has been coupled with the major policy drivers for improving health and reducing 
health inequalities:  
 

• Marmot Fair Society Healthy Lives 

• NHS Long Term Plan 

• Prevention Green Paper 

• Future in Mind  
 
Our strategy follows a lifecourse approach and is focussed not only on extending the length 
of life, but quality of life and reducing differences in health outcomes for our local residents.  
 
Across County Durham there are major differences in the health that people experience and 
there remain differences between the health of local people and those across England. The 
JHWS is seeking to work with people to change these outcomes. The solutions to these 
differences are not to be found within health and care services alone and many other 
factors have an influence on people’s health and wellbeing. These include the environment 
in which people live (including accessibility of the natural environment), access to a good 
education, housing, the food people eat, money and resources, family, friends and 
communities and good work. These are often called the social determinants of health. 

These differences are unjust and unfair, and the Health and Wellbeing Board is committed 
to making a difference. The Board recognises that many of the social determinants of health 
require close working with key partners across County Durham who have responsibility for 
housing, schools and of course with our local communities.  

One in four adults experience at least one diagnosable mental health problem every year 
and mental health problems represent the largest single cause of disability in the UK. 

Mental health can have an impact on the quality of life, ability to work and sickness levels at 
work. Good mental health can also be a protective factor for good health in general. The 
scale of the issue and its impact on individuals, communities, economy and services is why 
mental health is an important cross cutting issue for the Health and Wellbeing Board 
throughout all our priorities. 
 
Achieving our objectives will rely on close working with a range of partners over the length 
of this strategy and beyond and in support of the County Durham Vision 2035. 

 

Page 65



 

8 
 

 

 

 
 
 

Health and wellbeing  
Starting Well 

Ageing Well 

The average age at which 

people are admitted to 

permanent residential 

care has increased by 

nearly 2 years over the 

last decade. 

 

… and 90% reported 

that their care and support 

services helped them have 

control over daily life. 

 

2 out of 3 social care users are 

satisfied with their care

 
 
 

 

1 in 20 
people over 

65 are 
recorded as 

having 
dementia 

 

 
1 in 4 adults 

experience at 
least one 

diagnosable 
mental health 

problem in their 
life time… 

 

1 in 10  

children have a mental 
health disorder 

 

… that’s over 100,000 
adults in County Durham 

in a given year. 
 

 47% of our 

population live in the 30% most 
deprived areas nationally… 

 

… for children 
this rises to 

54% 
 

There are fewer 
people than ever 

smoking, but 

obestiy rates 

continue to rise. 
 

 
2 in 3 adults are 

overwieght or obese. 
 

 
Smoking prevalence has 

reduced to 15% 
14.4% nationally. 

 

Living Well 

P
age 66



 

9 
 

Our Strategic Priorities 

The Health and Wellbeing Board adopts a lifecourse approach to its priorities, recognising 
the importance of mental health and wellbeing and the social determinants of health 
cutting across all our priorities. These priorities are: 

• Starting Well 

• Living Well 

• Ageing Well 
 
Starting Well 
The experiences that children have early in their life play a key part in their health as adults.  
In County Durham, it is estimated that 1 in 10 (over 10,000) children have a mental health 
disorder and that a quarter of adults will experience at least one diagnosable mental health 
problem in their lifetime. 
 
While we have made progress in recent years in providing opportunities for our children 
including a good level of development by the end of reception, reduction in teenage 
conceptions and levels of smoking our overall outcomes for children should and can be 
improved. This is even more so for children facing significant disadvantage or challenge. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board will work closely with children and young people to ensure 
they start well and reduce health inequalities for children and their families. 
 
Living Well  
We know that a good job, access to the natural environment, quality housing and 
opportunities for active travel, as well as ensuring our communities have optimum mental 
health and wellbeing, have a positive influence on our overall health and wellbeing. 
 
Good work is vital for people’s health and wellbeing, impacting both directly and indirectly 
on the individual, their families and communities. Healthier, active and engaged employees 
are more productive and have lower levels of sickness absence. We know that almost 19% 
of sickness absence is due to mental health and over 15 million days are lost to depression 
every year nationally, and local people who have significant health issues need support to 
overcome the barriers they face to accessing and retaining work. The gap in the 
employment rate between those with a long-term health condition and the overall 
employment rate is 19.5% which is significantly worse than England and increasing over 
time. 
 
Having access to a warm, comfortable place to live; our work and financial situation; eating 
well and staying active make a difference to our chances of remaining healthy and well 
during this time of life and into older adulthood. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board is committed to shaping a healthy place which is smoke 
free, supportive of a healthy weight and gives access to physical activity opportunities with 
good homes. 
 

Page 67



 

10 
 

Ageing Well 
While the length of life of local people continues to increase, the years that people can 
expect to live a healthy life sees significant differences across County Durham. The gap 
between the most deprived and least deprived areas within County Durham is 8.1 years for 
men and 6.9 years for women. This, coupled with an ageing population and people living 
with a range of health conditions, can affect people’s ability to work and contribute to their 
communities and has an impact on our health and care services. 
 
For some people, later life can be marked by disability, dependency and inequality rather 
than offering opportunities to continue leading a healthy and active life. The experience of 
later life is therefore deeply divided, especially along the lines of social class, relative 
deprivation, gender and ethnicity. These factors are strongly associated with the socio-
economic conditions that shape earlier life, low income, or lack of supportive social 
networks. Long term ill health tends to be associated with later life and, as a result of 
population ageing, the need for health services is increasingly shifting from short-term, 
curative treatment to managing long-term conditions. The good news is that many of these 
conditions are preventable or at least can be delayed, through delivering on the priorities 
set out in this strategy, and by better shaping care and support around people and what 
matters to them. 
 
We will also target approaches which enable our older people to remain independent and 
to lead lives with meaning and purpose and will ensure that when the time comes, people 
receive good quality end of life care and have a good death. 

Alignment with other key strategic plans 

The County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board takes a ‘whole-system’ approach to the 
health and wellbeing of our communities which requires coordination and collaboration 
across a wide variety of sectors.  It is important that our priorities align to other plans to 
ensure our actions are delivered to meet the need of our local communities.  Partners 
working across County Durham have developed a five-year County Durham Health and 
Wellbeing System Plan which identifies key programmes of work over the next five years for 
health and social care services. This provides the delivery plan for the health and care 
aspects of the JHWS 
 
The County Durham 5-year Health and Wellbeing System plan is part of an Integrated Care 
Partnership which covers County Durham, Sunderland and South Tyneside which in turn is 
part of an Integrated Care System which covers the whole of the North East and Cumbria. 
This geography is shown at Figure 1. 
 
An integrated health and social care system has an important role to play in terms of early 
intervention by preventing or reducing needs from deteriorating by providing the right care 
at the right time in the community and putting more people in control of their health; 
supporting the whole person, across mental and physical health and not just treating 
symptoms.  
 
County Durham, our ‘place’, has primacy and will be where the majority of services will 
continue to be commissioned, planned and delivered, whilst also recognising that we will 

Page 68



 

11 
 

work together with our neighbours at scale where this genuinely adds value. The JHWS is 
about long-term health improvement and reducing health inequalities including the social 
determinants.  
 
Please refer to Appendix 1 to see how the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy aligns to 
other plans.  
 
Figure 1: Geographies - Integrated Care System, Integrated Care Partnership, Place based 
and Primary Care Networks 

Our objectives 

We have chosen six objectives across our three strategic priorities, that are of importance 
given the impact they have on people’s health and of where we want to be in 2025. We 
recognise these are challenging but by working together across our partnerships and local 
communities we can make a difference. 

• Improve healthy life expectancy and reduce the gap within County Durham and 
between County Durham and England  

• We will have a smoke free environment with over 95% of our residents not smoking 
and an ambition that pregnant women and mothers will not smoke 

• Close the gap in the employment rate between those living with a long-term health 
condition, learning disability, in contact with secondary mental health services and 
the overall employment rate 

• Over 90% of our children aged 4-5 years, and 79% of children aged 10-11 years are of 
a healthy weight 

• Improved self-reported wellbeing 

• Increase the number of organisations involved in Better Health at Work Award 

Key challenge: 
Do the right things at the right level with the right partners 

People 

Neighbourhoods/Primary Care Networks

(30-50,000 population sizes)

Place based

(Local authority/CCG size)

ICPs

(Sub-regional/Combined 
Authority level)

ICS

(North east & 
Northern Cumbria)

Regional & 
National

Page 69



 

12 
 

What changes can you expect to see? 

Our ultimate goal is reducing the gap in healthy life expectancy within County Durham and 
between County Durham and England. This Strategy is focused on the foundations for 
achieving that goal. We have set out a number of changes you can expect to see throughout 
the course of this strategy to set the foundations for achieving this. 
 
By 2022: 

- Increase in breastfeeding friendly venues and organisational workplaces across 
County Durham that meet UNICEF Baby friendly Initiative Standards 

- Increasing the equity of cancer screening programmes  
- 10% reduction in suicides 

- More businesses signing the Time to Change pledge to reduce mental health stigma 
and discrimination 

- Increased referrals and adaptations done by the warm and healthy homes 
programme  

 
By 2023: 

- A reduction/downward trend in hospital admissions of children under 2 years of age, 
due to unintentional injuries 

- Increase in patients seen with face to face second contact within 9 weeks of referral 
to CAMHS  

- Fewer applications for takeaways near schools  
- More businesses signing up to the Better Health at Work Award to improve health 

interventions at work  

- More adult carers having carers assessments 
 

By 2024: 
- Child development outcomes at age 2 to 2.5 years will be 90%  
- Increase in the number of physical health checks for those people with a mental 

health condition or a learning disability 

- More mental health champions across workplaces  
- Reduce the under 75 mortality rates from preventable cancers and a reduction in the 

size of the gap in preventable cancer mortality between County Durham and England 
 
By 2025: 

- Improve healthy life expectancy and reduce the gap within County Durham and 
between County Durham and England  

- We will have a smoke free environment with over 95% of our residents not smoking 
and an ambition that pregnant women and mothers will not smoke 

- Close the gap in the employment rate between those living with a long-term health 
condition, learning disability, in contact with secondary mental health services and 
the overall employment rate 

- Over 90% of our children aged 4-5 years, and 79% of children aged 10-11 years are of 
a healthy weight 

- Improved Self-reported wellbeing 
- Increase the number of organisations involved in the Better Health at Work Award 

 

Page 70



  

13 
 

Approach to Wellbeing 

There are many definitions of wellbeing, but in short it can be described as ‘how well we are 
doing’ or ‘how satisfied we are with our lives’. As well as health, measures of wellbeing 
include our relationships; our work and finances; our levels of participation in sport, culture 
and community events, where we live and how safe we feel; and the services we can access.  
Wellbeing is starting to be an equivalent measure to economic growth, ensuring that we 
consider these important factors in people’s lives alongside factors influencing economic 
development. 
 
Wider influences such as finances, home, education, climate and environment can all have 
an impact on the health of our communities. However, communities also possess a number 
of assets available to them that help maintain and build their resilience and which in turn 
can protect challenges to their health or wellbeing.   
 
Initiatives intended to encourage inclusive growth and improvements in wellbeing are 
founded on the engagement of communities and the devolution of power. County Durham 
has been at the vanguard in developing such approaches, engaging communities and 
sharing decision making through Area Action Partnerships.  These have been operating since 
2009, originally designed to give people a voice in how local services are provided.  We 
know that this can make a difference and can build on these to close the gap and not leave 
people behind. 
 
This approach to wellbeing is a key way of implementing the County Durham Vision and we 
will deliver this strategy together with our communities. We will operate to the following 
principles of working in order to improve the wellbeing of our residents: 

• Solutions will be designed and produced together with service users 

• We will work with communities and support their development and empowerment 

• We will acknowledge the differing needs of our communities whilst acknowledging 
and building on their potential strengths 

• We will direct our activities where they can make the biggest difference to those 
who are most vulnerable and help to build resilience 

• We will make person centred interventions available, ensuring that they are 
empowering and not stigmatising 

• We will align our related strategies, policies and services to reduce duplication and 
ensure greater impact. 

 
Many long-terms diseases in our population are closely linked to known behavioural risk 
factors. The approach to wellbeing, making every contact count and social prescribing are 
ways we can approach behaviour change, recognising that actions can be seen as additions, 
rather than choice, that utilise the millions of day to day interactions that organisations and 
people have with other people to encourage changes in behaviour that have a positive 
effect on the health and wellbeing of individuals, communities and populations.  
 
This is shown at Figure 2. 
  

Page 71



  

14 
 

Figure 2: Approach to Wellbeing  

Using what works
everything we do is supported by evidence informed by local conversations.

Building resilience
helping the most disadvantaged and vulnerable, and building 

up their future resilience

Being asset focused
acknowledging the different needs of communities and the 

potential of their assets

Empowering communities
working with communities to support their development and 

empowerment

People and Places

Doing with, not to
making our health and care interventions, empowering and 

centred around you as an individual

Sharing decision making
designing and developing services with the people who need 

them

Working better together
working together across sectors to reduce duplication and 

ensure greater impact

Supporting Systems

P
age 72



  

15 
 

 

 

 

  

Starting Well 
Health and Wellbeing People and Place 

 
There are around 

106,000  
0-18 year olds. 

There were nearly 

4,900 
births in 2018 

140 

babies born with 

low birth weight. 

 

Around 900 

babies were born to 
mothers who 

smoke. 

Nearly 1 in 5 
women were 

smoking at time of 

delivery. 

5 year olds are free from 

tooth decay

1 in 4  

4-5 year olds have excess 

weight. 

 
Hospital admissions caused 

by unintentional injuries in 0-

4 year olds is 

significantly higher 
than England. 

 
The rate of teenage 

conceptions has 

decreased by 

45% since 2010 

Education Vulnerable children 

P
age 73



  

16 
 

Strategic priority 1: Starting Well 
 
Why is this important? 
Starting well begins with a baby’s mother and family being healthy before, during and after 
pregnancy.  The first 1001 day in a child’s life is fundamental to providing the best start in 
life during which the foundations of a child’s development are laid.  
 
Childhood is the springboard to a successful adulthood. It is the foundation on which our 
lives are built. We will provide the best support to expectant mothers and mothers of 
newborn babies, their children and their families. For our vulnerable children and families, 
we will provide a more targeted offer of support to reduce inequalities and improve their 
health and wellbeing. This includes supporting our children and young people with Special 
Educational Needs and Disabilities to achieve the best possible outcomes. 
 
Better outcomes for children cannot be achieved through health and social care service 
intervention in isolation. How children live, learn and play are all key drivers of healthy 
development. Other social factors including poverty, poor housing and unstable 
employment and poor access to green space and community connections act against the 
ability of parents and families to create a safe, healthy and nurturing environment for their 
children. Parenting is critical to a child’s development and evidence shows children who are 
exposed to adverse events such as domestic abuse or alcohol misuse can be affected 
negatively, both physically and mentally, throughout their adolescence and into adult life. 
These factors all determine whether a child will be more likely to thrive and achieve their 
optimum potential in life.   
 
We will improve health and wellbeing outcomes for all children and young people and help 
children and their families achieve and maintain their optimum mental health, resilience 
and wellbeing.   
  
In addition to the direct feedback on health issues from young people to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board, we will look to coproduce work with children, young people and their 
families, for example in relation to mental health services.   
 
The Children and Young People’s Strategy provides focus and clarity on the priorities for 
improving services and life opportunities for children and young people. The Health and 
Wellbeing Board will provide strategic oversight to ensure that improved health and 
wellbeing outcomes of our children is delivered within this strategy, including reducing 
unacceptable inequalities, which our more vulnerable children encounter like unintentional 
injuries in the home or being an unhealthy weight. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 74



  

17 
 

 
Starting Well: This priority covers the early years of life from conception to young adulthood and includes pregnancy, birth, and 

childhood  
 

• Improve the quality, responsiveness and equity of access to our services to meet the needs of all children and young people, including 
those who have special educational needs and disabilities, by considering their family and community  

• Identify perinatal mental health issues during the antenatal period and embedded pathways for support into practice  

• Develop the national trailblazer for mental health support teams in identified schools 

• Work within Education, Children’s Services and universal health services to improve the workforce’s ability to understand mental health, 

and where appropriate undertake a brief intervention and signpost or refer accordingly. 

• Support women to achieve a smoke free pregnancy through whole system change and tackling tobacco dependency in pregnancy as an 

addiction not a lifestyle choice 

• Support spatial policy and regeneration programmes which aim to improve health and reduce health inequalities 

• Develop and implement the Health and Wellbeing Framework for education settings to improve the health of children 

• Support women to initiate and continue breastfeeding their babies through the County Durham ‘Call to Action’. To change the culture of 

breastfeeding in our county, whilst promoting and maintaining UNICEF Gold Baby Friendly Accreditation within key services 

• Develop a countywide offer around physical activity and good nutrition including addressing the issues of holiday activities specifically 

targeting vulnerable communities and health inequalities 

• Reduce preventable unintentional injuries among children and young people and reduce inequalities, through the implementation of the 

County Durham Prevention of Unintentional Injuries Framework  

• Consider a range of population approaches to improving children’s oral health across County Durham including community water 

fluoridation 

• Increase the roll out in schools of ‘poverty proofing the school day’ which includes cutting the cost of the schools’ day 

• Support the effective transition of identified vulnerable young people aged 14+ towards adulthood and their transition to adult services 

where required  

• Improve speech, language and communication outcomes for children across the County to support school readiness 

P
age 75



  

18 
 

Delivery plan 
mechanisms: 

1. Best Start in Life Steering Group action plan 
2. County Durham Tobacco dependency in Pregnancy 

steering group action plan  
3. Children and Young People Mental Health, 

Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience Local 
Transformation Plan 

4. Special Educational Needs and Disabilities Strategic 
Partnership written statement of action 

5. Oral Health Framework 
6. Unintentional Injuries Framework 
7. Healthy Weight Alliance Framework 

 

 

 

  

P
age 76



  

19 
 

 

317,000 
18-64 year olds 

Our people and place 

 

74.2% are in 

employment. 

 

This has 
increased 

7.5% 
since 2016. 

 

 

 Nearly 50% of our lower 

super output areas are in the top 

30% most deprived areas nationally. 

 

The gap in employment 

rate between those with 

a learning disability and 

the overall employment 

rate is 70 percentage 

points. 

Risk taking behaviours 

 

Around 2 in 5 

adults are 

physically inactive. 

 

… and 2 out of 3 

adults are classed 

as overweight. 

 

 
15% of adults 

are smokers. 

14.4% nationally. 

12,500 
people were admitted to 

hospital in 2017/18 for 

alcohol related conditions. 

 91.9 per 100,000 

people aged 15-24 years 

admitted to hospital for 

substance misuse. 

2,954 people were diagnosed with a sexually 

transmitted infection in 2018. 

Living in poor health 

An estimated 

1 in 12 

have 

diabetes. 

 
Over 

20,000 
people have 

coronary 

heart disease. 

 
1 in 5 

people are 

diagnosed 

with high 

blood 

pressure. 

Mental Health and Wellbeing 

1 in 4 adults 

experience at 

least one 

diagnosable 

mental health 

problem in any 

given year. 

 

Nearly 57,000 
adults have been 

diagnosed with 

depression. 

Less than 60 deaths a 

year from suicide. 

1 in 5 people say they have 

high levels of anxiety. 

 1 in 10 people say 

they do not feel happy. 

Living well 

P
age 77



  

20 
 

Strategic priority 2: Living Well  
 
Why is this important?  
Good health is important at any age. While the length of life of local people continues to 
increase, the years that people can expect to live a high quality of life sees significant 
differences across County Durham. The gap between the most deprived and least deprived 
areas within County Durham is 8.1 years for men and 6.9 years for women. This coupled 
with an ageing population and people living with a range of health conditions can affect 
people’s ability to work and contribute to their communities and has an impact on our 
health and care services. 
 
We will work with businesses to help create a healthy community by offering employment 
and creating healthy workplaces to help ensure they retain their staff, attract new talent 
and help to keep the communities they work within, healthier. We will also support 
businesses to implement effective preventative strategies, not only to promote better 
mental health but also help avoid the costs of absenteeism and reduced productivity which 
are associated with poor mental health.  
 
The links between an improved environment and improved health and wellbeing are clear. 
We will work with partners and communities to maximise the quality of our local 
environment and clean air, with opportunities to be physically active and achieve a healthy 
weight. We will encourage transport choices that are the most sustainable by improving the 
attractiveness of these modes of transport for everyday journeys. The Health and Wellbeing 
Board will provide strategic oversight to ensure that improved health and wellbeing 
outcomes for our residents are delivered within this strategy, including promoting high 
quality natural and formally manager open spaces for recreation, food growing and exercise. 
We will work with partners to put support in place to encourage sustainable ‘active travel’, 
modes of transport that use the human body as power, such as cycling and walking, to get 
from place to place.  
 
Housing condition can influence our physical and mental health, for example, a warm and 
dry house can improve general health outcomes and specifically reduce respiratory 
conditions and good housing promotes positive mental health. 
 
We will enable our local communities to increase people’s skills, knowledge and confidence 
to look after their own health and wellbeing. We will encourage people to eat healthily by 
promoting the five a day message and increase their physical activity.  
 
In County Durham, we recognise that for many people not smoking, having a healthy 
weight, being physically active, drinking moderate levels of alcohol and having good and 
supportive relationships is not a choice but shaped by the environment in which they live. 
We will adopt a ‘settings’ approach which creates an environment for healthy behaviours, 
including schools, workplaces, green spaces, community centres and primary care so people 
can live well.  
 
We will strive to shift the culture and influence policy and legislation to support improving 
people’s health, for example, minimum unit pricing for alcohol. 

Page 78



  

21 
 

 
The contribution of citizens, users and families to improving health outcomes is central to 
co-production. It values what works well in an area, it sees the potential of people’s 
knowledge and moves away from a deficit approach to recognising the assets people 
already have and can contribute to their neighbourhood. 

Page 79



  

22 
 

Living Well: This priority covers adulthood, from leaving school/university to retiring and includes our working life 

• Work with a range of partners to deliver Making Every Contact Count to enable every contact to be a health contact  

• Ensure opportunities for service users and their carers to be involved in the development and co-production of services are maximised  

• Implement the approach to wellbeing which builds on the positive work in communities and involves communities in decisions about 
services 

• Develop our countywide approach to reducing stigma and discrimination across communities, workplaces and schools though working 
with the Time to Change hub 

• Develop a healthy settings approach to support health improvement and reduced health inequalities across a range of settings, including 
early years schools, workplaces, pharmacies, leisure facilities and voluntary and community sector organisations 

• Better identify the rate of self-harm and reduce the levels of suicide across County Durham 

• Reduce the prevalence of harm caused by smoking through tobacco control measures and redesigning the stop smoking service to 
improve the services to tackle tobacco-related ill health 

• Develop a Sexual Health Strategy for County Durham to ensure equitable access and a strategic focus on reducing sexually transmitted 
infections and good contraceptive health  

• Support the drive for a minimum unit price for alcohol to create a County Durham that has reduced harm from alcohol 

• Increase the use of active travel to encourage physical activity (including cycling and walking) to reduce traffic emissions related 
respiratory illness and carbon emissions  

• Increase the uptake of national/local screening programmes and work to address inequalities in access and outcomes 

• Help people to manage their own long-term conditions including diabetes and respiratory conditions through self-management 
programmes through a range of methods, including digitally, to access advice, self-help in minor illnesses and health promotion  

• Attract more businesses and the voluntary and community sector to participate and achieve the Better Health at Work award including 
encouraging organisations to sign the Time to Change Employer pledge 

• Increase the number of organisations using the volunteering kite mark, which is managed by Durham Community Action 

• Implement strategies for vulnerable population groups, for example, those with learning disabilities and autism.   

• Develop initiatives for community home treatment as an alternative to crisis services 

• Ensure procurement processes encourage providers to have a focus on health within the workplace 

• Work with the Economic Partnership to maximise local opportunities for economic and job development, including apprenticeships, with 
a focus on closing the gap in employment opportunities for those with a long-term health condition or disability 

• Implement initiatives to support individuals to develop healthy eating habits and take part in physical activity 

P
age 80



  

23 
 

• Contribute to the implementation of the Housing Strategy where this relates to housing and health include accommodation services for 
people with the most complex needs  

• Raise awareness of benefits to health from the perspective of an appropriate work life balance, in helping manage stress and anxiety 

Delivery 
plan 
mechanisms: 

1. Tobacco Control Alliance Action Plan 
2. Healthy Weight Alliance Action Plan/Active Durham 

Partnership Framework 

3. Resilient Communities Action Plan 
4. Sexual Health Strategy (when completed) 
5. County Durham Health and Social Care 5-year plan 

 
 
  

P
age 81



  

24 
 

Ageing Well 

 
110,000  

people aged 65 and over. 

People and Place  

The proportion of older 

people in the population 

is expected to increase. 

Life Expectancy (LE) and Healthy  

Life Expectancy (HLE) is significantly 

lower for County Durham than England for 

men and women. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LE is 81 years... HLE is 58 years. 
That's 23 years 
in poor health

LE is 78 years... HLE is 59 years. 
That's 19 years 
in poor health

Wome

n 

Men 

There is inequality in premature mortality 

across County Durham as rates are higher in the 

more deprived areas. 

 
1 in 20 people over 

65 are recorded as 

having dementia… 

nearly 5,000 people 

… this is predicted 

to double over the 

next 15 years.

 

Just over 71% of 

over 65’s had a flu 

vaccination in 2018/19. 

This is below the 

benchmark of 75% 

 

The number of 

emergency 

admissions to 

hospital for falls 

is increasing. 

Nearly 2,500 in 

2017/18 

By 2035… 

31% increase for 

over 65’s 
82% increase for 

over 85’s

Health and Wellbeing 

 4.3% of the 

county’s over 60’s are 

living in income 

deprived households. 

Permanent admission rates to 

residential and nursing care 

homes for over 65’s are  

significantly 

higher 

for County Durham than 

England. 

 

  

In 2018/19, 94.6% of the Durham 

residents reported that their care and 

support services helped them have a 

better quality of life. 

 
 

Over 30,000 
people over the age of 

65 live alone. 
 

Contributing factors 

… this is just below the 

75% benchmark.

P
age 82



  

25 
 

Strategic priority 3: Ageing Well 
 
Why is this important?  
Ageing well is something that happens throughout our lives, not just in old age: Starting and 
Living Well contribute as much if not more to ageing well as anything that happens later in 
life.  
 
Older people in the county play a vital role in contributing to the life of their communities, 
and increasing numbers are continuing in paid employment well past State Pension age as 
well as volunteering and playing an active role in their local communities. However, older 
people can also be at increased risk of poverty (including fuel poverty). We need to work 
closely with the Poverty Action Group and ensure the best possible take up of benefits to 
improve people’s health and wellbeing. 
 
However, with age comes the increased likelihood of living with one or more long term 
conditions and/or sensory impairment. We will integrate commissioning between health 
and social care for more effective integrated service delivery where it makes sense to do so.   
We will seek to understand the opportunities at every stage of the development and 
delivery of joined up health and care services. 
 
Older people have an increased risk of dementia and large numbers of older people suffer 
from depression and are also vulnerable to social isolation and rural isolation. 
 
We will also target approaches which enable our older people to remain independent and 
to lead lives with meaning and purpose and will ensure that when the time comes, people 
receive good quality end of life care and have a good death. 
 

Page 83



  

26 
 

 
Ageing Well: This priority covers additional actions in later life, noting that ageing begins at birth 

 

• Promote the uptake of the flu vaccinations including flu, pneumococcal and shingles through marketing campaigns and collaborative, 
place-based working across County Durham. 

• Review and strengthen the County Durham Dementia Strategy, particularly in regard to prevention 

• Ensure dementia is identified and diagnosed at an early stage and families, carers and communities are helped to manage their condition  

• Following the success of early adopters, increase the number of communities across the County who are empowered to become 
dementia friendly communities, with support from Dementia Action alliance, Alzheimer’s Society and AAP’s where engaged  

• Work with partners and providers to reduce the incidence of falls and fractures in older people through age appropriate development in 
the built environment, training and digital technology  

• Work with providers to increase the offer of fit for purpose sustainable housing stock to enable occupancy of residents into later years 

• Develop housing and care options specifically to meet the needs of the older and disabled people within our communities 

• Increase the scale and integration of out of hospital services, based around communities and improve population health outcomes  

• Ensure the frail elderly are able to live well at home for as long as possible and receive high quality, consistent levels of service  

• Increase referrals and adaptations done by the warm and healthy homes programme  

• Support carers in their caring role so they are able to maintain their own health and wellbeing  

• Support community connectivity and the approach to wellbeing to help address social isolation and loneliness 

• Consider rural proofing for health in policy, planning and commissioning of services 

• Implement the approach to wellbeing which builds on the positive work in communities and involves communities in decisions about 
services 

• Work with Primary Care Networks to ensure social prescribing provides sufficient opportunities for people to access the help they need 

• Improve the end of life pathway to ensure providers aspire to delivering support to people at the end of their life to deliver personal, 
bespoke care.   

• Identify opportunities for intergenerational experience, learning and skills sharing in communities 

• Undertake Health Equity Audit of Care Connect with a view to making the most of opportunities to promote health and wellbeing 

• Explore opportunities to promote Making Every Contact Count in domiciliary care 

• Ensure work on economic inclusion takes account of the greater proportion of older people in the population 
 

P
age 84



  

27 
 

Delivery plan 
mechanisms: 

1. County Durham Health and Social Care 5-year plan 
2. Housing Strategy 
3. Rural proofing Strategy – To be developed 
4. Falls Prevention Strategy  

5. Dementia Strategy 
6. Palliative and End of Life Care Strategy 
7. Poverty Action strategy 

P
age 85



  

28 
 

Enabling factors  

There are a number of enabling factors that are relevant to all actions in this strategy to 
ensure that it is delivered. 
 

Leadership and Advocacy 
- Make health and wellbeing everyone’s business through cross-sector capacity 

building 
- Promote key health messages through strategic influence, advocacy and PR 

 

Whole System Approach  
- Multiagency working across County Durham to achieve the best outcomes to 

address health and wellbeing needs in an efficient and sustainable way 
- Commission and deliver high quality, safe and integrated health and wellbeing 

services  
- Strong partnership governance arrangements 
- Effective communications and information sharing across partners and communities 
 

Strategic focus on prevention and early help 
- Encourage a resource shift towards prevention and early intervention for people to 

remain as independent as possible making the best use of resources 
- Adopt a whole family approach and recognising the roles played by carers and 

significant others 
 

Performance management and intelligence 
- Use Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Durham Insight to support analytical view 

of priorities for health 
- Population Health Management 
- Use the best available evidence to address local needs including accessing data to 

identify areas where targeted intervention is required to inform commissioning 
decisions 
 

Targeted Approach 
- Appropriate, systematic, coordinated and targeted interventions to improve the 

health and wellbeing of the most and disadvantaged groups fastest 
 

Community Engagement 
- Meaningful engagement with local communities, patients, service users, carers and 

the public in commissioning and delivery of health and wellbeing services 
- Empowering and enabling communities and individuals to take responsibility for 

their own health and wellbeing 
- Utilise community assets 

 

Workforce 
- Ensure staff have the right knowledge, skills and competencies  

 

Co-production 
- Services are co-designed and co-produced with the people who need them, as well 

as their carers 
 

Equitable access 
- Everyone has the same opportunities to access health and social care services 

Page 86



  

29 
 

Performance Management Framework  

 
High level measures of success will be monitored through changes in life expectancy, 
healthy life expectancy and the life expectancy/healthy life expectancy gap between the 
most and least deprived communities. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board will develop a set of performance indicators to measure 
the success of achieving the objectives and priorities in this strategy. Delivery of the actions 
in this strategy is by the Health and Wellbeing Board working with other partnership and the 
Health and Wellbeing Board sub groups who are responsible and accountable for the 
actions within this strategy. 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 87



  

30 
 

 
Appendix 1: JHWS priorities and links to other strategic partnership plans 

 
 
 

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy priorities and alignment to other Strategic Partnership Plans 

Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy 
2020 - 2025 

County Durham 5 Year 
System plan 2020 - 
2025 
 

Children and Young 
People’s Strategy 2019 - 
2022 

Safe Durham 
Partnership Plan 2020 
- 2025 

Starting well Prevention 
 
Children and Young 
People’s Strategy  
 
Children and Young 
People’s mental health 
 
Learning disabilities 
 
 

Young people gain the 
education, skills and 
experience to succeed in 
adulthood 
 
All children and young 
people have a safe 
childhood 
 
Children and Young 
People enjoy the best 
start in life, good health 
and emotional wellbeing 
 
Children and young 
people with SEND 
achieve the best possible 
outcomes 

Supporting victims 
and protect 
vulnerable people 
from harm  
 

Living well Primary care 
 
Urgent care treatment 
centre review  
 
Development of place 
based 0-25 services 
 
Workforce 
 
Out of hospital care 
 
Urgent & emergency 
care 
 
Planned care 
 
 

 Promote being safe 
and feeling safe in 
your community  
 
Reduction of alcohol 
and substance misuse 

Ageing well End of Life 
 

  

Page 88



  

31 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Please ask us if you would like this 
document summarised in another 

language or format. 
 

03000 260 000          help@durham.gov.uk 
 

Braille                Audio                 Large print 
 
  

  

Page 89

mailto:help@durham.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Durham County Council Equality Impact Assessment 

NB: The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) requires Durham County 

Council to have ‘due regard’ to the need to eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 

relations between people from different groups. Assessing impact on equality and 

recording this is one of the key ways in which we can show due regard. 

Section One: Description and Screening 

Service/Team or Section 
 

Transformation and Partnerships 

Lead Officer 
 

Andrea Petty, Strategic Manager 

Title 
 

Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-2025 
(interim one year strategy) 

MTFP Reference (if 
relevant) 
 

N/A 

Cabinet Date (if relevant) 
 

13 May 2020 

Start Date 
 

3 June 2019 

Review Date 
 

EIA will be reviewed annually in line with the 
JHWB Strategy (2020-2025) 

 

Subject of the Impact Assessment 

Please give a brief description of the policy, proposal or practice as appropriate (a 
copy of the subject can be attached or insert a web-link): 
 

The County Durham’s Health & Wellbeing Board (HWB) has a legal responsibility 
to work in partnership with Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) to prepare and 
deliver a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS).  This is a statutory duty 
under the Health and Social Care Act 2012.   
 
The JHWS is informed by Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA), which is part 
of Durham Insight.  This evidence is an assessment of the current and future 
health, wellbeing and social care needs of residents in County Durham. 
 
The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) 2020-25 outlines a vision where 
we would like to see County Durham to be heading in terms of our physical & 
mental health and wellbeing, whilst closing the gap in health inequalities across 
County Durham, and between County Durham and England. The vision for the 
Board is that: 
“County Durham is a healthy place, where people live well for longer” 

 

Page 91



2 
 

As the strategy’s priorities were developed ahead of the County Durham Vision 
implementation, we need to ensure that the priorities set out in the JHWS are fully 
embedded within the delivery plan of the vision and that there is full alignment with 
the County Durham Vision implementation. 
 
In addition, there will also be a strategic governance review of our Partnerships 
structure, and again we need to ensure that the strategy fully aligns to the new 
arrangements. 
 
With this in mind, the JHWS will be developed as an interim holding position and a 
review will be taken in 2021 to ensure it remains fit for purpose. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board has three strategic priorities over a life course,  
which set out what we will focus on to make County Durham a healthy place. 
These priorities are: 
 

1. Starting Well 
2. Living Well 
3. Ageing Well 

 
We have chosen six objectives across our strategic priorities, that are of 
importance given the impact they have on people’s health and of where we want to 
be in 2025. We recognise these are challenging but by working together across 
our partnerships and local communities we can make a difference: 

 

• Improve healthy life expectancy and reduce the gap within County 
Durham and between County Durham and England  

• We will have a smoke free environment with over 95% of our residents 
not smoking and an ambition that no child will be born to a mother who 
smokes  

• Close the gap in the employment rate between those living with a long-
term health condition, learning disability, in contact with secondary 
mental health services and the overall employment rate  

• Over 90% of our children aged 4-5 years, and 79% of children aged 10-
11 years are of a healthy weight  

• Improved self-reported wellbeing  

• Increase the number of organisations involved in Better Health at Work 
Award  

  

 

Who are the main stakeholders? (e.g. general public, staff, members, specific 
clients/service users): 
 

 
All groups within the population of County Durham including service users, carers, 
patients and people with disabilities. 
 
 

 

Page 92



3 
 

Screening 

Is there any actual or potential negative or positive impact on the following 
protected characteristics? 
 

Protected Characteristic Negative Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Positive Impact 
Indicate: Y = Yes, 
N = No, ? = unsure 
 

Age 
 

N Y 

Disability 
 

N Y 

Marriage and civil partnership  
(workplace only) 

N N 

Pregnancy and maternity 
 

N Y 

Race (ethnicity) 
 

N Y 

Religion or Belief 
 

N Y 

Sex (gender) 
 

N Y 

Sexual orientation 
 

N Y 

Transgender 
 

N Y 

 

Please provide brief details of any potential to cause adverse impact. Record full 
details and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

The Strategy is aimed at improving health outcomes across the county.  Based on 
need identified in the JSNA we do not anticipate any negative impacts of 
implementation of this strategy. 
 
This strategy focuses on the areas that are of most significant importance given 
the impact they have on people’s health and of where we want to be in 2025.  It 
does not cover ‘all’ aspects of out health and wellbeing, and it is to be noted that 
some areas are also addressed in other plans and strategies. 

 

How will this policy/proposal/practice promote our commitment to our legal 
responsibilities under the public sector equality duty to: 

• eliminate discrimination, harassment and victimisation,  

• advance equality of opportunity, and  

• foster good relations between people from different groups? 
 

The JHWS aims to improve the health and wellbeing for all sections of the 
community which is beneficial to all protected groups and helps us to pay due 

Page 93



4 
 

regard to our public sector equality duty. The JHWS is the vehicle which provides 
commissioners with a focussed number of strategic objectives and actions, helping 
to advance equality of opportunity.   
 
Although beneficial to all, objectives are likely to bring particular positive impact for 
vulnerable groups in relation to age (younger and older age groups), pregnancy 
and maternity, sex (both men and women), disability including mental health. 
 
Working alongside our commissioning partners from CCGs as part of our statutory 
requirements will help foster good working relationships.  The strategy will help 
everyone to understand, identify and improve services for people from the different 
specific group types and eliminate discrimination whilst promoting equality for the 
people who live, work and play in County Durham. 
 

 

Evidence 

What evidence do you have to support your findings?  
Please outline your data sets and/or proposed evidence sources, highlight any 
gaps and say whether or not you propose to carry out consultation. Record greater 
detail and analysis in the following section of this assessment. 
 

This impact assessment will be revisited early 2021 post public consultation. 
 
Evidence: 
Durham Insight website1 – specific data analysis has been used in developing the 
strategic aims and objectives of the strategy. 
 

Engagement and consultation 

Work has taken place with partners throughout 2019/20 to develop the JHWS, and 
the draft strategy has been shared within individual partner organisations. A full 
public consultation has also taken place from December 2019 to February 2020.  
Feedback will be used to amend the draft strategy and inform the review in 2021. 
 
Consultation Update February 2020 
The public consultation closed on 14 February 2020. High level consultation 
analysis has been used to update this equality impact assessment. 
 
There were 84 responses to the public consultation regarding the development of 
the Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
All three of the strategic priorities had high agreement levels (and no one 
disagreeing at all) with: 

• 95% agreeing ‘starting well’ should be a strategic priority 

• 96% agreeing ‘living well’ should be a strategic priority 

 
1 https://www.durhaminsight.info/ 
 

Page 94

https://www.durhaminsight.info/


5 
 

• 97% agreeing ‘ageing well’ should be a strategic priority. 
 
Of the responses, 98% agreed that improving healthy life expectancy and reducing 
the gap between County Durham and England should be a priority – which is the 
overall objective of the JHWS. 
 
84% of respondents were residents in County Durham, 13% represented an 
organisation, 3% represented a VCS and 1% were local councillor/committee 
members. 
 
In response to consultation feedback the following changes to the strategy have 
been recommended: 

- The reference to ‘active travel’ has been expanded to describe how these 
are modes of transport that use the human body as power e.g. walking, 
cycling, scootering and are used to get from place to place, rather than as a 
form of leisure or fitness.   

- The ambition that ‘no child will be born to a mother who smokes’ has been 
changed to an ambition that ‘pregnant women and mothers will not smoke’, 
as feedback suggested this vilified these women. 

- The strategy now includes the following text in relation to ‘Think Family’: We 
will have a ‘Think Family’ approach, which ensures that children, young 
people and families receive effective early help and have ‘whole family, 
outcome focussed’ support. 

- Reference in the statistics to children achieving a good level of development 
at 2-2½ years (9 out of 10) compared to end of reception (7 out of 10) has 
been removed from the strategy, as these two measures are not 
comparable, and this was causing some confusion.   

- The JHWS has been amended to reference the role of the Environment 
Partnership in contributing to the work of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 
Dialogue has taken place with a number of children and young people aged 5 to 
21 within County Durham through three Investing in Children agenda days. 
Children and Young People from different groups within Investing in Children, 
including young people from the SEND group, Children in Care Council and Health 
groups, from different areas across County Durham, have had the opportunity to 
have their voice heard and views listened to. This enabled us to evaluate children 
and young people’s perceptions of current issues within education, health, special 
needs/disabilities and emotional wellbeing.  

 

Screening Summary 

On the basis of this screening is there: 
 

Confirm which 
refers (Y/N) 

Evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the protected 
characteristics which will proceed to full assessment? 
 

Y 

No evidence of actual or potential impact on some/all of the 
protected characteristics? 
 

N 

Page 95



6 
 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: Andrea Petty, Strategic Manager 
Partnerships 
 

December 2019 
Updated February 2020 

Service equality representative sign off: Mary 
Gallagher, Equality and Diversity Team Leader 
 

December 2019 
Updated February 2020 

 

Section Two: Data analysis and assessment of impact 

Please provide details on impacts for people with different protected characteristics 

relevant to your screening findings. You need to decide if there is or likely to be a 

differential impact for some. Highlight the positives e.g. benefits for certain groups, 

advancing equality, as well as the negatives e.g. barriers for and/or exclusion of 

particular groups. Record the evidence you have used to support or explain your 

conclusions. Devise and record mitigating actions where necessary. 

Protected Characteristic: Age 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Record of evidence to support 
or explain your conclusions on 
impact. 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

There will be positive impact 
on stakeholders across all 
ages. The strategy aims to 
reduce inequality where 
possible which is positive. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing 
Board will work closely with 
children and young people 
to ensure they start well and 
health inequalities are 
reduced for children and 
their families. 
 
Approaches towards 
improved employment 
opportunities, living in a 
health promoting 
environment, quality housing 
and opportunities for active 
travel, as well as ensuring 
communities have optimum 
mental health and wellbeing, 
will have a positive influence 
on overall health and 
wellbeing. Approaches will 

The Joint Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy has been developed 
through analysis of a variety 
of data sets.  
 
Feedback from public 
consultation indicates that  

• 6% were aged 25-34 

• 17% were aged 35-44 

• 33% were aged 45-54 

• 27% were aged 55-64 

• 16% were aged 65-74 

• 2% were aged 75+ 
 
Headline H&WB evidence for 
County Durham in terms of 
age includes: 
 
Population data (2018): 

• Estimated Countywide 
population of just over 
106,000 children 
(4,868 live births) 

 
Children & Young People 

JH&WB Action 
plan aims to 
improve health and 
wellbeing by 
addressing 
identified priority 
issues and 
reducing health 
inequalities. 
 
Examples of action 
and/or delivery 
mechanisms in 
terms of age 
includes: 
- Healthy Weight 
Alliance Action 
Plan/Active 
Durham 
Partnership 
Framework 
- Dementia 
Strategy 
 

Page 96



7 
 

aim to increase healthy life 
expectancies. 
 
Targeted approaches will 
enable older people to 
remain independent and to 
lead lives with meaning and 
purpose. People will receive 
good quality end of life care. 
 
Social isolation/loneliness in 
older people will be 
addressed. Technology will 
support older people at risk 
of falls. 
 
The Children and Young 
People’s Strategy provides 
focus and clarity on the 
priorities for improving 
services and life 
opportunities for children 
and young people. The 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
will be provided with updates  
to ensure that improved 
health and wellbeing 
outcomes of our children is 
delivered within this 
strategy, including reducing 
unacceptable inequalities, 
which our more vulnerable 
children encounter like 
unintentional injuries in the 
home or being an unhealthy 
weight. 
 

• Approx 80,000 children 
of school age in County 
Durham 

 

• 6% of 16-17 years are 
not in education, 
employment or training. 
 

• Nearly 1 in 5 children 
are living in the top 
10% most deprived 
areas nationally 

 
Life expectancy is lower than 
the national average: 

• Female life expectancy 
at birth is 81.4 years 

• Male life expectancy at 
birth is 78.3 years 

 
Healthy Weight  

• Increasing number of 
children who are obese 
and overweight: 

• 1 in 4 reception 
children and 1 in 3 
Year 6 children have 
excess weight 

• 2 in 3 adults are 
overweight or obese 

 
1 in 20 people over 65 are 
recorded as having dementia. 
 
Engagement with children and 
young people through 
Investing in Children Agenda 
Days included: 

• 3 young people age 
15-19 from SEND 
group 

• 13 young people age 
12-20 from Health 
Group and Children in 
Care Council 

• 6 young people age 5-
21 from Type 1 
Diabetes group 

Public consultation 
Dec 2019 – Feb 
2020 

Page 97



8 
 

All young people agreed with 
the strategic priorities, and 
provided feedback on how 
they feel these could be 
delivered. 

 

Protected Characteristic: Disability 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

There will be positive impact 
on stakeholders. The 
strategy aims to reduce 
inequality where possible 
which is positive. 
 
 
  
 
 
 

The Joint Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy has been developed 
through analysis of a variety 
of data sets.  
 
25% or respondents to the 
public consultation considered 
themselves to be a disabled 
person. 
Headline H&WB evidence for 
County Durham in terms of 
disability includes: 
 
Mental health: 

• 1 in 4 adults 
experiences at least 
one diagnosable 
mental health problem 
in their lifetime (approx. 
100,000 adults) 

• 1 in 10 children have a 
mental health disorder 

• MH problems represent 
the largest single cause 
of disability in the UK 

 
Young people with SEND 
were included in the Investing 
in Children Agenda Day™ 
consultation. 

As above. 
 
Reasonable 
adjustments made 
where required 
including 
publication of easy 
read version of the 
strategy. 
 
Examples of action 
and/or delivery 
mechanisms in 
terms of age 
includes: 
-We will look to 
close the gap in 
the employment 
rate between those 
living with a LTC, 
LD, or in contact 
with secondary 
mental health 
services and the 
overall 
employment rate 
 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 98



9 
 

Protected Characteristic: Marriage and civil partnership  (workplace only) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

N/A 
 

  

 

Protected Characteristic: Pregnancy and maternity 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

There will be positive impact 
on stakeholders in relation 
to pregnancy and maternity. 
The strategy aims to reduce 
inequality where possible 
which is positive. 
 
Potential positive impact 
includes: 
 
An increase breastfeeding 
friendly venues and 
organisational workplaces 
across County Durham that 
meet UNICEF Baby friendly 
Initiative Standards.  
 
Reduction in smoking of 
pregnant women and 
parents/carers of children 
and young people. 
 
 

The Joint Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy has been developed 
through analysis of a variety 
of data sets.  
 
Headline H&WB evidence for 
County Durham in terms of 
pregnancy and maternity 
includes: 
 

• Nearly 1 in 5 women 
were smoking at time 
of delivery. 

 

• Nearly 1 in 3 mums are 
breastfeeding at 6-8 
weeks after birth. 

As above. 
 
Examples of action 
and/or delivery 
mechanisms in 
terms of age 
includes: 
-Identify perinatal 
MH issues during 
the antenatal 
period and provide 
relevant support 
-Increase the % of 
women who initiate 
breastfeeding and 
continue at 6-8 
weeks  
- Pregnant women 
and parents/carers 
of children and 
young people are 
supported to quit 
smoking 
 
 

 

Protected Characteristic: Race (ethnicity) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

There is no specific impact 
or consultation feedback in 
relation to this characteristic.  
 

From the public consultation, 
100% of respondents who 
answered this question 
identified as white British. 
 
 

 

 

Page 99



10 
 

Protected Characteristic: Religion or belief 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

There is no specific impact 
or consultation feedback in 
relation to this characteristic.  
 

From the public consultation 
58% of respondents were 
Christian, and 48% had no 
religion. 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sex (gender) 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

There will be positive impact 
on stakeholders in relation 
to gender. The strategy 
aims to reduce inequality 
where possible which is 
positive. 
 
 
 

The Joint Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy has been developed 
through analysis of a variety of 
data sets.  
 
From the public consultation  

• 97% of respondents 
identified as 
heterosexual/straight 

• 2% identified as gay 
men 

• 2% identified as 
omnisexual 

 
The breakdown of 
respondents to the public 
consultation was 31% male 
and 68% female. 
Headline H&WB evidence for 
County Durham in terms of 
age includes: 
 
Life expectancy is lower than 
the national average: 

• Female life expectancy 
at birth is 81.4 years 

• Male life expectancy at 
birth is 78.3 years 

• Healthy life expectancy 
for both men and 
women is 59 years. 

• The gap in life 
expectancy between 
the most deprived/least 
deprived areas is 8.1 

As above. 

Page 100



11 
 

years for men and 6.9 
years for women 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Sexual orientation 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

There will be positive impact 
on all stakeholders. The 
strategy aims to reduce 
inequality where possible 
which is positive. 
 
Evidence suggests a 
connection between poor 
mental health and some 
LGB people. One of the 
priority areas of the strategy 
is addressing mental health 
and this is positive. 
 
 
 
 

Not aware, if any respondents 
were LGBTQ  
 
 

 

 

 

Protected Characteristic: Transgender 

What is the actual or 
potential impact on 
stakeholders? 

Explain your conclusion 
considering relevant evidence 
and consultation 

What further action 
or mitigation is 
required? 

There will be positive impact 
on all stakeholders. The 
strategy aims to reduce 
inequality where possible 
which is positive. 
 
Evidence suggests a 
connection between poor 
mental health and some 
transgender people. One of 
the priority areas of the 
strategy is addressing 
mental health and this is 
positive. 
 
 

Not aware, if any respondents 
were transgender  
 

 

Page 101



12 
 

 

Section Three: Conclusion and Review 

Summary 

Please provide a brief summary of your findings stating the main impacts, both 
positive and negative, across the protected characteristics. 
 

The strategy will aim to work across a life course to reduce the gap in healthy life 
expectancy across County Durham and between County Durham and England. 
This is positive impacts across the protected characteristics. 

 
 

Will this promote positive relationships between different communities? If so how? 

 
Yes, the strategy will build on what is already taking place within the County and 
the approach to wellbeing will further harness the number of assets communities 
have available to them that help maintain and build their resilience and which in 
turn can protect challenges to their health or wellbeing. 
 

 

Action Plan 

Action Responsibility Timescales for 
implementation 

In which plan will 
the action appear? 

Public Consultation  Complete 14 February 
2020 

 

Make appropriate amends 
to strategy based on 
consultation feedback 

Complete 28 February 
2020 

 

    

    

    

Review 

Are there any additional assessments that need to be 
undertaken? (Y/N) 

N 

When will this assessment be reviewed? 
Please also insert this date at the front of the template 

 

Sign Off 

Lead officer sign off: 
Andrea Petty, Strategic Manager,  Adults & Health 
Services  
 

Date: 
 

Service equality representative sign off: Mary Gallagher, 
Equality and Diversity Team Leader 

Date: 

Page 102



13 
 

 

Please return the completed form to your service equality representative and forward 

a copy to equalities@durham.gov.uk 

 

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
11 March 2020 

County Durham Place Based 

Commissioning and Delivery 

Plan 2020-2025 

 

Report of Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adults and Health 

Services and Stewart Findlay, Chief Officer Durham Dales, 

Sedgefield and Easington and North Durham Clinical 

Commissioning Groups 

Electoral division affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 The County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan 
2020-2025 (the plan) is the collaborative commissioning and delivery 
intentions of the health and care system for the next five years. Partners 
that are covered within the plan include NHS and Local Authority 
Commissioners, Public Health, and Acute and Mental Health NHS 
providers. 

Executive summary 

2 As the health and care system within County Durham furthers its 
integration of commissioning functions and collaborates increasingly 
with its providers, the plan sets out how partnership working will both 
commission and provide comprehensive health and care services within 
the county. 

3 Historically commissioning intentions and provider plans have been 
written from an individual organisational perspective without reference 
to the interdependence that these organisations have on the delivery of 
health and care services. The plan has therefore been written from a 
system perspective where engagement across the system considering 
pathways rather than organisations has been central. 

4 The plan demonstrates a variance in the maturity of integration and 
collaboration within service areas and/or health and care pathways, and 
this is understood by partners. It has sought to identify opportunities for 
improvement, and it is expected that the plan will be refreshed on a 
frequent basis as work is undertaken by pathway groups. It is therefore 

 

Page 105

Agenda Item 8



neither exhaustive nor complete, but a measure of where the system is 
currently at.  

Recommendation 

5 The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to approve the County 
Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan 2020-2025. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 106



Background 

6 The format of the plan has evolved following engagement with the 
Health and Wellbeing Board to draw out common themes across the 
system, and in doing so has highlighted further steps required. These 
include the consideration of how pathways meet the needs of specific 
groups, such as children and those with mental health and learning 
disabilities.  

7 Prevention and the adoption of the Durham Approach to Wellbeing are 
additional cross cutting themes that require development within each 
pathway, ensuring that the Durham health and care system moves from 
a reactive model of treating illness, to one that addresses wellbeing and 
supports people and communities to prevent ill health. 

8 The County Durham Partnership have agreed the Vision for 2035 with 
the following ambitions: 

(a) More and better jobs  
(b) People live long and independent lives 
(c) Connected Communities 

 
9 One of the objectives under ‘people live long and independent lives’ 

focussed on better integration of health and social care services. 

10 The Health and Wellbeing Board brings together key statutory services 
who have a role to reduce health inequalities in County Durham and 
support people to live well for longer.  The Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy 2020-25 includes a life course approach to its priorities, 
recognising the importance of mental health and wellbeing and the 
social determinants of health cutting across all our priorities. These 
priorities are: 

(a) Starting Well 
(b) Living Well 
(c) Ageing Well 

 
11 These documents are underpinned by evidence from the Joint Strategic 

Needs Assessment as part of Durham Insight.    

12 Aligned to the Health and Wellbeing Board, The County Durham 
Integrated Care Board (ICB) brings together partners in Health and 
Social Care commissioning and delivery. This forum was established as 
health and social care partners recognise the need to collaborate to 
achieve improved outcomes for the population within existing resources.   
This forum is proving to be effective in co-ordinating commissioning and 
delivering activities across the County. 

Page 107



13 It is recognised by partners that our individual plans are interlinked and 
that the actions of one organisation will have an impact across the wider 
health and social care system.  We are bringing together the key 
components of the separate organisational commissioning and delivery 
plans into a single system plan which will become embedded within the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.  This will enable greater 
involvement from partners and greater oversight as we work to deliver 
our priorities in County Durham.  The ICB allows us to have a common 
view of the issues and priorities for health and social care across 
County Durham and ensure that we are joined up as we work to deliver 
improvements, as one element of the Health and Wellbeing Board’s 
work. 

14 The development of a County Durham Place Based Commissioning and 
Delivery Plan built into the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy is 
possible due to the strong track record of joint working and collaboration 
between health and social care.  The development of a shared plan will 
strengthen the joint working and also allow us to demonstrate how 
effective collaboration is in County Durham.  

15 Following the development of a one-year system delivery plan in the 
summer of 2019, partners have been working together to develop this 
plan to inform integrated commissioning and implementation for County 
Durham.  This delivery plan sets out the key activities that we will be 
working on together across the next five years.   

Conclusion 

16 This longer-term County Durham Place Based Commissioning and 
Delivery Plan sets out to deliver the requirements of the Children and 
Social Work Act 2017, Children and Families Act 2014, Care Act 2014, 
the NHS Long Term Plan and other relevant policy documents.  This 
plan will demonstrate the journey towards greater system thinking in 
commissioning, delivery, performance monitoring, driving efficiency and 
improving outcomes for the people of County Durham.  

17 We recognise that the landscape in health and social care is rapidly 
changing and this plan will need to be reviewed annually and updated to 
reflect any emerging priorities within the wider context of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

Authors 

Sarah Burns  Tel:  0191 371 3222 

Jon Quine  Tel:  07899 086357 

    

Page 108



Appendix 1:  Implications 

 
Legal Implications 
Should it be necessary to amend contracts for provision of services this will follow 

legal guidelines for the NHS and Local Government.   

 
Finance 
A financial plan is developed annually by all partners.  This will reflect the content 

of this plan and will follow individual organisational governance arrangements for 

approval. 

 
Consultation 
If any changes are proposed to services as part of this plan, then this would take 

place in line with the statutory obligations of DCC and the CCGs to engage and 

consult. 

 
Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 
If any changes are proposed to services as part of this plan, then this would take 

place in line with the statutory obligations of DCC and the CCGs to consider the 

impact on equality and diversity. 

 
Climate Change 
To promote carbon neutral approaches in our commissioning/delivery  
 
Human Rights - No implications 
 
Crime and Disorder - No implications 
 
Staffing - No implications 
 
Accommodation - No implications 
 
Risk 
There are risks associated with delivery of key performance targets for the NHS 

and Local Government.  These risks will be identified and logged on the relevant 

risk registers for the organisations with appropriate mitigating actions identified. 

 
Procurement 
Should it be necessary to amend contracts for provision of services or carry out 

new procurement exercises this will follow legal guidelines for the NHS and Local 

Government.   

 

 

Page 109



Appendix 2:  County Durham Place Based Commissioning and 
Delivery Plan 2020-2025 

 

Attached as a separate document 

Page 110



  

0 
 

  

 

County Durham Place 
Based Commissioning 
and Delivery Plan 2020-
2025 

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 

County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group  

Durham County Council 

Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust 

North of England Commissioning Support Unit 

Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust 

 

 

 

 

Page 111



  

1 
 

Contents 
 

Introduction ................................................................................................................ 3 

1.  Health inequalities and Prevention ...................................................................... 5 

2. Approach to Wellbeing ......................................................................................... 6 

3. Personalised Care ............................................................................................... 6 

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities ............................................................... 7 

5. Children ............................................................................................................... 8 

6. Digital ................................................................................................................... 9 

7. Finance ................................................................................................................ 9 

8. Integration .......................................................................................................... 10 

9. Cultural Change ................................................................................................. 10 

The Plan Content ..................................................................................................... 11 

Workforce ................................................................................................................. 12 

Estates ..................................................................................................................... 12 

Next steps, future plans ............................................................................................ 12 

Contributors .............................................................................................................. 13 

Maternity .................................................................................................................. 14 

Children and Young People ..................................................................................... 14 

Cancer ...................................................................................................................... 14 

Cardiovascular Disease ........................................................................................... 14 

Diabetes ................................................................................................................... 14 

Drugs and Alcohol .................................................................................................... 14 

Respiratory ............................................................................................................... 14 

Sexual Health ........................................................................................................... 14 

Stroke ....................................................................................................................... 14 

Dementia .................................................................................................................. 14 

Living well with frailty / Older People – Community Care ......................................... 14 

Palliative Care and End of Life ................................................................................. 14 

Carers ...................................................................................................................... 14 

Learning Disability & Autism ..................................................................................... 14 

Mental Health ........................................................................................................... 14 

Oral Health ............................................................................................................... 14 

Primary Care Networks ............................................................................................ 14 

Page 112

file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830983
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830984
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830985
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830986
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830987
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830988
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830989
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830990
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830991
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830992
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830993
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830994
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830995
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830996
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830997
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830998
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32830999


  

2 
 

Urgent and Emergency Care .................................................................................... 14 

Digital, Data and Technology ................................................................................... 14 

Personalised Care .................................................................................................... 14 

Population Health and Prevention ............................................................................ 14 

Shorter Waits ........................................................................................................... 14 

  

Page 113

file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32831000
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32831001
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32831002
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32831003
file:///H:/Durham%20System%20Plan/Central%20ICP/OGIMs/OGIM%20FINAL/County%20Durham%20Placed%20Based%20Commissioning%20Plan%202020-2025.docx%23_Toc32831004


  

3 
 

Introduction 

 
The County Durham Partnership has agreed the Vision for 2035 with the following 
ambitions: 
 
• More and better jobs 
• People live long and independent lives 
• Connected Communities 
 
One of the objectives under ‘people live long and independent lives’ focussed on 
better integration of health and social care services. 
 
The Health and Wellbeing Board brings together key statutory services who have a 
role to reduce health inequalities in County Durham and support people to live well 
for longer.  The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2020-25 includes a life course 
approach to its priorities, recognising the importance of mental health and wellbeing 
and the social determinants of health cutting across all our priorities. These priorities 
are: 
 
• Starting Well 
• Living Well 
• Ageing Well 
 
Aligned to the Health and Wellbeing Board, the County Durham Integrated Care 
Board (ICB) brings together partners in Health and Social Care commissioning and 
delivery. This forum was established as health and social care partners recognise 
the need to collaborate to achieve improved outcomes for the population within 
existing resources.   This forum is proving to be effective in co-ordinating 
commissioning and delivery activities across the County. 
 
Historically each organisation has had its own commissioning / delivery plan in line 
with their governance and assurance requirements.  The organisations that are part 
of the ICB have separate local, regional and national policies, politics, regulators and 
stakeholders.  However, these policies and plans impact on the same people and 
communities in County Durham.    
 
It is recognised by partners that our individual plans are interlinked and that the 
actions of one organisation will have an impact across the wider health and social 
care system.  We are bringing together the key components of the separate 
organisational commissioning and delivery plans into a single system plan which will 
become embedded within Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy.  This will enable 
greater involvement from partners and greater oversight as we work to deliver our 
priorities in County Durham.  The ICB allows us to have a common view of the 
issues and priorities for health and social care across County Durham and ensure 
that we are joined up as we work to deliver improvements, as one element of the 
Health & Wellbeing Board’s work. 
 
The development of a County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery 
Plan built into the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy is possible due to the strong 
track record of joint working and collaboration between health and social care.  The 

Page 114



  

4 
 

development of a shared plan will strengthen the joint working and also allow us to 
demonstrate how effective collaboration is in County Durham.  
 
The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment helps to inform the planning and 
improvement of local services and guides us in making the best use of funding 
available. It builds a picture of current and future health and wellbeing needs of local 
people. This plan is underpinned by evidence from the JSNA to shape the joint 
commissioning priorities to improve health and wellbeing as well as reduce health 
inequalities in our communities. 
Following the development of a one year system delivery plan in the summer of 
2019, partners have been working together to develop a five year system delivery 
plan (County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan) to inform 
integrated commissioning and implementation for County Durham.  This delivery 
plan sets out the key activities that we will be working on together across the next 
five years.  The County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan 
aims to set out the context that individual organisations are working in and how we 
need to work on implementation in Durham.  We recognise that the landscape in 
health and social care is rapidly changing and this plan will need to be reviewed 
annually and updated to reflect any emerging priorities within the wider context of the 
Joint Health & Wellbeing Strategy. 
 
This longer-term County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan 
sets out to deliver the requirements of the Children and Social Work Act 2017, 
Children and Families Act 2014, Care Act 2014, the NHS Long Term Plan and other 
relevant policy documents.  This plan will demonstrate the journey towards greater 
system thinking in commissioning, delivery, performance monitoring, driving 
efficiency and improving outcomes for the people of County Durham. It does not 
however replace or deprioritise any of the statutory responsibilities for inspection that 
any of the partner organisations currently has, for example in regards to 
safeguarding or SEND. 
 
It is recognised that the County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery 
Plan is an internal document that is being used to hold partners to account on 
delivery of our priorities over the next five years, however a shortened brochure for 
the public and wider stakeholders will be developed to more effectively communicate 
its aims. 
 
The single system plan is structured around the life course, reflecting the spirit and 
content of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy and the Approach to Wellbeing, 
through the alignment of strategies and plans to improve the health and care of the 
population of County Durham. This also ensures that prevention is prominent in both 
the structure and content of our planning. 
  
The plan explains the key commissioning and delivery projects that we are working 
on together and should be read alongside individual organisational plans and also 
national policy. 
 
The plan focusses on nine cross cutting themes which are described in more detail 
in the following sections. 
 

Page 115



  

5 
 

1.  Health inequalities and Prevention  

 
The health and wellbeing of the people in County Durham has improved significantly 
over recent years but remains worse than the England average. Health inequalities 
remain persistent and pervasive. Levels of deprivation are higher and life expectancy 
is lower than the England average, with too many of our population suffering from 
avoidable ill-health or dying prematurely.  
 
The factors that underpin health inequalities are known as the social determinants of 
health.  These include educational attainment, employment, housing, and financial 
security.  If people do not have good educational attainment, they are less likely to 
find good employment and are then less likely to have good housing.  These factors 
are all interlinked and are considered in the broader Joint Health & Wellbeing 
Strategy. 
 
As well as understanding health and wellbeing needs and health inequalities we also 
want to increase the focus on our community assets and how we can use them to 
help people to remain healthy, both physically and mentally and to remain 
independent for as long as possible.  This is why a wellbeing approach is being 
adopted in County Durham.  
 
The aim for our population’s health is to have the best start in life and to maintain 
health as people progress through the life course.  To prevent ill health is a major 
theme within the NHS long term plan.  To do this there must be concerted effort in 
maintaining people’s health and wellbeing and prioritizing protective factors.  In 
addition to ensuring the social determinants of health are considered across County 
Durham there are also positive health behaviours that will reduce the risk of 
developing long term conditions such as heart disease, respiratory disease and 
cancers.   The health behaviours that can impact negatively on longer term health 
which must be addressed through the five year system delivery plan include: 
 
• stopping people from starting to smoke and supporting those who do smoke 

to stop; 
• maintaining a healthy weight and supporting those who are overweight or 

obese to lose weight; 
• encouraging an active lifestyle and increasing physical activity levels; 
• encouraging people to drink alcohol within recommended levels and 

supporting those who are high risk or dependent drinkers to reduce or stop;   
• promoting good sexual health, and  
• the foundation for all of this is promoting good mental health.   
 
To ensure County Durham is a health promoting environment the health and social 
care infrastructure must commission and deliver effective evidence based 
programmes which empower people and enable the heathier choice to be the easier 
choice.  This is only possible through the wellbeing approach and to start all health 
and social care pathways with prevention first.  As a County Durham Place Based 
Commissioning and Delivery Plan both medical and non-medical approaches to 
prevention and treatment will be considered.  The social prescribing infrastructure 
will be developed to a scale across County Durham that will have sufficient reach 
into all communities.  All health and care staff working in County Durham will be 

Page 116



  

6 
 

trained in making every contact count and will understand the importance of starting 
from the point of prevention and appreciating the assets in local communities which 
are complementary to medical interventions. All commissioned services will adhere 
to these principles. 
 

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

 
The County Durham Approach to Wellbeing has been adopted by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board as a means to ensure all organisations and services within the 
county consider wellbeing as a common currency; it includes everything that is 
important to people and their lives, from housing and justice, environment and 
culture, to health and care. Through commissioners and providers (both statutory 
and voluntary) the application of the model supports a cultural shift in how we 
consider and address the needs of people, communities and neighbourhoods within 
the County. For the plan this means ensuring all services self-assess against the 
model using a structured framework that will inform future decisions about how local 
work and activities can support the wellbeing of people living in communities. Whilst 
in its infancy the model will be integrated into commissioning decisions, supporting 
providers to deliver services that place improving wellbeing at the centre of their 
aims 
 
We will operate to the following principles of working in order to improve the 
wellbeing of our residents: 
 
• Solutions will be designed and produced together with service users; 
• We will work with communities and support their development and 
 empowerment; 
• We will acknowledge the differing needs of our communities whilst 

acknowledging and building on their potential strengths; 
• We will direct our activities where they can make the biggest difference to 

those who are most vulnerable and help to build resilience; 
• We will make person centred interventions available, ensuring that they are 

empowering and not stigmatising; 
• We will align our related strategies, policies and services to reduce duplication 

and ensure greater impact. 
 

3. Personalised Care 

 
For many years the NHS and Social Care has talked about the need to shift towards 
a more personalised approach to health and care so that people have the same 
choice and control over their mental and physical health that they have come to 
expect in every other part of their life. As the County Durham Health and Care 
System continues to integrate we recognising the power of individuals as the best 
integrators of their own health and wellbeing. 
 
The NHS Long Term Plan introduces the comprehensive model for personalised 
care, comprising six, evidence-based standard components, intended to improve 
health and wellbeing outcomes and quality of care, whilst also enhancing value for 

Page 117



  

7 
 

money. In County Durham implementation will be delivered in partnerships between 
the NHS, Durham County Council, the voluntary and community sector and people 
with lived experience. 
 
Each chapter of the plan reflects that specialities, services and organisations within 
the system are committed to delivering this agenda by adopting at least one 
component of comprehensive model for personalised care: 
 
1. Shared decision making 
2. Personalised care and support planning 
3. Enabling choice, including legal rights to choice 
4. Social prescribing and community-based support 
5. Supported self-management 
6. Personal health budgets and integrated personal budgets. 
 
The impact of delivering true personalised care across the system are people with 
greater control over decisions about their care, greater responsibility for making 
positive choices, and services that ask the question ‘what matters to you?’, rather 
than ‘what’s the matter with you?’ Wider system benefits will be better use of 
resources by reducing unnecessary appointments for people with greater 
knowledge, skills and confidence to manage their health and wellbeing, and more 
targeted support to those without; less demand on unplanned services and more 
proactive planning based upon people’s wishes when in need of support; and a more 
connected system where people no longer fall between the gaps between health, 
care and neighbourhood services. 
 

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities 

 
There are specific chapters in this plan that relate to patients with mental health 
issues or a learning disability and targeted actions to make improvements in these 
areas. Throughout every other chapter of this plan we will be considering any 
additional actions we need to take to ensure that the needs of people with mental 
health issues, learning disabilities and/or autism are addressed when looking at 
particular areas of service improvement. 
 
The actions within the 5 Year Plan support the aims and objectives of the following 
strategies: 
 
• The Mental Health Strategy and Concordat sets out priorities within its five 

workstreams:  
o Dementia strategy implementation 
o Children and young people’ mental health 
o Suicide prevention,  
o Resilient Communities, and 
o Crisis Care Concordat.  

• Commissioning Strategy for People with Learning Disabilities has a focus on 
adults and young people aged 14+, sets out how Health and Social Care will 
work together and with other partners to deliver better outcomes for people 
with learning disabilities, increasing choice and control and supporting them to 

Page 118



  

8 
 

remain living in their communities. The shared vision is for all people with 
learning disabilities to have a good life in their community with the right 
support from the right people at the right time.  

• Think Autism Strategy; this all-age strategy aims to ensure children, young 
people and adults in County Durham who are on the autism spectrum live 
fulfilling and rewarding lives within a society that accepts and understands 
them. 

 
These strategies support the Transforming Care aim of reshaping services for 
people with learning disabilities and/or autism with a mental health problem or 
behaviour that challenges to ensure that more services are provided in the 
community and closer to home rather than in hospital settings. 
 

5. Children 

 
A life course approach to all health and social care must be considered.  All children 
are in the context of family and their educational environment and home setting.  The 
children’s strategy for County Durham sets out the vision for children and young 
people and the priorities for improvement. There are specific chapters in this five 
year system delivery plan that relate to children with specific and targeted actions to 
make improvements via commissioning and delivery activities.  The evidence for 
health and wellbeing improvement for children and young people is sound and 
commences with the first 1001 critical days which place maternity and health visiting 
services as central planks of support from a universal perspective.  A graded 
response of support is then required pending the needs of the child and the 
vulnerability’s or health conditions they are living with. The plan recognises the 
cross-cutting nature of vulnerability and how the conditions and family circumstances 
into which children are born, grow, learn and develop can significantly affect their 
lives and determine variations in health, wellbeing, attainment and social mobility 
and how these  can be further compounded for children and young people with a 
disability, ill health or developmental difficulties – including mental ill health and 
special educational needs; children who are vulnerable or of concern by virtue of 
their identity or nationality or children who care for others. 
 
All chapters of the plan consider the impact on children to ensure pathways and 
services are life course in approach.  
 
  

Page 119



  

9 
 

6. Digital  

 
A digital strategy for the North East and Cumbria integrated care system has been 
published. This document outlines how as a system we will improve how we use 
Information & Technology Services to meet the needs of care providers, patients and 
the public, helping care professionals to share information and our patients to 
manage their health and care.  
  
The key priorities for health and social care are to enable people to improve their 
wellbeing and maintain their independence for as long as possible. Our digital 
ambition is to use technology to achieve these goals and to provide the best possible 
experience for people when using health and care services in County Durham.  
  
We also need to consider the environment and look at ways to reduce unnecessary 
travel associated with health and care provision where we can where it is appropriate 
to do so.  We will be considering how we do this in our commissioning and delivery 
activities to support delivery of sustainable health and care in County Durham.   
 

7. Finance 

 
As we develop and implement integrated commissioning arrangements we will look 
to achieve the best possible service delivery and improvement for our population.  
This will include focussing on reducing duplication and joining up services wherever 
possible. Where this frees up resources we will consider together the most 
appropriate areas for investment based on the priorities set out in this plan.   
 
There will be a strong focus on delivering services within our available resources and 
achieving and maintaining financial balance.  There will be deliberate and concerted 
focus on reducing hospital based treatment and permanent care home admissions.  
We will increase spend on prevention, primary and community based care and non-
medical interventions. 
 
There will be deliberate and concerted focus on reducing hospital based treatment 
and permanent care home admissions, and increasing spend on prevention, primary 
and community based care and non-medical interventions. 
 
As a partnership of commissioners and providers there will also be a focus on 
ensuring the financial sustainability of our provider organisations and working with 
them to deliver the best possible services within the available funding.     
 
We will also ensure we meet our obligations under the relevant legislation including:  
• The need to facilitate markets that offer a diverse range of high quality and 

appropriate care and support services, to enable genuine choice to people in 
meeting their needs. 

• The need to make joint arrangements to plan and commission education, 
health and social care provision for children and young people with SEN or a 
disability.  

Page 120



  

10 
 

• The need to secure sufficient accommodation for looked after children within 
their local authority area. 

 
The Care Act 2014 represents the most significant changes to adult social care in 
recent times, it provided fundamental reforms in how the law on adult social care will 
work, placing a stronger emphasis on advice and information, prevention and market 
shaping. The Act introduced new challenges for commissioners and providers which 
may also realise opportunities for service development. The Care Act places 
statutory duties on the local authority to facilitate markets that offer a diverse range 
of high quality and appropriate care and support services, to enable genuine choice 
to people in meeting their needs. 
 
Similarly, the Children and Families Act 2014 aims to improve services for children 
and young people and their families. The Act requires local authorities, clinical 
commissioning groups and, where relevant, NHS Commissioning Boards to make 
joint arrangements to plan and commission education, health and social care 
provision for children and young people with SEN or a disability.  
 
The council also has a duty, as stated in section 22G of the Children Act 1989, to 
take steps to secure, as far a reasonably practicable, sufficient accommodation for 
looked after children within their local authority area. The 2010 guidance on the 
‘sufficiency duty’ states that local authorities should have embedded plans, as part of 
their commissioning processes and through partnership working, to meet the duty. 
 

8. Integration  

 
This plan is built on bringing together services and commissioning across County 
Durham with all of our system partners and stakeholders.  We are building on the 
good start we have made with our Community Contract and the work of our Teams 
Around the Patient and the development of Primary Care Networks.  Commissioning 
services together will enable us to look at the whole pathway and holistic needs of 
population rather than look at these in isolation and so further improve the outcomes 
for local people.  By using our collective resources more efficiently we can maximise 
the impact of the Durham pound to benefit our communities 
As would be expected from a strategic integrated commissioning function, we will be 
seeking to understand the opportunities at every stage of the development and 
delivery of joined up health and care services.  We will be ensuring that we look at a 
whole person’s needs when redesigning or commissioning/delivering new services, 
removing the boundaries between health and care. We will be commissioning across 
the full life course and part of the function will be dedicated to  children’s services 
from 0-25; this will help us to develop our work to ensure that outcomes for 
vulnerable children and their families are central and services are more joined up 
and responsive to meet their needs. 
 

9. Cultural Change  

 
There is no denying system working can be hard, yet across County Durham we 
have strong foundations on which to build.  The successful delivery of this plan will 

Page 121



  

11 
 

be dependent on a change in ways of working and also the mind set of our 
commissioners and providers.  This may be challenging due to the years of ingrained 
behaviours and previous ways of working.  We will be considering the culture change 
that will be required to make this successful as we develop new commissioning and 
delivery initiatives.  We are proud of the dedicated individuals in all of our 
organisations; they want to do the best for the people of County Durham.  We will be 
maximising the skills available across the wider health and social care workforce, 
learning from each other and be looking to our leaders to demonstrate positive 
collaboration from the top. 
 

The Plan Content 

 
Starting well 

• Maternity 

• Children and Young People 
 

Living Well 

• Cancer 

• Cardiovascular Disease 

• Diabetes 

• Drugs and Alcohol 

• Respiratory   

• Sexual Health  

• Stroke 
 

Aging Well 

• Dementia 

• Frailty 

• Palliative Care 
 

Whole life course 

• Carers 

• Learning Disability and Autism 

• Mental Health  

• Oral Health 

• Primary Care Networks 

• Urgent and Emergency Care 
 

Enablers 

• Digital 

• Personalised Care 

• Population Health and Prevention 

• Shorter waits 

 

 

Page 122



  

12 
 

Workforce 

 
There are significant workforce challenges across health and social care in Durham 
and across the country. There are shortages of GPs, social care staff, nursing, 
therapies and a number of medical specialities. 
Some key programmes are already in place to address some of the challenges: 

• GP and practice nurse career start scheme 

• Regional international GP recruitment scheme 

• Social care academy 

• Bid for a work programme to support organisational development across 
community health and social care 

 
In future there will be an even greater focus on plans to address shortages and the 
capacity and skills needed to support the long term plan and service transformation.  
We will also consider the development of new hybrid roles to support development of 
H&SC in a more joined up way, reducing duplication. 
 
In relation to NHS workforce planning Health Education North East is working with 
partners in County Durham to support plans regarding medical, nursing and therapy 
shortages and the development of new roles.  
 

Estates 

 
Work has been ongoing for a number of years between the partners that have 
developed this plan to ensure: 

• shared planning of estate utilisation 

• Ensuring effective use of current estate and reducing costs for all partners 

• Ensuing estate plans support the transformation of community and primary 
care services 

• Continued consideration of shared use of estates through effective use of 
current estate 

• Support and enable integrated working between health and social care 
teams 

 
This work will continue across the duration of this plan to achieve the objectives 
listed above.  
 
 
Next steps, future plans. 
 
It is recognised that there are gaps in some sections of this plan.  As integrated 
working becomes more embedded we expect that these gaps will decrease.  The 
staff working in the integrated commissioning unit will begin to consider the cross 
cutting themes that form this plan as they plan and deliver service improvement as a 
matter of routine. 
 
This is the first time that partners across H&SC commissioning and provision have 
worked together to deliver a long term plan of this nature.  We believe that we will 

Page 123



  

13 
 

strengthen our joint planning further in future years and our ways of working will 
mature and improve. 
 
Partners will work together to ensure delivery of this plan and to ensure that a 
meaningful performance framework is developed that reflects the interdependencies 
between the many objectives in this plan.  This framework will be overseen by the 
Integrated Care Board with reporting by exception with the aim that senior systems 
leadership can help to unblock any issues that are impacting on delivery. 
 
It is recognised that plans need to be regularly reviewed to ensure that local and 
national developments are taken into account and that priorities are regularly 
refreshed.  This plan will be reviewed by partners on a bi-annual basis with any 
changes made with the agreement of the Integrated Care Board. 

 

Contributors 

  
• CCG – North Durham and DDES Clinical Commissioning Group 
• CCDFT – County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust 
• DCC – Durham County Council 
• HDFT – Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust 
• NECS – North of England Commissioning Support 
• NHSE/I – NHS England & Improvement 
• NTHFT – North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust 
• STSFT – South Tyneside and Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust 
• TEWV – Tees, Esk and Wear Valley NHS Foundation Trust 

 

  

Page 124



14 

 

14 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Why is change needed? 

➢ An audit of stillbirths found that half of all term, singleton, normally formed antepartum stillbirths had at least 
one element of care that required improvement; nationally almost half of CQC inspections of maternity 
services result in safety assessments that are either ‘inadequate’ (7%) or ‘requires improvement’(41%). 
Women’s experience of maternity care is generally positive, but there are reservations over the availability of 
choice and the provision of care following birth. Maternity staff report higher levels of perceived stress and a 
less supportive work environment than other NHS staff. 

OBJECTIVE 

➢ Provide safer, kinder & more 
personalised care 

➢ Provide every women with 
access to information to 
make informed choices about 
care 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 

 

➢ The vision for maternity services across England is for them to become safer, more personalised, kinder, professional and more family 
friendly; where every woman has access to information to enable her to make decisions about her care; and where she and her baby can 
access support that is centred around their individual needs and circumstances.  

➢ All staff to be supported to deliver care which is women centred, working in high performing teams, in organisations which are well led and 
in cultures which promote innovation, continuous learning, and break down organisational and professional boundaries. 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 

 

 

• A reduction in rates of smoking at time of delivery 

• An increase in vaccination uptake in pregnancy 

• A reduction of alcohol consumption in pregnancy 

• An increase in breastfeeding at initiation and at 6-8 weeks 

• An improvement in the management of obesity and promotion of healthy weight in pregnancy 

• An increase in Making Every Contact Count 

• Progress towards full implementation of the SBLCB v2 will work towards halving stillbirths, neonatal and maternal deaths by 2025 

• Progress towards ensuring that 35% of women are booked onto a continuity of carer pathway by 2020 
 

 

 

Maternity 

Page 125



  

15 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities and Prevention  

Implement an enhanced and targeted continuity of carer model, ensuring that by 2024, 75% of women from 

Black/Black British, Asian/Asian British communities and women from the most deprived areas or vulnerable 

groups will receive continuity of care 

        

Increase breastfeeding rates to achieve greater or equivalent to rest of  England by 2025         

Less than 5% of pregnant mothers smoking by 2025         

Increase the offer of flu and pertussis vaccinations in the acute settings to achieve 95% uptake by 2025         

Less than 5% of pregnant mothers drinking alcohol by 2025         

100% of pregnant women with a BMI 30 or greater are supported by using NICE guidance recommendations 

by 2025 

        

100% women with BMI 30 and above at the postnatal review (6-8weeks) are signposted to a structured 

weight management programme by 2025 

        

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Reduce rates of neonatal, death and maternal death and brain injury during birth by 20% by end of 2020/21         

Reduce rates of neonatal, death and maternal death and brain injury during birth by 50% by end of 2025         

Fully implement Saving Babies Lives care bundle (version 2) by March 2020         

Establish Maternal Medicines Networks to further ensure women with acute and chronic medical problems 

have timely access to specialist care and advice at all stages of pregnancy, by March 2024 

        

Postnatal physiotherapy is offered to women with physical complications because of birth by March 2024         

3. Personalised Care  

Most women (>51%) receive continuity of person caring for them during pregnancy, birth and postnatally by  

2021 

        

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Establish maternity outreach which integrate maternity, reproductive health, and psychological therapy for 

women who experience mental health difficulties arising from, or related to, the pregnancy or birth experience 

        

66,000 women across the UK with moderate to severe perinatal mental health difficulties will have access to 

specialist community care from preconception up to 2 years after birth 

        

5. Children  

By April 2020 ODNs and LMS to produce local plans to implement the neonatal critical care review         

6. Digital  

All women can access their electronic maternity personal health record by 2024         

Maternity, Neonatal and Perinatal mental health workforce can access the information that they need to 

provide safe and high quality care through the Health Information Exchange of the Great North Care Record 

by 2024 

        

7. Finance  

Work as part of the ICP to look at where training can be shared across the system and areas where staff can 

be upskilled closer to the patient 

        

Work with LMS to access any central funding in a targeted manner         

8. Integration  

Continue to work across the system on the prevention agenda looking at where organisations can work 

together to deliver the same messages with regards breastfeeding, obesity and smoking at time of delivery 

and where we can benefit from working together on an improvement project  

        

9. Cultural Change  

All maternity units to be accredited at UNICEF level 3 by 2025         

 Page 126



  

16 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Children and Young People 

Why is change needed? 

➢ The current healthcare system for children and young people can often feel disjointed and some services provided 
in an acute setting can be safely moved to a more optimal setting. Children and young people account for 25% of 
emergency department attendances nationally and are the most likely age group to attend A&E unnecessarily.  

➢ In addition, there is plenty of evidence based upstream prevention work that would make a positive difference to 
current outcomes that can be further progressed, for example obesity work and smoking at time of delivery. High 
levels of excess weight during childhood; this area is an outlier for the levels of childhood obesity; the government 
has pledged to halve childhood obesity by 2030. 

➢ Children and Young people who have special educational needs have outlined that they need better transition 
planning and a more joined up and integrated approach to their care that prioritises continuity. There is also a lack of 
clear information about this cohort and the identified needs. 

➢ Issues around recruitment and retention of all multi agency staff need to be addressed to provide a more 
sustainable and robust service that has a shared identity and makes better use of training and development 
opportunities across the workforce. 

➢ Ultimately improving the health and outcomes of young people will have a huge benefit for not only them but for the 
system overall as they progress into adulthood.  

OBJECTIVE 

 

To provide safe, 

sustainable and 

joined up high 

quality services to 

children and 

young people 

across the system 

as close to home 

as possible and 

with transition 

plans built in. 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 

 

➢ Ensure that every child has the best start in life by maximising the prevention agenda prior to birth and throughout childhood  
 

➢ Have a “think family approach” as children live in the context of home and their community 
 

➢ Children and young people will be able to access high quality, age appropriate, planned care for their condition at the right time in the 
right place as close to home as possible 
 

➢ The overall quality, responsiveness and equity of access of our services will be improved to meet the needs of all children and young 
people including those who have a special educational need 
 

➢ To have in place integrated children’s service provision, responsive to need rather than diagnosis 
 

➢ Children and young people will be able to transition to adulthood and if needed to adult services in a planned and informed way for all 
services 
 

➢ Children and young people enjoy the best start in life, good health and emotional wellbeing 
 

➢ Children and young people with special educational needs and disability (SEND) achieve the best possible outcome 
 

➢ Ensure children, young people and vulnerable adults are safeguarded and protected from harm 
 

➢ Ensure all opportunities for service users and their carers to be involved in the development and co-production of services is 
maximised 
 

Page 127



  

17 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 

 

Best Start in Life KPI’s 

➢ Perinantal mental health 
➢ Maternal obesity.  % of BMI over 30 
➢ Breastfeeding Initiation 

➢ Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6‐8 weeks from birth 
➢ Percentage of children scoring above the threshold in all the five domains of the ASQ-3 
➢ Percentage of children scoring above the threshold in the ASQ-3 communications domain 
➢ School readiness: the percentage of children achieving a good level of development at the end of reception (Persons) 
➢ Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and deliberate injuries in children aged 0-4 years (per 10,000  population) 
➢ Percentage of mothers smoking at time of delivery 

Family outcomes framework 

 

Other /local measures 

➢ Earned Autonomy measures 
➢ Best Start in Life performance management framework and work programme 
➢ Children looked after performance management framework and work programme 
➢ SEND performance management framework and Written statement of action (WSOA) 

 

SEND 

Operating Framework Measures 

 

➢ Education Health Care Plans produced in a timely fashion 
➢ Child and parent satisfaction measures 
➢ Learning progress rates 
➢ Therapy assessment and treatment waiting times 
➢ Rates of school exclusion, attendance and moves 
➢ Volume and, type and duration of out of county placements 
➢ Percentage of children who are NEET 
➢ Young people in supported internships 

 

Other/Local Measures 

➢ SEND Promise 
➢ Local Offer 
➢ A quality assurance framework, which includes a programme of multi-agency and single agency audits 
➢ Peer support and challenge through sector led improvement and partners in practice programmes 
➢ Written Statement of Action (WSOA) 

 

Supporting Young People aged 14-25 (transitions) 

 

Operating Framework Measures 

Other/Local Measures 

To be developed 

 

 

 

 

Page 128



  

18 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities & Prevention  

Reduce unwarranted variation in the update of the Childhood Immunisation Programme         

All organisations to prioritise reducing tobacco dependency in pregnancy. Trusts to include as a clinical 

priority and all organisations to change the narrative to a one of addiction. 

        

Changing the social norm of breastfeeding by a HWB call to action. County Durham to become BF friendly.         

Deliver a whole system unintentional injuries strategy to reduce accidents in the home.         

Implement the whole system approach to obesity as laid out in the County Durham healthy weight framework         

Oral health 

• Roll out targeted tooth brushing schemes to early years settings and reception classes 

• Continue to progress the legal process of exploring the feasibility of expanding community water 

fluoridation across County Durham 

        

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Development of poorly child pathways to reduce inappropriate activity/admissions and improve patient flow         

Phase in an extension of current service models to create a comprehensive offer for age 0-25.         

Ensure young people have choice, control and freedom over their lives (SEND)         

3. Personalised Care  

Working with families and young people to determine when an Education, Health and Care Plan should be 

maintained (SEND) 

        

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Improve Education Health and Care opportunities for children and their families on the autistic spectrum         

Develop a transition pathway for young people with significant mental health issues where this includes 

complex other issues including autism and learning difficulties (Transitions) 

        

5. Children  

Review community paediatric service with local acute Trust to look at opportunities to support the long-term 

plan goals of care close to home 

        

There are sufficient support and accommodation options to ensure that the placement of all children looked 

after are the most appropriate available to meet the child’s needs  

        

6. Digital  

Ensure high priority indicators capture relevant data and key performance information across Education, 

Health and Care 

        

7. Finance  

         

8. Integration  

Look at opportunities to further integrate children’s therapies services across the County         

Review children's equipment processes to improve current pathways and review the potential of joint 

commissioning/pooled budgets for children’s equipment 

        

Develop and implement the early help and think family place-based approach to better connect community 

and public resources. 

        

Embed and maintain a joint commissioning cycle that improves access to integrated support in Education, 

Health and Care (SEND) 

        

Scoping exercise to be carried out to clarify cohorts, review transitions arrangements and build a multi-

agency offer (Transitions)  

        

9. Cultural Change  

Improve engagement with children and young people, parents and carers to inform policy and service quality 

(SEND) 

        

Promote the importance of being healthy (SEND)         

Engage with young people, their family and carers to shape arrangements and co-produce communications 

and information (Transitions) 

        

 

Page 129



  

19 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Cancer 

Why is change needed? 

➢ Despite more cancer patients being diagnosed earlier and overall survivorship increasing year on year, the gap 
has been steadily widening between County Durham and the England average in One-Year Survivorship since 
2003.  

➢ Patients diagnosed early, at stages 1 and 2, have the best chance of curative treatment and long-term survival, 
but there are significant inequalities in our most deprived communities  

➢ There is a significant gap between life expectancy across the ICP footprint and that of England 

➢ There is a significant inequality gap within communities across our localities, more people from our deprived 
communities die from cancer or their quality of life post cancer treatment is worse than what it should be when 
compared to the local, regional and English averages. 

OBJECTIVE 

Our ambition is by 

2028, the proportion of 

cancers diagnosed at 

stages 1 and 2 will rise 

from around half now 

to three-quarters of 

cancer patients. 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 

 

➢ More people each year will survive their cancer for at least five years after diagnosis 
➢ Raise greater awareness of symptoms of cancer 
➢ Maximise the number of cancers that we identify through screening 
➢ Closer working  with all partners to support delivery of world-class cancer care and aim to increase cancer survival levels to match or 

exceed that of England as a whole 
➢ Making best use of new emerging primary care networks and strong existing links with our Public Health partners to reduce health 

inequalities, improve overall cancer outcomes and deliver the best possible patient experience 
➢ Faster Diagnosis Standard (28 days) 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 

 

➢ New 31 day and 62-day cancer waiting times from 2020 
➢ 28-Day Faster Diagnosis Standard- monitored from 2020 
➢ Cancers diagnosed at an early stage  
➢ Emergency presentations  
➢ 1-year and 5-year survival from all cancers  
➢ Cancer patient experience 

 

National milestones, finance and implications 

  

National milestones 

➢ From 2019 we will start to roll out new Rapid Diagnostic Centres across the country.  
➢ In 2020 a new faster diagnosis standard for cancer will begin to be introduced so that patients receive a definitive diagnosis or ruling out of cancer within 

28 days.  
➢ By 2020 HPV primary screening for cervical cancer will be in place across England.  
➢ By 2021, where appropriate every person diagnosed with cancer will have access to personalised care, including needs assessment, a care plan and 

health and wellbeing information and support.  
➢ By 2022 the lung health check model will be extended.  
➢ By 2023, stratified, follow-up pathways for people who are worried their cancer may have recurred. These will be in place for all clinically appropriate 

cancers.  
➢ By 2028, the NHS will diagnose 75% of cancers at stage 1 or 2. 
 

Workforce  

➢ Review of clinical capacity across the system (diagnostics, screening, treatment, follow-up care) in collaboration with neighbouring Trusts and CCGs 
➢ Support sub-regional workforce development programmes to maximise existing resources, ongoing training and recruitment 

 

 

Page 130



  

20 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health inequalities and Prevention  

Target prevention, awareness and screening activities in most deprived communities and adapt to specific 
needs of those communities and vulnerable groups e.g. offenders, care leavers, drug/alcohol users, BME, 
etc. 

        

Ensure robust links with secondary care prevention and pre-habilitation          

Fund and implement services and initiatives around the modifiable risk factors of cancer including tobacco 
control, healthy weight, alcohol harm and sexual health 

        

Following Cervical Screening Engagement Event: adopt a standardised approach to improving uptake with 
the support of practice cancer champions and sustained awareness campaigns 

        

Explore potential lung cancer case finding pilot to screen at-risk cohorts of patients and promote earlier 
diagnosis, taking learning from pilots across neighbouring cancer localities  

        

Continue to develop practice Cancer Champions, further training around signs and symptoms & local 
campaigns 

        

Undertake health equity audits of cancer screening programmes and act on the findings         

Explore potential for Lynch Syndrome Testing of all colorectal patients and family members         

Continue to implement, raise awareness and monitor impact of FIT (Faecal Immunochemical Test)         

Carry out audit to investigate and address widening gap in one-year survival rates for 
breast/bowel/lung/upper GI cancers and develop mitigation plan to close the gap 

        

Carry out clinical audit of late/emergency lung cancer presentation to investigate and address barriers to 
earlier diagnosis and develop mitigation plan to reduce ratio of emergency admissions 

        

2. Personalised Care  

Continue to develop Joining the Dots, delivering  Holistic Needs Assessments, Support Plans and Follow-up 
support 

        

Work with relevant charities, voluntary and community sector organisations to establish support groups in 
areas or around cancer types where there are currently gaps 

        

Collaborative working between primary and secondary care to deliver necessary support to patients who are 
stratified to a self-managed pathway 

        

Utilise Care Navigator resource to support patients through the complexities of medical appointments and 
ensure target timescales are met across the pathway, including transfers of care between providers 

        

All patients diagnosed with cancer to be offered a Holistic Needs Assessment and where appropriate, a 
personalised care plan 

        

Develop and implement stratified pathways of care, including self-managed follow-up in all tumour groups 
(initially breast and colorectal) 

        

Implement Macmillan Right By You to support the integration of cancer services across all settings 
(particularly primary and community) so HNA, care and support is seamless from the patient perspective 

        

3. Approach to Wellbeing  

Roll out of We Are Undefeatable - PHE Sport England campaign to launch in September 2019 linked to 
increasing physical activity in people with cancer 

        

GP and patient education/awareness to ensure 2WW and 62 day targets are met and support local 
implementation of new 28 day faster diagnosis target when introduced in 2020 

        

Renovate a new, modern chemotherapy department at UHND supported by a new staffing structure         

Embed End of Treatment Summaries key tumour groups and share content with patients and other care 
providers (initially breast and colorectal with all others to follow) 

        

Increase access to information and support for people affected by cancer across all settings         

Completion of Cancer Care Reviews within 6 months of diagnosis         

Continually improve patient/family/carer experience by acting upon feedback from surveys and continue to 
engage service users in service re-design and improvement across whole pathway including primary care 

        

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Train IAPT services and ensure pathways are developed to ensure people with cancer have access to 
knowledgeable and empathetic mental health services 

        

Target prevention, awareness and screening activities in most deprived communities and adapt to specific 
needs of those communities and vulnerable groups e.g. people with learning disabilities  

        

5. Children  

Continue to provide specialist cancer care for teenagers and young adults aged 16 to 24 years  and children 
aged 0-15 (paediatric oncology), to improve cancer treatment outcomes, reduce morbidity arising from 
treatment and support the patient and family throughout their cancer journey and beyond. NB these services 
are commissioned by NHS Specialist Commissioning 

        

6. Digital  

Quality requirement within Practice funding schemes to use approved Cancer Care Review templates         

Introduction of treatment summaries to inform the Cancer Care Review         

Develop the use of digital technology and remote monitoring solutions to enhance patient experience         

7. Finance  

Northern Cancer Alliance (NCA) have announced an indicative 4-year budget for transformational initiatives 
and this will be begin to be allocated from April 2020 

        

8. Integration  

Work with neighbouring CCGs and Trusts to build sustainable radiology capacity            

Collaborate with neighbouring CCGs and Trusts to implementation national optimal pathways in main tumour 
groups 

        

Collaborate with neighbouring CCGs and Trusts to review demand/capacity and build sustainable oncology 
services across boundaries 

        

Build relationships with Primary Care Networks to enhance and develop primary care role across whole 
treatment pathway,  from prevention and screening to diagnosis and follow-up care and utilising nursing 
teams and GPSIs 

        

9. Cultural Change  

Ensure that prevention and addressing health inequalities are prioritised in the cancer strategy, not just the 

constitutional diagnosis and treatment targets  

        

Work collaboratively with neighbouring cancer localities (commissioners, providers and public health) in new 

ways and across all boundaries to address universal challenges such as capacity and workforce 

        

 
Page 131



  

21 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Cardiovascular Disease 

Why is change needed? 

Prevention, early detection and treatment of CVD can help patients live longer, healthier lives. Too many people are still 

living with undetected, high-risk conditions such as high blood pressure, raised cholesterol, and atrial fibrillation (AF).  

We must utilise all opportunities to work with partners to ensure that people are able to access services that will allow 

them to prevent and detect health conditions, and upon diagnosis ensure that conditions are managed and optimised 

effectively. In primary care networks we will support all clinical staff including pharmacists to case find and treat people 

with the 3 key high-risk conditions described above (AF, Hypertension, and FH). In tackling the CVD agenda, there is an 

ambition to Prevent 150,000 heart attacks and strokes. 

OBJECTIVE 

AF  

30% reduction in No. of patients 

who have not been treated  

80% reduction in No. of patients 

who have not been risk 

assessed 

50% reduction in No. of patients 

who are inadequately anti-

coagulated  

Hypertension 

Increase in the number of 

patients detected with 

hypertension and to increase 

the number treated to bring 

blood pressure within safe 

parameters 

Hypercholesterolemia 

Increase in the number of 

patients detected and managed.  

In Familial 

Hypercholesterolemia, currently 

have a 7% detection rate –need 

to increase to 25% 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 

 

➢ Continue to work closely with Public Health Partners on the CVD prevention agenda (smoking, obesity 
and healthy living) 

➢ Continue to work with partners to detect and medically optimise patients with AF to prevent stroke 
➢ Continue to work with partners to detect and medically optimise patients with hypertension to prevent 

CVD events 
➢ Continue to work with partners to detect and manage Hypercholesterolemia, and to undertake cascade 

testing of family members to identify and medically optimise those with Familial Hypercholesterolemia. 
➢ Improved systems to identify and manage patients with Heart Failure (access to echocardiograph / 

rehabilitation services). 
 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 

 

➢ Number of patients with AF that have been identified and risk scored for adverse events (CHA2DS2-VAS2) 
➢ Number of patients with AF that have been treated appropriately 
➢ Number of AF related stroke admissions 
➢ Number of patients identified with FH, number of patients with FH managed appropriately  
➢ Referral rates to cardiac rehabilitation 

 

National milestones 

 

➢ The NHS will help prevent up to 150,000 heart attacks, strokes and dementia cases over the next 10 years. 
➢ The NHS will work with our partners to improve community first response and build defibrillator networks to improve survival from out of hospital cardiac 

arrest 
➢ By 2028 the proportion of patients accessing cardiac rehabilitation will be amongst the best in Europe, with up to 85% of those eligible accessing care. 

 

Page 132



  

22 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/
22 

22/
23 

23/
24 

24/
25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities and Prevention  

CCG league tables for hypertension – level/ treated/ untreated         

Reduce variation of practice in the identification and management of high-risk conditions and audit & clean-up 
registers to ensure people are coded properly. Root cause analysis 

        

Bespoke Data packs with updated info showing current recent position. Healthy Hearts website to promote 
prevention in local areas 

        

AF Optimisation and Detection Programme – Pharmacist delivered project across all GP practices in the 
Southern Collaborative to include; identification of patients from clinical systems, Pharmacist led appointment 
to risk assess, educate and prescribe optimal medication, and an educational programme for Primary and 
Secondary care clinicians.  CVDPREVENT audit will also be used in 2020. AliveCor rolled out to 12 practices. 

        

PH Commission BP and Pulse Checks in pharmacy - under 40 and over 75.  NHS Healthchecks - targeted at 
people with estimated high CVD risk 

        

Hypertension Detection and Optimisation Programme – Data analysis, audit and education programme.  
Although slightly different versions, this will be replicated across the Southern Collaborative 

        

Hypercholesterolemia Programme – Data analysis and communication plan with all Primary Care to ensure 
patients are detected and are referred into a specialist Lipids clinic if found to have a cholesterol of 7.5mmol 
or more.  These patients will be risk assessed and cascade testing offered to ensure this is prevented in 
future generations.  This will be replicated across the Southern Collaborative 

        

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Review of Cardiac Rehabilitation services and aim to increase referral and uptake of cardiac rehabilitation 
during 2021/22.  
In 2023/24, funding for wider roll out will be included in fair shares allocations to systems. This links to 
community for longer term rehabilitation following on from specialist services 

        

Pilot schemes in 2020-22 to increase access to echocardiography, improve investigation of those with 
breathlessness and early detection of heart failure and valve disease. 

        

3. Personalised Care  

NHS Healthchecks check for hypercholesterolemia         

Ways to Wellbeing / Wellbeing for Life         

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Lester Tool 2014 wider uptake for mental health services         

5. Children  

Preventative measures for C&YP to address ACE's by utilising trauma informed care         

6. Digital  

AliveCor has been nationally supported to help local partners identify AF.  Investigation is ongoing to 
potentially roll this out further.  Other schemes such as including a 'suspected AF' box on the diabetic podiatry 
screening sheet is being investigated.  Use of a digital tool for the AF Optimisation and Detection Programme 
for patient stratification and identification.   

        

7. Finance  

We will detect and medically optimise patients with AF to prevent stroke leading to savings via fewer AF 
related admissions and stroke episodes which can be re-invested into stroke and CVD services. 

        

8. Integration  

Pilot extended in pharmacies and re-modelled with formal GP feedback.  Primary care led/paid for pulse 
checks to detect people with hypertension 

        

9. Cultural Change  

Public awareness work re: BP/Pulse/NHS health checks/ Wellbeing for Life/ Ways to Wellbeing/ Specialist 
Stop Smoking Service/ Whole System Approach to Obesity/ CVD Prevention Self-Assessment 

        

 

Page 133



  

23 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Diabetes 

Why is change needed? 

➢ There is variation in the care people receive 

➢ Opportunities for patients to be supported to manage their own condition aren’t widely available 

➢ High reliance on hospital based care 

OBJECTIVE 

To support people 

living with diabetes to 

manage their own 

health through an 

enhanced support offer 

and reducing variation 

in care 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 

• Increased identification and improved management of patients at risk of developing diabetes or those with Non 

Diabetic Hyperglycaemia  (NDH) /pre diabetes 

• All patients have access to NHS Diabetes Prevention Programme 

• Access to structured education and digital self-management tools have been expanded 

• All eligible patients have access to flash glucose monitors 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 

HbA1c thresholds, People referred to structured education people attending structured education, People receiving a medication review, Patients with a secondary 

care OP appointment in the last 12 months, Prescribing metrics, % of GPs, nurses and HCAs with training  needs that have completed training, Engagement in 

the community diabetes model, Hypo and hyper admissions per 1000 people with diabetes, People with diabetes receiving the 9 care processes, People with 

diabetes achieving the 3 care targets, % of people receiving foot screening, % of people receiving eye screening, % of people with diabetic comorbidities, Diabetes 

prescribing costs per patient, patients with NDH identified, diabetes prevalence 

 

Page 134



  

24 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities and Prevention  

We will continue to lobby the Government nationally on the introduction of legislation that will support 

diabetes prevention 

        

We will continue to lobby locally for responsible licensing which may impact on obesity/diabetes prevention 

including responsible local planning and licensing for food outlets etc. 

        

We want to  increase our use of primary care data to identify and target patients who are at risk of diabetes 

and other diseases and develop a strengthened approach to management and support for these people 

        

We want to continue to use the National Diabetes Prevention Programme (NDPP) wherever possible, but we 

recognise that we need to offer a range of programmes/ interventions to support people to stay healthy 

        

We will consider any barriers to participation and work with people to enable them to participate in the NDPP 

or any locally developed programmes 

        

We will ensure that the PCN social prescribing link workers have a focus on supporting patients who at risk of 

developing diabetes 

        

We will consider how we use real time primary care data to support case finding for those patients who ar risk 

of developing Diabetes or other conditions 

        

We will consider the role that a primary care weight management service can play in supporting patients who 

are at risk of diabetes (and other health conditions) 

        

We will continue work to reduce variation in outcomes and treatment targets across County Durham. We 

know there is variation in outcomes by age with older people achieving the best outcomes in terms of the 

NICE recommended treatment targets currently 

        

We plan to undertake a health needs assessment for diabetes to identify if there are sections of the 

population where outcomes are not improving in line with the general population.  We will use the HNA to 

identify if we need to target or adapt our diabetes offer for prevention, education or treatment 

        

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

We will continue to work to improve management of blood glucose, but will also expand our focus to a 

broader range of targets such as lipids, hypertension, diabetic renal disease and micro albuminuria.  We will 

work to increase the areas that we focus on incrementally 

        

We will engage with community pharmacies to understand the role they could play in diabetes management         

We will review the pilots that have taken place to reduce hospital length of stay for diabetes patients and 

identify a way of making sustainable improvements.  We will work to narrow the gap in length of stay for 

patients with diabetes compared to the rest of the population 

        

We will continue to offer a single point of contact for diabetes structured education with a range of packages 

available 

        

We will develop a directory of the range of diabetes education packages that are available and identify any 

gaps in provision 

        

We will work to identify any barriers to accessing  structured education and identify how we can address this         

We will continue to use the Wellbeing for Life service to support people to improve their health, wellbeing and 

quality of life. 

        

3. Personalised Care  

We will use Patient Activation Measures to identify those who are able to self-manage their own condition 

with fast track access back into primary and secondary care services where required 

        

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

We will ensure that there is a focus on people with Severe Mental Illness or people with a Learning Disability 

as part of the Health Needs Assessment focussing on prevention, education and treatment 

        

We will review the bespoke education package for patients with Learning Disability that has been developed 

in North Tyneside to consider implementation in County Durham 

        

5. Children  

We will work with schools and families to increase exercise, healthy behaviours and reduce childhood obesity         

We will work to reduce the number of children diagnosed with type 2 diabetes         

We will improve outcomes for children with type 1 diabetes and ensure compliance with the best practice 

pathway for paediatric diabetes 

        

6. Digital  

We will recommend digital applications for diabetes structured education following the current trials that are 

ongoing 

        

We will review processes for responding to the data that is generated from Flash glucose monitors to ensure 

that we have safe and effective systems for managing patients who use those devices 

        

We will develop a pilot initiative to use a digital photography application to enable review of potential diabetic 

foot ulcers and identify patients that need to be seen in an urgent clinic 

        

7. Finance  

We will reduce admissions for complications of diabetes and reinvest funding in prevention and the rising cost 

of diabetes related drugs 

        

8. Integration  

We will continue to have an integrated model of care for diabetes across County Durham which includes 

primary, community and secondary care. The model of care is overseen by a Diabetes Governance Board 

which includes representatives from the voluntary sector (Diabetes UK) 

        

Our specialists (who were previously hospital based) will continue to work in our GP practices training and 

upskilling primary care staff 

        

9. Cultural Change  

We will work with clinicians to increase awareness of the wellbeing approach and of the alternatives to 

medical treatment for diabetes 

        

 Page 135



  

25 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Why is change needed? 

➢ To reduce the burden of disease and inequality caused by alcohol and drug harms by addressing the 
physical, mental and social impact of addiction on individuals, families and local communities.  

➢ Hospital admissions for alcohol-related conditions have risen nationally over the past 7 years. In 2017 
to 2018, there were nearly 1.2 million admissions related to alcohol, of which alcohol was the main 
reason for admission for about 338,000 cases.  

➢ Deaths from drug misuse are increasing nationally but are significantly higher both regionally and 
locally. Addiction problems disproportionally effect those from disadvantaged groups and areas of 
social deprivation widening health inequalities. 

OBJECTIVE 

➢ To improve upstream prevention 
initiatives for the reduction of harm 
caused by alcohol and drugs 

➢ To optimise the care setting of drug 
and alcohol services 

➢ To manage long-term conditions for 
those in treatment 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 

 

Maintenance of the County Durham Alcohol and Drug Harm Reduction Strategy and Action Plan 

➢ Primary prevention – provide a systematic approach for Audit C screening for alcohol within a range of settings. Increase referrals rates 
for alcohol from Health Checks and secondary care into Alcohol and Drug Recovery Services based on Identification and Brief Advice 
(IBA) for alcohol. Reduce primary care prescribing rates for prescription medication. Maintenance of harm reduction services including 
screening for BBV’s and overdose prevention. 

➢ Secondary Prevention – delivery of comprehensive Alcohol and Drug Recovery Services providing an optimal care package for young 
people, adults and families suffering with substance misuse. Develop integrated care pathways to build recovery capital, including 
clinical interventions, trauma-informed care, mental health and wellbeing, criminal justice, social care, housing, poverty reduction, 
domestic abuse and smoking cessation.   

➢ Tertiary Prevention – target the aging population of substance misusers to address long term conditions including respiratory care, CVD, 
complex needs.  

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 

 

• Alcohol CQUIN 

• NHS Rightcare mental health pathway  

• Implement QOF for alcohol IBA? 

•      PHE NDTMS for Numbers in Treatment, Successful Completions and Representation Rates. 

Drugs and Alcohol 

Page 136



  

26 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities & Prevention  

Develop integrated care pathways for substance misusers with long term conditions including respiratory 

health and CVD 

        

Provision of women-only services         

Maintain primary prevention initiatives including IBA and extended IBA in primary care.         

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Increase systematic referrals from Health Checks into Alcohol and Drug Recovery Services.         

Reduce prescribing rates of potentially addictive medication within primary care.         

Develop Alcohol Care Teams based in secondary care         

Develop optimal care pathways from secondary care into Alcohol and Drug Recovery Services         

Alcohol and drug education for secondary care staff to support identification, IBA and onward referral         

Provision of holistic Alcohol and Drug Recovery Services utilising a life course approach to address the needs 

of individuals, families and local communities (Current contract runs until 21/22) 

        

Develop pilot outreach clinics from the hospital based respiratory service into one or more of the drug 

treatment centres and evaluate the impact this has on the health of this vulnerable group. 

        

Administer influenza and pneumococcal vaccinations within drug and alcohol services         

Consider opportunities to develop addiction services to include problematic gambling         

3. Personalised Care  

N/A         

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Further develop and imbed provision of pathways for patients with co-occurring mental health and 

alcohol/drug use conditions.   

        

5. Children  

Provision of Drug and Alcohol Recovery Service for CYP and families (current contract runs until 2021/22)         

6. Digital  

Improve data collation in A&E for regular attenders and cross reference with criminal justice partners, primary 

care and Alcohol and Drug Recovery Services. 

        

7. Finance  

Local Authority Budget allocation secured until 2021/22.         

8. Integration  

Improve recovery capital in individuals by working with partners to address need including clinical 

interventions, trauma-informed care, mental health and wellbeing, criminal justice, social care, housing, 

poverty reduction, domestic abuse and smoking cessation 

        

Support attrition between services by ensuring plans are put in place to prevent patients dropping out of the 

pathway 

        

9. Cultural Change  

Integrated approach to referring those identified with substance misuse into Drug and Alcohol Recovery 

Services. 

        

 

Page 137



  

27 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Respiratory 

Why is change needed? 

➢ Lung conditions, including lung cancer, are estimated to cost wider society around £9.9 billion each year. 
Respiratory disease affects one in five people in England, and is the third biggest cause of death. 
Hospital admissions for lung disease have risen over the past seven years at three times the rate of all 
admissions generally and remain a major factor in the winter pressures faced by the NHS. Over the next 
ten years we will be targeting investment in improved treatment and support for those with respiratory 
disease, with an ambition to transform our outcomes to equal, or better, our international counterparts.  

➢ Incidence and mortality rates for those with respiratory disease are higher in disadvantaged groups and 
areas of social deprivation, where there is often higher smoking incidence, exposure to higher levels of 
air pollution, poor housing conditions and exposure to occupational hazards. 

OBJECTIVE 
➢ Improved services and outcomes 

for respiratory disease.  
➢ Provide an integrated approach 

to delivery which involves 
communities, voluntary 
organisations and the health and 
care system.  

➢ Focus on prevention, early 
detection and diagnosis and 
optimal treatment options, 
concentrating interventions 
initially on populations at greater 
risk. 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 
 

➢  Early and accurate diagnosis: to increase early and accurate diagnosis for people with respiratory disease.   
➢ Medicines management: to promote appropriate prescribing of respiratory medication and inhaler use to promote better compliance and 

prevent avoidable acute admissions and deaths from poor self-management. 
➢ Flexible learning: to develop an accredited education programme for individuals diagnosed with common respiratory diseases such as 

COPD, asthma and bronchiectasis. 
➢ Expansion of pulmonary rehabilitation: to increase the number of patients who would benefit from Pulmonary Rehabilitation and are 

referred to and complete a good quality programme.  
➢ Community-acquired pneumonia: to reduce avoidable admissions and bed days for patients with community acquired pneumonia, 

achieved through implementation of risk stratification tools and ambulatory care services such as nurse-led supported discharge 
services. 

➢ Breathlessness models: A model of care for breathlessness management is designed for patients who have either cardiac or pulmonary 
disease and have symptoms of breathlessness in common, to include the diagnostic pathway and joint rehabilitation models.  
 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 
 

• Implementation of new spirometry model 

• Nurses trained in CBT  

• Number of MyCOPD licences issued 

• Hospital admissions for COPD 

• Number of patients completing pulmonary rehab course 

 

Page 138



  

28 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities and Prevention  

Respiratory CAG reviewing local treatment guidelines and standard exacerbation plans         

Ensure adequate provision of Pulmonary Rehabilitation is commissioned and funded by CCGs, and that 

pathways into community physical activity provision ensure this element is sustained. 

        

Increasing flu vaccine uptake.         

Awareness of signs and symptoms and risk factors for respiratory disease. Discussions from primary care 

physicians about second hand smoke where children are diagnosed. Preventative measures for Smokefree 

homes 

        

Feasibility of pulmonary clinics in drug and alcohol recovery services.            

Smoking cessation in the home identified as part of HIA on Housing and to be integrated into the Housing 

licensing scheme for landlords. 

        

Extend the Silverdale pilot as part of the warm homes initiative         

Respiratory Health Equity Audit to be undertaken and outcomes reflected in future commissioning plans         

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

ARTP standard spirometery reversibility performance with accurate interpretation and an education 

programme targeting GPs re interpretation. 

        

Development of a diagnostic spirometry service delivered via a hub and spoke method e.g. at PCN level 

based on regional model across the county. Need to rationalise who does this, consider online interpretation 

after HCA ARTP equivalent trained test performed.  Needs to have clear screening guidelines/referral criteria 

into the service and consideration of staffing required/skill mix. 

        

Roll out of the education programme across the County and include practice nurses, community nursing and 

ANP/VAWAS teams. 

        

Hospice Support/ end of life/palliative support         

Commitment from acute Trust and CCG colleagues to adhere to guidance to ensure best possible prescribing         

Holistic assessment for patients with pneumonia required where housing conditions, movement, hydration 

and nutrition are taken into account and in acute emergency services 

        

On-going education of acute admitting teams on the importance of CURB and early intervention in 

pneumonia 

        

Launch of PHE/Sport England WeAreUndefeatable campaign to keep people physically active in September 

2019 

        

In order to develop generic breathlessness services to their full potential there needs to be recruitment to 

vacant cardiology and respiratory posts to full establishment. This will provide the long-term continuity needed 

for successful attainment 

        

3. Personalised Care  

Education plan for patients at point of diagnosis, including education on correct inhaler techniques         

Consider patient folders to be used to hold all plans/documents to be used by all clinicians         

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Pilot for nurses to provide CBT to respiratory patients suffering with anxiety         

Access to CBT for patients with breathlessness with history, examination & investigation to be completed 

prior to referral 

        

5. Children  

Education programme for children and young people and their parents/carers         

Encourage use of the Child Health app for parents         

6. Digital  

MyCOPD training for PNs to be delivered. Consider giving MyCOPD license to all new COPD patients         

Consider alternatives for current Pulmonary Rehabilitation classes, such as myCOPD App/videos at home, 

days & times of sessions and venues.  Engagement with patients 

        

Improved use of the CURB score within primary care for pneumonia         

7. Finance  

Review/intervention of over/under use of patients inhaler prescriptions         

Work with Meds Ops and Local Pharmacy committee         

8. Integration  

Increased use of community resources for people who are unable to commit to the intensity of pulmonary 

rehabilitation, or because of days & times of sessions and venues. Review issues surrounding transport 

        

On COPD template in GP's , patients with COPD screened prior to leaving hospital and referred, outpatient 

consultant and nurse referrals made / Ways to Wellbeing provision of community physical activity/social 

activity 

        

9. Cultural Change  

Increase focus on preventing respiratory ill health including smoking cessation or switching to vaping         

 

Page 139



  

29 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sexual Health 
Why is change needed? 

➢ Sexual and reproductive health is fundamental to health and wellbeing. It is a national priority and matters to 
both individuals and communities. Sexual health needs vary according to factors such as age, gender, 
sexuality and ethnicity, and some groups are particularly at risk of poor sexual health. Achieving good sexual 
health is complex, and there are variations in need for services and interventions for different individuals and 
groups. It is essential that there is collaboration and integration between a broad range of organisations, in 
order to achieve desired outcomes. 

➢ Teenage pregnancy is a cause and consequence of education and health inequality for young parents and 
their children. Despite significant progress over the last 18 years, with a reduction of almost 62% in the under-
18 conception rate, a continued focus is needed as this remains significantly higher than the national average 
and the gaps remains static 

➢ The statutory requirement for educational setting to provide age-appropriate Relationship and Sex Education 
from September 2020 

 

OBJECTIVE 
All residents of County Durham 

have access to high quality 

integrated sexual health 

services, information advice and 

guidance, and have access to 

age-appropriate relationship and 

sex education (RSE) that 

addresses inequalities and 

reduces the number of sexually 

transmitted infections and 

unplanned pregnancies. 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 
 

➢ Improvement in chlamydia screening rates aged 15-24  
➢ Improvement in HIV late diagnosis rate 
➢ Reduction of under 18 conception rate 
➢ Co-production of services with service users, including young people, to inform service delivery  

➢ High quality age appropriate relationship and sex education (RSE) is delivered to children and young people.  
➢ Improvements to data sharing between stakeholders 
➢ Better use of service level data to inform service planning to improve outcomes and tackle inequalities  
➢ Improved access to Long Acting Reversible Contraception (LARC) based upon informed choice.  
➢ Have a clear understanding the needs of vulnerable groups, and respond accordingly  
➢ The voice of the young person to inform service delivery  
➢ Improve the whole system digital offer  

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/
22 

22/
23 

23/
24 

24/
25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities and Prevention  

Better understanding of the risk-taking behaviour of high-risk groups which informs more impactful delivery         

Measure the impact of statutory RSE           

Reduce inequalities in sexual health and under 18 conceptions through the integrated sexual health service 
providing both universal and targeted services provision and support 

        

Continue to sustain low STI rates locally and reduced inequalities         

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Develop and implement a 3-year Sexual Health Strategy which includes clear actions to deliver strategic 
recommendations   

        

3. Personalised Care  

Ensure that Personalised Care approaches are embedded within service delivery, including the use of shared 
decision making and choice are included within the offer 

        

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Ensure that people with learning disabilities and other vulnerable groups are supported to make appropriate 
choices regarding their sexual health and relationships 

        

5. Children and Young People  

Develop a local multi-agency action plan based on the national framework for sexual health improvement to 
reduce the conception rates in those under 18 

        

6. Digital  

As part of the development of the strategy to ensure that the digital offer supports the sexual wellbeing of the 
people of County Durham, including advice and guidance, and signposting.  

        

7. Finance  

Through the development of the strategy ensure a whole system approach to financial management is 
undertaken   

        

8. Integration  

To support the further development of integrated services across pathways of care as part of the strategy, 
including Primacy Care Networks, and the Voluntary and Community Sector.  

        

9. Cultural Change  

To ensure that leaders within the system are identified from partner organisations to support the cultural 

change that will ensure positive experience and outcomes for the people of County Durham. 

        

 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 

➢ Rates of sexually transmitted infections 
➢ Rates of conceptions (under 18 and 16) 
➢ Service user experience of whole system  

 

Page 140



  

30 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Stroke 
Why is change needed? 

➢ Due to changing demographics, the number of people having a stroke will increase by almost half, and 
the number of stroke survivors living with disability will increase by a third by 2035 

➢ Advances in treatment are not universally available 

➢ Changes to the hyperacute elements of the pathway have improved patient outcomes however these 
gains are not being realised due to the fact that rehabilitation is not standardised for all patients across 
County Durham  

➢ The current model of care is not sustainable from a workforce perspective 

OBJECTIVE 

➢ To provide high quality specialist 
care to all patients, improving 
quality of life following a stroke 

➢ Ensure that supported discharge 
and high quality, consistent 
rehabilitation is embedded into 
pathways. 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 

 

➢ All patients who can benefit from mechanical thrombectomy and thrombolysis receive it 
➢ Services are configured to ensure that high quality specialist care is the norm for all patients 
➢ The stroke workforce are well equipped to deliver specialist interventions and  high quality rehabilitation  
➢ To develop a person-centred model of care that delivers care closer to home 
➢ To minimise variation and maximise the health outcomes of our local population 
➢ To develop a service which retains and attracts an excellent workforce 
➢ To ensure care is accessible and responsive to people’s needs 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 

Operating Framework Measures 

➢ Ensure compliance with 10 domains covering 44 key indicators for Stroke Care 
➢ Reduce Stroke mortality as reported by SSNAP data 
➢ Admissions for stroke 

 

SSNAP Measures  

➢ Proportion of applicable patients who were given a formal swallow assessment within 72h of clock start 
➢ Compliance (%) against the therapy target of an average of 25.7 minutes of occupational therapy across all patients (Target = 45 minutes x (5/7) x 0.8 

which is 45 minutes of occupational therapy x 5 out of 7 days per week x 80% of patients) 
➢ Compliance (%) against the therapy target of an average of 27.1 minutes of physiotherapy across all patients (Target = 45 minutes x (5/7) x 0.85 which 

is 45 minutes of physiotherapy x 5 out of 7 days per week x 85% of patients) 
➢ Compliance (%) against the therapy target of an average of 16.1 minutes of speech and language therapy across all patients (Target = 45 minutes x 

(5/7) x 0.5 which is 45 minutes of speech and language therapy x 5 out of 7 days per week x 50% of patients) 
➢ Proportion of applicable patients receiving a joint health and social care plan on discharge 
➢ Proportion of patients treated by a stroke skilled Early Supported Discharge team 

 

Page 141



  

31 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities and Prevention  

Ensure standardised model of care is rolled out across CDD for Atrial Fibrillation          

To utilise existing commissioned services focussed on prevention across NHS, social care and voluntary 

sector organisations to identify opportunities for AF screening 

        

To review equity of access to stroke services following potential change in model of care         

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Continue to actively use the SSNAP data to review any service improvements and best practice. Active 

stroke consultant recruitment 

        

Make a decision on future model of care based on business case and public consultation         

Implement community based stroke service and measure improvements against baseline information as part 

of 6 month review of service 

        

Mobilise future model of care for inpatient rehabilitation across County Durham and Darlington         

Review future model of care for inpatient rehabilitation against baseline measures         

3. Personalised Care  

To review the utilisation of  the shared decision making model throughout the pathway          

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

To review and continue to develop acute and community based stroke rehabilitation to include access to 

psychological therapies as per NICE guidance  

        

To ensure there are reasonable adjustments made to ensure equity of access as part of the pathway          

5. Children  

N/A         

6. Digital  

To ensure all clinical and performance systems interact with one another, particularly in relation to the Stroke 

Association and their delivery of the 6 month review service 

        

7. Finance  

To review appropriate use of resources ensuring that any savings are reinvested in workforce and additional 

investment in community services realises benefits.   

        

8. Integration  

Review contracts with stroke association as an integrated approach          

Ensure integration of health and social care processes have a positive impact on patient outcomes i.e. ensure 

discharge planning and implementation is done holistically  

        

9. Cultural Change  

To review effectiveness of new model of care and change in culture of working practice by comparing quality 

and performance against baseline. In particular to assess average length of stay to ensure a more seamless 

pathway and early discharge. 

        

To work with teams across acute and community as well as social care to create a culture of “one team” to 

ensure seamless transitions for patients and their families  

        

 

Page 142



  

32 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Dementia 
Why is change needed? 

➢ To ensure people living with dementia and their 
carers are supported and receive a high quality, 
consistent level of service. Appropriate support, 
services and signposting are in place to ensure that 
people can live as well as possible with dementia 

OBJECTIVE 
➢ People with dementia live in their own home / community for as long as possible 
➢ Appropriate support, signposting and services are available to people with dementia and 

their carers. 
➢ Communities, public services and providers are supported to achieve dementia friendly 

status 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 
 

➢ People with dementia are able to live at home for as long as possible, avoiding as far as practicable the requirement for long-term care 
placements and hospital admissions. Technology, carer support and environmental factors all contribute effectively to this goal 

➢ Countywide Dementia Advisor Service commissioned on a long-term basis with sustainable funding in place 
➢ Dementia Advisors fully integrated within Primary Care ensuring those with a diagnosis of dementia are supported from the onset  
➢ Dementia Advisors working across prisons in County Durham supporting prisoners with dementia and assisting rollout of dementia friends 

training in prisons 
➢ Ensure appropriate, specialised services are in place to support those with dementia including early onset dementia 
➢ Market dementia services and ensure, simple, effective communication to those living with dementia and their carers. 
➢ Continue to Support the development of Dementia Friendly Communities across the County, including dementia friendly organisations, 

providers, employers and services. 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 
 

Living well with dementia: a national dementia strategy (February 2009), sets out the Government’s vision for transforming dementia services with the aim of 

achieving “improved awareness, early diagnosis and intervention, and a higher quality of care”. 

The policy paper Prime Minister’s challenge on dementia 2020 (February 2015) outlined the importance of support after diagnosis for improving an individual’s 

quality of life which could potentially reduce more costly crisis care. It states that by having local information available about services and sources of support and 

“an appropriate adviser or care coordinator such as a Dementia Adviser” could provide advice and fac ilitate easier access to relevant care in the local community. 

The Care Act 2014 highlighted that carers are able to have an assessment, comparable to the rights of the people they care for, and a support plan setting out 

how their needs will be met, with access to services that support them in the community. The Act promotes the importance of advice and information and 

promotes a diverse market which potentially gives carers more choice, which in turn can enhance their sense of wellbeing. 

 

 

Page 143



  

33 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities & Prevention  

Community Services available for older people with dementia and their carers across the County. Address 

gaps in service provision around early onset dementia (under 65) 

        

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Long-term funding is secured for the Dementia Advisor Service         

Continue to review / improve information for people with dementia and their carers and the accessibility of the 

information. 

        

Consider alternative options to residential / nursing care for people living with dementia, e.g. specialist 

supported housing, extra care, use of technology; provider training and support (NB cost considerations are 

crucial to this) 

        

3. Personalised Care  

Promote personal health and social care budgets, including direct payments (DP), for people living with 

dementia and their carers. Investigate ways of increasing take up of such opportunities for more self-directed 

care.  

Increase availability of personal assistants, through improved pay rates and Care Academy initiative, to 

facilitate more opportunity and choice. Plans in place for improvement in DP pay rates   

        

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Improve service availability for people with learning disabilities and dementia, identified as an increasing 

national trend. Through both access to existing OP services, where suitable, and possible new / specific 

services 

        

5. Children  

N/A         

6. Digital  

Improve technology and telecare options for people living with dementia, including investigation of new / 

innovative solutions, e.g. sensors, tracking technology, health / interactions analysis etc. 

        

7. Finance  

Dementia advisors core contract funding in budget until March 2021 – identification of long-term funding 

required. 

Additional primary care dementia advisor service extension to be considered, including identification and 

agreement of budget. Potential funding required for Dementia Friendly Co-Ordinator, as below 

        

8. Integration  

Improve services / support for people with dementia / carers including integration with primary care (including 

dementia advisor service); hospital offer; investigation and adoption of new ways of working and new 

technology solutions 

        

Working with all the dementia groups e.g. Dementia Action Alliance, Strategy Group and ADASS Dementia 

Leads to align priorities to achieve best outcomes for people with dementia and their carers and identify gaps 

in service provision.  This promotes a co-production approach to dementia strategy and services. Refresh 

and reinvigorate strategic approach 

        

Dementia Advisor Service to be granted access to prisons in County Durham (currently Frankland only) to 

support prisoners with dementia and promote dementia friends approach. 

        

9. Cultural Change  

Potential funding to be sourced for Dementia Friendly Co-ordinator to support communities across the County 

in becoming dementia friendly 

        

 

Page 144



  

34 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Living well with frailty / Older People – Community Care 

Why is change needed? 

➢ To ensure frail elderly are able to live well at home for 
as long as possible and receive high quality, consistent 
levels of service. To take a preventative, progression 
approach to care, utilising short-term support, 
preventative services and signposting in delivery 
models to ensure an enabling approach, positive 
individual outcomes and sustainable budgets 

OBJECTIVE 

➢ Promote preventative, short-term approaches and a progression approach to 
care delivery 

➢ Appropriate services, signposting and VCS resources are available to service 
users / carers. 

➢ Achieve an invest to save solution to delivery, promoting reablement and 
independence and avoiding as far as possible costly long-term care 

➢ Changing culture to ensure that all involved in delivering care focus on 
maximising wellbeing, independence and quality of life pertinent to the individual  
 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 

 

➢ Short-term, preventative and rehab / reablement services are the first option for care delivery. People are able to live at home / in the 
local community for as long as possible. VCS and provider markets are able to support this goal. Where long-term care is required, 
stakeholders retain a progression approach to ensure that service users are enabled to maintain independence and develop skil ls, 
rather than being ‘maintained’ in terms of care 

➢ Technology, carer support and environmental factors are able to contribute effectively to this goal 
➢ Reablement and intermediate care / hospital discharge services continue to deliver high quality outcomes and sustain capacity across 

the Durham geographical footprint 
➢ Equipment provision is available to support reablement, progression and sustainable outcomes, including community equipment and 

provision in care homes  
➢ Domiciliary care availability, coverage and quality is maintained and able to deliver a progressive approach through appropriate staffing 

and skills 
➢ Day services are commissioned for all specialisms and function appropriate to the needs of the user groups 
➢ Integration between adult social care and community health services delivers improvements in quality and efficiency. A multidisciplinary 

Discharge Team coordinates the pathway for complex discharges reducing errors and improving patient experience 
➢ There is a coordinated approach to the provision of training and support to care home and domiciliary care provider staff from the 

range of community health services that supports the quality of their care 
➢ People with a learning disability and/or autism are supported to live safe and healthy lives in the community   
➢ People with a learning disability and/or autism are not subject to health inequalities 
➢ Integration between adult social care and community health services delivers improvements in quality and efficiency. A multidisciplinary 

Discharge Team coordinates the pathway for complex discharges reducing errors and improving patient experience 
➢ There is a coordinated approach to the provision of training and support to care home and domiciliary care provider staff from the 

range of community health services that supports the quality of their care 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 
 

Care Act 2014 highlighted importance of appropriate interventions and outcomes based commissioning. Promotes a diverse market which outlines importance 

of choice / wellbeing. 

National care delivery models increasingly focused on ‘helping people to help themselves’ and progressive models of service delivery building on the things 

that people can do  

We will take a three part approach to outcomes based on the triple aims of 

• experience,  

• outcomes, and  

• the cost and efficiency of services   

The above triple aims are intrinsically linked and by looking at the three things together we will be able to recognise interdependencies between services and 

any changes we make and the improvements in outcomes that we see.  

Measures may include: 

• Experience during an admission to hospital/care home 

• Availability of choice 

• Patient feeling involved in  decisions around their care 

• Time to access treatment 

• Length of stay 

• Costs spent on planned care compared to unplanned care 

•  

We will measure the uptake of the learning disability annual health checks and associated performance against preventative programmes 

 

Page 145



  

35 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/
22 

22/
23 

23/
24 

24/
25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities & Prevention  

Continued investment in VCS infrastructure and services to enable preventative approaches. Includes Public 
Health commissioning and interventions 

        

Preventing loneliness and social isolation          

Increasing participation in exercise in older people including building strength and balance         

Enhancing falls services to support falls prevention         

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Changes to commissioning models / specifications to ensure a focus on outcomes. Embed reablement and 
outcome focussed intervention approaches across the system 

        

Identify sustainable funding for reablement service, to ensure reablement can be offered to all with potential 
to benefit. Ensure reablement national target of package start times continues to be met across Durham 
footprint 

        

Recommissioning of IC / Hospital Discharge Beds to ensure continued effectiveness of model and system 
developments are reflected in delivery. Continued promotion and work with providers to sign up to spot 
provision, to ensure rising demand is met. 

        

Development of a community frailty model including Same Day Emergency Care for frailty          

Developing in reach model to support discharge from hospital and supporting the Home First community 
collaborative 

        

Development of the existing community lymphedema service to include non-complex patients         

Implementing the extended community delivery model for intravenous antibiotic treatment         

Implementing the improved stroke rehabilitation model         

Reviews of SALT dietetics, cardiac rehabilitation, ISC Catheter and osteoporosis services to support 
improved patient outcomes 

        

3. Personalised Care  

Implementation of Personal Health Budgets for wheelchairs (including powered chairs)         

Increased uptake of PHBs for continuing care patients         

Increase in personalised care and shared decision making         

Implementation of Social Prescribing Link Workers targeting people with long term conditions         

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

As work takes place to reduce the gap in life expectancy for people with a learning disability we will review 
the community models of care and support  to enable people with a learning disability to age well 

        

We will continue to develop flagging systems to ensure adjustments are made for those people who have a 
learning disability 

        

Ensure that the two hour response for mental health crisis is linked to the wider frailty crisis response         

5. Children  

Not applicable         

6. Digital  

Implementation of digital technology in care homes to support better patient care and outcomes         

Improvement and electronic sharing of Emergency Health Care Plans         

Development of Local Directory of Service to ensure that all involved in care provision are aware of local 
services that are available 

        

Re-launch of mobile working for NHS community teams          

Review technology offer through strategic system groups, including review of care connect service and 
potential new delivery models 

        

7. Finance  

Ensuring that there is continued growth in funding for community based services to support prevention, 
support in crisis and returning to independence after a period of ill health 

        

Community equipment contract to be reviewed / recommissioned, multi-disciplinary approach across all 
stakeholders. To include review of care home equipment policy 

        

Review / recommission other equipment contracts, e.g. ceiling track hoists / slings         

Review options for future commissioning of domiciliary care in terms of basing delivery / payment on tasks / 
outcomes. Potential for new AZEUS system to facilitate new ways of commissioning. 

        

Day Services review and remodelling to promote employment, volunteering, training as an alternative to 
traditional day service delivery. Potential Invest to Save model; outcome focussed provider interventions to 
promote service users moving into meaningful activity / employment and avoid long-term costs. Reablement 
type approach of specific service before access to any long-term provision  

        

8. Integration  

Integrated commissioning model for domiciliary care; initially spot provision but moving to framework 
contracts also. Includes piloting joint care facilitation and payment processes through AZEUS 

        

Further development of integrated working between health and social care and mental health and physical 
health within the Teams Around patients framework 

        

Improved working between hospital and community teams including developing a multi-disciplinary approach 
to the Discharge Management Team 

        

Development of integrated commissioning of nursing and residential care across health and social care         

10. Cultural Change  

Recruitment and Training support to community providers (particularly domiciliary care / reablement) through 
supporting the Provider Market project Care Academy. Aim to increase / sustain capacity and quality and 
enable workforce is able to shift to progression / outcomes based model 

        

Developing understanding of the services available in the community and their ability to manage patients 
safely and effectively.  This is vitally important for both relationships between clinicians and also between 
H&SC staff and the public 

        

 

Page 146



  

36 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Palliative Care and End of Life 

Why is change needed? 

➢ Death and dying are inevitable. The quality and accessibility of this care will affect all of us. The needs of 
people of all ages who are living with dying, death and bereavement, their families, carers and 
communities, must be addressed, taking into account their priorities, preferences and wishes.  
Personalised care at end of life will result in a better experience, tailored around what really matters to 
the person, and more sustainable NHS services. In County Durham. The National Ambitions Framework 
for Palliative and End of Life Care forms an effective basis for action.   

OBJECTIVE 
“I can make the last stage of my life as 

good as possible because everyone 

works together confidently, honestly 

and consistently to help me and the 

people who are important to me, 

including my carer(s).” 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 
 

➢  I, and the people important to me, have opportunities to have honest, informed and timely conversations and to know that I might die 
soon. Those who care for me know that and work with me to do what’s possible. 

➢ I live in a society where I get good end of life care regardless of who I am, where I live or the circumstances of my life. 
➢ My care is regularly reviewed and every effort is made for me to have the support, care and treatment that might be needed to help me 

to be as comfortable and as free from distress as possible. 
➢ I get the right help at the right time from the right people. I have a team around me who know my needs and my plans and work 

together to help me achieve them. I can always reach someone who will listen and respond at any time of the day or night. 
➢ Wherever I am, health and care staff bring empathy, skills and expertise and give me competent, confident and compassionate care. 
➢ I live in a community where everybody recognises that we all have a role to play in supporting each other in times of crisis and loss. 

People are ready, willing and confident to have conversations about living and dying well and to support each other in emotional and 
practical ways. 

➢ We are committed to learning from premature deaths of people with a learning disability and as such, we have recently recruited three 
LeDer reviewers funded through NHSE/I and the local MH/LD Partnership. We are currently devising a system whereby LeDer cases 
and the learning including end of life issues are picked up on SIRMs in order to be directed to the relevant stakeholders.   

➢ Whilst learning to date related to end of life care includes some examples of excellent practice, we have also identified issues around 
poor understanding of mental capacity and advocacy, co-ordination of care, Emergency Health Care plans and change of provision 
toward end of life which means not dying in your usual place of residence. We have devised a thematic tool to capture the learning and 
agree programmes of work going forward. 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 

 

➢ Proportion of people dying in usual place of residence (DIUPR)  
➢ Proportion of patients who die each year who were recognised and on the Palliative Care Register 
➢ % of patients on the register specifying and achieving a preferred place of death.  
➢ % of patents with an Advance Care Plan (EHCP) that is adequate to guide care when needed.  
➢ % of patients who have three or more emergency hospital admissions during their last 90 days of life 
➢ Feedback from existing Patient / Family carer and forums in hospice and acute settings 
➢ Thematic analysis of complaints and incidents.  
➢ Feedback from CQC inspections from EOL services 
➢ Patient feedback  of existing service provision (VOICES survey or equivalent)  
➢ Fingertips EOLC profiles and Atlas of Variation 
➢ The Dying Rights Review carried out by the Northern Cancer Alliance 

 

Page 147



  

37 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities and Prevention  

The Health and Wellbeing Board will lead the development of population based needs assessment for end of 

life care services. 

        

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Patients and families/carers are engaged in the co-production of EoL and palliative care action plans locally 

and in the design/delivery of future services. 

        

Ensure patients have access to Specialist Palliative Care when needed, including a clear understanding of 

how to access medicines and equipment as part of the rapid response to changing needs. 

        

Every organisation will have clear governance at Board level for high quality palliative and end of life care and 

environments in which all staff can provide the best of their professionalism and humanity. 

        

Public health approaches to palliative and end of life care need to be accelerated and support given to people 

and communities who can provide practical help and compassion. 

        

3. Personalised Care  

Develop effective systems to reach people who are approaching the end of life, and ensure effective 

assessment, care coordination, care planning and care delivery. 

        

Work with the voluntary sector to ensure paid carers and clinicians at every level are trained, supported and 

encouraged to bring a professional ethos and awareness of a personalised care approach to care. 

        

Ensure that all those who provide palliative and end of life care understand and comply with legislation that 

seeks to ensure an individualised approach. 

        

Ensure care records encompass patients’ needs and their preferences as they approach the end of life. With 

the person’s consent, these records should be shared with all those involved in their care. 

        

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Work to be undertaken with clinical leads across the system to ensure appropriate adjustments are made to 

pathways to support people with Significant Mental Illness and Learning Disabilities.  

        

Continued meeting of the multiagency LD Service Improvement group (chaired by the County Durham CCG 

Director of Nursing), where the thematic tool will be discussed and future areas of work agreed 

        

5. Children  

Any new national requirements for the funding and commissioning of children and young people palliative 

care services will be met based upon individual needs 

        

6. Digital  

The Steering Group will ensure that Individual organisations and local systems of care engage with initiatives 

to generate much more robust and useful statistical data. 

        

7. Finance  

Roll out Personal Health Budgets and Integrated personalised commissioning  to all patients receiving End of 

Life Care 

        

8. Integration  

Develop a better system-wide response to dying people, using a full range of coordinated services deployed 

in the community. Improving equity of access to EoL and palliative care services across County Durham, 

taking into account rurality, deprivation and other socio-economic and health factors 

        

9. Cultural Change  

Set up an End of Life Steering Group/commit to ICP level steering group         

To achieve our ambition more should be done locally and nationally to recruit, train, value and connect 

volunteers into a more integrated effort to help support people, their families and communities. 

        

 

Page 148



  

38 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Carers 

Why is change needed? 

➢ To ensure unpaid carers are recognised across the system and receive 
appropriate support, services and signposting to ensure they can manage 
their own wellbeing and maintain their caring role 

OBJECTIVE 
➢ Carers are supported in their caring role 
➢ Carers are able to maintain their own health & wellbeing 
➢ Carers are able to maintain unpaid care, to support the health 

and social care system (invest to save basis) 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 
 

➢ Unpaid carers across all sectors and specialisms are able to self-identify and recognise that they have a caring role and may require 
support, including young carers / BME groups. Carers receive a consistent quality of service, no matter the care needs of the person 
they care for and whether they are an adult or child (acknowledging that the focus of young carer services is to protect from 
inappropriate caring and give YC’s similar opportunities to their peers, whereas adult carers is focused on maintaining caring role). 
 

➢ Carers continue to be able to access appropriate practical and emotional support to maintain their caring role and own wellbeing and 
are recognised and valued by all parts of the system; with professionals having knowledge of carer services and where to signpost, as 
well as knowledge of adjustments required for carers and how to recognise their knowledge / experience 

 
➢ Health & Social Care system is able to manage increase in volume of carers, including investment in services and potential new ways 

of working / new technology to mitigate demand on resources. Increased complexity of caring roles is recognised and supported, e.g. 
services for ‘sandwich carers’ who are dealing with often competing caring roles for individuals of different generations. 

 
➢ Carers are able to maintain employment and are supported to do so, including engagement with employers across work sectors. 

Carers are no longer discontinuing their employment in order to care, affecting their own wellbeing, financial status and the local 
economy. Closer / stronger working with employers, Job Centre Plus, Adult Learning & Skills service etc.   

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 
 

Delivery to be monitored against the Carers Action Plan 2018-2020, which sets out how the Government will improve support for carers in England over a two-

year period.  This draws on responses to the 2016 Carers Strategy: Call for Evidence.  The plan is structured around the following themes: 

 

• Services and systems that work for carers 

• Employment and financial wellbeing 

• Supporting young carers 

• Recognising and supporting carers in the wider community and society 

• Building research and evidence to improve outcomes for carers. 
 

A progress report has been published at the end of year one.  Durham have developed a local action plan in line with the national plan’s themes and 

objectives. 

 

All local authorities (LAs) in England with responsibility for providing adult social care services are required to conduct a biennial survey of their adult carers 

(aged 18 and above).  The survey asks carers questions about their quality of life and the impact of the services they receive.  It also collects information about 

self-reported general health and well-being.  Survey findings are mapped against national trends and reported to senior management, with improvement 

actions identified if required. 

 

Contracts with carer support providers are monitored and reviewed regularly against a set of KPIs which form part of the service specification.  Quarterly 

meetings with service providers are held to review performance information and hold the provider to account. 

Page 149



  

39 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities & Prevention  

County Durham continuing to improve outcomes and operate at higher standard than both north east and 

national targets in the Survey of Adult Carers in England (based on baseline from 18-19 survey 

        

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Carer breaks and continued training / development of carers through DCC Supporting the Provider Market 

Care Academy project 

        

Development of plan for further employment support, with event for employers (including health / social care 

and SME’s) in Quarter 1, 20-21 

        

Parent carer resources to be developed and funded. Particular resource pressure as previous provider grant 

funding no longer available. 

        

Potential short-term funding availability to Q3/4 20-21 and long-term funding to be identified, with appropriate 

specifications, thereafter 

        

3. Personalised Care  

Revisit and explore the possibility of a carer’s self-assessment tool and resource allocation system leading to 

carers receiving their own personal budget.  NB:  Would involve consideration of services delivered under 

current contracts.  Explore use of carers personal health budgets 

        

Continue to deliver personalised carer breaks to prevent carer breakdown.  

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Contracts for carers deliver a universal offer irrespective of the needs of the cared for.  Opportunities are in 

place for carers, e.g. training to safeguard their own mental health and wellbeing.  

        

5. Children  

Continue to work with CYPS to identify hidden young carers and to ensure delivery of the right services to this 

carer group (including carer breaks).   

        

Monitor the services provided to Parent Carers currently delivered from adults non-recurrent funding as a 

short-term solution.  Carer services provider to continue to seek more longer-term funding for this group of 

carers with specific needs; commissioners to also consider funding options if required. 

        

6. Digital  

Continue to improve information for carers and the accessibility of the information.         

Improve services for carers on a practical level – marketing approaches; improved recognition; signposting to 

services such as Wellbeing for Life; support for carers in hospitals; investigation and adoption of new ways of 

working and new technology solution 

        

7. Finance  

Carer breaks funding built into contract; STPM funding currently to end 20/21         

8. Integration  

Carers provider, Durham County Carers Support (DCCS) working into employers to offer assistance and 

support to carers and employers 

        

Re-launch Carers Discount scheme and carers card initiatives – including marketing and joint working with 

retail and services sector through DCCS 

        

9. Cultural Change  

To continue to reverse the national trend of decreasing satisfaction of carers – this is not being seen in Co 

Durham 

        

 

Page 150



  

40 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Learning Disability & Autism 

Why is change needed? 

➢ Lack of support for children and young people with the most complex needs and their carers/families 
➢ Inequalities in health provision for those with learning disabilities and or autism  
➢ Over medication of people with a learning disability and or autism 
➢ Lack of options in appropriate accommodation and support in the community 
➢ People in hospital inappropriately 50% of people with a learning disability experience chronic 

loneliness, whilst only 6% of adults with a learning disability, known to their local authority, are in paid 
employment (MENCAP 2017) 

➢ Only 15% of adults with learning disabilities in England have a secure long-term tenancy or their own 
home (DH, 2016) 

 

OBJECTIVE 
➢ Better support for CYP in mental 

health inpatient units 
➢ Eradicate Health equalities 
➢ Stopping over medication 
➢ Reducing the reliance on inpatient 

provision  
➢ Greater choice and more 

appropriate support and 
accommodation in the community 

➢ Reasonable adjustments 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 
 

➢  Develop keyworkers for children and young people with the most complex needs and their carers/families  
➢ Reduced numbers of people in specialist learning disability or autism inpatient setting  
➢ The 7 keys of Citizenship are fully embedded  
➢ More people with a learning disability and/or autism living in their own homes receiving personalised care and support   
➢ More people with a learning disability and/or, autism in paid employment 
➢ More children and young people with a learning disability each year will have an annual health check 
➢ To raise greater awareness of the appropriate use of psychotropic medication  
➢ To reduce the number of people with a learning disability and /or autism who die prematurely unnecessarily. 
➢ Equity of access to community-based specialist mental health, learning disability and autism services 

 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 
 

➢ The reduction in the number of people in learning disability inpatient care is in line with the requirements of 18.5 inpatients per million adult populations 
by March 2020.  

➢ The minimum of 75% of people on the learning disability register have had an annual health check.  
➢ There is a robust CCG plan in place to ensure that LeDeR reviews are undertaken within 6 months of the notification of death to the local area 
➢ Local reporting of CETR usage across adults and Children/young people identifies an increase in community reviews that have prevented an avoidable 

admission  
➢ Themed learning sets have been identified and shared as a result of mortality review undertaken across Durham 
➢ The number of exclusions from school for children and young people with Autism   
➢ The Community Model is strengthened with access to Safe Space options alongside rehabilitation and step down provision as a means of enabling 

discharge to the community for patients whose needs are complex or who may be subject to restriction, or preventing avoidable admission to inpatient 
care.   

➢ Intermediate care and support services 
➢ The number of people living in their own homes as a reduction on residential care placements 

 

Page 151



  

41 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequality and Prevention  

Eye, hearing and dental services examinations in residential schools         

Promotion of screening and prevention programmes : Cancer, Flu, Annual Health Checks across primary 

care and the community 

        

Ensure Medication is used appropriately where there is a diagnosed through greater awareness of the 

appropriate use of psychotropic medication. 

        

Continue the work supported by the Autism in Schools Project to increase support and preventative strategies 

to maintain children and young people in education 

        

Further develop the Learning Disability training programme within Primary Care, covering mental capacity 

act, communication, alternative approaches to medication and equality in health care for the learning 

disability population 

        

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Roll out, as part of new PCN arrangements the STOMP-STAMP programmes         

Continue to promote and deliver Building the Right Support by reducing further the number of people in 

inpatient setting whose needs can be met in the community in their own homes 

        

3.. Personalised Care  

Implement and embed the 7 key principles of Citizenship; As part of the Transforming Care Delivery Network, 

Support the development of a coproduced focused programme of initiatives, which addresses: Housing, 

Employment, Personalised care and support and advocacy 

        

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

         

5. Children  

Robust Child Death process is in place within the Trust         

6. Digital  

Work with Network partners to explore further developments to improve digital flagging          

7. Finance  

Work across our Integrated Health and Social Care system to further ensure value for money and cost 

effective commissioning frameworks in line with the  Durham Joint Health and Social Care Strategy     

        

8. Integration  

Deliver the Joint Health and Social Care Learning Disability and Autism Strategy across Durham - 

establishing new supported accommodation services for people with the most complex needs 

        

Jointly review the support commissioned for people living in specialist residential care including out of county 

placements. 

        

9. Cultural Change 

Implement and embed the 7 key principles of Citizenship; As part of the Transforming Care Delivery Network, 

Support the development of a coproduced focused programme of initiatives, which addresses: Housing, 

Employment, Personalised care and support and advocacy 

        

 

Page 152



  

42 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Mental Health 
Why is change needed? 

➢ The North East has some of the highest rates of mental illness in England and demand is increasing 
➢ Half of mental health problems are established by the age of 14, 75% by 24 years 
➢ 1 in 4 adults are diagnosed with mental ill health at some stage in their life.  
➢ The life expectancy of mental health service users is 20-30% less, in terms of years lived, for mental health service users 

than the rest of the population. The gap in the North East and North Cumbria is higher than the national average. 
➢ There is an ageing population in North East and North Cumbria - in people over 65 years 7% have dementia, 28% have 

depression - the rate of depression is higher than the England average. 
➢ Suicide is the leading cause of death for men aged 15 – 49. Among women aged 20-34, suicide is the most common 

cause of death. 
➢ Only 8% of people on CPA are in employment. 
➢ The north east has generally higher levels of deprivation and unemployment leading to increased mental health need. 
➢ Suicide rates, age standardised per 100,000 population, are higher in the North East than the national average: England 

= 9.6, North East = 10.8, County Durham = 12.0. The rate has decreased over the last three years of available data: 15.7 
(2013-2015), 12.6 (2014-2016), 12 (2015-2017). 

OBJECTIVE 
➢ To provide 

sustainable, 
joined up high 
quality health and 
care services by 
2028 

➢ Maximise the 
mental health and 
wellbeing of the 
local population. 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 

➢  Improving the physical health of people in receipt of treatment for a mental health or learning disability condition – Reduce the 
premature mortality of people living with severe mental illness by enabling more people to have their physical health needs met through 
increased early detection and access to evidence based physical care, assessment and intervention. 

➢ Optimising Mental Health Services  
o Urgent Care and Crisis –enhance the full pathway so people with mental health needs can access the right care at the right time 

from the right 
o Community Framework – maximise the mental wellbeing and resilience of our population by delivering the right support/care in 

the right place at the right time.  This will include wrapping service around PCNs as appropriate, delivery of enhanced community 
based, early intervention support and stabilised specialist provision 

o Maternity and Paediatrics – allowing evidence based treatment to be provided closer to home  
➢ Suicide Prevention and Bereavement Support – Implementation of the NENC ICS regional Zero Suicide Ambition strategy at a locality 

level to reduce the number of lives lost to suicide with the goal of zero suicides  
➢ Child Health - Implementation and evaluation of multiagency, co-produced plans to transform children and young people’s (CYP) 

services across the Central ICP footprint in order to improve children and young peoples’ mental and physical health and wellbeing.  
➢ Personalise Care – PHBs to become the default offer, allowing people improved control of their own care and treatment 
➢ Physiological Wellbeing Therapy– Develop a more integrated IAPT model with Primary Care Networks to increase IAPT workforce within 

primary care. 
➢ CCGs have entered into a shared finance agreement as part of the partnership arrangements with TEWV. The Partnership budget 

benefits from an annual level of growth based on the CCGs baseline uplift and any efficiency that is gained from any of these budget 
areas will remain within the ring fence budget, to be reinvested in MH and LD services at the discretion of the Partnership board. 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 
 

 

 Operating Framework Measures 

 

➢ ICS performance - NHSE/ I monthly quality assurance and delivery 
monitoring (by CCG - North East and Yorkshire Region): Mental 
Health Report – progress reviewed monthly to address concerns / 
key issues, recommendations and identify ‘do next’:  

 

• IAPT access / waiting times 

• EIP waiting times / EIP incomplete 

• CYP access 

• CYP waiting times (urgent and routine) 

• Dementia diagnosis rate 

• OAP bed days 

• Out of area placement (bed days) 

• No. of women in contact with perinatal MH services 

• Perinatal access rate 

• Physical health checks and screening rates for people with a severe 
mental illness / learning disability 

• Suicide prevention programme 

• Employment data 
 

 

 Other / local measures  

 

Existing requirements: 

 

• Contract quality standards 

• CQUIN initiatives 

• Quality Priorities 

• Single Oversight Framework requirements 

• Existing Access standards (CYPS ED, EIP) 

• CYPS trailblazer 4 week waiting time pilot 

• Increasing access to IAPT and CYPS services 

• Out of area placement reduction to zero 

• CYP whole pathway commissioning 
 

Additional forthcoming requirements: 

 

• Urgent and emergency care access standard 

• Rollout of CYPS 4 week wait & MHSTs 

• Adult & older people MH access standard (likely to be 4 
weeks)  

Page 153



  

43 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities and Prevention  

Easy read healthy lifestyle booklets have been created and will be distributed via learning disability 
partnership  

        

Promote, increase and maintain screening rates prevention programmes: Cancer, Flu, Annual Health Checks 
for those with a learning disability and a severe mental illness. 

        

Aim to try to prevent all suicides, and to reduce the suicide rates by a minimum of 10% by 2021.         

Implementation of IPS - Increase in education, training, volunteering and employment opportunities for people 
with mental ill health 

        

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

“Make Every Contact Count” – a brief interventions toolkit paper – has been developed to support patient-
facing services in engaging with clients around depression, generalised anxiety disorder, social anxiety 
disorder, alcohol use disorder, smoking cessation and gambling awareness 

        

Increasing staffing resource via urgent care and crisis bids (Durham Darlington) investing to support; frequent 
users of services (High intensity users), trauma informed care post within crisis teams,  a safe haven 
coordinator (and fund)  to support VCS organisations to establish new alternatives to crisis, establishing new 
111 (option 2) services and an older peoples team. This work will all be managed by a new role. 

        

Development and delivery of implementation plan for new community based models of care, in line with 
national framework for community mental health services (5 year programme) and improved pathways of 
care. Improve capacity for early intervention and prevention services, and develop community assets across 
Durham in line with DCC Approaches to wellbeing  

        

3. Personalised Care  

Social prescribing funded navigator posts will be available to Primary Care Networks         

Personal health budgets offered to all those with a s117         

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Continued delivery of Core 24 standard Liaison Psychiatry Service and build on offer to include HIU and 
discharge support 

        

Improved access, recovery and waiting times to IAPT accredited interventions and therapists – 
Implementation of a new service model from 1st of April 2019, including a single point of assessment 
undertaken by suitably qualified staff and a wellbeing offer. Recruitment ongoing to increase capacity within 
the service to offer the full range of NICE approved, evidence based interventions; including trainee PWP and 
HIT. 

        

5. Maternity & Children  

Embedding Pathways – Pathway structure in place; ensuring prioritised access to IAPT, referrals to Perinatal 
Mental Health Team via any professional outlined in algorithms – Pathway needs to be embedded in practice  

        

Development of community hubs – aim to move from centralised hospital based maternity services to locality 
multi-agency centres – hubs to include midwife, obstetrician, mental health team, health visiting etc., all 
services in one place and within the community therefore closer to home  

        

Whole Pathway Commissioning – monitoring the Local Transformation Plans for child mental health and 
wellbeing in each area; these are live documents and actions should be progressing at all times to provide 
NHSE with an annual update on progress against stipulated areas. 

        

ASD – continue to embed and support the waiting list initiative to reduce the waiting list for ASD assessment 
and diagnosis 

        

Development of new Mental Health Schools Support teams (trailblazer)         

6. Digital  

Kooth (online counselling) roll out         

7. Finance  

Continue to meet MHIS (including additional increase into CYP services)         

8. Integration  

Improving the physical health of people in receipt of treatment for a mental health or learning disability 
condition through information sharing to achieve the zero mortality gap ambition 

        

Increase access to mental health expertise to improve parity of esteem across care pathway through joint 
working with acute services to improve patient care outcomes and reduce the impact of high intensity service 
users  

        

PCN based staff – Local CQUIN in place and trajectories to increase co-location of MH therapists in primary 
care 

        

9. Cultural Change  

Continue Partnership working across the DDT footprint          

 

Page 154



  

44 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Oral Health 
Why is change needed? 

➢ Despite being largely preventable, tooth decay remains a significant health problem amongst young children in 
England; a quarter of 5-year olds and 12% of 3-year olds have experienced tooth decay, and alongside the risks of 
pain and infection, this can have a wider impact on children’s nutrition, school-readiness, development and well-
being. Tooth decay is the leading cause of hospital admission for children aged 5-9 years, contributing to an NHS 
spend on hospital-based tooth extractions for children in excess of £35m per year. 

OBJECTIVE 

The proportion of 5 year old 

children free from dental 

decay continues to rise 

(measured by PHE) 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 
 

➢ An increase in dental access and attendance for children aged 0-2 years; 
➢ A reduction in hospital-based tooth extraction for children, with associated economic benefits; 
➢ A reduction in restorative and emergency dental treatment for children attending NHS primary care dental services, with associated 

economic benefits; 
➢ A reduction in Emergency Department attendances, a decrease in NHS 111 use and unscheduled dental care appointments, and a 

decrease in antibiotic and analgesia prescribing - for young children, with associated economic benefits; and 
➢ A decrease in the number of missed school days associated with poor oral health, and a decrease in the number of days taken off work 

by parents or carers due to caring for children with poor oral health. 
 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 
 

➢ Percentage of 5 year olds with experience of visually obvious dental decay 
➢ Decayed, missing or filled teeth in five year olds 
➢ Breastfeeding initiation 
➢ Breastfeeding prevalence at 6-8 weeks after birth - current method 
➢ Number of Breastfeeding friendly venues  
➢ Number a sustainable food policies and/or adherence to Government Buying Standards for Food.  
➢ Oral health promotion is universally discussed within the healthy child programme across the key mandated contacts (monitor compliance) 

 

Page 155



  

45 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities & Prevention  

Increase in families accessing the dentist in 30% most deprived MSOAs         

Increase breast feeding initiation by 5%         

Increase breastfeeding at 6 – 8 weeks by 5%         

Training on oral health promotion given to front line practitioners         

Collaborate to deliver community water fluoridation and consider appropriate approaches to revenue costs.           

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Plain drinking water in public sector and community venues is the main drink available         

Provide a choice of sugar free foods – including vending machines         

Increase number of schools following national school food plan; ensure plain drinking water available and 

sugar free snacks 

        

Explore feasibility of minimum set of standards for oral health within care home contracts, and those in receipt 

of adult social care e.g. oral health assessment on admission to care home, oral health care plan established 

and regularly reviewed – quality metrics 

        

3. Personalised Care  

Implementation of labelling dentures to reduce loss and cost of replacement         

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Ensure that the new County Durham Oral Health Strategy considers the specific needs of people with 

Learning Disabilities and those with Mental Health needs. 

        

5. Children  

Targeted oral health promotion work for vulnerable groups; SEND and vulnerable parent pathway; training 

sessions delivered to special school support staff on oral hygiene and health promotion 

        

Encourage schools to include oral health as part of the curriculum – PSHE resources easily available         

School Nurses to promote dental access at parent sessions and to assist with dental practices regularly 

visiting schools to facilitate the uptake of dental care in targeted communities 

        

6. Digital  

Ensure that the new County Durham Oral Health Strategy considers opportunities to utilise digital approaches 

to support good oral health 

        

7. Finance  

Include training and support in residential care homes on importance of oral hygiene and dual training on 

dementia care as part of contract 

        

8. Integration  

Align dental practices to children centre cluster areas in targeted communities, and dental practices to each 

residential care home to ensure a general dentist is available for advice/guidance 

        

9. Cultural Change  

Breastfeeding friendly venues – UNICEF accreditation maintain status         

Consider lobbying for national policy change, but also local implementation on tackling the promotion of less 

healthy food and drink by place and policy and introducing calorie labelling in the out of home sector. 

Consider extending the current soft drinks levy, with a local levy to the foods popular with children (and 

adults) that are high in sugar such as sugary drinks, breakfast cereals, biscuits, ice cream, chocolate 

confectionery, cakes, puddings and sweet confectionery. 

        

 

Page 156



  

46 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Why is change needed? 

➢ It is estimated that around 90% of NHS contacts take place in primary care, with approximately 8,700 patient contacts per day (over 3 million per year) 
in general practices across County Durham. 

➢ In County Durham, it is estimated that 23.6% of over 65s are living with a limiting long term illness or disability. 
➢ In January 2019, NHS England published the NHS Long Term Plan setting out the overarching long term goals for the NHS and specific changes for 

Primary Care through dissolving the divide between primary care and community based health services.  Building on the ambitions set out in the NHS 
Five Year Forward View and The General Practice Forward View, the plan emphasises a shift of focus away from hospitals and towards community 
and primary care and acknowledges the challenges currently being faced in General Practice such as 

o Increase in an aging population with multiple Long Term Conditions and Health Inequalities 
o Workforce demands including challenges with recruitment and retention of GPs, Practice Nurses and Practice Managers 
o Increase in the number of financially vulnerable practices 
o Demands in Secondary Care with expectations of more specialist care delivered closer to home  

OBJECTIVE 

Increase the scale and integration of out of hospital services, based around communities and improve population health outcomes 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 

 

Primary Care Networks will support; 

➢ Delivering General Practice delivered at scale that will ensure ease of access to primary care services, at the point of need. There will be ample 
appointments, a full complement of doctors and nurses, with opening hours to satisfy demand. 

➢ Consultations that will be delivered face-to-face in a practice or community-based clinic, or remotely through video, online or telephone. There will 
be access to appointments in the evenings and at weekends, and some care will be delivered at home.  

➢ More people reporting that their care was provided by the right person/clinician, at the right time and in the right place. 
➢ Every person to continue to have a named GP who is accountable for their care, but may be supported and treated by another member of the 

extended multi-disciplinary practice team who can best meet their needs.  
➢ New models of care that support multi agency integration, ensuring high quality care is delivered closer to home and out of hospital 
➢ Multi-disciplinary teams that will ensure care and support is joined up and co-ordinated around the person.  
➢ People to understand and trust the skills and expertise of each member of this extended team, and have confidence that they are being seen by 

the professional that is most appropriate for their needs.  
➢ Continuity of care, which may be delivered in different ways from currently. This will be enabled by their electronic care record being accessible to 

all professionals involved in their care to ensure they will not have to keep repeating their story.  
➢ People being routinely involved in care decisions and fully informed about risks and benefits of different options (Shared Decision Making) and 

prioritising self-care and prevention to ensure that people are better equipped to manage own health care. 

➢ A focus on Population Health that targets approaches to those with highest risk of poor health outcomes.  
➢ Workforce sustainability and workload optimisation 
➢ Easy access to consistent health and wellbeing information and advice when needed.  
➢ Hospital stays that are seen as part of a continuing relationship with care services not an isolated episode.  

 

Primary Care Network Staff will; 
➢ Have the skills, resources and time they need to meet the health and care needs of the population.  
➢ Work in collaboration with wider health and care partners to provide a fully integrated health and social care system without visible 

boundaries. Services will be delivered by multidisciplinary teams that include a range of clinical and non-clinical roles, offering a wider 
range of services tailored to the needs of the local population; helping to reduce the pressure on small teams.  

➢ Be able to work more proactively to improve the health outcomes of the populations they serve, enhance access, tackle health 
inequalities with more emphasis on prevention 

➢ Develop new and extended roles that will complement the skills of the GP, enabling local practices to better support patients to 
manage their conditions and to remain in good health.  

➢ Drive healthcare for the benefit of patients, working in partnership with hospitals (secondary care teams) to deliver services in the 
community; reducing requirements for hospital referral and attendance.  

➢ Will increase their resilience through greater pooling of expertise, resources and back office functions.  
➢ Have manageable workloads on account of multidisciplinary team working where an increased focus on self-care and more channels 

of communication (through digital technologies) that will allow more time to care.  
➢ Have greater job satisfaction, which in turn will deliver a more stable workforce to protect the continuity of relationship between practice 

and patients. 
➢ Support patients to have realistic expectations and a better understanding of the capability of different clinicians. 
➢ Endure less bureaucracy for front line clinicians, freeing up time to provide more face to face care. 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 
 

Measures taken from the Practice Quality Sustainability Tool; 

➢ CQC rating          
➢ NHSE/I Quality Assurance Data Reports 
➢ In receipt of Resilience Funding / required a company or administrative merger 
➢ Number of patients per full time equivalent GP / Number of Advanced Nurse Practitioners 
➢ Number of GP Partners per Practice / less than 1 Partner how many salaried GPs 
➢ Number of salaried GPs where ratio is greater than 2,501 patients : 1 GP 
➢ GP survey (experience / access via phone) 
➢ List closure 

 

 

Primary Care Networks 

Page 157



  

47 
 

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities & Prevention  

PCNs to undertake further population health segmentation and risk stratification (beyond existing frail elderly) 

using Health Population Management approaches 

        

Implementation of tackling neighbourhood inequalities service specification         

Implementation of the diabetes prevention model of care         

Implementation of CVD prevention and diagnosis service specification         

Implementation of supporting early cancer diagnosis service specification         

An expansion of the NHS Health Check scheme to address health inequalities year by 2023/24         

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Extended Access Service,  and Extended Hours (additional 30 minutes per 1,000 population) delivered as 

part of Network Contract DES 

        

Direct booking into practice appointments from NHS 111, MIU and ED          

Implementation of structured medications review and optimisation service specification, enabled by 

expansion of clinical pharmacists 

        

Re-launch of Teams Around Patients (TAPs) care coordination pathway (including virtual ward)         

Implementation of enhance care in care homes service specification; the scheme will link PCNs to care 

homes, with named GP support for all patients and networks collaborating with emergency services on out-of-

hours care. 

        

Primary Care Workforce Plan (incl. new roles in Primary Care in line with Network DES, GP Career Start; 

International Recruitment; PN Career Start; Meds Opt) 

        

Practice Sustainability Tool to highlight early indication of vulnerability; with tailored offer of support as 

appropriate 

        

Productive workflow         

3. Personalised Care  

Implementation of personalised care service specification, to implement the NHS Comprehensive Model         

Develop the model of Social Prescribing Link Worker within PCNs to embed within the community model of 

health and care delivery 

        

PCN representation on the Personalised Care Strategy Group to ensure all opportunities to deliver Choice, 

Shared Decision Making, Patient Activation Measures, etc. within the community are taken 

        

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Uptake of annual health checks in primary care by patients with a learning disability will be increased to 75%, 

and health checks for patients with autism will be piloted 

        

5. Children  

Support PCN specific priorities/initiatives around children and young people including a reduction in  
paediatric admissions 

        

6. Digital  

All patients to have a right to access digital GP consultations over next five years. Patients will have access to 

digital GP consultations 'usually from their own practice or, if they prefer, from one of the new digital GP 

providers'. 

        

Patients will be able to choose to have their consultation via video via a website or by using an app         

Within Durham a cross agency workstream has been established to focus on digital projects and integration. 

The workstream also contribute to projects emanating from the NENC Integrated Care System regional 

strategy. Estates issues related to the NHS community contract are being addressed through a dedicated 

task & finish group and reported to the System Assurance Group. 

        

7. Finance  

A 'shared savings scheme' will hand PCNs part of any funding they save by reducing avoidable A&E 

admissions, admissions, preventing delayed discharge, reducing avoidable outpatient visits or over-

medication. The NHS plans to 'improve efficiency' in primary care with a health service-wide 'cash-releasing 

productivity growth' target of 1.1%. 

        

Practices in PCNs will be funded through a designated single fund through which all network resources will 

flow, moving most local enhanced services commissioned by CCGs into network contracts 

        

Reform of the Quality Outcomes Framework (QOF) will undergo significant changes; a new quality 

improvement element to be developed in collaboration with the RCGP, and indicators deemed the least 

effective will be dropped. 

        

8. Integration  

Expanded community teams will be developed alongside PCNs with a requirement for teams including GPs, 

pharmacists, district nurses, community geriatricians, dementia workers, physiotherapists, social care and 

voluntary sector staff 

        

Support practices to transition from PCH/TAPs to PCNs         

Anticipatory care requirements service specification, for high need patients typically experiencing several 

LTCs, joint with community services 

        

9. Cultural Change  

Continue to support the cultural shift from separate Primary, Community and Social Care services towards 

integrated Primary Care Networks through Organisational Development Programme 

        

 

Page 158



  

48 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Urgent and Emergency Care 

Why is change needed? 

➢ Urgent and Emergency Care demand has increased year on year and for services to meet the needs 
for those who most need it changes to the current system must be made. To ensure that we continue to 
meet the needs of our most unwell patients, we must ensure that patients are treated in the most 
appropriate setting and in the most appropriate timeframes, reducing pressure on our most stretched 
services. Staffing remains a challenge, with large gaps in most sectors, due to difficulties in increasing 
staff numbers within limited financial budgets, we must reduce activity in order to need the most urgent 
needs of the population. 

OBJECTIVE 

➢ To reduce demand on Urgent and 
Emergency Care Services, 
improving patient flow experience 
and performance.  

➢ Reducing unwarranted variation 
across the Region standardising 
services and delivery 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 

 

Highly responsive 24/7 seamless urgent and emergency care including: 
➢ Pre-Hospital Care - a single multidisciplinary Clinical Assessment Service (CAS) within integrated NHS 111, ambulance dispatch and 

GP out of hours services, ensuring patients receive the most appropriate clinical advice and direction to the most appropriate services. 
➢ Timely and accurate data flowing through the ECDS for all EDs, UTCs and CDES from 2020 and the National Ambulance Dataset to 

be implemented. 
➢ Adults, children and young people experiencing mental health crisis will be able to access the support they need – single point of 

access through NHS 111, access to crisis care 24/7 and intensive follow-on to reduce future use. 
➢ The Urgent Treatment Centre model universally implemented by autumn 2020. 
➢ Ambulance services, at the heart of urgent and emergency care system, providing timely responses and patients treated at home or in 

more appropriate care settings outside of hospital.  Ambulance staff will also be trained and equipped to respond effectively to mental 
health crisis, including mental health transport, mental health nurses available for ambulance EOC, and mental health training for front-
line crews. 

➢ Improved responsiveness of community health crisis response services to deliver the services within two hours of referral in line with 
NICE guidelines.  

➢ All parts of the country delivering reablement care within two days of referral. 
➢ Enhanced health in care homes – upgrade NHS support to all care home residents who would benefit by 2023/24. 
➢ Evening and weekend GP appointments in place through Extended Access Services. 
➢ All hospitals with a major A&E department will have a comprehensive model of Same Day Emergency Care at least 12 hours a day, 

every day, in both medical and surgical specialties; and provide an acute frailty service for at least 70 hours a week achieving clinical 
frailty assessment within 30 minutes of arrival.  

➢ Implement the findings of the Clinical Standards Review to focus on patients with the most serious illness and injury. 
➢ Extending digital services beyond care homes to vulnerable patients in their own homes 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 

 

➢ ECDS compliance reporting      
➢ Frailty evaluation        
➢ Same Day Emergency Care activity (Shadow reporting) 
➢ Clinical standards shadow reporting 
➢ NHS remote booking volumes 
➢ Care Homes admissions 
➢ Readmissions 
➢ Community Caseload Admissions 

 

A system wide report is being developed to be overseen by all partners in the LADB. 

 

 

 

 

Page 159



  

49 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities and Prevention  

Continue to utilise local and national data to understand local variation in use of hospital based services and 

access to treatment 

        

Work with Primary Care Networks to understand variation in their population’s use of health services          

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

NEAS pathfinder to be rolled out to County Durham utilising the single point of access. Requires ongoing 

training of staff within NEAS 

        

There is an expectation that once the findings of the Clinical Standards review are finalised, any required 

changes to reporting and monitoring will be implemented. Shadow monitoring to be agreed and introduced. 

        

Increase the proportion of people that are treated and discharged on the same day by meeting the new 

national guidelines for same day emergency care 

        

Increase the focus on wellness and prevention          

3. Personalised Care  

Appropriate approaches to self-management to be considered by the Personalised Care Steering Group that 

may positively impact on UEC services 

        

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Continued delivery of Core 24 standard Liaison Psychiatry Service and build on offer to include High Intensity 

User and discharge support 

        

5. Children  

Ongoing implementation of the poorly child pathway         

6. Digital  

Development and implementation of a solution to enable compliance with the Emergency Care Data Set 

database. Approval agreed to progress with IT solution during Quarter 3 to be in place for 2020/21 which will 

help the urgent and emergency care system to understand capacity and demand which will in turn improve 

patient care 

        

Support continues use of the Child Health app         

7. Finance  

Continue to focus on increasing planned care and decreasing use of unplanned care wherever possible to 

ensure most efficient use of resources  

        

8. Integration  

Implementation of Consultant Advice Line to provide urgent advice to GPs         

Clinical Assessment Service support NHS111 to provide a clinically backed service which now includes GPs 

24/7. This works alongside GP out of hours services across all County Durham and Darlington with direct 

booking access is in place. 

        

Supporting streaming from A&E to primary care where appropriate to ensure people are seen in the most 

appropriate service to meet their needs 

        

Services are in place with facilities/services in A&E and also in the community. NHS111 profiles ensure these 

patients are profiled to the correct services.  This work is being progressed following the recent System 

Summit. 

        

All TAPs and the overnight services together ensure that in a crisis response service is accessible for adults 

experiencing a sudden change in their physical health condition to prevent avoidable hospital admission. The 

service is accessed through a single point of access (C3) and includes patients presenting in the ED 

department at UHND.  This service is to be expanded to NEAS, starting in quarter 2 of 2020/21. 

        

9. Cultural Change  

Continued engagement with the public regarding accessing appropriate services suitable to meet needs, 

including use of 111 

        

 

Page 160



  

50 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Digital, Data and Technology 

Why is change needed? 

➢ Data: The NHS is made up of hundreds of separate but linked organisations, and the burden of managing 
complex interactions and data flows between trusts, systems and individuals is vastly time consuming. Investing 
in data interoperability gives the opportunity to release time and resources to focus on clinical care and health 
promotion. 

➢ Technology: is a significant part of our everyday lives improving the way we socialise, shop and work. It also has 
great potential to improve how the NHS delivers its services in a new and modern way; providing faster, safer and 
more convenient care. 

OBJECTIVE 
To enable the delivery of high 

quality, easily accessible and 

efficient health and care 

services to local population 

through digital solutions. 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 
 

➢ Flow of data between provider and commissioning organisations for the provision of better patient care and population health 
management and to support research.  

➢ Providers must submit Emergency Care datasets on a daily basis (as currently mandated)  
➢ Secondary care provides will be fully digitised including clinical and operational process across all settings, locations and departments   
➢ Increase the digital maturity of all health and care organisations.  
➢ Digital solutions are robust and adhere to core standards set across interoperability, accessibility, cyber security and key quality 

standards achieved in collaboration with our partners 
➢ Patients are empowered to manage their health, access services and view their clinical information using digital solutions. These 

solutions are provided in addition to the current methods of accessing health and care services.  
➢ Timely information to ensure seamless transfers of care for patients 
➢ Improve access to contemporaneous medical records at the point of care by providing mobile devices and digital services to clinicians  

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 
 

Patient usage and satisfaction of digital solutions including: 

• NHS App 

• Online Consultations 

• GP online 

• Patient Engagement Platform 

• Healthcall 

Number of organisations configured to use the Health Information Exchange shared record 

Number of views of the Health Information Exchange shared record 

Improved Digital Maturity ratings  

Number of data/security breaches recorded 

Number of incidents relating to technology 

Number of patient complaints relating to digital solutions 

 

Systems need to develop a comprehensive digital strategy and investment plan consistent with the Tech Vision. Outlining how digital technology will 

underpin their local system’s wider transformation plans over the next five years. This includes their approach to ensuring a ll secondary care providers are 

fully digitised by 2024 and that they integrated with other parts of the health and care system. This plan is expected to include:-  

➢ How and when each organisation will achieve a defined minimum level of digital maturity  
➢ How will the Global Digital Exemplar (GDE) blueprints be adopted and an approach based on IT system convergence to reduce unnecessary 

duplication and costs  
➢ How will controls and approved commercial vehicles (e.g. Health System Support Framework) be adhered to ensure technology vendors and 

platforms comply with national standards for capturing, storing and sharing of data 
 

Systems are expected to set out plans for how they will significantly improve the provision of services through digital routes aligned to national standards 

and guidance. The newly created NHSX will ensure that clear guidance is provided to organisations and support to accelerate progress in this area. Local 

systems are advised to drive forward digitisation focussed on the user needs and engage staff and patients in its development.   

➢ By summer 2021, 100% compliance is expected with mandated cyber security standards. 
➢ By 2021/22 all NHS organisations will be expected to have a CCIO or CIO on their boards.  
➢ The NHS will support organisations to digitise care to core standards supported by a robust IT infrastructure. By 2024 it is expected that:  

o NHSX will drive a standards-based approach to provider digitisation to deliver a core level of digitisation across the system and local sharing 
of records to support integrated care by 2024 

o By 2021/22 all staff working in the community will have access to mobile digital services  
o By 2022 a new system for Integration Child Protection will replace dozens of legacy systems  
o NHSX will monitor progress against the Secretary of State’s commitment to cease the use of fax machines for communication between NHS 

organisation with patients  
➢ Expand upon the monitoring of autism and learning disabilities patients within primary care 

 

There are several funding streams which have enabled much of the work programmes within the ICS, ICP and the Durham partnership. New models of 

provision need to be provided within an agreed financial envelope, at a cost that is sustainable for the health economy. Specific work programmes will be 

developed and implemented, following appropriate funding acquisition, due diligence and formal business case approval processes. In many cases it is 

expected that organisations may need to lead programmes of work on behalf of the “system” and therefore host funds and resources as a result. It is 

imperative that as an integrated care system, we establish formal and robust processes to ensure organisations are not disadvantaged or placed at risk as a 

result. 
 

 

Page 161



  

51 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities and Prevention  

Rollout of telehealth solutions including Healthcall         

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Delivery of the Veteran Health Armed Forces Directory         

Delivery of Dementia Care Signposting Resources         

Review of community directory information provision to ensure that people have access to robust 

advice/information to enable them to live healthy and independent live in their local community 

        

3. Personalised Care  

Development of an digital shared care record through the implementation of a Health Information Exchange 

and Patient Engagement Platform 

        

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Expansion of the ERS system to include mental health referrals         

5. Children  

Use digital functionality to improve the sharing of child protection information across health and care settings         

6. Digital  

All commissioning datasets will be submitted to SUS+ on a weekly basis with. Emergency Care datasets on a 

daily basis CDDFT: Currently monthly compliance only.  The transmission of weekly data is part of the 

commissioner 19/20 DQIP, but with no definitive completion date as the host commissioner currently has no 

requirement or desire to increase the frequency of their internal 

processing and monitoring. Work required in order to comply is mainly centred on the current backlog of 

clinical coding.   

        

Continuing to identify additional opportunities within the Global Digital Exemplar expansion programme either 

to obtain GDE status or identify a fast follower arrangement 

        

The NHS App, online consultations and GP Online, will provide a secure way for citizens to access digital 

NHS services such as 111 and GP record, book appointments and register for organ donation. 

        

Mobile devices with remote access software installed will be available to primary care clinicians         

Ensure that the implementation of all digital solutions meet current standards and requirements with regards 

to interoperability 

        

7. Finance  

Digitisation of primary Lloyd George care records         

8. Integration  

Ensure that the implementation of all digital solutions meet current standards and requirements with regards 

to interoperability, accessibility and cyber security 

        

Improve the transfers of care process using functionality such as FHIR and ERS         

9. Cultural Change  

Develop a communications strategy to support the engagement of patients in the use of digital solutions         

 

Page 162



  

52 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Personalised Care 

Why is change needed? 

➢ Whilst the health and care system has been changing, the population itself has 
also changed. People are living for longer with more complex health and care 
needs.  The focus on hospital-based, disease-based and self-contained “silo” 
curative care models undermines the ability of health systems to provide 
universal, equitable, high-quality and financially sustainable care.  People are 
often unable to make appropriate decisions about their own health and health 
care, or exercise control over decisions about their health and that of their 
communities. 

OBJECTIVE 

➢ People have choice and control over the way their care is 
planned and delivered, based on ‘what matters’ to them and 
their individual strengths, needs and preferences.  

➢ Personalised Care will benefit up to 2.5 million people by 
2024, giving them the same choice and control over their 
mental and physical health that they have come to expect in 
every other aspect of their life 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 
 

➢ Empowering people, integrating care and reducing unplanned service use through Integrated Personal Commissioning, including proactive 
case finding, and personalised care and support planning through multidisciplinary teams, personal health budgets and integrated personal 
budgets. 

➢ Supporting people to build knowledge, skills and confidence and to live well with their health conditions through proactive case finding and 
personalised care and support planning through General Practice. Also ensuring support to self-manage by increasing patient activation 
through access to health coaching, peer support and self-management education. 

➢ Supporting people to stay well and building community resilience, enabling people to make informed decisions and choices when their health 
changes through 1) Shared Decision Making, 2) Enabling choice, 3) Social prescribing and link worker roles, 4)Community-based support. 
 

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities and Prevention  

Integration of Shared Decision Making approaches within the renewal of the NHS Health Check service, 

including use of evidenced based decision support tools 

        

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Recruitment of Social Prescribing Link Workers in each Primary Care Network by April 2021         

14,500 referrals to Social Prescribing by 2023/24         

12,000 people, including those with long term conditions and people at the end of life and pregnant women 

supported by personalised care and support planning by 2023/24 

        

3. Personalised Care  

Full compliance with The NHS Choice Framework         

Shared Decision Making embedded in 30 high-value clinical situations in primary and secondary care, and at 

the interface between these, by 2023/24 

        

Patient Activation Measures (PAM) to be incorporated into outpatient setting for a minimum of 5 clinical 

specialities with staff trained in the administration of PAM, supported by a project lead working across the 

County Durham, South Tyneside and Sunderland ICP and into the both CDDFT and STSFT 

        

Proactive and personalised care planning undertaken for everyone identified as being in their last year of life         

By 2021, where appropriate every person diagnosed with cancer will have access to personalised care, 

including needs assessment, a care plan and health and wellbeing information and support. 

        

People who are off work for more than four weeks will receive personalised care plans to manage their 

condition in work, with reasonable adjustments where needed. 

        

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

To ensure that all approaches to personalised care consider the needs of people with learning disabilities and 

mental health needs. 

        

5. Children  

To ensure that appropriate use of personalised care approaches are applied in services for children and 

young people 

        

6. Digital  

100% of elective referrals exercising choice through e-RS by 2023/24         

7. Finance  

1,600 Personal Health Budgets in place in County Durham by April 2021         

1,600 Personal Maternity Care Budgets by April 2022         

All wheelchair provision to include a Personal Wheelchair Budget offer         

All people receiving home-based Continuing Health Care by April 2020 will have a Personal Health Budget 

(approx.320) 

        

8. Integration  

1,200 staff within the County Durham health and care economy undertaken professional skills training in 

Shared Decision Making and Personalised Care and support planning by 23/24 

        

Train a minimum of 8 people with lived experience to become system leaders in conjunction with the Peer 

Leadership Academy by 2023/24 

        

9. Cultural Change  

All transformational schemes to consider opportunities for integration of Shared Decision Making approaches 

within the scope of the project, whilst also rolling out the ‘Ask 3 Questions’ or ‘BRAN’ across the health and 

care sector within County Durham 

        

All transformation schemes to consider opportunities for integration of Patient Activation Measures (PAM) 

approaches within the scope of the project, whilst all commissioning staff to undergo awareness training of 

PAMs 

        

 Page 163



  

53 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Population Health and Prevention 
Why is change needed? 

➢ Delivering service transformation of the scale set out in the NHS Long 
Term Plan requires a well-developed system and effective underpinning 
infrastructures. Over the next five and ten years the NHS will 
progressively increase its focus on prevention and ensure that 
inequalities reduction is at the centre of all our plans 

OBJECTIVE 
➢ An integrated local system, with population health management 

capabilities which support the design of new integrated care 
models for different patient groups. 

➢ Reduced levels of smoking and levels of obesity in adults and 
children, a reduction in the number of alcohol  related 
admissions, reduced air pollution and reduced reliance on 
antibiotics 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 
 

➢ Strong Primary Care Networks and integrated teams with clear plans to deliver the service changes set out in the Long Term Plan; 
o Reduced inequalities and unwarranted variation in health through stronger action by the NHS working with Durham County 

Council and key stakeholders 
o Developed system architecture, with clear arrangements for working effectively with all partners and involving communities as 

well as strong system financial management and planning (including a way forward for streamlining commissioning, and clear 
plans to meet the agreed system control total moving towards system financial balance) 

o A move from reactive care towards a model of NHS and Social Care services that embody active population health management, 
through the Durham Wellbeing Model 

 

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities and Prevention  

PCNs provided with Health Analytics from NECS to identify unwanted variation at a locality level, drawing 

upon multiple data sources including NHS RightCare  

        

Triangulation and alignment of DCC Business Intelligence (including Durham Insight) and NHSE/I & 

RightCare data to address health inequality and wider determinates of health 

        

PCN strategic and operational plans to address health inequality         

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Integration of the Durham Wellbeing Model in all system planning and operational delivery         

3. Personalised Care  

All initiatives identified as a result of addressing health inequalities to consider and implement appropriate 

Personalised Care strategies including population segmentation and shared decision making to address 

unhealthy behaviours and   

        

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

See MH & LD OGIM         

5. Children  

See Children and Young People OGIM         

6. Digital  

Development of a system-wide performance framework that includes operational performance (including 

waiting times, non-elective care, service outcomes, etc.) and wider determinates of health (including housing, 

employment, healthy life expectancy, activity, smoking, etc.) whilst incorporating the Triple Aim 

        

7. Finance  

Integrated Governance arrangements further developed to support integrated working across the system that 

supports strong system financial management and planning 

        

8. Integration  

Single PCN / TAP operational plans and governance frameworks         

Integrated Commissioning Team established between Durham CCG and Durham County Council         

9. Cultural Change  

Use of population health approaches to shift cultural thinking in health and social care provision from a 

reactive illness model of care to a proactive and targeted preventative model 

        

 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 
 

• Alcohol Care Teams from 2020/21 to 2023/24 

• Targeted support for weight management service improvements from 2020/21. 

• From 2021/22, for the phased implementation of NHS smoking cessation services for all inpatients who smoke, pregnant women and users of high-risk 

outpatient services (as a complement not a substitute for local authority’s own responsibility to fund smoking cessation). 

• Targeted funding available from 2020/21 to support the development and improvement of optimal Alcohol Care Teams in hospitals with the highest rates 

of alcohol dependence-related admissions 
 

 

Page 164



  

54 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Shorter Waits 

Why is change needed? 

➢ Receiving timely care is important to patients when they are referred to hospital for treatment 

➢ In some cases care could be provided differently rather than a face to face appointment which would 
improve patient experience and efficiency of care delivery 

➢ The waiting list position has been deteriorating and the number of people waiting for treatment has 
increased. 

➢ There is a requirement to implement the recommendations of the Clinical Standards Review (2019) 
regarding patient access and choice. 

➢ There is no agreed system in place to offer all patients waiting more than 6 months an alternative 
provider. 

OBJECTIVE 

➢ Reduce the number of people 
waiting for hospital treatment to to 
March 18 levels and achieve 
Referral to Treatment (RTT) 
targets. 

➢ No patients waiting more than 52 
weeks for treatment  

➢ To offer every patient waiting 6 
months or longer the choice of 
receiving treatment from an 
alternative provider. 

➢ To implement the outcome of the 
Clinical Standards Review. 

➢ All referrals triaged on receipt  

➢ Implement MSK First Contact 
Practitioner. 

GOALS - How do we want the future to look? 

 

➢ All referrals triaged on receipt to identify the most appropriate pathway of treatment 
➢ Achieving 92% Referral to Treatment Incomplete Pathway target. 
➢ Achieving waiting list requirements of the Long Term Plan whereby waiting lists are below March 18 levels and no patient is waiting 52 

weeks or more for treatment. 
➢ All patients waiting more than 6 months are offered an alternative provider through an agreed system in place. 
➢ All recommendations of the Clinical Standards Review are implemented. 
➢ A range of alternative pathways are developed as an alternative to face to face appointments (where appropriate) 

 

MEASURES - What Key Performance Indicators will we use to monitor progress? 

 

➢ Number of incomplete waiters against plans to reduce waiting lists to March 18 levels and any 52 week waits recorded and confirmed. 
➢ No of 26 week waiters and achievement of the 92% 18 week RTT standard (To ensure achievement is sustained). 
➢ No of Clinical Standards partially or fully implemented.  
➢ Number of alternative pathways developed for outpatient treatment 
➢ Reduced number of cancelled operations 

 

 

 

 

Page 165



  

55 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

INITIATIVES - What are we doing about it? 

 2020/21 21/

22 

22/

23 

23/

24 

24/

25 

Project Gantt Chart Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4     

1. Health Inequalities & Prevention  

Continue to utilise local and national data to understand local variation in use of hospital based services and 

access to treatment 

        

Work with Primary Care Networks to understand variation in their population’s use of health services          

Undertake respiratory health equity audit          

2. Approach to Wellbeing  

Increase the focus on wellness and prevention          

Implementation of Clinical Review Standards – to be published Spring 2020         

3. Personalised Care  

Develop a process to offer choice of an alternative provider where patients have been waiting more than 26 

weeks for treatment 

        

Consider implementation of a Patient Activation Measures (PAMs) approach across a number of specialties 

to support people to self-manage their condition where appropriate 

        

Improving elective capacity at Bishop Auckland and choice of hospital for surgery         

4. Mental Health and Learning Disabilities  

Ensure that appropriate adjustments to pathways continue to be in place for patients with a Learning 

Disability and that their effectiveness is monitored 

        

5. Children  

Implementation of a community based level 2 and 3 continence service as an alternative to hospital based 

treatment 

        

6. Digital  

Continue to implement a range of pathways as an alternative to face to face appointments building on the 

successful implementation of virtual fracture clinics and tele-dermatology  

        

7. Finance  

On-going delivery of the Outpatient Transformation programme          

Continuation of the MSK First Contact  pilot to support evaluation and a decision on full roll out across the 

county 

        

Introducing triage of referrals on receipt to ensure that people are booked into the most appropriate service         

8. Integration  

Reduce Demand  - Additional impact will be realised with ongoing focus on the joint OP Efficiency 

Programme to reduce secondary care demand e.g. Virtual fracture clinics and tele-dermatology 

        

9. Cultural Change  

Communicate the benefits of alternative models for delivery of outpatient care         

Develop partnerships between primary, community and acute care to support joined up service delivery and 

care close to home wherever possible 

        

 

Page 166



 

             

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

 11 March 2020 

North Tees & Hartlepool NHS 

Foundation Trust 2020-25 

 

Report of Hilton Heslop, Head of Strategy & Corporate Affairs, 
North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust   

Electoral division affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report and accompanying presentation sets out the recent refresh 
of the corporate strategy for North Tees and Hartlepool NHS 
Foundation Trust. 

Executive summary 

2 North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust is a high performing 
provider of integrated acute and community healthcare services to the 
people of Hartlepool, Stockton-on-Tees and parts of East Durham, 
including Sedgefield and Easington. The Trust currently delivers its 
services across two hospital sites at University Hospital of Hartlepool 
and University Hospital of North Tees, with outpatient and diagnostic 
services also provided at Peterlee Community Hospital. 

3 The Trust has a reputation for providing high quality services to 
approximately 400,000 residents within the communities it works to 
support. This commitment to quality was reflected in the Care Quality 
Commission rating of ‘GOOD’ achieved during 2018. 

Recommendation 

4 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to 
support the Trust’s overall vision for the next five years and 
acknowledge the collaborative efforts that are already evident as a 
provider and key partner within the locality. 

 

 

 

Page 167

Agenda Item 9



Background 

5 The previous corporate strategy for the Trust was developed during 
2016/17. However, many changes have taken place nationally, 
regionally and locally during the last three years and the Trust has 
subsequently refreshed its strategic vision and aims in order to 
acknowledge the extent of the changes within the healthcare system.  

6 The publication of the NHS Long Term Plan in January 2019 set out a 
broad range of ambitions and key deliverables which run through the 
core of the Trust’s strategic aims. The Trust is well on the way to 
developing local responses to some of the national deliverables having 
set ambitions and plans in place based on in-depth knowledge and 
understanding of its own health population for the region.  However, it is 
important that the Trust reflects the Long Term Plan aims and 
objectives within its strategic direction and this is exemplified in the 
Trust’s vision of ‘providing the best health for everyone in its population’. 

7 This fosters a strong culture across the organisation to work more 
effectively with key partners and stakeholders to strive for greater 
improvements in the health of the population across Teesside and 
further afield. The Trust is committed to supporting the development of 
population health strategies with local authority Public Health partners. 

8 The development of stronger strategic links with local authorities and 
the voluntary sector in key areas, alongside the involvement of the Trust 
in the development of the Joint Strategic Needs Analysis (JSNA) in 
hospital site localities, has highlighted the scale of public health 
inequalities that impact upon secondary care across the locality.    

9 However, we know that just doing what we’ve always done will not meet 
the needs of the population we serve. All health-related organisations 
will need to better manage the health of the population so that in 20-30 
years’ time our communities will be healthier, fitter and less reliant on 
hospital services in the future. 

10 To achieve our vision, we will: 

(a) Focus on groups in society 
(b) Deliver interventions across an integrated health and care system 
(c) Manage the health of our population better 
(d) Demonstrate strong and effective collaboration, and trust 
(e) Improve and integrate our services 
(f) Deliver services that are clinical effective, quality and safe 
(g) Promote innovation and inclusivity 
(h) Maintain financial stability 

 

Page 168



11 We will continue to provide the best healthcare that we can and will 
always put the health of our population first, delivering efficient, safe 
and reliable services with excellence as our standard, encouraging 
innovation, embracing learning, knowledge and change.   

12 Our values are base around Collaborative, Aspirational, Respectful and 
Empathetic: 

(a) Using the expertise of many, to achieve our aims and objectives, 
collaboration is a cornerstone of the Trust and is something we 
believe passionately about; 

(b) We encourage all our staff to be aspirational in their line of work, 
and to be the best that they can be;  

(c) We treat everyone with dignity and respect ensuring all of our 
staff maintain a respectful relationship with patients, their 
families, and their individual colleagues that care for them; 

(d) Showing empathy is important to the relationships we build within 
the Trust, and also those that we build outside of our hospitals. 

13 Whilst reflecting the changes both nationally and locally, the Trust has 
made slight but subtle changes to the four original strategic aims: 

(a) Putting our Population First 

(b) Valuing People 

(c) Transforming our Services (no change) 

(d) Health & Wellbeing (no change) 

14 The Trust has made a firm commitment to the prevention agenda and 
the development of a population health focus as part of our secondary 
acute care, and this has been reinforced with the recruitment of key 
senior personnel from a public health/health protection and primary care 
background to help the Trust make swift progress in addressing longer 
term health inequalities.  

15 This is very much an on-going process and we will continue to work with 
our partners to provide a collective response to the population needs 
across our localities. Collaboration has not just been an important 
aspect of integration planning. The Trust has made considerable strides 
to contribute to the broader public health agenda within our localities 
and our focus on population health management is an important strand.  

16 In order to make further progress, the Trust will work with its partners 
and key stakeholders in primary care and public health to fully 

Page 169



understand the health inequalities and poor health determinants to help 
target interventions to where they are needed most. 

17 Our plans will also be influenced by the approach to working with our 
partners in primary care and the emerging primary care networks. We 
aim to contribute to reducing inequalities in a practical way within 
communities and neighbourhoods, whilst delivering our core business. 

Conclusion 

18 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be sighted on the 
Trust’s overall vision for the next five years, and the collaborative efforts 
that are already evident as a provider and key partner within the locality. 

Author 

Hilton Heslop Tel: 01642 383259  

    

 

  

Page 170



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None 

Finance 

None 

Consultation 

The Health & Wellbeing Board is asked to support the Trust’s strategic 
direction over the next five years. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

N/A. 

Climate Change 

N/A. 

Human Rights 

N/A 

Crime and Disorder 

N/A 

Staffing 

N/A 

Accommodation 

N/A 

Risk 

N/A 

Procurement 

N/A 

 

Page 171



This page is intentionally left blank



You Matter

We Care

Levi Buckley
Chief Operating Officer

Hilton Heslop
Head of Strategy & Corporate Affairs

P
age 173



Local context

400,000 + population

2 main Hospitals and a 

Community Hospital

5,600 staff delivering safe and 

high quality services

290 million annual turnover

3 Local Authorities 

2 main clinical commissioning groups; 

1 specialist clinical commissioning body 

Our              
Patients,             

Our         
Population

3 Care Groups – Healthy Lives, 

Responsive & Collaborative

P
age 174



The Future – Integrated Care

ICP • Commissioning

• Contracting

• Performance 

Management

• Acute hospital 

services 

reconfiguration and 

improvement

• 4 ICPs in the ICS

• High level involvement of NHSI 

to support development

• Regional specialist work 

streams

• Focus on patient pathways 

providing best outcomes for 

communities

• Independent clinical expertise 

and oversight

• Collaboration influences future 

direction of services

P
age 175



Where are we as an organisation?

GOOD

Performance

Cardio

Respiratory

Gastro

Breast

Colorectal

Bariatric

Joint Replacement

#NoF

Organisational Strengths People Strengths Clinical Strengths

P
age 176



Our Vision

We know that just doing what we’ve always done will not 

meet the needs of the population we serve. 

We all need to better manage the health of the population   

so that in 20-30 years time our communities will be    

healthier, fitter and less reliant on hospital services               

in the future.

To achieve our vision, we will:

• Focus on groups in society

• Deliver interventions across an integrated health and care system

• Manage the health of our population better

• Demonstrate strong and effective collaboration, and trust

• Improve and integrate our services

• Deliver services that are clinical effective, quality and safe

• Promote innovation and inclusivity

• Maintain financial stabilityP
age 177



Using the expertise of many, to achieve our aims and objectives. Collaboration is a

cornerstone of the Trust and is something we believe passionately about

Our work with our stakeholders and strategic partners is critical to the continuous

improvement of the healthcare sector as a whole, and is a big and important part in

joining-up the health economy for the benefit of our population.

We maintain a firm and clear commitment to the integration of health and care

services through our work with commissioners and Health & Wellbeing Boards.

Our ValuesP
age 178



Our staff are our ‘shining stars’ who provide the care that our patients rely on.

With an emphasis on safety and quality, many of our staff go much further than their

daily duties and this is reflected in the feedback we receive from those who come

into contact with the Trust.

We encourage all our staff to be aspirational in their line of work, and to be the best

that they can be

Our Values

P
age 179



Respect is something we expect as a given in most situations, yet at times of ill

health when our resistance is low, as patients, it can sometimes be the last thing on

our mind

We think it should be one of the first things patients notice – that we treat everyone

with dignity and respect.

All of our staff maintain a respectful relationship with patients, their families, and

their individual colleagues that care for them

Our ValuesP
age 180



We are committed to maintaining a culture that embraces compassion and the

delivery of care that everyone can be proud of.

Ensuring that we understand how the other person feels – whether that be a patient,

a family relative, or a colleague.

Showing empathy is important to the relationships we build within the Trust, and

also those that we meet outside of our hospitals

Our Values

P
age 181



Joining-up Our Strategies

As a progressive and forward thinking Foundation Trust we make sure that our 

strategic direction, and the decisions we take to inform our future direction,    

are based on sound, practical evidence not only from within the Trust             

but from other external sources such as strategic partners and                  

clinical and non-clinical stakeholders. 

That is why we focus on key areas such as improving our financial 

position, the people that work for us, the safety and quality of  

care, our estates and digital maturity and the research and 

development  to help us make bigger and better         

improvements in our healthcare.

We have aligned our supporting strategies that have 

helped to influence and shape our direction

To find out more details on how our 

individual supporting strategies             

have influenced our thinking ‘click’           

on an icon.            

Estates

Digital

Workforce

Finance

Quality
Improvement

& Safety 

Research &         
Development

P
age 182



‘Excellence’ as our standard

Maximise our hospital & 

community environment

Technology   

& Digital

Staff Satisfaction

Research &      

Development

Financial Stability

Governance & Licence 

Conditions

Patient Safety
Patient Satisfaction

Health & Wellbeing

20252020

Sustainable 

Clinical 

Services

Health & Social Care 

Integration

‘Click’ on an icon for more 

details on how we measure 

what we do

P
age 183



Our Corporate Strategy

Putting our 

population 

first

Valuing 

People
Transforming 

our services

Health and 

Wellbeing

P
age 184



Our Corporate Strategy

Putting our 

population 

first

Valuing 

People
Transforming 

our services

Health and 

WellbeingP
age 185



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

             

        

 Health and Wellbeing Board 

11 March 2020 

 GP Workforce Sustainability Update 

 

Report of Joseph Chandy, Director of Commissioning, Strategy and 
Delivery – Primary Care, Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield 
and North Durham Clinical Commissioning Groups 

Electoral division affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1. At its meeting on 30 January 2019 the Health and Wellbeing Board 
received an update on the challenges faced by general practices and the 
initiatives being taken forward to support sustainability and transformation 
of general practice primary care in DDES and North Durham CCGs in line 
with national policy and local strategy.  The purpose of this paper is to 
provide an update around workforce sustainability and an understanding 
of the impact on schemes put in place.  As part of the County Durham 
CCGs Primary Care Strategy, GP workforce is one of the key aims, this 
linked into the GP Five Year Forward View (GP5FV) resulting in the 
development of a five point plan.    NHS England (NHSE) and General 
Practitioners Committee (GPC) announced the forthcoming changes to the 
GP Contract from April 2020 these changes will have significant impact on 
the workforce position across Primary and Community Care.  A County 
Durham workshop will be held in March to understand the implications and 
the Local Authority will be represented. 

Executive summary 

2. The General Practice Forward View, published October 2014, set out a 
new GP Resilience programme to support struggling practices.  Although 
only practices themselves can change the way they work, to release time 
for care, the involvement and support of the CCGs has been essential to 
getting the most out of the programme. 

3. Both CCG’s received funding as part of NHSE GP Resilience programme 
which allowed us to scope out a range of initiatives resulting in the 
production of our five point plan.  Listed below is an update for the Primary 
Care Commissioning Committees in Common( PCCCiC) on the initiatives 
introduced as either part of the GP5FV programme or CCG 

Page 187

Agenda Item 10



implementation.  As a result of the national strategy on workforce through 
the GPFV, the CCG developed the following 5 point plan. 

 

 

Recommendations 

4. Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 
 

(a) Note the content of this report.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

FIVE POINT PLAN 
FOR GP 

WORKFORCE 
SUSTAINABILITY

International

Recruitment

GP Virtual 
Support

Federation 
Salaried GPs

GP Career 
Extension

GP Career 
Start

Page 188



Background 

Initiatives to support Primary Care 

International Recruitment 

5. The international recruitment programme, hosted by NHS England, aims 
to recruit 600 oversees doctors into general practice in 2017/18 and aim 
for a total of at least 2,000 doctors over a three year period.  Recruitment 
from outside of the UK has made a valuable contribution in the NHS over 
recent years and forms an important part of the workforce supply strategy 
of NHS organisations.    

6. The scheme provides support to doctors making this challenging transition 
from other countries whilst providing reassurance to the recruiting practice 
that the doctor who joins them will be a valued member of the practice 
team. Nationally the number of candidates coming through the scheme 
has been low; 14 candidates have been confirmed across England, with 
five being in the North region of which two GPs have taken positions in 
North Durham and a third is due to arrive in the autumn 2019 subject to 
GMC eligibility. 

7. The numbers coming through the scheme have been disappointingly low 
and although North Durham has been successful in securing two GPs the 
central NHS England team are looking at other strategies to help to 
increase numbers and overcome barriers for candidates. 

Federated Salaried GPs 

8. The term federated GP means a GP working across more than one 
practice, providing flexibility to fit individual practice need.  The CCGs 
worked with federations and practices to design and develop a federated 
GP model of delivery who would work with practices to provide a long term 
commitment to General Practice or for example a practice may benefit 
from hosting a GP post for up to 3 months to give a period of short term 
stability. 

9. This scheme was designed to target newly qualified GPs, GPs who 
currently work outside County Durham and GPs who only do locum 
work.  The scheme would not fund GPs who currently work in a 
substantive role in County Durham and leave that role to join this scheme. 

10. Following this work expressions of interest were received from 3 practices 
and 1 federation in North Durham and 5 practices and 1 federation in 
DDES.  Unfortunately, due to GP indemnity restrictions, this would not 
allow GPs to work across multiple practices and posed a risk to individual 
practices around litigation. Practices researched corporate indemnity but 
unfortunately at that time the project could not progress therefore it was 

Page 189



agreed to put this on hold.  However the Government’s state-backed 
clinical negligence scheme for general practice (CNSGP) came into 
operation on April 1, 2019.  It covers clinical negligence liabilities arising 
from NHS patient care that takes place on or after that date therefore the 
CCG’s will plan to explore the potential of this project being re-scoped to 
look at how this model can be based around PCNs.  This will be included 
in the primary care programme of work.   

GP Virtual Support  

11. The CCGs in conjunction with federations looked to develop a retained list 
of GPs and Nurses who would have the flexibility to respond in an 
emergency / at short notice to support potentially and retain in practices 
remotely to review bloods, telephone consultation etc. 

12. As with the Federated Employed GP indemnity was also an issue resulting 
in this project being stopped.  However as above the CCG’s will explore 
the potential of this project being re-scoped to look at how this model can 
be based around PCNs. 

NHSE - GP Retention Scheme (GP Career Extension) 

13. This national scheme led by NHSE offers a package of financial and 
educational support to help doctors who might otherwise leave the 
profession, remain in clinical practice. There are currently 3 GPs on the 
scheme within DDES CCG and 1 GP within North Durham CCG.  2 GPs 
previously approved to join the scheme within North Durham CCG have 
since left the scheme, one GP retired and the second GP left the practice, 
a reason was not provided to NHSE.  All GPs in DDES remain on the 
scheme. There are no applications pending for either CCG (as at 20 
September 2019).  All those GPs who have been on the scheme for more 
than 1 year have been reviewed by Health Education England (HEE) and 
deemed as still appropriate for the scheme.  

GP Career Start Scheme 

14. The GP Career Start Scheme is aimed at attracting GPs who are looking 
for the opportunity to take up a post in general practice at an early point in 
their career and offers them the chance for ‘added value’ personal 
development e.g. medical student teaching, minor surgery, etc., as well as 
benefit from a mentorship programme whilst at the same time trying to 
expand the role of primary care within the local health economy. 

15. This approach fits with the General Practice Forward View in terms of 
workforce expansion and the vision to deliver an extra 5,000 additional 
doctors in the UK working in general practice by 2020. The scheme, run in 
partnership with Health Education England (HEE), has proved successful 
in expanding the GP workforce, with over 40 GPs recruited across County 

Page 190



Durham since the scheme commenced in DDES in 2015 and North 
Durham in 2016. 

16. Currently there are 19 GPs on the scheme (2019 / 2021).  A range of 
educational courses are provided through the dedicated learning sessions. 

17. Four GPs have also accessed a range additional training which includes: 
- Palliative Care 
- Dermatology 
- Psychiatry (in conjunction with TEWV) 
- Public Health 

 
Since the scheme began, the CCGs have invested over £400k with some 
match funding from Health Education England of £390k. 
 
GP Resilience Programme 

18. Through additional resilience monies the CCGs provide additional 
resources into a range of initiatives including: 

 
(a) GP Intending Trainers Scheme 

(i) As CCGs we recognised the need to support Primary Care 
resilience.  Currently there are 25 training practices across the 
CCGs geographical area.  It was agreed to increase this number 
to support practice sustainability and resilience and increase the 
number of GPs who would consider becoming a GP Trainer. 

(ii) Through resilience funding financial support has been provided to 
practices at a total cost of £6,000 per practice, the costs covers 
course fees and backfill. 

(iii) 3 practices have been supported to date. 
 

(b) Practice Merger Support 
CCGs developed a package of support for practice mergers, particularly 
relevant to those practices experiencing difficulty in continuing to 
manage their practice patient register and contracting obligations due to 
GP shortage and long term GP vacancies.  This support is only 
available to full mergers.  To date four practices across Count Durham 
have applied and three have been awarded funding to support the 
merger, amounts awarded to date totals £40k 
 

The CCGs have financially supported practices who have been experiencing a 
range of difficulties: 
 

(a) Gardiner Crescent £10k to provide administrative support over the 
summer months, and HR support to manage the continuing absence 
of a number of staff.  The funding enabled the management team to 
withdraw from the day to day provision so strategic issues could be 

Page 191



progressed.  This also allowed the practice to focus on the up and 
coming CQC visit. 

 
(b) The Medical Group £10K to support the management of the 

significant demands on primary care from the Independent Hospital 
– Appletree Cygnet.  The additional resource will support them to 
work into the unit for patients whose mental health makes it very 
difficult for the Appletree staff to support them to attend at the 
practice as they should do. 
 

(c) Oxford Road £1,300 to support the management and day to day 
running of the practice prior to an administrative merger taking place.  
Practice Manager Support provided over a 3 month period. 
 

(d) Consett Medical Group £5k to provide backfill following an 
unexpected bereavement in the practice. 

 
General Practice Nursing Workforce (GPN) 

19. The CCGs employ 3 permanent Practice Nurse Links (1x 37.5 hours per 
week (currently on secondment to Health Education England till March 
2020) and 2 part-time 1 x 24 hours and 1 x 15 hours per week). This 
secondment has provided the opportunity to temporarily increase the 
hours of the 2 part-time Practice Nurse Links and employ a Practice Nurse 
and Advanced Nurse Practitioner to undertake specific pieces of work till 
March 2020 which support GPN workforce development and retention e.g. 
clinical supervision, development and support for Advanced Nurse 
Practitioners. The funds have also been used to support a 12 month 
Career Start Practice Nurse post in Darlington.  

20. The Practice Nurse Link role is a commissioned role and is hosted by 
North Durham CCG on behalf of the 3 local Clinical Commissioning 
Groups North Durham, DDES and Darlington. The Practice Nurse Links 
support the Director of Nursing in maintaining and promoting professional 
and clinical nursing standards within primary care and manage the Career 
Start Practice Nurse programme across County Durham. 
 
County Durham Career Start Practice Nurse Programme 

21. The Career Start Practice Nurse programme was established in 
Derwentside in 2001 and expanded across County Durham from 2008 to 
2019 now covering the whole county. The programme offers the 
opportunity for Registered General Nurses with an interest in primary care 
to apply for a Band 5 position (30 month fixed term contract) which 
enables them to develop a portfolio of skills and knowledge required by 
primary care. The Career Start Practice Nurses also provides cover to GP 
practices to allow practice based nurses to access professional 

Page 192



development. Career Start Practice Nurses are allocated a base practice 
and a mentor (experienced Practice Nurse). The mentor supports the 
Career Start Practice Nurses training and development with the Practice 
Nurse Links overseeing this scheme across County Durham.  

22. To date 49 registered nurses have completed the Career Start Practice 
Nurse programme, 86% of these nurses are employed in primary care (7 
nurses left the service). The rolling programme currently employs up to 10 
Career Start Practice Nurses in County Durham and one 12 month Career 
Start Practice Nurse in Darlington.  

 
Health Education England Nursing Associate role 

23. The Nursing Associate role is a new support role that sits alongside 
existing healthcare support workers and fully-qualified registered nurses to 
deliver hands-on care for patients. The programme has been available 
since 2017 the first 2 qualifying Nursing Associates in the North East are 
from County Durham practices. There are currently 4 trainee Nursing 
Associates across DDES and ND CCGs practices. Trainee Nursing 
Associate funding is available until March 2020.  
 
Open University Registered Nurse Degree Apprenticeship  

24. The Open University’s Registered Nurse Degree Apprenticeship supports 
employers to develop their healthcare support workers towards registration 
with the Nursing and Midwifery Council, as either adult or mental health 
nurses. As apprentices study flexibly alongside work, they will put their 
newly acquired knowledge and skills into practice immediately, for the 
positive benefit of patients and service users. The first person to undertake 
and complete the Open University Registered Nurse degree 
apprenticeship in County Durham has recently qualified. 
 
Practice Nurse Team development 

 
General Practice Nursing Resilience bid   

25. The Practice Nurse Links have worked with the Commissioning & Delivery 
Manager and CCG Primary Care Nurse Leads (Tees & Darlington CCGs) 
to develop a bid to NHS England to provide resilience training. This bid 
was successful and will enable 2 nurses per PCN across the 5 CCGs to 
access resilience training. 
Continuing Workforce Development bid  

26. The Practice Nurse Links worked with the Commissioning & Delivery 
Manager and CCG Primary Care Nurse Leads (Tees & Darlington CCGs) 
to develop an aligned bid for the 5 CCGs for 2019/20, this bid was 
successful. 

Page 193



 
The areas included in the plan are: 
    Infection Control Leads Training  

(a) Learning disabilities  
(b) Treatment Room Skills for Health Care Assistants  
(c) Practice Nurse Pathway  
(d) Cardiovascular Disease, Stroke & Hypertension and Chronic  

     Kidney Disease 
(e) Motivational Interviewing  
(f)     Immunisations  
(g) Medical Terminology for non-clinical staff  
(h) Clinical Coding training for non-clinical staff 
(i)     Primary Care Masterclass – update 

 
Bi-monthly Practice Nurse Team meetings 

27. Well established bi-monthly Practice Nurse meetings take place across 
County Durham with the aim of increasing awareness and sharing of best 
national, regional and local practice, networking, professional 
development, engagement with local providers. 

 
Educational sessions 

28. Practice Nurse Teams across the CCGs have access to the North Durham 
Protected Learning Time events and DDES Collaborative and Time Out 
sessions. 

 
Nurse Development sessions 

29. Two Practice Nurse Team development sessions led by the CCGs 
Director of Nursing are planned for 2020.  

 
Identifying and Supporting Vulnerable Practices  

30. In addition to the above the CCGs have developed a Practice 
Sustainability Tool. The tool is a qualitative method of assessing 
vulnerability in general practice, the primary reason for this is to provide 
evidence of sustainability issues.  

31. The first section of the tool draws upon information already available 
through NHS England and Health Education England with a significant 
amount already being in the public domain.  The second voluntary section 
of the tool is completed by the practice and is overlaid with a series of 
operational questions that have a bearing on practice resilience. Criteria 
within the tool are summarised below; however it should be noted these 
are in process of being refined. 

 

Page 194



Practice Sustainability Tool Scoring Criteria  

SECTION 1 
CCG completion  

SECTION 2 
General practice completion  

• CQC rating: inadequate; requires 
improvement 

• Primary Care Web Tool: 
approaching review or review 
identified 

• Number of GP Partners and 
salaried GPs 

• Number of patients per FTE GP 

• Number of patients per FTE 
Advanced Nurse Practitioner 

• QOF % achievement 

• Referral or prescribing 
performance compared to CCG 
average 

• GP Patient Survey: Overall, how 
would you describe your 
experience of your GP practice? 
(% Good); ease of getting through 
by telephone 

• List closure, including application to 
close list 

• Clinical sessions per week 

• GP employment 

• GP retirement plans 

• GP exit interviews 

• GP training posts 

• Individual professional performance 
issues 

• Professional isolation 

• Practice leadership issues   

• Significant practice changes 

• Practice branch surgeries 

• Buildings –fit for purpose 

 
Some examples of work around practice vulnerability include: 

(a) encouraging practices to share any emerging issues (e.g. staff 
resource) with their CCG at an early stage so we can work together 
to provide the right support, as soon as possible 

(b) support around management of workload 

(c) approaching practices assessed as being more resilient, to see if 
there would be willing to offer support to less resilient practices 

(d) facilitating and establishing a register of GP practices and 
Federations to share their experience and learning e.g. pre CQC 
advice and practice improvement; development of significant event 
process; clinical meeting templates; policies and procedures; 
practice mergers and leadership; and 

(e) benchmarking the CCG offer of support to general practice, with 
other CCGs to determine if further actions can be taken to promote 
sustainability. 

 

Page 195



CQC Support 

32. Following the outcome of CQC ratings of two practices the CCG were 
approached by both practices who requested some support and guidance 
this support included: 

 
Phoenix Medical Practice 

33. CQC - the practice were rated inadequate (November 2018)  

34. Director Lead aligned – Gill Findlay 

35. Digital Lead – support practice with hospital correspondence, how it was 
processed and stored, safety issues highlighted and changes put in place 

36. Quality and Development Manager – reviewed processes of significant 
events and CAS alerts this included identifying a lead the process in the 
practice for action and dissemination and post learning 

37. the CCGs Infection Prevention and Control Team, Practice Nurse Link 
also visited and supported the practice with actions in relation to their 
specific areas of expertise.  The practice also worked with the Medicines 
Optimisation Team with regards to prescribing. 

38. NECS support (paid through resilience) to undertake mapping of the 
practice business processes and redesign where appropriate 

39. Cancer – Clinical Lead for cancer supported the practice in reviewing how 
it handles the whole process around cancer patients 

40. Action plans implemented 

41. Following a subsequent revisit on safety grounds the CQC were satisfied 
that all remedial actions had been addressed  

Gardiner Crescent 

42. In August 2018 Gardiner Crescent and the Lavender Centre were rated by 
the CQC as overall requires improvement following an announced 
comprehensive inspection. The safe, effective and well-led domains were 
rated as requires improvement and caring and responsive as good. All 
population group ratings were rate as requires improvement. 

43. Director Lead aligned – Joseph Chandy 

44. The Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Delivery (Primary Care), 
Commissioning and Development Lead and Quality and Development 
Manager visited the practice in June, July and August 2019 to support the 
GP Partner, Business Manager and Operations Manager  with the 
development of their CQC action plan and presentation. 

Page 196



45. North Durham CCG Medical Director, the CCGs Infection Prevention and 
Control Team, Safeguarding Adults and Children Team and Practice 
Nurse Link also visited and supported the practice with actions in relation 
to their specific areas of expertise. North Durham CCG GP Clinical Lead 
for Learning Disabilities had visited the practice previously in 2019 and the 
practice were also working with the Medicines Optimisation Team with 
regard to antibiotic prescribing. 

46. The CQC carried out an announced comprehensive inspection at Gardiner 
Crescent Surgery on 22 August 2019 as part of their inspection 
programme and to check that improvements had been made following the 
previous inspection . The practice was rated good overall, good for all key 
question areas and good for all population groups. The CQC found no 
breaches of regulations but identified 6 actions that the practice should 
take. 

 

Conclusion 

47. As you can see the CCGs support a wide range of initiatives on 
sustainability and resilience in primary care.   

48. From the range of initiatives the GP and Nurse Career Start schemes has 
been and continues to be the most successful.  However the financial 
initiatives introduced has supported struggling practices through difficult 
times and provided some stability for those practices going through 
mergers. 

49. Future decisions around workforce resilience will include taking into 
account primary care networks. 

 

Author 

Juliet Carling    Tel: 0191 3898580 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 197



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

None 

Finance 

The report details CCG forecasted investment in primary care.  

Consultation 

As part of the primary care strategy delivery the CCGs continue to engage with 

the local community regarding general practice primary care services through 

the existing engagement model, which includes Patient Participation Groups 

(PPGs) and the Patient, Public and Carer Engagement Committee (PPCEC).  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

CCG primary care strategies are subject to Equality Impact Assessment. 

Climate Change 

No implications 

Human Rights 

N/A 

Crime and Disorder 

N/A 

Staffing 

CCG primary care strategies take into consideration workforce sustainability. 

Accommodation 

N/A 

Risk 

The CCGs hold risk management plans related to specific areas of strategy 

delivery. 

Procurement 

N/A 

Page 198



 

             

Health and Wellbeing Board 

 11 March 2020 

 Vaping Consensus Statement  

 

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide 

Purpose of the Report 

1 This report presents a prepared consensus statement in relation to 
County Durham’s approach to vaping, for agreement by the Health and 
Wellbeing Board.    

Executive summary 

2 Smoking remains the single largest cause of preventable death and one 
of the largest causes of health inequalities in England as well as in 
County Durham. As well as dying prematurely, smokers also suffer 
many more years in ill-health.  

3 Supporting smokers to stop smoking is a key strand of tobacco control 
and vaping is increasingly popular as a method to quit. The provision of 
the nicotine, to which smokers are addicted without the harmful 
components of tobacco smoke can prevent most of the harm from 
smoking. 

4 Recently, there have been many mixed messages in relation to vaping, 
particularly with issues reported in the USA which has caused 
confusions amongst health and care professionals on the safety of 
vaping.   

5 The vaping statement will provide an agreed, standardised reference for 
all health and social care professionals in County Durham. 

Recommendation(s) 

6 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

(a) Discuss the content of the consensus statement; 

(b) Agree to the content of the vaping statement; and 

(c) Cascade the vaping statement to relevant services. 

Page 199

Agenda Item 11



Background 

7 Smoking remains the single largest cause of preventable death and one 
of the largest causes of health inequalities in England as well as in 
County Durham. As well as dying prematurely, smokers also suffer 
many more years in ill-health.  

8 The provision of the nicotine, to which smokers are addicted without the 
harmful components of tobacco smoke can prevent most of the harm 
from smoking. Smoking cessation, including provision of medication 
such as nicotine replacement therapy (NRT), is one of the most 
effective health interventions.  

9 E-cigarettes are battery-powered devices that allow the user to inhale 
nicotine in a vapour rather than smoke. Unlike tobacco cigarettes, e-
cigarettes do not contain cancer-causing tobacco or involve combustion. 
As a result, there is no smoke, tar or carbon monoxide. E-cigarettes are 
proving much more popular than NRT as a substitute and competitor for 
tobacco cigarettes. 

10 The Royal College of Physicians has concluded that the hazard to 
health arising from long-term e-cigarette use is unlikely to exceed 5% of 
the harm from smoking. Switching completely from smoking to e-
cigarettes conveys both substantial short-term and probable longer-term 
health benefits. 

11 E-cigarettes are available commercially and are regulated under the EU 
Tobacco Products Directive (TPD). 

12 There is public misunderstanding about nicotine and the risks from e-
cigarettes and this has led to healthcare professionals delivering 
variable advice in relation to e-cigarettes. 

13 This statement describes the proposed position of partners within the 
Health and Wellbeing Board.  

Author  

Kirsty Wilkinson  Tel:  03000 265445 

 

 

 

 

Page 200



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

Under section 2B NHS Act 2006 (inserted by Section 12 of the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012), local authorities have a statutory duty to take such 
steps as they consider appropriate for improving the health of the people in 
their area.   

Finance 

None required 

Consultation 

Has taken place with Fresh NE  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

No adverse implications 

Human Rights 

No adverse implications 

Crime and Disorder 

No adverse implications 

Staffing 

None 

Accommodation 

None 

Risk 

None identified 

Procurement 

No implications  

 

 

Page 201



This page is intentionally left blank



VAPING – COUNTY DURHAM CONSENSUS STATEMENT

Partners across the tobacco control system within County Durham have agreed to the 
following consensus in relation to vaping and the use of electronic cigarettes:

1.  Vaping, based on current evidence, is a significantly less harmful alternative to smoking 
because it does not contain the same types and level of toxins as in tobacco smoke.

2.  Vaping is not risk-free, and non-smokers should not start to vape. However, compared 
to smoking it carries a fraction of the risk. Public Health England and the Royal College 
of Physicians state that switching to vaping would be significantly less harmful than 
continuing to smoke.

3.  Smokers switching to vaping reduce their risks to health in the short and medium term.   
It is too early to tell what the longer-term impact of vaping might be on health but we 
know clearly what the impacts to health are if they continue to smoke tobacco.

4.  Vaping can be an effective aid to quitting smoking. They are particularly effective 
when combined with expert support from stop smoking advisors. As the products are 
developed and improved further, they are likely to help more people to stop smoking.

5.  Vaping and continuing to smoke does not have any health benefits. It is important to stop 
smoking.

6.  The UK has tight regulation around electronic cigarettes. Vaping products are age 
restricted products and must not be sold to anyone under the age of 18. Local Authority 
Trading Standards departments are responsible for enforcing the law on age restricted 
products including vapes. Trading Standards need intelligence on under age sales in 
order to undertake enforcement activity. If there is any intelligence on under age sales of 
vapes people should report this to Trading Standards on 03000 261 016.

7.  Vaping and vaping products must be notified to the Medical and Healthcare Regulatory 
Authority (MHRA) before they can be sold. The European Tobacco Products Directive 
(TPD) stipulates that e-cigarettes must not include ingredients (except for nicotine) which 
pose a risk to human health in heated or unheated form.

 Context for our vaping statement
•  Tobacco smoking is very harmful and results in the deaths of over 3,000 County Durham 

residents each year.

•  People smoke for the nicotine but die from the tar, carbon monoxide and thousands of 
other toxic chemicals in tobacco smoke.

•  The optimum scenario is for people not to smoke at all and to have a smokefree 
environment with clean lungs.

•  Consumers and healthcare professionals can report side effects and safety concerns 
with e-cigarettes or refill containers to MHRA through the Yellow Card reporting system.

Page 203



Advice to consumers:

•  For smokers: You should stop smoking completely. Getting expert support combined 
with using an e-cigarette doubles your chances of quitting successfully. For the best way 
to quit read our advice

•  For people who vape nicotine: if you are still smoking, you should stop and switch 
completely to vaping, then come off nicotine when you are confident you won’t relapse to 
smoking.

•  If you have never smoked: Don’t vape.

•  For people who vape cannabidiol (CBD): although CBD is less tightly regulated, if you 
experience symptoms or are concerned you should stop.

•  For people who vape tetrahydrocannabidiol (THC): if you are vaping THC (or an 
unknown liquid which could contain THC) it can be hazardous. These are the products 
most implicated in the US outbreak. If you feel unwell or have any difficulty breathing 
after vaping THC, go to A&E and tell them precisely what the product was you were 
using.

Links to UK evidence
PHE Evidence Update: Vaping in England
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/
file/821179/Vaping_in_England_an_evidence_update_February_2019.pdf

A Randomized Trial of E-Cigarettes versus Nicotine-Replacement Therapy
https://www.nejm.org/doi/full/10.1056/NEJMoa1808779

CRUK report: E-cigarettes and primary care
https://www.gov.uk/government/collections/e-cigarettes-and-vaping-policy-regulation-and-guidance

Royal College of Physicians: nicotine without the smoke: tobacco harm reduction
https://www.rcplondon.ac.uk/projects/outputs/nicotine-without-smoke-tobacco-harm-reduction

Royal College of General Practitioners: Position Statement
https://www.rcgp.org.uk/-/media/Files/Policy/2017/RCGP-E-cig-position-statement-sept-2017.
ashx?la=en

ASH Research: E-cigarettes and Young people
https://ash.org.uk/media-and-news/press-releases-media-and-news/in-britain-young-people-vape-
just-to-give-it-a-try-not-because-they-think-its-cool/

BMJ: Young People and vaping
https://www.bmj.com/content/365/bmj.l2219

Fresh position statement on e-cigs
http://www.freshne.com/in-the-news/pr/item/2194-statement-ecigs

NHS Vaping Standards
http://www.freshne.com/images/stories/Vaping_Standard_for_NHS.pdf

Page 204



 1 

Health and Wellbeing Board  

11 March 2020 

County Durham’s Approach 

to Wellbeing – Case Study 2 

 

Report of Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health 
Services, Durham County Council and Amanda Healy, Director of 
Public Health, Durham County Council 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide. 

Purpose of the Report  

1 The purpose of this report is to share the details of a case study in using 
the County Durham Approach to Wellbeing.  
 

Executive summary  
 

2 The Health and Wellbeing Board approved the County Durham 
Approach to Wellbeing on 27 November 2019 and proposed that case 
studies be presented at future meetings to highlight the way in which 
the wellbeing principles were being adopted by partners.  

Recommendation 

 

3 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 
 
(a) Note the use of the Approach to Wellbeing in this case study and 

the opportunity it has brought to encourage greater community 
engagement and co-production in the development of new 
services and well as building stronger relationships between 
commissioners and service providers.  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 205

Agenda Item 12



 2 

Background 

4 The Health and Wellbeing Board approved the County Durham 
Approach to Wellbeing on 27 November 2019 and proposed that case 
studies be presented at future meetings to highlight the way in which 
the wellbeing principles were being adopted by partners.  

5 This case study highlights the use of the Wellbeing Approach in by the 
Adults and Health Commissioning Team.  

6 In the first example, the commissioning team have been using the 
wellbeing principles to inform the content of their contracts, embedding 
the principles in the work of service providers and encouraging a 
stronger approach to asset identification and mobilisation, as well as the 
codesign of services.  

7 The second example highlights alliance contracting, a new approach to 
commissioning that is being explored with the Chief Procurement 
Officer, and is intended to develop closer working relationships with 
voluntary and community sectors, in support of the new County Durham 
Vision.  

Conclusion 

8 Members of the Board will have an overview of the way in which the 
Wellbeing Approach is being used across Adults and Healt Services 
Commissioning Team. 
 
 

Author  

Amanda Healy    Tel: 03000 264323 

  

Page 206



 3 

Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications 

This work supports the Council’s statutory responsibility to improve and 
protect the health and wellbeing of local residents1.  

Finance 

There are no financial implications arising from adoption of the Approach to 
Wellbeing at present. 

Consultation 

Formal consultation on the Approach to Wellbeing is not appropriate, although 
adoption of the Approach does encourage partners to ensure greater 
community engagement in the development of services. 

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

Utilisation of this approach would support equality and diversity, emphasising 
the importance of citizens having equal opportunities regardless of where they 
belong, highlighting the need to address and reduce health inequalities, and 
valuing the diversity that people can bring to their communities as local 
assets.  

Human Rights 

This work would respect the human rights of citizens across County Durham, 
working with communities regardless of race, sex, nationality, ethnicity, 
language or any other status. In particular the work to engage communities 
would encourage freedom of opinion and expression. 

Climate Change 

None 

Crime and Disorder 

Improving community engagement and cohesion has the potential to reduce 
crime and disorder. 

Staffing 

There are no staffing implications arising from this approach at present. 

Accommodation 

 
1 Health and Social Care Act 2012 

Page 207



 4 

There are no accommodation implications arising from this approach at 
present. 

Risk 

Partnership support will be required to take forward this Approach to 
Wellbeing and failure of this support may result in a risk to its adoption.  The 
evidence base suggests that its introduction will result in improved health 
outcomes for communities, therefore the risk if it is not adopted is that 
improvement in health outcomes may be more limited. 

Procurement 

One of the key principles contained in this approach is the need to ensure 
collaborative commissioning and co-design of services.  Adoption of this 
Approach to Wellbeing will therefore have an impact on the way in which 
services are commissioned in the future.   

 

 

Page 208



Using County Durham’s 

Approach to Wellbeing

Denise Elliott

Head of Commissioning

Health and Wellbeing Board
11 March 2020P

age 209



Wellbeing ApproachP
age 210



Commissioning

Sharing Decision Making: designing and developing services with the 

people who need them

Actions:

• Using the wellbeing principles to develop outcomes for new contract 

approaches

• Commissioning staff trained in coproduction

• Added wellbeing principles to the guidance for service specification 

development

• Wellbeing tender questions

P
age 211



Project Alliance Model

Project Alliance

Formal Agreement

Money Flow

Provider 

D

Provider 

E

Provider 

F

Single overall contract
Commissioners & Providers

One performance framework

Everybody is equal

Collective ownership

Shared decision-making

Shared responsibility

Shared risks

Based on co-operation

Encourage Innovation 

Shared values

Common Vision

Success judged on overall outcome

Providers can bring sub-providers

P
age 212



Project Alliance Contracting 

7 Principles

5

We assume collective responsibility for all the risks involved in 
providing services in scope

We make decisions on a ‘Best for People using Services’ basis

We commit to unanimous, principle and value based-decision 
making on all key issues

We adopt a culture of 'no fault, no blame' between the Alliance 
Participants and to seek to avoid all disputes and litigation 

We adopt open book accounting and transparency in all matters

We appoint and select key roles on a best person basis

We act in accordance with the Alliance Values and 
Behaviours at all timesP
age 213



Where we are in our thinking

• Exploring the art of the possible

• Learning from elsewhere

• Expert advice

• Wellbeing principles

• What Outcomes do we want to achieve?

• How could we develop a specification from these?

• Commissioner workshop in March

• Future Provider workshop (to be arranged)

• Final decision on using this approach later 2020

6

P
age 214



Alcohol

1

P
age 215

A
genda Item

 13



2

Dry January 2020

• Promotions included 

• Press release 

• Article in Durham County News

• Digital adverts

• Social media 

• Internal communications

• Local case studies at 

http://www.reducemyrisk.tv/hints-and-tips/

• Press release by Balance end of January 

with top tips for February and beyond                                         
Durham County 

News item

Example of this 

year’s digital advert

What’s the harm – alcohol before 18

• Digital adverts in run up to                                    

Christmas. 

P
age 216

http://www.reducemyrisk.tv/hints-and-tips/


Tobacco

3

Keep it out campaign

Launched 20 January

Every breath campaign

Launched 2 March

P
age 217



4

Keep it out

• Featured the following promotions by Fresh and supported by partners.

• Press release, radio advertising, digital display advertising, Facebook 

advertising, leaflet drop to households in target areas.

• www.keep-it-out.co.uk includes facts about illegal tobacco                                             

and an anonymous reporting form

• Campaign uplift including internal messages and social media.

Every breath campaign

• Raising awareness around smoking and COPD

• Features the following promotions from Fresh 

• TV advertising/video on demand, radio advertising, Facebook                                                     

and digital display, press. Also field marketing at UHND 6 March

• Campaign uplift including posters, leaflets, social media,                                       

digital display adverts

• Campaign linked with No Smoking Day – 11 March

P
age 218

http://www.keep-it-out.co.uk/


Mental health

5

P
age 219



6

Time to Talk Day – 6 February

• Advertising – bus shelter adverts in major towns, 

park and ride buses, digital screens

• Social media posts

• DCC Leader column in Durham Advertiser series on 

6 February

• Internal promotions for staff

• Range of events by partner organisations including

• Pop up choir at Durham Town Hall

• Man Health community event at Tudhoe

• Stamp it out group, Durham 

• Upper Teesdale Agricultural Support Services 

youth project

• Wellbeing for Life Tea and Talk, Clayport Library

• Time to Talk Time to Share, Blackhall Library

P
age 220



Flu

7

P
age 221



8

Help us help you - stay well this winter

• Continued promotional support through:

• Web and social media channels

• Digital advert and TV screens

• Bus shelter adverts around county

• Targeted communications for 2-3 year olds through                                            

Early Years service

• Catch it, bin it, kill it messages from Public                                                       

Health England shared through social media 

Get it seen – Pharmacy advice

• Launched January

• Digital display advertising

P
age 222



Cervical  screening

9

P
age 223



10

Cervical screening

• Campaign developed by Public Health South 

Tees 

• Rolled out in County Durham in January –

targeted to areas of low take up

• Bus shelter advertising, digital display 

adverts, customer access points

• Community newspaper adverts                                                 

Shildon Town Crier, Newton                                         

News and Ferryhill Chapter

P
age 224



 

Health and Wellbeing Board 

 11 March 2020 

Children and Young People’s (CYP) 

Mental Health (MH) and wellbeing Local 

Transformation Plan (LTP) Assurance 

Report (2019/2020 update) 

   

Report of Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County 
Council and Mike Brierley, Director of Corporate Programmes, 

Delivery and Operations, County Durham CCG’s 

Electoral division(s) affected: 

Countywide  

Purpose of the Report 

1 To provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with a summary of the 
2019/2020 update of the Children and Young People’s Mental Health 
Local Transformation Plan (CYP MH LTP) report and, 

2 To seek agreement and approval from the Health and Wellbeing Board 
of the 2019/2020 update of the CYP MH LTP assurance report prior to 
the required NHS England submission of the plan on the 31 March 
2020. 

Executive summary 

3 Children and young people’s mental health and emotional wellbeing has 
been rising up the national agenda for the past few years. According to 
the latest research commissioned by NHS digital, mental health 
problems affect one in eight children and young people between the 
ages of 5 and 19, with numbers rising during teenage years with around 
17 per cent of 17 to 19-year olds experiencing diagnosable mental 
health problems. However, only a quarter of school-age children with a 
diagnosable mental health problem receive any intervention, despite 
most parents of these children seeking professional advice. It is worth 
noting that 75% of mental health problems in adult life (excluding 
dementia) start by the age of 18 and hence there is a strong case for 
prevention and early intervention which avoid expensive interventions in 
adulthood.  

Page 225

Agenda Item 14



4 The aim of the CYP MH LTP assurance 2019/20 update report is to 
enable the public, partners and stakeholders to see the progress being 
made against the local five-year plan first launched in 2015.  

5 This is the fifth and final annual refresh to ensure that the Local 
Transformation Plan fulfils its purpose of setting out transparent joint 
agency plans to improve children and young people’s mental health. It 
also sets out progress that has been achieved to date, and the longer 
term priorities beyond 2020. 

6 Key Lines of Enquiry (KLoE), published by NHS England, provide the 
framework and guidance for updating the CYP MH LTPs by 31 March 
2020.  The criteria outlined in the KLoEs are not mandatory.  

7 The CYP MH LTP report has been co-produced and developed 
collaboratively with a wide range of local stakeholders including 
children, young people and their families. 

8 The LTP has made good progress against the CYP MH LTP plan, 
particularly around ensuring accountability to children, young people 
and families; support for mental health in schools, peer support for 
parents/carers and suicide prevention (e.g. the Suicide Prevention 
Alliance which is accountable to the Mental Health Strategic Partnership 
Board; the Suicide Prevention Action Plan and The Real Time Data 
Surveillance Standard Operating Procedure). 

9 A notable progress of the LTP Partnership to date is the recruitment of 
the Children, Young People and Parents’ Advisory Board. This ensures 
the voices of children and families are at centre stage of all the future 
work.  

10 Although there is no formal requirement to continue with the LTP 
Partnership and produce the LTP assurance report beyond the 5 years, 
the LTP Partnership has given full assurance that it is here to stay. 
There is determination to build on the positive partnerships and good 
progress achieved to date. 

11 Key areas of future work includes the County Durham and Tees Valley 
Mental Health and Learning Disability Partnership (referred to as ‘The 
Partnership’) which supports the current alternatives to mental crisis for 
children and young people and oversees the 300K recurrent budget 
allocated to this work; the CAMHs whole system review and the revision 
of the LTP plan on a page. The latter includes the development of a 
joint outcome-based framework; linking to the Public Health managed 
multiagency self-harm Task and Finish Group which aims to better 
understand the data and respond to young people who have self-
harmed. Future work also includes continuing with the planned work 
and commitments of the LTP Partnership from 2020 and beyond. 

Page 226



Recommendation(s) 

12 Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to: 

(a) Note the information provided in the report.  

(b) Agree and endorse the CYP MH LTP report. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 227



Background 

13 The aim of the CYP MH LTP assurance report 2019/20 update is to 
enable the public, partners and stakeholders to see the progress being 
made against the local five-year plan first launched in 2015.  

14 The requirement to refresh and republish the CYP MH LTP assurance 
report update every year is set out in the NHS Planning Guidance.  

15 This is the fifth and final annual refresh to ensure that the Local 
Transformation Plan Assurance Report fulfils its purpose of setting out 
transparent joint agency plans to improve children and young people’s 
mental health. It also sets out progress that has been achieved to date, 
and the longer-term priorities beyond 2020. 

16 Key Lines of Enquiry (KLoE), published by NHS England, provide the 
framework and guidance for updating the CYP MH LTPs by 31 March 
2020.  The criteria outlined in the KLoEs are not mandatory. They serve 
as a checklist with the rating system developed to be used only for 
guidance  

17 The plan is written as an easy to read document and animations were 
produced with input from CYP. 

18 The CYP MH LTP assurance report is considered a live document. It 
has been co-produced and developed collaboratively with local 
stakeholders including the NHS, the Local Authority, the voluntary and 
third sector, education and justice agencies and children, young people 
and their families. 

19 In County Durham 6,580 children and young people have a mental 
health disorder (Durham Insights). 

20 Children and young people’s mental health and emotional wellbeing has 
been rising up the national agenda for the past few years. According to 
the latest research commissioned by NHS digital, mental health 
problems affect one in eight children and young people between the 
ages of 5 and 19, with numbers rising during teenage years with around 
17 per cent of 17 to 19-year olds experiencing diagnosable mental 
health problems. However, only a quarter of school-age children with a 
diagnosable mental health problem receive any intervention at all, 
despite most parents of these children seeking professional advice. It is 
worth noting that 75% of mental health problems in adult life (excluding 
dementia) start by the age of 18 and hence there is a strong case for 
prevention and early intervention which avoid expensive interventions in 
adulthood. CYPs at higher risk of suffering from poor mental health 
include: more deprived populations; those living in poor housing; those 

Page 228



with poor educational attainment; lesbian, gay, transgender and trans 
(LGBT); people with learning disabilities and looked after children. 

21 The local vision for the plan remains unchanged from the original one 
and states ‘We want Children, Young People and their Families in 
County Durham to be supported to achieve their optimum mental health 
and wellbeing. Every child and young person will have access to early 
help in supporting their emotional and mental health needs. We want to 
develop children and young people’s resilience and coping strategies. 
We will transform the quality and availability of our services from early 
help through to specialist provision. Local services will be locally 
delivered within communities, closer to home, targeted to the most 
vulnerable ensuring fewer children and young people require specialist 
mental health services.’ 

22 The CYP MH LTP assurance report reflects the vision and principles of 
the national “Future in Mind” strategy and the five-year forward view for 
mental health and is based on the five themes, as outlined below 

(a) Promoting resilience, prevention and early intervention - to 
act early to prevent harm, supporting families and those who care 
for children and building resilience through to adulthood.  

(b)  Improving access to effective support - change how care is 
delivered and build it around the needs of CYP and families, 
ensuring that CYP have easy access to the right support from the 
right service at the right time.  

(c) Care for the most vulnerable - Current service constructs 
present barriers making it difficult for many vulnerable CYP and 
those who care for them to get the support they need.  

(d) Accountability and Transparency - To drive improvements in 
the delivery of care, and standards of performance to ensure we 
have a better understanding of how to get the best outcomes for 
CYP and families/carers and value from our investment.  

(e) Developing the workforce - Everyone who works with CYP and 
their families is ambitious for every child and young person to 
achieve and able to deliver the best evidenced care.  

Aims 

23 The plan for 2018-2020 has three overarching aims  

(a) Have a clear, transparent mental health offer for children and 
young people that is easy to access. This starts from universal 

Page 229



prevention / early intervention, moving through to providing 
effective support and treatment. 

(b) Have a CYP workforce that is skilled, competent and confident to 
talk about mental health, understands mental health issues and 
can effectively support and/or signpost/ refer. 

(c) A developed and well tested mental health and wellbeing 
communications strategy. This will be a collaborative approach 
providing clarity of what is available in County Durham. 

Achievements in the last year 

24 The partnership has made good progress against the CYP MH LTP 
plan, particularly around ensuring accountability to children, young 
people and families; support for mental health in schools and peer 
support for parents/carers. Key achievements to note here include:  

(a) The development of the children, young people and parents 
advisory board. With equal status to the LTP, this board ensure 
all what is planned, commissioned, delivered and evaluated truly 
embed the voice of service users and that the LTP is accountable 
to the children, young people and families it serves text; 

(b) Rollercoaster, the Parent Support Project which supports parents 
and carers of children and young people experiencing emotional 
or mental health difficulties has now achieved financial stability by 
embedding into core CCG budgets. 

(c) The work of Stamp It Out has been acknowledged nationally 
through Time To Change as an example of good practice. In 
March 2019 County Durham became a Time To Change Funded 
Hub. Investing in Children have been tasked with coordinating the 
Hub. Stamp It Out and County Durham Time To Change Hub – 
Challenging Stigma and Discrimination continues to develop 
reaching new audiences and challenging and changing public 
perceptions of mental health. 

(d) Due to the success of the Young Adults Support Café (Emotional 
Wellbeing Peer Support and supporting the transition from 
Children’s to Adult’s Services) project, Investing in Children were 
successful in March 2019 in obtaining 3 years funding through the 
National Lotteries Community Fund to support funding to 2022. 

(e) The Peer Mentoring Programme which was developed by 
Investing in Children and which enables children and young 
people peer support in schools is now ASDAN accredited. 

Page 230



(f) The Durham Resilience Programme (DRP), which promotes 
resilience and emotional wellbeing in schools, was positively 
evaluated by Brighton University and was a finalist in the LGC 
awards. An expanding support to mental health in schools has 
seen the introduction of the Resilience Nurses and the Durham 
Resilience Project and the development of the ‘making mental 
health everyone’s business. A practitioner’s guide’ interactive 
PDF in September 2019. 

(g) There has also been continuing support to the CASCADE training 
in County Durham (or Anna Freud Centre for Mental Health) with 
a target that all schools will have at least 1 individual trained in 
this approach.  

(h) Youth Aware Mental Health (YAM), a universal evidence-based 
mental health promotion program for 14-16-year olds, is a 
culturally sensitive programme promoting increased knowledge 
about mental health through dialogue and role-play. YAM offers a 
hands-on approach to mental health issues such as stress, crisis, 
depression and suicide. 

(i) An Online Recovery College offers a wide range of courses which 
are broken into sections for under 12s, over 13’s, parents and 
carers, professionals and a specific section for teachers. The 
online recovery college also has an easy read version to support 
young people and parents and carers who need further support 
with literacy or have a learning need. This online offer is a critical 
element to the wellbeing pathway ensuring that children and 
young people can access support at the right time in the right 
place.  

(j) Kooth has also been commissioned to provide online forums of 
support and online counselling for children and young people 
across county Durham. This builds a strong online offer ensuring 
that a range of options are available to support children, young 
people and families at a time of need and to prevent and build 
resilience. 

(k) Preventing suicide is a priority for County Durham.  A local 
suicide prevention alliance is in place which includes Durham 
County Council, along with partners including the Police, Fire and 
Rescue Service, NHS mental health services and the community 
and voluntary sector. The Alliance aims to contribute to the 
reduction of deaths by suicide across County Durham. It meets 
quarterly and is accountable to the Mental Health Strategic 
Partnership Board which monitors the associated Suicide 
Prevention Action Plan. A key priority for developing the local 

Page 231



plan was to understand local data in line with the national context. 
Hence of the work streams of the Alliance included the local Real 
Time Surveillance System (RTDS) which was endorsed by the 
Suicide Prevention Alliance.  This system complements the Child 
Death process for children up to the age of 18. 

(l) The Jigsaw Project provided by St Cuthbert’s this service offers 
timely and appropriate bereavement support to children and 
young people from 5 up to 18 years of age. Specialist 
bereavement and post intervention counselling service takes 
referrals from several sources, the most common via 
family/friends, and for various reasons of death including suicide. 

(m) The eating disorder team has produced a pathway to support 
admission of children and young people to Paediatrics when at 
risk of physical complications associated with an eating disorder 
presentation. This pathway has helped staff to be clear on how to 
manage different situations and arrange specialist advice and 
daily visits from the Eating Disorder Team within normal working 
hours. This pathway was presented at a national event with 
colleagues from other CYP Eating Disorder Teams from across 
the country and won a poster presentation prize. 

Future areas 

25 Although there is no formal requirement to continue with the LTP 
Partnership and produce the LTP assurance report beyond the 5 years, 
the LTP Partnership has given full assurance that it is here to stay. 
There is determination to build on the positive partnerships and good 
progress achieved to date.   

26 A multi-agency workshop is being arranged by public health at Durham 
County Council to review and refresh the current County Durham’s 
Children and Young People’s Mental Health Emotional Wellbeing and 
Resilience Transformation Plan 2018-2020. Going forward there will be 
a strong focus on suicide prevention as well as on understanding the 
prevalence and needs of young people who have used, or are at risk of 
using, self-harm in County Durham with the aim of achieving a 
consistent and robust ‘whole system’ response for both the young 
people identified and those who support them.  Work building resilience 
in all CYPs, including vulnerable groups such as those with SEND and 
in the youth justice system will be trauma informed. Similar to previous 
years, a wider consultation, including this year with the Children, Young 
People and Parents’ Advisory Board will be planned after a draft plan is 
produced.  

27 Another recent development is the County Durham and Tees Valley 
Mental Health and Learning Disability Partnership (referred to as ‘The 

Page 232



Partnership’) which aim to support the current alternatives to mental 
crisis for children and young people, while also aiming to develop needs 
led services for the future. The work is funded at £300,000 per year with 
part year effect in Year 1. The group will have strategic oversight of the 
work and finances and aims to oversee the development of a 
coordinated non-clinical community-based model and children and 
young people’s offer to support alternatives to crisis. 

28 A significant area of work going forward is the CAMHs whole system 
review to consider how the partnership will work together to shift the 
spend upstream and invest in effective and efficient services for when 
young people need more intensive support. This work aims to build 
better understanding, relationships and integration across health, social 
care, education and beyond to improve outcomes for all children and 
young people and their families. 

29 The local campaign Stamp It Out continues to prioritise primary school 
aged children as part of the prevention and early intervention agenda to 
get CYPs having conversations about mental health at an earlier age. 

30 Integrated commission is leading on an outcomes-based model which 
supports increased investment in community services resulting in a 
better coordination of finance and activity.  

Authors 

Dr. Balsam Ahmad   Tel:  03000 267560      

Steven Bramwell             Tel:  07824319226 

 

  

Page 233



Appendix 1:  Implications 

Legal Implications: 

This plan complies with the Council’s legal obligations under the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012, giving Local Authorities responsibility for improving the 
health of their local populations.  

Finance 

Sets strategic context within which financial plans are set.  

Consultation 

Engagement across all relevant stakeholders has taken place  

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty 

The report pays particular attention to needs of vulnerable groups, including 
groups protected under equalities legislation Text. 

Climate Change 

Not applicable at this point  

Human Rights 

In placing an emphasis on engaging with children and young people and their 
families in shaping support services, the strategy promotes and protects the 
human rights of those in receipt of services and support.  

Crime and Disorder 

Not applicable at this point.  

Staffing 

The report includes plans to strengthening staff development and support  

Accommodation 

Not applicable at this point. 

Risk 

These relate to reputational risks should a strong strategic framework for 
improving children and young people’s services in the County not be clearly 
articulated.  

Procurement 

Not applicable at this point. 

  

Page 234



Appendix 2:  Children and Young People Mental Health LTP 
Assurance report 2019/20 update 

 

Attached as a separate document 

 

  

Page 235



Appendix 3:  The Thrive Framework  

 

The THRIVE Framework provides a set of principles for creating coherent and resource-
efficient communities of mental health and wellbeing support for children, young people 
and families. It aims to talk about mental health and mental health support in a common 
language that everyone understands.  
The Framework is needs-led. This means that mental health needs are defined by 
children, young people and families alongside professionals through shared decision 
making. Needs are not based on severity, diagnosis or health care pathways.  
The THRIVE framework is for:  

• all children and young people aged 0–25 within a specified locality  

• all families and carers of children and young people aged 0–25 within a 
specified locality  

• any professionals who seek to promote mental health awareness and help 
children and young people with mental health and wellbeing needs or those 
at risk of mental health difficulties (whether staff in educational settings, 
social care, voluntary or health sectors or others).  

 
- Taken from The Anna Freud Centre for Mental Health  

 

 

Page 236



Appendix 4:  Plan on a page-County Durham’s Children and 
Young People’s Mental Health Emotional Wellbeing and 
Resilience Transformation Plan 2018-2020 

 

Attached as a separate document 

Page 237



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2019/20 Update 

Dr Stewart Findlay 

 

Councillor Lucy Hovvels 

Durham County Council 
Chief Officer 

Page 239



2 
 

Contents Page  

 

Heading Page Number 

Foreword 4 

1) Introduction 8 

2) How this LTP was created 9 

3) The County Durham 2019 update 10 

4) Advisory Board 50 

5) World Mental Health Day 2019 52 

6) Beyond 2020 and Whole Pathway 
Commissioning 

54 

7) Policy Context 59 

8) The Local Vision 62 

9) Profile of Need (Data) 64 

10)  Finance 69 

11)  Final 70 

Apex 1 71 

Apex 2 75 

Apex 3 76 

Apex 4 83 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 240



3 
 

 

This document is a reflection of work and dedication to improving outcomes for children and 
young people’s mental health and that of their families and communities in which they live. 
 
This document is written with thanks to all of the children, young people, parents and carers 
who have engaged with the local transformation plan for County Durham. Also to the 
organisations, groups and wide range of professionals who have engaged with the local 
transformation plan for County Durham.  
 
Thank you for your continued support during 2019 and 2020 which ensures long term 
sustained development for children and young people’s mental health across the county. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 241



4 
 

 

Forward 
 
I am delighted to be writing this foreword as co-chair of County Durham’s local 
transformation planning (LTP) group.  This year has been an exceptional year of 
achievement in relation to co-production with our children, young people and families. This 
year we launched the development and implementation of our children, young people and 
parents advisory board. This board is to be equal status to the LTP and aims to ensure all 
we plan, commission, deliver and evaluate is done with the voice of service users front and 
centre. I am very much looking forward to watching the advisory board grow and build on the 
huge success of innovative practice created by the likes of Rollercoaster and the continued 
fantastic work of Investing in Children. 
 
This year in County Durham we have seen the Durham Resilience Programme (DRP) be 
positively evaluated by Brighton University and be a finalist in the LGC awards; we have 
secured almost a million pounds to appoint three mental health support teams as part of the 
national trailblazer programme; we are rolling out the Anna Freud school links programme to 
all schools wishing to participate; we have brought in Kooth for all 11-18 year olds who are 
resident in County Durham; we have completed comprehensive health needs assessments 
of children looked after and care leavers and our children with special educational needs and 
disabilities. These two significant pieces of work have enabled us to have a far better 
understanding of the physical and mental health needs of two of our most vulnerable 
populations.  Recommendations from these pieces of work are already being implemented 
such as the ‘making mental health everybody’s business’ directory being utilised by social 
care staff and schools.  
 
Going forward beyond 2020 the strong partnership working and continued high profile 
priority of children’s mental health means that the objectives of the LTP are fully embedded 
into the County Durham children’s strategy and the joint health and wellbeing strategy.  
 
Workforce development is a key area of work for us to progress within all educational 
settings, social care and primary care to ensure all professionals who work with children and 
families are aware of mental health, how to assess and provide appropriate brief 
interventions and effectively sign post or refer. 
 
The second significant area of work going forward is the CAMHs whole system review to 
consider how we all work to shift the spend upstream to preventing the escalation of need 
and investing in effective and efficient services for when young people need more intensive 
support. 
 
There is a lot to celebrate in relation to the promotion of good mental health and the early 
intervention programmes available across County Durham and I am confident with the 
children, young people and parents advisory board at the heart of all we do County Durham 
will build on the existing good practice and continue to improve the whole offer. I’d like to 
thank all of the wonderfully passionate and committed stakeholders who form part of the LTP 
and wider children and young people’s delivery. I commend this report to you as a reflection 
of the commitment we have here in County Durham. 
  
Gill O’Neill 
Deputy Director of Public Health 
 

 

Page 242



5 
 

 

I was delighted to be asked to be part of the group who were to develop the County Durham 
Local Transformation Plan as I have a keen interest in mental health for children and young 
people. I have worked in education for over 30 years and during that time have seen a major 
shift in the perception of mental health, from something that was ignored or that people felt 
ashamed of towards a more open approach where there is proper understanding and 
support available for those in need. Of course, there is still much work to be done but with an 
estimated 20% of young people reported to have mental health problems at some time, this 
is a key area that all schools need to address.  
 
The vision of the LTP is to improve mental health services for children and young people, 
making these services more accessible to children and their families by engaging with the 
very people it wanted to support. This was to ensure that their voices were heard and that 
support structures developed were fit for purpose. To achieve this, the group has worked 
together to identify strengths and areas for development to ensure the best outcomes for 
children and young people in Durham. As a result of this, there is much more consultation 
with young people through a range of activities, including workshops, discussion sessions 
and questionnaires. These are all set out to encourage those involved, whatever their age, to 
give honest feedback about how things are for them and what they think could be improved. 
The LTP has gathered this feedback, together with feedback from families, to help shape its 
plans for the future.  
 
Another important outcome is the added focus on mental health in schools and the growing 
support for schools. This includes the introduction of the Resilience Nurses, the Durham 
Resilience Project and development of the Durham Emotional Wellbeing Toolkit which is 
currently being trialled. This last initiative is a way for schools to review and assess their 
progress in this area and develop their own action plan while sharing good practice with 
others. 
 
Looking ahead, we still face challenges regarding resources, with tight budgets and waiting 
times still an issue in some areas. However, there is much to celebrate. We have come a 
long way over the last 5 years with mental health becoming less of a stigma than it has been 
in the past. Attitudes are changing, there is more openness and support is becoming more 
widely available and easier to obtain. My hope is that with the continued work of the LTP, our 
children and young people in Durham can be supported to achieve a happier future. 
 
Dr. Sandra Whitton 
Headteacher and LTP Member 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 243



6 
 

I am passionate about young people having 

access to timely and appropriate mental health 

services.  It is important that services in the 

future are developed with parent, carers and 

young people involved from the onset I think the 

potential of the advisory board will begin to 

develop these services leading to an inclusive 

and participatory environment for children 

young people and families. 

Parent Advisory Member 

 

 

 
 
I feel really proud to be writing an introduction to the County Durham LTP as parent co-chair.  
My journey of involvement with the LTP started when my daughter was mentally unwell and I 
didn’t know what an LTP was.  I attended meetings and fed in the voices of parents and 
carers from Rollercoaster voluntary support group I coordinated.  Fast forward 5 years, my 
daughter has recovered, I’m a parent co-chair of the LTP and involved with a range of Local, 
Regional and National developments around mental health to help other families on their 
journey.  Participation and involvement changes lives and I’m delighted to say County 
Durham LTP has this at the heart of its work.  
 
We have made some fantastic progress in this area, providing various opportunities to 
enable people to go from needing support to supporting others.  This year will see peer 
support workers emerge as part of the Mental Health in Schools Trailblazer.  Rollercoaster is 
now a commissioned service embedded in core funding and we have launched County 
Durham Children, Young People and Family Mental Health Advisory Committee.  As we 
move forward on this journey we have a responsibility to ensure the work of the LTP is not 
just about consulting and incorporating the voices of families, it’s about taking action and 
being accountable to the children, young people and families it serves.  The Advisory 
Committee will play a significant role in helping us achieve this. Both of these initiatives have 
long term investment and put people with lived experience at the centre, recognising their 
value in delivering services and becoming an integral part of the workforce. 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Throughout this document you will read about some of the fantastic achievements as well as 
challenges we face as an LTP.  We are on a continuous journey, learning to work together in 
a complex system that aims to do the best we can for children and young people’s mental 
health.  The vision is to truly co-produce every aspect of this system to ensure every family 
gets the support they need at a time that is right for them. I am filled with hope and 
excitement for the future. With a working ethos that is family needs led and professionally 
supported, I believe our LTP is moving forward in the right direction. 
 
Wendy Minhinnett 
Co-Chair County Durham LTP 

 

I don't want another young person to have the 

same difficulties as me and would like more 

understanding and services that are shaped 

with us at the centre. This would help us to be 

happier in the school environment and 

community. 

Young Person (age 13) Advisory Member  

 

Page 244



7 
 

 
 
 

A Young Persons Blog 
 
Mental Health - Outside I am smiling. I'm laughing. I'm "happy". Inside I'm screaming. Battling my 
own head. Searching for a way out. Mental Health is ugly. It's scary coz outside a person can look 
happy even when they are not. I've been struggling with my mental health for as long as I can 
remember. I deal with depression, anxiety, ptsd and self harm on a daily basis. I've been in hospital 
for the last 3 months, discharged and now I'm back after only 2 weeks. 
 
I was doing well. A year without self harm. And then I spiralled. It started small, just punching walls. 
And then I started self harming again. A&E 4 times a week. Then I tried to end my life. 3 times in 10 
days. I went to hospital. I struggled. I was head banging on a daily basis. Tying ligatures. Not eating. 
Not sleeping. Disengaging from everyone. Isolating myself. Ignoring my friends and family. Refusing 
therapy sessions. I didn't want to be there. I didn't even want to be alive. Then I started doing well.  
 
Therapy was helping.  
 
I was allowed time at home. And then I got my discharge date!! I went on home leave overnight. It 
didn't go well but just a small blip. Then I got discharged!! I was going home for good!! But that night 
I was in a&e, stupid me. I had lots of incidents that week and had a breakdown. And now I'm in 
hospital again. An adult ward this time. It's intense. It's scary. I didn't sleep last night coz of the noise 
and I have someone watching me at all times. It's weird. Mental Health. People think it's a trend. 
They self diagnose and post their "disorders" in their Instagram bios. But it's not a trend. Mental 
Health is very real. And its ugly. Its not being able to get out of bed or brush your teeth or get 
washed coz it's just too much. It's not talking to anyone or going out. It's feeling worthless, like 
there's no point. But it's also being the early riser. The loudest person in the room. one who's always 
smiling and laughing. And that's the thing about mental health.  
 
It's invisible.  
 
You don't look sick so people tell you to just get on with it and stop making excuses. They see it all 
as attention seeking. I wasn't sure about posting this coz I can imagine the things that people might 
say. But it needs to be talked about. When I was first struggling I was alone. I was scared to tell 
anyone coz of the stigma around mental illness and self harm. As cliché as it might sound, I suffered 
in silence for years. But I won't anymore. It's nearly 2020. It's about time mental health was spoken 
about as cancer or diabetes. And that's why I am sharing my story, coz it's okay to talk about mental 
health!!. Please, if you ever need to talk about your mental health. Call someone. Or message me. 
I'm always here for anyone. I don't care who you are or what I have going on Again, I'm not posting 
this for attention. I'm doing it coz there needs to be more awareness and I want people to 
understand my story as some people seem to think I'm using my mental health as an excuse but 
that's the last thing I wanna do. I'm just not well. 
 
#EndTheStigma 
 

Page 245



8 
 

Children and Young People’s 
Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience 

County Durham Transformation Plan 

 
1) Introduction 

 
This document is the 2019 refresh of the Children and Young People’s Mental 
Health and Wellbeing Plan for County Durham.  It has been written and 
published to enable the public, partners and stakeholders to see the progress 
being made against the local five year plan first launched in 2015; this year 
representing the final year of the plan.  This refreshed plan sets out progress that 
has been achieved to date, and the longer term priorities beyond 2020.   

 
This document should be read alongside the Five Year Forward View for Mental 
Health1 and its Implementation Plan, as well as the NHS Long Term Plan2 which 
had been launched more recently.  This document will also form an element of 
the Integrated Care Partnership and System for the North East and Cumbria3 
and link our local plans into regional work. 

 
This plan will be published on CCG, Local Authority and partner websites.  The 
Clinical Commissioning Group and Investing in Children are working with 
children and young people and a range of partners to create a series of short 
animations that explain the LTP. Links to these animations can be found through 
this document and support an “easy read” document. 
 
The plan sets out a shared vision to continue to improve mental health services 
for children and young people with representation from health, local authority, 
voluntary sector with children and young people and their families leading the 
direction of the plan. Strong governance is crucial to this plan and within this 
document you can see how this plan and group are governed and held to 
account. 
 

 The aim of the plan is to make it easier for children, young people, parents and 
carers to access help and support when needed and to improve mental health 
services for children and young people. The plan also promotes positive 
messages regarding mental health in order to challenge stigma and 
discrimination while also increasing public awareness. The plan will result in: 

 

 An improvement in the emotional wellbeing and mental health of all children 
and young people; 

 An embedded multi-agency approach to working in partnership, promoting 
the mental health of all children and young people, providing early 
intervention and also meeting the needs of children and young people with 
established or complex problems; 

 All children, young people and their families will have access to mental 
health care based upon the best available evidence and provided by staff 

                                                           
1
 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf 

2
 https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/ 

3
 https://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/integrated-care-systems/ 

Page 246



9 
 

My name is Annette and I have a 20 year old son who has had 

mental health issues for a number of years. I have attended a 

LTP committee meeting where I was able to talk about my 

experiences. I have also given a presentation to a recent 

seminar about integration. Being involved in these events helps 

me to feel that I can make things better for others going 

through what our family have gone through. I hope that my 

small contribution can help to improve the mental health 

provision for our young people. 

 

 

with an appropriate range of skills and competencies; 

 Better outcomes for children and young people with special education need 
and disabilities (SEND) –improving support within the community. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Through this document a range of links will take you to further reading, 
information and facts. We have also made a range of animations voiced by 
County Durham children and young people and professionals. The first 
explains the LTP. 
https://ga.vyond.com/videos/0EX9ZUeXeUIE?utm_source=linkshare&utm_me
dium=linkshare&utm_campaign=usercontent  

 
 

2) How this LTP was created 
 
This Local Transformation Plan (LTP) was developed and co-produced 
collaboratively with local stakeholders including children and young people and it 
outlines the need to transform care and support for mental health. Our continued 
aim is to build 
infrastructure to ensure 
children and young 
people have resilience 
and are able to thrive to 
markedly improve their 
lives. This will happen 
alongside the 
development of a system 
of prevention to ensure 
young people get the 
right support when and 
where they need this. 

 
Over this last year work 
has focused on 
realigning resources to areas of need, to improve and enhance early 
intervention, prevention and specialist mental health services, very much 
continuing what we have started and will continue this, ensuring that the system 
has both the capacity and capability to meet the needs of our current and future 

Page 247

https://ga.vyond.com/videos/0EX9ZUeXeUIE?utm_source=linkshare&utm_medium=linkshare&utm_campaign=usercontent
https://ga.vyond.com/videos/0EX9ZUeXeUIE?utm_source=linkshare&utm_medium=linkshare&utm_campaign=usercontent


10 
 

I’m Louise & I have a 16 year old son with a diagnosis of 

Asperger’s & mental health problems including depression & 

anxiety.  I’ve thoroughly enjoyed been involved in the LTP I’ve 

been on interview panels with CAMHS several times, I’ve also 

been involved in interviews & training at Northumbria Uni for 

the EMHP. I’m passionate about raising awareness & talking 

about young people’s mental health & anything I can do to 

help I will. Been involved has also helped me because I lost 

‘me’ somewhere on this difficult journey. I had to give up work 

as my son wasn’t accessing school due to his Mental Health, 

so for me personally it’s been great it’s boosted my confidence 

& I’ve met some really great people. I look forward to more 

involvement in the future. 

provision for our young people. 

 

 

population is a core aim and responding to new challenges by using new tools to 
continue to drive the LTP forward. 

 
While the Future In 
Mind set 5years for 
local transformation 
plans we give full 
assurance that the LTP 
is here to stay. 
Collaborative working 
across the system with 
children, young people 
and families at the 
centre of all we do is the 
right way to drive this 
work forward and 
support us in always 
striving to do better.  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

3) The County Durham 2019 update 
 
This year we want to ensure our County Durham update is at the start of our LTP 
assurance document (this document) to celebrate and share what we are doing 
right at the front. However, it’s important to remember The Thrive Model4 for 
which underpins all our work. 

 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
4
 https://www.annafreud.org/media/9254/thrive-framework-for-system-change-2019.pdf  

Page 248

https://www.annafreud.org/media/9254/thrive-framework-for-system-change-2019.pdf


11 
 

 
 

 

The THRIVE Framework provides a set of principles for creating coherent 
and resource-efficient communities of mental health and wellbeing support 

for children, young people and families. 
 

It aims to talk about mental health and mental health support in a common 
language that everyone understands. 

 
The Framework is needs-led. This means that mental health needs are 
defined by children, young people and families alongside professionals 

through shared decision making. Needs are not based on severity, 
diagnosis or health care pathways. 

 
The THRIVE framework is for: 

 all children and young people aged 0–25 within a specified locality 

 all families and carers of children and young people aged 0–25 within a 
specified locality 

 any professionals who seek to promote mental health awareness and help 
children and young people with mental health and wellbeing needs or 
those at risk of mental health difficulties (whether staff in educational 

settings, social care, voluntary or health sectors or others). 
 

- Taken from The Anna Freud Centre for Mental Health 

 

Page 249



12 
 

When “I” is replaced by “We”  

 Even “Illness” becomes “Wellness” 

- Malcolm X 

 

 
  

Rollercoaster Parent Support 
 

Rollercoaster Parent Support Project supports parents and carers of children and 
young people experiencing emotional or mental health difficulties. Rollercoaster is in 
its 5th year of operation in County Durham and is now embedded into core CCG 
budget; this gives the project financial stability. The project has been co-produced 
with parents and professionals from the very beginning and has developed a model 
of working that is being shared across the Country via partnership work with the 
Charlie Waller Memorial Trust and NHS England. This has enabled parents and 
carers from County Durham to get involved with a range of opportunities locally, 
regionally and nationally. This means a model, developed in County Durham, is held 
as a national exemplar of good practice. 
 
Next Steps for Rollercoaster: 
 

 Formal evaluation to evidence impact; 

 Develop parent peer support training and scope parent integration into the CYP 
MHS workforce; 

 Development of a 12 month action plan detailing the fundamental approach to 
moving to a business and/or charitable model in the future. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 250



13 
 

 
 
 

Page 251



14 
 

Stamp It Out and County Durham Time To Change Hub – Challenging Stigma 
and Discrimination 
 
The County Durham mental health anti-stigma and discrimination campaign Stamp It 
Out continues to develop reaching new audiences and challenging and changing 
public perceptions of mental health. 

 
Within 2018/19 the work of the Stamp It Out group recorded over 1000 different 
examples of social contact which is where a person with lived experience engages a 
conversation with someone else relating to mental health stigma and discrimination. 

 
In December 2018 Stamp It Out became a Charitable Incorporated Organisation 
which was the first step of becoming a sustainable social movement within County 
Durham. 

 
The work of Stamp It Out has been acknowledged nationally through Time To 
Change as an example of good practice. Champions with lived experience have 
developed a Social Contact toolkit which is being rolled out in partnership with 
employers, education providers and community groups.  The toolkit includes 
quizzes, art resources, films of individuals with lived experience and games to name 
a few. 

 
In March 2019 County Durham 
became a Time To Change Funded 
Hub with funding running through until 
August 2020. Investing in Children 
have been tasked with coordinating the 
Hub following the successful funding 
application submitted with the support 
of the Mental Health Partnership 
Board. The key elements to this funding includes access to free training from Time 
To Change for Champions and Employers to challenge stigma and discrimination.  In 
addition to this training Champions with lived experience can apply for small grants 
through a £10k pot called the Champions Fund hosted by Investing in Children. 
Champions can apply for small grants of up to £500 to develop and deliver their own 
anti-stigma activities and events. This fund will also be used to enable the Hub to 
engage with some of the more marginalised and vulnerable communities in County 
Durham.  
 
The key to building on the success and sustainability of Stamp It Out and the County 
Durham Time To Change Hub will be continuation funding. Stamp It Out Trustees 
and Investing in Children have been working alongside Public Health and the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups to identify funding within existing workstreams as well as 
identifying small grants. 

  
There is a big focus on employers within County Durham signing up to the Time To 
Change Employers Pledge to make the workplace a more supportive, accepting and 
stigma free environment; this will be a future work area. 

 
Although Time To Change does not work with primary aged children, the local 

Page 252

https://www.bing.com/images/search?view=detailV2&ccid=PMLFuGfp&id=DC0B3C2AA7865DB8A34192E4DC09FE69F1E16600&thid=OIP.PMLFuGfpqoCg0UsYUF_HYAHaDM&mediaurl=https://www.candi.nhs.uk/sites/default/files/Images/TTC_Preferred.jpg&exph=1176&expw=2728&q=time+to+change&simid=608006216945696820&selectedIndex=0


15 
 

campaign Stamp It Out will continue to prioritise this age group as part of the 
prevention and early intervention agenda to get children and young people having 
conversations about mental health at an earlier age. 

 
Although there is no expectation for the County Durham Hub to measure the 
success other than recording the number of social contact opportunities, Investing in 
Children and Stamp It Out have been working with Time To Change and Public 
Health to develop a public perceptions survey to identify if public attitudes towards 
mental health have changed based on the work which is being carried out to 
challenge mental health stigma and discrimination. The survey was launched on 
World Mental Health Day and will close on the 14th February 2020. 

 
Finally to add that this is an exciting time for this area of work with the profile of 
mental health stigma and discrimination being raised thanks to the support of Time 
To Change. This has also complimented the development of the Resilient 
Communities Group and the investment from Public Health in mental health training 
which is being rolled out across the County. 

 
Young Adults Support Café – Emotional Wellbeing Peer Support and 
supporting the transition from Children’s to Adult’s Services.  

 
Investing in Children coordinates a weekly YASC Group which is an emotional 
wellbeing Peer Support Project for children and young people aged 16-21 which 
supports young people to transition from Children’s to Adults Services. 

 
For three years the project has relied on a series of small grants to stay open. Due to 
the success of the project in March 2019, Investing in Children were successful in 
applying for 3 years funding through the National Lotteries Community Fund to 
support funding to 2022. In addition to the continuation of the Durham YASC in 
partnership with Waddington Street Centre in Durham a second YASC has been 
launched in June this year in Newton Aycliffe in partnership with PCP.  
 

In the past year the project has supported 5 young people to progress within further 
education and access University. For some of these young people this was an 
aspiration but due to mental ill health at times was not clear when this would happen. 
Due to the ongoing peer support accessed within the YASC Group these young 
people have been able to develop their resilience and increase their confidence and 
achieving their goals. 
 
The project has also been able to support young people to access volunteering 
opportunities and paid employment through linking in with local partners including 
DurhamWorks, Waddington Street Centre and the NHS.   
 

In addition to the peer support offered through the YASC project, Investing in 
Children have been able to develop the Peer Mentoring Programme enabling 
children and young people to have the capacity to support their peers in school. This 
programme is now ASDAN accredited and covers key elements including 
safeguarding, confidentiality and developing positive communication techniques. 
Match funding has been sourced for the Peer Mentoring Programme through Area 
Action Partnerships.  

Page 253



16 
 

 
The young people within the YASC Groups have been able to continually inform 
decision makers with the LTP Group through ongoing engagement. An example of 
this includes contributing to discussions leading up to the Green Paper Consultation 
and the Trailblazer funding application. 
 

One of the key future focuses for the project is to use a digital tool to track the 
progress of individual young people and to follow their journey when moving on from 
YASC. Working with the young people to develop the monitoring tool Investing in 
Children will roll this out within the YASC groups and this can then be developed 
within other areas of work within Investing in Children. 
 
Through the new partnership with PCP, we will look to continue to develop 
opportunities to support young adults who are NEET into education, employment or 
training. 
 
Humankind 
 
Humankind have delivered LGBT+ support 
services, commissioned by Durham County 
Council for 8 years.  
 
The LGBT+ Services provide support to 
young people aged 15 to 25 through a 
range of projects. LGBT+ (Lesbian, Gay 
Bisexual or Transgender or other related 
identities) specialist support includes one to 
one interventions, workshops, peer support 
and family work.  
 
We also are a delivery partner for the 
Rainbow Flag Award; a quality assured framework for schools to ensure that they 
are providing inclusive and positive environments for LGBT+ Students and their staff. 
This area is not commissioned by DCC.  
 
Our LGBT+ Services also deliver training to professionals working in the fields of 

health and social care; as well as 
mental health and wellbeing services.     
The service utilises a structured 
assessment and intervention process 
to facilitate timely and targeted 
interventions and support. The 
service offers as standard the young 
people 6 appointments if they 
require one to one support, this will 
be coupled with peer group support, 
activities and family support. These 
support packages are intended to 
improve the young person’s 

confidence and support them through what can often be a very challenging time. The 

I like the fact that I could take part 

comfortably with no judgement and 

with people who felt the same as me 

Young Person 

Page 254



17 
 

It has been wonderful to be part of the Rainbow Flag Award. 

The Rainbow Flag ambassador project has been extremely 

successful and as a result our children feel that they have the 

knowledge and the confidence to tackle any HBT bullying or 

prejudice that they might see. The support that we have 

received as part of this project has been fantastic. This project 

is helping to ensure that the next generation are well 

informed, tolerant and respectful. – Miss Smith West 

Cornforth Primary School 

 

service provides both emotional and practical support including access to legal 
assistance for name changes, navigation through medical transitions, increasing 
worker awareness, etc. Once young people have completed the appointment 
process a case review will occur with the project leader to identify any ongoing 
support requirements; if it is identified one to one support has achieved all outcomes 
the young person will may continue to be part of the service and through access to 
the peer support groups and activities with any ongoing support occurring in these 
arenas. Should the case review identify additional targeted one to one support 
requirements this will be agreed with the project leader and a new support plan 
written in conjunction with the young person receiving support and any wider 
agencies involved where required.  Additional support requirements may be linked to 
a young person being a child in need, at risk of sexual exploitation, significant self-
harm, suicide intention or risky sexual behaviour.       

 
The service utilises established links for onward specialist referral such as housing 
support, substance misuse, etc. however it works in a collaborative manner to 
achieve positive outcomes for young people as much as possible.  
 
Service users requiring counselling provision are either directed to statutory services 
if required or online counselling via the KOOTH online counselling service.  This 
ensures young people are receiving the most appropriate support for their presenting 
needs.  Self-care strategies and age appropriate resources are also encouraged 
within one to one sessions and group work; with all staff trained in this area through 
internal systemic family therapy training.  

Humankind are also 
part 
of a 

national consortium 
previously funded by 
the Government 
Equalities Office via 
the Department of 
Education to deliver 
the Rainbow Flag 

Award www.rainbowflagaward.co.uk  for primary and secondary schools across the 
North East to encourage the tackling of homophobic, bi-phobic and transphobic 
bullying whilst promoting an inclusive welcoming environment. This enriches the 
current service offer by enhancing school infrastructure appropriate to their specific 
needs and encourages appropriate referrals into the service.  Many schools in 
County Durham have accessed this training and have been successful for the award.  

 
The LGBT+ service actively encourage service user, carer and public engagement 
across a range of forums, events and inclusive of vulnerable groups such as the 
fulfilling lives event.  The service delivers drop in sessions within education 
provisions to improve engagement and visibility including attending fresher’s fairs.  

Page 255

http://www.rainbowflagaward.co.uk/


18 
 

At the point of engagement service users are provided with a handbook containing 
service contact details and other relevant support/ helplines. The service also holds 
Investing in Children status which reflects this positive engagement and participation.  

 
The service also attend relevant network and development meetings with partner 
organisations to both promote the service and highlight emerging needs of service 
users, examples include the Better Together Forum, Durham Pride Steering Group 
and other relevant multi-agency meetings.  
 
The service has reviewed available resources and developed new materials where 
required however due to our positive national links we are also able to access 
existing tested resources such as that created by the Proud Trust discussed below:  
 
They have recently used this fantastic resource for LGBT+ young people who are 
sexually thinking about or active developed by one of our partners The Proud Trust. 
In order to prevent risky sexual health this resources is a must for all young people. 

 

For many years, young people that we 
work with have been telling us that their 
needs are not being met through the 
sexual health education that they have 
received through mainstream 
education. 
 
Lesbian, gay and bisexual young 
people tell us they feel excluded for 
sexual health education, due to a 
heavy focus on pregnancy and 
contraception. 
 
Trans young people tell us they feel 

disempowered to engage in sexual health education programmes, due to incorrect 
assumptions being made about them and their body parts, by the subject facilitator. 
 
When explored the often banded about phrase "gay sex", it was soon concluded that 
there is actually, no such thing. So what has become apparent, is that a sexual 
health toolkit specifically for LGBT+ young people is not what is needed. Rather, a 
toolkit that enables a broader set of conversations with all young people is what is 
required. It is this realisation that led to the development of The Proud Trusts 
Sexuality aGender - An Inclusive Sexual Health Toolkit. The service has found 
this toolkit reflective of the specific needs of our service users and has been well 
received.  
 
The service is now widely recognised as being a specialist in the arena of LGBT+ 
which has resulted in Humankind being approached by many services across the 
County Durham area. The service is embedded in the children and young people’s 
services as well as working with other funded projects such as the fantastic Roller 
coaster project and investing in children.    

Page 256



19 
 

 

 

  

 

 
 
 
 

Durham County Council One Point Service 
 

The aim of the One Point Service is to identify and provide timely and effective early 
help for children, young people and families, which prevent difficulties escalating and 
leads to better outcomes, which are sustained. 
 
 One Point Service supports 
children, young people and 
families to improve their mental 
and emotional health and is an 
integral part of the ‘Early Help 
Offer. This includes Wellbeing 
for Life Workers supporting 
children aged 5-13 and their 
families to improve their 
wellbeing through resilience 
building programmes and 
support to children and families 
with needs related to emotional 
health, wellbeing and resilience.   
 
The Wellbeing for Life (WbfL) workers have been in place since 2016. The role 
focusses on adopting a ‘think family’ approach ensuring the needs of both the adult 
and children within the family context are understood and supported so that the 
whole family can achieve good outcomes. The Single Assessment Framework is 
used to identify families in addition to parental self-referrals.  
 
There are 10 Wellbeing for Life Workers aligned to the Family Centres across the 7 
One Point localities in County Durham. They are responsible for delivering the 
Strengthening Families Parenting Programme which is seven week evidence based 
whole family programme designed to increase resilience and reduce risk factors for 
behavioural, emotional, academic and social problems for young people aged 
between 10-14 years. Young people and parents attend together. In addition to this 
One Point can support families in accessing Booster Sessions (follow-up from 
Strengthening Families), use ‘Relax Kids’ techniques and support using ‘Mind Ed’ 
tools. One Point also contributes to the delivery of YAM and supports secondary 
school aged young people through the Team Around the School this is a Programme 
in collaboration with mainstream secondary education schools in County Durham to 
provide early help to young people within school who, because of their needs or 

The service was useful, I was able to talk to other people in the LGBT+ 

community and has already made me a lot happier and comfortable 

in my own skin 

Young Person 

Page 257



20 
 

circumstances, require extra support to be healthy, safe and achieve their potential 
by accessing the educational opportunities available to them. This support includes a 
range of group-based activities and short time limited one to one support addressing 
school attendance, Emotional wellbeing, self-esteem and confidence, risky taking 
behaviours and challenging behaviours. 

 
There is also the Team around the Community: Team this involves small teams of 
part time sessional youth workers who are deployed to work flexibly across the 
county during the evenings to provide detached outreach support to young people. 
The workers target locations where there are reports of antisocial behaviours or risk-
taking behaviours reported through multi agency problem solving groups and 
provides on the street advice. 
 
All Wellbeing for Life Workers (WbfL) have been trained in the delivery of the 
Strengthening Families Programme. All WbfL Workers have achieved Level 3 City 
and Guilds Health Trainer Qualifications and have accessed CAMHS training to 
support their work around resilience of young people and their families. One Point 
WbfL workers have links with broader Wellbeing for Life Services and the Adult WbfL 
Resilience Course is promoted as is the support available from Resilience Nurses, 
FISCH Team, Change Grow Live, Rollercoaster Support Group (CAMHS).  
 
The WbfL Workers routinely engage Adult Wellbeing for Life   Workers to attend the 
final session of Strengthening Families Programme to help engage families with 
ongoing health advice and support. The WbfL workers also refer into the service if 
there is a health need identified as part of the family assessment.  
 
Outcomes are measured using a range of evaluation tools such as the Strengths and 
Difficulties tool for adults and young people; the Adolescent Wellbeing Scale; the 
Warwick Edinburgh Mental Wellbeing scale for adults, school attendance data and in 
addition information from Team Around the Family and School are used to 
understand the wider impact on the young person such as impact on behaviour in 
school. The percentage of children and families satisfaction with the service and 
delivery of the Strengthening Families Programme is rated good or above at 98%.  
  
Between the reporting period April 2018-March 2019 the following headline 
outcomes were achieved: 
 

 25 Strengthening Families Programmes were delivered across the county 
between 2018-2019;  

 213 participants completed, 108 parent/carers completed a Strengthening 
Families Programme;105 young people completed a Strengthening Families 
Programme; 

 83% of young people demonstrated a reduction in their total difficulties with 
emotions and behaviours at the end of the Strengthening Families 
Programme (Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire); 

 88% of parents demonstrated a reduction in their perception of their child’s 
total difficulties with emotions and behaviours at the end of the Strengthening 
Families Programme (Parents Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire); 

 89% of young people demonstrated a positive increase in their wellbeing 
score at the end of the Strengthening Families Programme (Adolescent 

Page 258



21 
 

Wellbeing Scale); 

 86% of parents demonstrated a positive increase in their wellbeing score at 
the end of the Strengthening Families Programme (Warwick Edinburgh 
Mental Wellbeing Scale); 

 A further 10 programmes have been delivered between April and June 2019 
with 93 participants completing the programme. 
 

Further date regarding training is discussed further in this document within the 
workforce section 

 
 

In addition to the 
delivery of the 

Strengthening 
Families Programme 
the WbfL Workers 
have where 

appropriate 
undertaken case 
work where the 
presenting child (5-
13years) presents 
with emotional 
wellbeing or 

behavioural 
concerns, involving 
whole family 

assessment and development and implementation of family plan.  They have also 
supported the development and implementation of group-based activities for young 
people aged 6-16 years presenting with a range of emotional wellbeing issues such 
as mild anxiety, low mood, self-harming behaviours, low self-esteem and confidence, 
delivered in the Family Centres. Localities deliver these groups all year round and 
other localities have delivered during the summer holidays. This is determined by 
need within the locality and assessments undertaken within the One Point Service. 
 

These groups include:  
 

 Chill Kids 5-11 years – Emotional Well Being Group; 

 Relax Kids 11 plus years – Emotional Well Being Group; 

 WbfL workers also support the delivery of Triple P and the Staying Cool 
Programme. The Triple P Group Teen programme is for parents with 
children 11 years and above. The Staying Cool programme can be delivered 
to both adults and young people 11 years and above. 

 
This service is a good example of our early help and support. Further information on 
work can be found in our animation at 
https://ga.vyond.com/videos/0FQu8yQmLHlU?utm_source=linkshare&utm_medium=
linkshare&utm_campaign=usercontent 

 
 

Page 259

https://ga.vyond.com/videos/0FQu8yQmLHlU?utm_source=linkshare&utm_medium=linkshare&utm_campaign=usercontent
https://ga.vyond.com/videos/0FQu8yQmLHlU?utm_source=linkshare&utm_medium=linkshare&utm_campaign=usercontent


22 
 

 

DurhamWorks 

 

Durham County Council is the lead body for DurhamWorks, a partnership 
programme with six external Delivery Partners funded through the European Social 
Fund. DurhamWorks supports unemployed 16-24 year old County Durham residents 
to progress into employment, training or education. 30.5% of participants have self-
declared as having SEND or mental health difficulties and are being worked with by 
the team. 

 
DurhamWorks provides flexible and bespoke support.  Each young person uses their 
time on the programme in the way that best meets their needs and barriers to 
progression. Their experiences of the programme are individual to them. Just a few 
examples of what young people have access to include: 

 

 Individual one to one support from specialist guidance staff who offer advice 
and guidance but who also refer and work alongside specialist agencies 
when appropriate.  

 

 Access to instant on-line support for NEET young people requiring Advice, 
Information and Guidance through the DurhamWorks website. Including 
signposting to more specialist services where required. 

 

 Access to confidence building and life skills delivered by the Delivery 
Partners (SHAID, Cornforth Partnership, Groundwork, Foundation of Light 
and Citizens Advice County Durham, Delta North Consett) who are 
specialists in working with vulnerable and disadvantaged groups. 

 

 Access, if they are young parents, to a Parenting Programme delivered by 
DCC staff which supports them to improve their basic skills and confidence 
levels. It also helps them to look at flexible working options, including self-
employment, and move them into sustainable employment or education. 

 

 Work experience, pre-employment training, job and industry experience 
opportunities and jobs opportunities through sector routeway delivery. These 
are provided by DCC staff, delivery partners and subcontractors, all of whom 
who have close links with employers.  

 

 Access to a Barriers Fund (where appropriate), administered by DCC staff, 
to overcome practical barriers to progression, e.g. transport costs, childcare 
and interview clothing. 

 

 Money management support through Citizens Advice County Durham and 
the DCC Progression Team, with additional support from other agencies 
such as Advice in County Durham for example. 

 

Page 260



23 
 

For further examples of the support DurhamWorks offers, including various case 
studies and a pod cast of a young person, Christopher suffering from Paranoid 
schizophrenia to now having a job in which he can be proud of please visit: 
https://durhamworks.info/ 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Through DurhamWorks we have identified gaps in educational provision for young 
people aged 16–24 years with SEND and Mental Health Issues. As a result, new 
programmes have been developed in County Durham to meet these needs. 

 
A high proportion of those Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET) young 
people (in particular aged 16-18 years) have Social, Emotional and Mental Health 
(SEMH) needs which prove to be a barrier to progression. First Point Training, a 
provider who is a specialist in working with young people with significant behavioural 
and mental health difficulties now deliver a programme which includes health and 
wellbeing, confidence building, independent living, community inclusion and 
employment.  

 

Following meetings and feedback from parents of young people with Autism (ASIG 
group) which informed the procurement specification, a subcontract has been 
awarded which provides an 8 week programme leading to employment. The 
programme includes health and safety, job search, communications and a work 
experience placement leading to a job. This is all tailored to the needs of participants 
with Autism and includes 12 weeks of ongoing support for both participant and 
employer once the participant has begun their job. A specialist provider in delivering 

I'd gone to 3 different colleges and dropped out of them all 
and then I found DurhamWorks. I have now completed a 
Level 2 in youth work, first aid and food safety courses. My 
future is much brighter and positive as I've got things I want 
to do now and I have end goals.  

Young Person 

 

Young Person 

Page 261

https://durhamworks.info/


24 
 

programmes to those with Autism; North East Autism Society, is the deliverer and 
the contract began in August 19. 
 
In terms of the impact of the above actions and DurhamWorks support see below for 
clear evidence of improvements in the participation data for young people aged 16-
24 years with SEND (those with an EHCP): 

 
 December 2016 % December 2017 %  December 2018 % 

Education 45.2 52.7 68.5 

Employment  4.1 5.9 3.6 

Training 3.4 7.2 6.5 

Re-engagement 
Activities 

1.1 1.8 0.6 

Total EET 53.8 67.5 79.2 

NEET 16.2 15.1 12.9 

Not Known 29.5 17.0 7.7 

Combined NEET and 
Not Known 

45.7 32.1 20.7 

Source: Durham County Council’s Client Caseload Information System (CCIS) which is used to submit data to 

the Department for Education relating to the Participation in Learning of young people.  Please note the end of 

December snapshot is used annually as it is a more accurate reflection of a settled period of the learning and 

employment status for young people.  

Within DurhamWorks, unemployed young people are registered to work on the 
programme to gain support for their progression. They are asked to self-declare if 
they have any SEN issues, please see below for information regarding the impact of 
this work: 

 

Participant 
Group 

Total 
Number of 
Participants 

Total 
Completed 

% 
Completed 

Total 
progressed 

or with offer % Progressed 

All 7118 3762 52.8 3304 87.8 

SEND 1,858 904 48.6 719 79.5 

Page 262



25 
 

 
Overall for those young people with SEND who have completed their DurhamWorks 
supported intervention, 79.5% have progressed into Education, Employment or 
Training with 56.1% of these progressing to an employment opportunity; 33.8% into 
education or training; 8.2% gaining an accredited qualification on leaving and 1.9% 
receiving an offer to commence shortly. 
 
Further work has focused on the need to develop Supported Internships for young 
people in County Durham. These are a mixed study and extended work placement 
programme for young adults aged 16-24 who have an Education Health Care Plan 
(EHCP). Internships can be accessed through a range of providers including 
schools/sixth forms, FE Colleges (Mainstream and Specialist), adult learning 
provisions as well as some training providers.  
 
A Supported Internship Forum was established in 2018 made up of multi-agency 
partners, representatives of parents and young people and DWP.  A Supported 
Internship Co-ordinator was appointed as a result to raise the profile, increase 
numbers and improve the quality of supported internships across County Durham. 

 
Supported internship provision has seen 42 completers since the concept was 
developed in 2015. In the academic year 2018-2019, 17 young people completed 
their internships across 2 providers. For the academic year 2019-2020, there has 
been an 80% increase in uptake (31 starts) across 6 providers with a SEN Specialist 
School 6th Form taking on 2 supported internships for the first time in the county. 
 
Additional work streams have been continued with a Supported Internship Strategy 
and Action Plan for Durham produced and implemented across the county. Co-
produced work continues with the Oaks School and regular family and YP updates 
gathered to empower families and Young People to influence the structure and 
delivery of the courses in their local area. Outcomes will be shared and delivered 
with an additional SEN School (Hope Wood Academy) for the academic year 2020-
2021 when they take on supported internships for the first time in addition to The 
Oaks.   
 
Further developments are to drive forward change in the broader field of Supported 
Employment; a multi-agency task and finish group with parents and carers has been 
established to develop and agree a Supported Employment Delivery Model for 
County Durham. 
 
Additional post 16 educational provision for young people with Mental Health issues 
and anxiety, in particular those who have difficulty in engaging with services for help 
and support is being sought for 2020 through DurhamWorks.  
 
Progression and Learning have begun working with Investors in Children to co-
produce an employment pathway with young people. It is envisaged that this work 
will develop a way of ensuring young people are fully informed of the opportunities 
and support available to them in County Durham to enable them to fulfil their full 
potential into adulthood. 

 
 

Page 263



26 
 

Youth Aware Mental Health 

YAM is a universal evidence-based mental health promotion program for 14-16 year 
olds. Young people are considered experts of their own mental health and their 
voices and experiences take centre stage. YAM is a culturally sensitive programme 
promoting increased knowledge about mental health through dialogue and role-play. 
Young people learn from each other and are encouraged to practice empathy and 
solidarity. YAM offers a hands-on approach to mental health issues such as stress, 
crisis, depression and suicide.  
 
Developing resilience is a key area for our LTP. Further information on our work on 
this can be found in our animation at: 

https://ga.vyond.com/videos/0e2mcPxtdxdc?utm_source=linkshare&utm_med
um=linkshare&utm_campaign=usercontent 

  
Emotional Wellbeing and Effective Learning Service 
  
This is a multi-disciplinary team within the Durham Educational Psychology Service 
funded through schools, the CCG, PH and the Local Authority. The purpose of the 
service is to:  
 

 Improve the wellbeing, achievement and resilience of socially and emotionally 
vulnerable young people;  

 Develop the capacity of schools to understand and effectively meet the needs 
of vulnerable young people.  
 

A considerable amount of the work undertaken by the service relates to assessment, 
consultation, intervention, training, and school development projects; in relation to 
the area of social, emotional and mental health needs. Significant example of work 
that involves working closely with health colleagues (in particular CAMHS, Schools 
Nurses and Resilience Nurses) include:  

 

 Contribution to assessments carried out through the Attention Difficulties 
Pathway;  

 Delivery of YAM (Youth Aware of Mental Health);  

 Delivery of the Durham Resilience Programme (DRP);  

 Delivery of a core training offer to school based professionals, e.g. around 
areas such as self-harm;  

 Response to complex casework where effective support for the child or young 
person depends in part on adapting the support and environment within the 
school context.  
 

Early Years Sector -The Early Years health and wellbeing framework 

Public health have been working collaboratively with colleagues in the early years 
education department to develop a healthy settings framework for early years 
providers (nurseries and  childminders) using a six step iterative framework. The 
framework has several core components, including emotional health and wellbeing 

Page 264

https://ga.vyond.com/videos/0e2mcPxtdxdc?utm_source=linkshare&utm_medum=linkshare&utm_campaign=usercontent
https://ga.vyond.com/videos/0e2mcPxtdxdc?utm_source=linkshare&utm_medum=linkshare&utm_campaign=usercontent


27 
 

The quality framework provides a standardised, continual improvement process to 
improve the health and wellbeing of children, staff, parents and the community. The 
overarching vision is; “Providing a framework within which routine practice 
flourishes”, improving health and education outcomes across the County. 

The framework provides a suite of evidence based training and resources to address 
the health needs and reduce inequalities, and to embed healthy behaviours in 
children aged 0-5 years and their families. 

The implementation of the framework coincides with the introduction of Ofsted’s new 
education inspection framework which also acknowledges the role of education 
settings in health improvement. 

Ofsted early years framework highlights the importance of; 

 The curriculum and the providers effective care practices promote children’s 
confidence, resilience and independence. Practitioners teach children to take 
appropriate risks and challenges as they play and learn both inside and 
outdoors, particularly supporting them to develop physical and emotional 
health. 

 The inspector will judge the quality of the provision in relation to the impact it 
has on the child’s learning, development and wellbeing. Observations of 
practice enable inspectors to judge the contribution practitioners make to 
children’s learning, progress, safety and wellbeing. 
 

The statutory framework for early years foundation stage (EYFS) highlights seven 
areas of learning and development that must shape educational programmes in early 
years settings5. Two of these areas, namely physical development and personal, 
social, emotional development have been the foundation of the Early Years Health 
and Wellbeing  Framework. These areas are particularly crucial for igniting children’s 
curiosity to learn, form relationships and thrive. 

The Early Years Health and Wellbeing Framework is underpinned by a resilience 
based approach to support children’s social and emotional wellbeing. Providers will 
be asked to pledge to embed the framework into their current practice. Their work to 
implement these quality standards will form part of a continual improvement process 
in the longer term.  

The Early years settings have been supported by the Early Years Education team. 
Some of their achievements to date are: 

Better Start for Babies is a project supported through the Early Years Education 
team as part of the Durham Baby Room Project. The project included workforce 
training to the early years sector and incorporated awareness raising around baby 
states, responding to baby cues and the importance of communicating effectively 
with babies in their care. 

                                                           
5 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2 

 

Page 265

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/early-years-foundation-stage-framework--2


28 
 

“This conference was very inspiring and 
gave me lots of ideas to take back to the 
team. Our children will definitely benefit 
from this new understanding”. 

“Feel very motivated and inspired by 
everyone” 

 
Practitioner Feedback 

 

 

The Pedogogies of Care; Inspiring 
educators, connected practice 
Durham Baby Conference was 
provided across the early years 
sector in 2019 to celebrate the 
second phase of the Durham Baby 
Room Project. This conference was 
delivered to professionals who work 
with babies from birth to two years. It 
provided the opportunity to hear from 
a number of inspirational keynote 
speakers who shared their research. 
Speakers included Professor Robert 
Winston; Professor Emerita Kathy Gooch and Professor Sacha 
Powell. 

The event celebrated the work undertaken by the early years workforce with babies 
and focused on the importance of high quality interactions and the crucial role of the 
reflective early years practitioner. 

The Science of Learning conference 2019 was provided across the early years 
sector to motivate and inspire practitioners experience and knowledge around how 
children learn.   

 
 
Jigsaw Project 
 

Provided by St Cuthbert’s this service offers timely and appropriate bereavement 
support to children and young people from 5 up to 18 years of age. Specialist 
bereavement and post intervention counselling service takes referrals from a number 
of sources, the most common via family/friends, and for various reasons of death 
including suicide, however, bereavement as a result of cancer is the highest cause of 
referral. The service provided counselling for 115 children and young people during 
2018/19. 
 
As well as providing counselling support, the Hospice has continued to run Jigsaw 
days for children and young people, activity days at which children can explore their 
emotions through play and shared activities and know that they are not alone in 
experiencing grief.  The Hospice also facilitates the parents of these children to meet 
whilst the children are undertaking their activities. During the year the Hospice has 
also produced information for children and young people and for schools to 
encourage children to seek and schools to provide bereavement support.  
 
Future steps (including beyond 2020) As part of a wider programme of opening up 
bereavement support, the Hospice will be developing support for schools, employer 
and community groups to stimulate the development of compassionate communities, 
better able to support children and young people who are grieving but do not require 
counselling. During 2020 St Cuthbert’s will also be training a number of Health 
Visitors from the 0-19 service so that they can better support families they are 

Page 266



29 
 

working with directly where appropriate. 
 

Anna Freud – CASCADE training 
 

Following last year’s pilot we continue to work with The Anna Freud Centre for 
Mental Health and roll out the CASACDE training6 which supports schools to reflect 
on their current offer and build on networks to support change. This model achieves; 

 
C larity on roles, remit and responsibilities of all partners involved in supporting CYP 
mental health; 
A greed point of contact and role in schools/colleges and CYP mental health 
services; 
S tructures to support shared planning and collaborative working; 
C ommon approach to outcome measures for young people; 
A bility to continue to learn and draw on best practice; 
D evelopment of integrated working to promote rapid and better access to support; 
E vidence-based approach to intervention. 
 
In October 2019, 80 individuals from schools and services that support mental health 
came together in two cohorts over two days of sessions. Our reflection was while 
numbers were high we had multiple attendance from some 
schools which means that number data needed analysis. 
Further sessions are due to take place (at time of writing) and 
we are working with schools to ensure we get at least 20 
individual schools per future cohort and with many more 
cohorts planned for 2020 we are confident that schools will 
attend this training and give consistency of approach.  

 
Once schools have attended they are invited to attend future 
‘locality forum meetings’ which brings schools together to 
future support better mental health support within schools. 2 
sessions have ran in each locality (North, South and East) 
during 2019 and further sessions will continue to run, however, 
as numbers grow we may need to offer more dates to support 
numbers wanting to attend.   
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                           
6
 https://www.annafreud.org/what-we-do/improving-help/resources/cascade-framework/ 

Page 267



30 
 

Kooth 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Kooth.com is a free online counselling and emotional wellbeing platform which 
became available to young people in Durham from September 2019.  
 
The anonymous access, support and guidance service for 11-18 year olds has seen 
over 300 new registrations across Durham, giving young people an opportunity to 
look at self-help articles and discussion boards (all of which are moderated), as well 
as speaking with a qualified counsellor via live text chat or via the messaging 
service.  

 
From friendship or relationship issues, family disagreements or difficult home lives, 
to concerns around eating, anxiety, stress, depression, self- harm, suicide, the 
service gives young people an opportunity to anonymously share their experiences, 
issues and receive positive messages from other young people across the country. 
 
Kooth.com’s live chat service is available 365 days of the year, from Monday to 
Friday 12 noon-10pm, Saturdays and Sundays 6pm-10pm and is accessible through 
a mobile, tablet and desktop device, completely free of charge.  

 
Young people wanting to access the service in Durham can visit kooth.com and 
follow the steps below to register.  

 
Transforming Care 

 
The transforming care work focusses on children and young people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism.   
 
In 2019, following successful funding bids, County Durham has developed a well-
functioning Dynamic Support Register for children and young people. The Register 
includes, with consent, children who are detained in hospital under the Mental Health 
Act and those who are in hospital voluntarily and also have a Learning Disability 
and/or Autism as well as those who are looked after in the community but are at risk 
of admission to hospital because professionals are concerned that their mental 
health is deteriorating.  Durham have also included children and young people who 
are have complex and enduring mental health issues without a learning disability 
and/or autism.   

 
The Register is discussed monthly by a multi-agency and multi-disciplinary team to 

Page 268



31 
 

I just wanted to send an email to thank you both for the 
transition work/post Autism diagnosis work that was 
completed with G. It was the first time that one of our 
pupils was selected for this pilot and we found it 
incredibly useful. Thank you for all your hard work’  

‘This has been such a valuable service for our school. 
We knew J was struggling but all the things we tried 
didn’t work; we didn’t know the right way to address it. 
We found your suggestions were so helpful and they 
have had a very positive impact. 
 
Schools Feedback 

 

 

ensure that, for those in hospital, discharge planning is well underway and for those 
in the community, appropriate support is in place to reduce the likelihood of 
admission to hospital. 

 
Transforming Care funding has also supported a pilot to support families whose 
children have recently been diagnosed with Autism. 

 
Children and Young People’s Autism Post Formulation 
 

A 12 month pilot commenced January 2019 with a Post Formulation Advisory 
Teacher being 
recruited to bring 
together schools 
and families to work 
in partnership to 
understand the 
needs of the child 
and what 
adjustments would 
be required for the 
child to enable them 
to remain in school. 
 
The pilot builds 
confidence in 
parents during this worrying time ensuring them that they are not alone and they will 
receive the support they need to enable their child’s needs to be met locally and at 
school. 

 
Establishing and embedding the use of a Dynamic Support Register across health 
and the Local Authority, improving the quality of Care, Education and Treatment 
Reviews, aiming to embed sustainable processes that link to Education, Health and 
Care Plans. 

 
A joint Health and Local Authority funded project support officer is now in post to 
lead the development and embedding of a Dynamic Support Register for Children 
and Young People in County Durham. 

 
The aim of the project 

is to improve the 
journey of Children 
and Young People 
with the most 
complex Mental 
Health needs 
ensuring that any in-
patient admissions 
are appropriate and 
no longer than 
necessary. Work is 

Referrals 2019 

Month (2019) Number of 
children/young 
people referred 

closed 

January  9 9 

February 13 13 

March 7 7 

April 14 9 

May 12 5 

June 9  

July 10  

August 5  

September 12  

Page 269



32 
 

also needed to ensure the quality of Care, Education and Treatment Reviews, with 
an aim of embedding a Dynamic Support Register and sustainable processes that 
link to Education, Health and Care Plan. 
 

 
 A Multi-agency Collaborative Care (MACC) meeting has been 
established to anticipate and respond to the needs of children and young people who 
are currently at risk of requiring Tier 4 in-patient admission. 
 
The MACC consists of representation from Social Care, CAMHS, Commissioning, 
Health, Education, 0-19 services, Transitions Team and In-patient services. This 
enables multi-agency discussion around each young person’s support requirements 
in the community to prevent the need for hospital admission where possible. 

 
 

The Dynamic Support Register was originally put in place to look at the support 
requirements of children and young people with learning disabilities and/or autism 
with complex mental health needs however, the cohort of children to be placed on 
the register has been expanded to include all of those children and young people at 
risk of in-patient admission regardless of diagnosis. 

 
45 individuals have attended training, supported by the service this year continuing 
to support the wider workforce. From this we know: 

Type of Work Complete By the Service 

Consultation and reviews all Meeting with parents, young person and staff; 
pre and post questionnaires completed; pupil 
centred planning meetings for support work. 

Mentoring and modelling 3 Setting up work stations, behaviour 
management. 

Workshops 45 Managing behaviour; what is autism; using 
structure; sensory adjustments. 

Parent support 58 Home routines and visuals; managing 
sensory; managing behaviour; understanding 
Autism; managing anxiety. 

Direct intervention 61 Friendships and social skills; emotional 
regulation; positive thinking; transition; what is 
Autism?; social interaction skills. 

Other  15 Speech and language intervention; TAF 
meetings; home visits for school refusers. 

Page 270



33 
 

  
 

The next steps for the project are to ensure clear linkage between actions agreed at 
MACC meetings and Education, Health and Care Plans.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SEND 
 
An action plan regarding special education needs and disabilities has ensured that 
this year the work has focused on; 
 

 Ensure that the key findings and recommendations from the SEND Health 
Needs Assessment are considered in the further development of the work of 
the LTP; 

 Understanding that 50% of CLA in Durham have social emotional and mental 
health as their primary need, ensure that current structures effectively capture 
the voice of CLA and Care Leavers to inform service design and 
commissioning cycles;  

 In order to support children and young people to successfully build resilience 
and promote positive relationships, the delivery of therapeutic interventions, 

0

20

40

60

80

100

% increase in
knowledge post

training

% increase of
knowledge of 2
or more points
on a scale of 1-

10

Evaluation of knowledge 
post course 

0
10
20
30
40
50
60
70
80
90

100

% increase in
confidence post

training

% increase in
confidence of 2 or
more points on a

scale of 1-10

Evaluation of confidence in 
meeting needs of children 

I wanted to say a huge thank you for helping me to navigate my way through this last 

term. It has been very comforting knowing that someone has my best interests in mind.  

You have helped me progress so far in both my home and school life. I feel like a 

completely different person. 

I have learned new methods of how to control my anxiety and emotions so that I can 

still progress with my day. I have also learned that it’s good to talk about how you are 

feeling. 

Young Person 

Page 271



34 
 

including mental health and emotional wellbeing support should be delivered 
in and through educational settings where possible; 

 All multi agency partners should have an understanding of the impact of 
ACE’s and the benefits of applying trauma informed practice; 

 In order to build resilience and minimise the effects of long term emotional and 
physical abuse and neglect on children and young people with SEND, explore 
the opportunity to implement trauma informed, wrap around support at the 
earliest opportunity; 

 Ensure that SEND Emotional Resilience Nurse resource is in place to support 
children and young people with SEND in Special schools. 

 
This work is following the written statement of action (from 2017) and the work 
continues. 

 
Suicide Prevention 
 

The Council, along with partners including the Police, Fire and Rescue Service, NHS 
mental health services and the community and voluntary sector are part of a 
dedicated Suicide Prevention Alliance. The group aims to contribute to the reduction 
of deaths by suicide across County Durham.  
  
The Alliance is accountable to the Mental Health Strategic Partnership Board which 
monitors the associated Suicide Prevention Action Plan. The County Durham 
Suicide Prevention Alliance meets quarterly to discuss progress against the current 
actions. These are based on Public Health England’s six key priority areas for 
suicide prevention: 
  

 Reducing the risk of suicide in key high-risk groups;  

 Tailoring approaches to improve mental ill health in specific groups; 

 Reducing access to the means of suicide; 

 Providing better information and support to those affected or bereaved by 
suicide; 

 Supporting the media in delivering sensitive approaches to reporting suicide; 

 Supporting research, data collection and monitoring to help build a picture on 
suicide trends.  
 

The Suicide Prevention Alliance meets on a quarterly basis and has an action plan in 
place until 2021 which is monitored through the Mental Health Strategic Partnership. 
As part of the yearend review of the plan completed actions were identified.  

 
There are currently: 

 

 20 Green, completed actions 

 11 Amber, ongoing actions 

 1 Red action (The Suicide Audit) 
  
 

There are current streams of suicide prevention work taking place are: 
 

Page 272



35 
 

1. Suicide prevention signage in one area of the county was installed earlier in 
the year. This quarter, the need for additional signage in a second location will 
be installed in the new year. 

 
2. Ongoing multi-agency work via a task and finish group including Public Health 

(SPC), the British Transport Police, Network Rail, LNER, TransPennine 
Express, Northern Rail, the Samaritans, a local AAP rep and TEWV staff 
continues to work on measures for intervening across the county’s railways. 
The station adoption scheme in Chester-le-Street and a bespoke community 
action group completed the summer work programme and will continue their 
work in the spring. 

 
3. The Samaritans “Small Talk Saves Lives” and the Northern Rail “All Right?” 

continues to be widely promoted across Chester-le-Street and Network Rail 
travel safe officers patrol the station for 12 hours a day.  

 
4. Event showcasing the “Making Every Contact Count (MECC)” work were held 

in this quarter in Chester-le-Street and in Newton Aycliffe with great success. 
A call to action for the local agencies to progress the mental health and 
wellbeing agenda will continue to be monitored for further outcomes in each 
area. This will now be replicated in the Consett and Stanley areas.  

 
5. The Real Time Data Surveillance Standard Operating Procedure was finalised 

and has been signed off by Public Health SMT, Adults and Health SMT and 
the Mental Health Strategic Partnership Board. The work has also been 
presented to the Suicide Prevention Alliance, to the Regional ICS Every Life 
Matters Network steering group, to the regional ICS Every Life Matters 
Postvention planning group and to the Public Mental Health Network The Real 
Time Data Surveillance Standard Operating Procedure was presented at the 
CCG Joint Quality Committee in early December and has received praise 
from the DDES CCG Medical Director for the clarity and structure the 
document brings to the workstream. 

 
6. The Every Life Matters - the North East and North Cumbria Suicide 

Prevention Network’s regional multi-agency strategy, 2019-2024 has been 
completed and disseminated. The strategy will help support the 
implementation of suicide prevention plans and related activity across the 
region. The Network is overseen by a multi-agency regional Suicide 
Prevention Steering Group, which reports to the over-arching steering group 
for the North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care System (ICS) Mental 
Health work stream. Funding from the DDTHRW ICP totalling £49,420 has 
been transferred to The Time To Change Hub. The hub is the only funded hub 
in the North East and the funding will be used to continue development of the 
anti-stigma work with a focus on improving men’s mental health. 

 
7. The South ICP Sport Talk programme final planning stages are now 

complete. Sports clubs from a variety of different disciplines from across the 
region, including clubs in Consett, Chester-le-Street and Newton Aycliffe have 
signed up to the “TEAMH Talk” programme. Designed and delivered by the 
If  U Care Share Foundation and funded from the ICS Every Life Matters 

Page 273



36 
 

Network the sessions are designed increase metal health awareness, create 
an understanding of the impact of stigma and promote a range of support and 
resources available in the local areas. All sessions with the sports clubs will 
take place between January 2020 to December 2020 with feedback and 
evaluations overseen by NCISH. 

 
HopeLine 
 

HOPEline provides a confidential helpline 
service to those who are having thoughts of 
suicide or to anybody who is concerned 
about a young person that they feel may be 
suicidal. The service is open to anyone up to 
the age of 35yrs and operates via telephone, 
SMS and email. It’s open every day of the 
year; Monday to Friday 10am-10pm, 2pm–
10pm at weekends and 2pm–5pm during 
Bank Holidays.  

 
Geographical reporting on this work is 
difficult due to the nature of the calls and 
appropriateness to ask details. However, we know that calls to the service 
(nationally) are increasing and there is an upward trend for County Durham.  

 
While the service supports those at risk of suicide, trends do emerge with a shift in 
age of service users, now most comment 19-25 year olds and an increase in male 
callers. Calls from professionals also continue to increase with concerns about 
young people, with an average age of 12-18 year olds. 

 
Email and text also continues to be supported with data shown below: 

 

 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

HOPELineUK Email & SMS Traffic from 2014 to 2019 

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019

Thank you so much for just 
listening to me. Talking about it 
just gets it out of my head which 
helps. I feel by talking about why 
I’m suicidal, it gets me angry at 
them instead of me. It gives me 
fire in my belly again and it’s 
bringing back my sassy normal 
self. 
Young person 

 

Page 274



37 
 

 
 

County Durham Youth Justice Service 
 
County Durham Youth Justice Service (formally County Durham Youth Offending 
Service) is very proud of their Co-commissioned health model. Uniquely for a youth 
justice service they have our own health team that includes 2 full-time Health and 
Wellbeing Workers (TEWV) and 2 days per week Consultant Clinical Psychologist 
(TEWV.)  These staff benefit from being part of the wider health team that is made 
up of speech and language therapists (NTHFT), a public health nurse (HDFT) and 
substance misuse workers (Humankind.)   

Having a multi-disciplinary health team allows mental health/emotional resilience to 
be addressed alongside other health difficulties, recognising the complexity of the 
health needs of the young people within CDYJS.  

Data looking at 420 CDYJS cases between 1st Oct 18 and 30th Sept 19 found that; 

 75% had mental health Concerns 

 81% had speech language or communication needs 

 50% had physical health concerns 

 61% had substance misuse issues  
 

The challenge for CDYJS is that alongside co-morbid health needs they are often 
working with families who require extra support to engage with health services. Often 
families who have missed opportunities to engage with health provision previously. 
The Health and Wellbeing Worker’s role is very much based around engagement 
and support.  Working in an assertive outreach style they can provide families with 
practical help to attend health appointments, as well as help with motivation. They 
also ensure families ‘don’t fall through the net’ by screening every young person that 
works with CDYJS for health needs.    

The Health and Wellbeing Workers lead on the delivery of the Mental Health and 
Emotional Resilience Pathway work. Offering young people interventions around 
areas such as self-harm, self-esteem, anxiety, managing anger etc. They also 
deliver broader interventions around wellbeing such as C Card sessions, work on 
hygiene, support with benefits and physical activity. 

The Clinical Psychologist working with CDYJS provides clinical supervision to youth 
justice staff working with complex cases. He also leads on the pilot Enhanced Case 
Management project. The pilot takes a fresh look at working with young people who 
are on the Re-offending Cohort, the young people committing the most crimes. The 
pilot recognises the trauma that these young people have experienced and therefore 
takes a psychological approach to working with them.  

 This work was supported via Health and Justice (NHS England) but going forward 
will be funded and commissioned via The County Durham CCG. During 2020 this 
work will be reviewed to understand impact, but also identify gaps in need within this 
service. During this review CDYJS will continue to work with their commissioning 
partners in health and justice and within specialised commissioning to ensure County 

Page 275



38 
 

Durham is linked into regional and national developments that support this work 
within youth offending. 

 Within this review CDYJS are also going to look at how young people transition from 
secure estates back into the community and what additional mental health support 
these young people need. This will be co-designed across the system. CDYJS are 
also aware that liaison and diversion services are being developed across the area, 
and this pathway could also be an area of linkage.  

   

 
Sexual Assault Pathway 
  

For a number of years a clinical psychologist has supported children and young 
people who are victims of sexual assault, based with The Meadows service which is 
a sexual assault referral centre (SARC). The service provides support directly to 
children and the wider family from point of referral through any court process and 
post court support. This service is staffed by 1x clinical psychologist and can support 
any child or young person living within the Durham Police Constabulary force area.  

 
Since April 2019 (to October 2019) the service has: 

 Assessments have been offered to 32 parents /carers of young people; 

 5 of these are male, 25 female and 2 transgender ; 

Case Study; 

Whilst working with the Health and Wellbeing Worker (H&WW) the 
young person began to address his excessive substance misuse. 
During this work he engaged well with the H&WW and built a positive 
working relationship with her.  This meant the worker was able to 
support the young person in making and attending a GP appointment, 
attending appointments with housing providers and assisted in making 
a universal credit claim.   

The young person’s father was appointee for PIP and Carers 
Allowance; the young person was therefore financially vulnerable due 
to paternal substance misuse and a volatile relationship with dad to the 
point where food banks had to be utilised weekly so the young person 
could eat. 

With the support of the H&WW he has been successful in obtaining his 
own tenancy. The H&WW has helped him to apply for a welfare grant 
for furniture, referred him to Centrepoint for assistance with his paper 
bond and made further onward referrals for floating support to help 
maintain his tenancy. 

His court Order has been so successful he has been referred to panel 
early for consideration for an early revocation. Importantly he reports 
being much happier and is looking forward to a positive future.  

Page 276



39 
 

 Further direct support has been offered to 17 of these young people, 5 of 
whom have been offered pre-trial support; 

 The remaining 12 are either post-trial or the case did not progress to court, 
and are receiving trauma therapy; 

 8 additional cases who were referred pre-May 2019 are still open to the 
service;  

 Around 10 cases have been supported in CAMHS / Full Circle Service / YOS 
with consultation and joint work; 

 Training has been offered to two schools in relation to a young person open to 
the service, this workforce development is a fantastic opportunity to build on. 

 
Within both the youth offending services it’s critical to understand that the 
commissioning arrangements for these sits across several organisations. As such 
there is further work to do to understand the needs of young people, specifically 
those leaving custody and this will be within our beyond 2020 plan. We are aware 
that NHSe has commissioned a service to support, however, as a new service we 
need to understand how this will impact locally. This ‘ReConnect’ service will be 
explored further. 
 
Also Forensic CAMHS services offer support across the youth justice pathway and 
provide mental health support to children and young people as part of a wider youth 
justice support offer.  For example, providing liaison and diversion services within 
police stations and courts which enable children and young people to receive 
continued mental health support through any arrest and/or court appearance.  

 
Durham and Darlington CAMHS Crisis, Liaison & Intensive Home Treatment 
Team 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 277



40 
 

Really excellent session. Very useful which may 

have not been as through as visiting. Well 

presented by skilled staff.  

Colleague who attended in-house training session 

on Crisis/IHT 

 

 
 
 

 
 

The service is in the middle of a period of exciting developments. The team is 
steadily growing and we now have three ‘cells’ within the team - Crisis/Liaison, IHT 
and our brand new developing Intensive Positive Behaviour Support Service (IPBS). 
 
Over the past 12 months the service has had some challenges due to lots of 
changes in the team. A change of manager and welcoming lots of new staff into the 
team from across and outside of the trust has meant a period of staff changes is now 
resolved. However, the service is proud to offer a service for children and young 
people which is needs led; for example young people with autism or any other health 
needs. 

 
The Intensive Home Treatment Team continues to develop to provide support to 
young people who present with the greatest need, are at risk of admission to hospital 
and/or pose a risk to themselves or others.   

 
Due to recent funding from New Care Models development of a new IPBS (Intensive 
Positive Behaviour Support) Team has started. 

 
The service is constantly 
improving the skills mix in the 
team; a number of members of 
staff undertaking study to 
become Trainee Nursing 
Associate and Associate 
Practitioners. Two members of 
the team who will be 

 

  
 
 
Crisis cell – well established, 
needs maintenance and 
tending to keep it healthy. 
 

 

 
Intensive Home Treatment – 

a growing shoot, needs 
regular care and careful 
tending to develop into a 

sturdy being. Getting there 
but still needs work. 

 

 
 

 
 
 

IPBS – Ready to be 
developed, foundations 

looking positive and lots of 
potential to grow. 

Page 278



41 
 

Initial feedback from today’s (self-

harm training session for paediatric 

staff) was very positive so thanks 

again. 

Paediatric Training Lead 

 

commencing IAPT 12 month training for CBT (Cognitive Behaviour Therapy) and 
Parent training in January 2020.   

 
Over the past year a number of staff have trained in DBT (Dialectical Behaviour 
Therapy) and are delivering evidence based individual and group therapy to young 
people who experience difficulties with their emotions.    

 
Members of the team have been developing training/awareness sessions to other 
colleagues in and outside of the trust around the CAMHS Crisis & IHT team, what we 
do and how to use the service. These are good examples of staff development by 
formal and informal training routes.  

 
The service has been involved in the trust Recovery and Wellbeing Programme, 
offering a CAMHS perspective on the work.  

 
The service consistently used outcomes measures with young people and families to 
guide clinical interventions and promote clinical quality.  

 
Within the next 12 months the service will 
focus on the ongoing developments further 
developing IHT and embedding the new 
IPBS service. Also, feedback rates are 
consistent but lower than we would like and 
this is an area of development within the next 
year. 

 

Data for CAMHS (within apex 1) shows that since April 2018 to March 2018 there 
were: 

 8,839 referrals to CAMHS; 

 GP was the most likely professional referral with 2,249 across both Durham 
CCGs; 

 “Other” for both Durham CCGs was recorded as the biggest referrer but 
this could be a range of sources or services; 

 48,731 individual face to face contacts were made during this period; 

 8,653 children and young people were discharged from services; 

 304 appointments were did not attend (DNA); 

 3,764 referrals were inappropriate and signposted to more appropriate 
services – this might be because services are better equipped to deal with 
a specific issue (like bereavement) or sign posted to an alternative 
provision better able to meet needs. 

 
For home treatment service we know that 4,365 children and young people were 
referred during the same period, giving 9,275 face to face contacts.  

 
Supporting the most vulnerable children and young people in County Durham is 
important and we have an animation to explain how we do this: 

Page 279



42 
 

https://app.vyond.com/videos/e348bb70-8169-4e71-9511-16a271b6af40  

 

Education Mental Health Support Teams – Trailblazer 
 

County Durham was successful in securing national funding via NHS England and 
local funding from Durham County Council to support the development of Mental 
Health Support Teams (often called Trailblazers) within education settings. 
 
This support teams will work directly into schools and colleges across county 
Durham to provide a range of low level and moderate (but equally important) support 
for children and young people, their parents and carers and also the education 
setting. This is done by physically placing staff within settings removing the need for 
formal referral to CAMHS and ensuring that a point of contact is available, and also a 
trained member of staff to start supporting children and young people quickly. 

 
In County Durham we are able to support 60 settings in this model offering 20 
settings in the North, East and South/West.  The team is made up of: 

 1 Manager post at NHS Band 8A  

 1 Team manager post at NHS Band 7 Team manager 

 2 Psychological Therapist at NHS Band 7 – 1 of these will being post in 
March 2020 with another to be recruited. 

 6 Senior Psychological Well-being Practitioners at NHS Band 6.  

 12 Trainee Education Mental Health Practitioner NHS Band 4 while training 
then Band5 – all started university November 2019 as part of their training. 
Currently at university 3 days and in clinical practice 2 days a week which 
will increase when qualified. 

 Various Public Health funded posts such as emotional resilience nurse, 
further school support, parent and peer education – will be recruited in 
Feb/march 2020.  
 

All 60 education settings have been identified (20 for each team) but this number 
might grow in order to meet targets for this work. An engagement event was held in 
September 2019 in which educations settings were asked to sign up. A phased roll 
out across the patch focusing initially on 3 settings in each area is being deployed, 
this is to support the trainee EMHP training opportunity and well establish some 
processes and procedures. In the spring a further phase will be rolled out to further 
support before full implementation.  MHST are pleased that a good mixture of 
education settings including primary, secondary, further education, alternative 
provisions and a specialist school have signed up and are part of the phased rollout. 

 
A further engagement event was held in January 2020 working with settings who had 
signed up for support teams. This event was to support education settings to support 
the development of the team, think about referral routes and how to refer and also to 
highlight the challenges of the work and ensure settings and the team work together. 
 
The team have operational hub in Stanley health centre. The workforce will be 
dispersed across the patch and work within the settings they are assigned, and 
within local one point hubs to ensure linkage with others in the system. 

Page 280

https://app.vyond.com/videos/e348bb70-8169-4e71-9511-16a271b6af40


43 
 

 
This work has strong governance to ensure it is delivered. A mobilisation group 
chaired by the MHST project lead is established to ensure the work is delivered on 
time. This has participation from: Rollercoaster parent support group, Investors in 
Children, Durham Council, TEWV, Public Health, Education and CCG. 

 
Also an advisory and oversight group oversee the structure of the work and ensure 
the aims and outcomes are met. This is currently chaired by TEWV head of service 
with participation from Strategic leads from above agencies. This group oversees the 
project plan delivery. 
 
NHS England also chairs a regional operational Group for all northern teams, and 
also a North East 19-20 Steering group is established.  
 

 Co-production is key to this work. Work has started having conversations and 
exploring options for this to start early in the journey. There is still some confirmation 
plans to be agreed around meeting with the parent support group and young 
people’s participation groups within Investors in Children projects.  

 
All 9 education settings have been asked to identify if there is any opportunities 
available within their setting e.g. patient/ young people forums, parents evening etc. 
to ensure. 
 
This work presents a fantastic opportunity to re-shape children and young people’s 
mental health services ensuring that quicker access to support is achieved, that 
parents and carers are included within the care, and that schools gain greater 
support in supporting mental health. 
 
Early Intervention in Psychosis  
 
The service continues to support children, young people and families where a first 
episode of psychosis has taken place. This is a highly specialised service in which 
data shows since April 2018 to March 2018 there were: 475 referrals to service. All 
work within the service meets NICE guidelines to ensure the best outcomes. 

 
Eating Disorder Service 

 
As part of service development the eating disorder team have produced a pathway 
to support admission of children and young people to Paediatrics when at risk of 
physical complications associated with an eating disorder presentation. This has 
been co-produced with Paediatric colleagues diet plans, physical monitoring 
protocols, advice sheets, a patient produced patient information leaflet and meal 
support booklets, and has been implemented on many occasions. There are also 
emergency protocols in place for emergency admissions out of normal working 
hours. This pathway was presented at a national event with colleagues from other 
CYP Eating Disorder Teams from across the country and won a poster presentation 
prize. This pathway aids staff to be clear on how to manage different situations and 
specialist advice and daily visits are arranged from the Eating Disorder Team within 
normal working hours. The pathway is cited on the Paediatric shared drive so 
immediate access is always available for them including out of hours. We also have 

Page 281



44 
 

a paediatrician working into the team which also supports this pathway. The team 
also developed a specific tissue viability and pressure sore awareness in eating 
disorder presentation protocol to further develop our physical monitoring and 
management of children and young people with eating disorders. 
 
The service have also provided training directly to GP’s, schools and delivered 
training at locally ran BEAT training days alongside them to promote our referral 
pathways and develop skills to manage an eating disorder presentation. We routinely 
accept direct self-referrals and have developed our trust website page to represent 
more local information. They also run a parent training and skills based group every 
quarter. 
 
The service has carried out multi family therapy groups and these have had positive 
outcomes both physically and psychologically for children, young people and 
families. This was presented as an evaluation to the Clinical Network Event in the 
Northern Clinical Network meeting to other Community Eating Disorder Teams, 
Clinical Network members and commissioners.  These groups are planned for four 
times year.  The team also provide regular, NICE concordant Family Therapy clinics 
as a routine offer. 
 
Data for eating disorder service (within apex 2) shows that since April 2018 to March 
2018 there were: 

 349 referrals; 

 7,019 face to face contacts; 

 12 DNAs for service (no data chart on this within apex); 

 75 inappropriate referrals (no data chart on this within apex). 
 

 

Workforce 
  
Development of the workforce has continued to be a challenge this year but over the 
latter part of 2019 plans have been made and a better understand of the challenge is 
now understood. The biggest challenge is the size of the task and understanding 
who was working on each element was difficult. Within the LTP governance a 
‘workforce task and finish’ group is listed but this group was stood down in summer 
2019 to enable a better plan to be created.  

 
The first challenge is, understanding the regional and sub regional offer. Information 
about this work is listed further within this document many other organisations are 
looking at “workforce” across the region and it’s hopelessly fragmented.  To support 
this, the regional team have established a regional workforce group which is tasked 
with better coordination of the system. Conversations are taking place with the 
Northern Health Education England Team about supporting primary care (GP 
practices) training in 2020. 
 

 

 

Page 282



45 
 

 

More locally in 
County Durham it 
is understood that 
most large tasks 
have “workforce” 
as an element 

and 
understanding 

who was doing 
what (and to who) 
was difficult to 
manage. Also, as 
a system 

commissioning 
also pays for 
‘training’ but 
doesn’t centrally 
capture this work 
into one area. For 

example, 
Wellbeing for Life 
has delivered a 

huge number of sessions (47) within the past year and trained 555 individuals. At the 
same time the psychologist support working into Youth Offending has also trained 
youth offending staff on a range of areas such as: 
 

 Training on working with CYP with SEND (Autism, Communication needs 
and Learning Disability) – 21 attendees;  

 Training on working with CYP with challenging families (impact of trauma, 
mental illness and domestic violence) – 20 attendees; 

 Training on working with anger and violence – 42 attendees;  

 Training on supporting CYP who self-harm – 30 attendees;  

 Training on adolescent brain development – 42 attendees; 
 

County Durham is also continuing to support the CASCADE training (Anna Freud 
Centre for Mental Health previously in this document) with a target that all schools 
will have at least 1 individual trained in this approach. 

 
There are other providers (such as Humankind) that offer training and a key task will 
be to audit this work. The workforce want to feel better equipped at having 
conversations about mental health, being able to support someone (that might be 
signposting or during crisis) and want to understand where to signpost. We also 
have training in perinatal mental health which has been cascaded to the workforce. 
This supports the Solihul approach which has also been delivered in the county for 
some time. 

 
One challenge is understanding what ‘workforce development’ is. Training and 
supporting the current workforce is key but also increasing numbers of staff in the 

Wellbeing for Life Training 2019 

Course Titles 

Number 
of 

sessions  

Number 
of 

delegates 

Basic Mental Health Awareness 9 120 

(Durham County Council) Mental Health at Work 6 86 

(Durham County Council) BMHA 2 13 

(Durham County Council) Making every contact 
count 2 13 

(Durham County Council) MH Champions 1 15 

(Durham County Council) Mental Health First Aid 1 16 

Making Every Contact Count 1 5 

Mental Health First Aid 6 90 

Mental Health at Work 1 9 

Mindfulness Introduction 2 13 

Suicide Awareness 4 46 

Understanding Stress and Resilience 12 129 

Total  47 555 

Page 283



46 
 

right areas is critical to ensure services can run. Regionally work is being undertaken 
to look at recruitment across all health posts and locally we have uplifted some staff 
numbers such as new staff teams via Trailblazer which are new posts. 
 
Another challenge was making this neat. Locally there are lots happening so made 
the decision to end the workforce group within the LTP, and merge this into the 
resilient communities group ‘workforce leads group’.  
 
This group will bring together representatives from key stakeholder organisations 
operating within County Durham so that they can identify, streamline and improve 
the provision of workforce mental health training and support. The group will also: 
 

 Review best practice locally and nationally in this field and develop and 
promote a best practice model for County Durham, and;  

 Take into consideration any competency frameworks and national policy 
guidance on mental health workforce development whilst doing so; 

 Review the range of current initiatives being taken forward across the 
North-East by partners in public, VCSE and private sector organisations, 
and; 

 Explore the potential for collaboration in the provision of mental health and 
wellbeing training, development and support; 

 Work together to reduce mental health stigma and discrimination in the 
County Durham workforce. 

 Aim to give greatest support in training to greatest area of need, for 
example primary care networks. 

 
  
The group also enables strong governance 
feeding into the Mental Health Strategic 
Partnership Board. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 284



47 
 

 
The initial plan for 2020 is as follows: 
 

Work Area Workforce Action By When 

Audit of training 
– what’s the 
offer and what’s 
the gaps 

All Need to map across 
contracts and within 
VCSE offer. This will 
inform action plan 

April 2020 

Connect 5 
Training 

Primary Care Ensure link with HEE for 
regional training offer 
and support. 

Managed 
regionally – 
expected Feb 
2020 

Connect 5 
Training 

County Durham 
workforce 

Funded via a 50:50 split 
of CCG and DCC 
money this will deliver 
training the training 
course 

Spring 2020 

Anna Freud - 
CASCADE 

Schools staff Continue to support this 
work across 2020 and 
beyond. 

 

During Spring 
2020, then 
Autumn 2020 
into winter 
2020/21 

  
But this plan will sit within a larger plan as designed by the workforce task group. 
Also, during 2020 we are mindful that regional work will increase regarding workforce 
and need to ensure we are connected to this work. 
 

Page 285



48 
 

 

With staffing numbers we know that we have a range of staff and these can be seen 
in apex 3 
 
We understand that TEWV staff are only one key element of the system. Further 
work is needed to understand staff numbers, demands and risks within the 
workforce. This will be mainly designed within the regional work, and our role is to 
ensure County Durham’s voice is heard within that offer. However, there is 
knowledge via the MH Support Teams (trailblazer) workforce numbers have gone up 
for direct support (face to face) within County Durham and given no cuts to services 
have been made are aware no risks presents in the immediate future. However, this 
is an area that needs to better support regionally and will engage in this process. 
 
Locally we support services to deliver a training offer and we need to coordinate this 
offer better. However, a range of training is available for the workforce and in that we 
support children, young people and families to be part of the “workforce” to further 
drive support.  
 
County Durham CAMHS offers a wide range of training7 to support the workforce. 
Courses include: 

 Anxiety, worries, fears and phobias; 

 Attachment difficulties; 

 Self harm; 

 Eating difficulties  

                                                           
7
 https://www.tewv.nhs.uk/referrers-professionals/training/camhs-county-durham-and-darlington/ 

Page 286



49 
 

 Low mood and depression 

 Social and communication difficulties  

 Attention difficulties 

 Emotional wellbeing and support 

 Positive behaviour support. 
 
These courses are available for anyone living or working in County Durham.  
Furthermore an Online recovery college also offers a wide range of courses 8. 
Courses are broken into sections for under 12s, over 13’s, parents and carers, 
professionals and a specific section for teachers. The online recovery college also 
has an easy read version to support young people and parents and carers who need 
further support with literacy or have a learning need.  
 
The online recovery college ensures that we don’t just offer physical courses as we 
know that people can struggle to attend for various reasons, particularly those who 
are carers, work and have commitments. The online support aims to make training 
flexible for all. 
 

Governance of the LTP 
 

All of the above work is evaluated depending upon what type of contract is held and 
who the provider managers are (CCG, local authority, regional commissioners) but 
all are commissioned for outcomes. In light of many changes to commissioning, 
integrated commission arrangements will lead to an outcomes based model which 
supports increased investment in community services leading to better coordination 
of finance. In some cases this can lead to pooled budgets to support providers. In 
Durham this is already happening with some voluntary sector contracts jointly funded 
via CCGs and Durham County Council. In some cases money from one 
commissioner is given to another who will lead on the provider management, thus 
giving more than one commissioner an interest in the work. 

 

                                                           
8
 https://www.recoverycollegeonline.co.uk/ 

Page 287



50 
 

 
This is protected by governance through the LTP working group as show in our 
structure chart below. 

 
This gives robust responsibility for several groups leading on specific areas which 
feed into a LTP steering group, which in turn reports to the mental health strategic 
partnership.  

 
This enables robust planning for services, shared responsibility and equally shared 
learning. Services working together gives stronger voice and representation and also 
ensures best use of resource. As such services are evaluated together or in line with 
the commissioners requirements.  

 
During 2019 several smaller contracts have been reviewed and evaluated by the 
CCG, these are Section 256 contracts of the NHS Act in which money is provided by 
health and service commissioned by Durham County Council. These were reviewed 
in order to ensure services were still robust and evidence based, and also providing 
a good use of public funds.  To date 7 services have been reviewed with a further 3 
ongoing (at time of writing).  By March 2021 it is felt that 25 contracts will have been 
reviewed. Evaluation followed a template in which CCGs review legal frame work 
they must follow, for example is the work part of the equality act, but also follows a 
review process which enables commissioners to make informed decisions.  
 

 

4) Advisory Board  
 

This year sees the launch of County Durham Children, Young People and Family 
Advisory Board.  Investing in Children and Rollercoaster Family Support will work in 
partnership with children, young people and families in County Durham to develop 
and establish a Children, Young People and Family Led Mental Health Advisory 
Board.  

Page 288



51 
 

 
The ambition for County Durham Children, Young People and Family Advisory 
Board: 

 

 To be an established group with a recognised role that can make impact; 

 To be a ‘go to’ central forum for children, young people and families to have 
their voices heard around mental health in County Durham;  

 To be a ‘go to’ forum for professional organisations working in the mental 
health arena to enable children, young people and family’s voices to be at the 
heart of service development and improvement; 

 To be an equal voice in the design and development of any new services or 
programmes that are to be delivered across County Durham; 

 To play a key role in the evaluating the effectiveness of current emotional and 
mental health provision in County Durham; 

 To have an opportunity to contribute to consultation exercises that impact on 
CYP mental health support; 

 To provide challenge and scrutinise decisions made by the mental health 
partnership groups; 

 To play a key role in scoping new opportunities and recognising good practice 
in mental health in County Durham and nationally; 

 Members of the board will be the representatives on other groups such as the 
resilience subgroup or the locality networks; 

 The group will report directly to the LTP. 
 
Structure:  
 

 Bi-monthly meetings & wider E-Network/Social Media Forum to ensure a 
wider voice is captured; 

 30 people recruited to take up paid roles (15 young people and 15 parents); 

 The Advisory Committee will be Chaired by CYP and a parent; 

 Professionals working in the mental health field will be invited to be 
participants; 

 Needs led agenda; 

 The work of the Advisory Committee will inform the work of the Children and 
Young People Mental Health Local Transformation Partnership (LTP) and will 
be a standard agenda item at every LTP meeting; 

 The work of the committee will build on and complement existing networks 
e.g. school councils, parent forums but remain focused on children and young 
people’s mental health. 
 
At time of writing recruitment for this board on ongoing but the board will give 
better, more true engagement during 2020 and beyond and presents an 
exciting opportunity to have better engagement with the communities the LTP 
impacts within. The board will reflect the diversity of County Durham and 
ensure that all sections of the community are represented including 
representation of under 5s. 

 
 

 

Page 289



52 
 

5) World Mental Health Day 2019 
 

For World Mental Health Day 2019 an event was held in County 
Durham Cricket Ground at The Emirates Stadium which was 
attended by 100 people made up of children and young people, 
parents and carers, professionals from the local and regional 
services. The aim of the event was to show case and celebrate 
the work which had been achieved over the past 4 years of the 
LTP. This enabled many presentations about local and regional 
work and talk about future work. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The event also asked people what they wanted to see improve 
and where challenges had been.  This presented in three ways: 

1. What’s bowled you over i.e. what do you like? 
2. What’s stumped you i.e. what’s had you stuck/in an 

issue? 
3. Wish upon a star i.e. what’s your aspirations? 

 
 

 
 
 

The event was fun with activities, interactive stalls, art, cake to 
name and few and the event provided the front page for this 
report which was achieved by everyone making a small paint 
mark on a bigger sign showing that together we can do 
something small but together make a big mark. 
 
 
The event left 261 individuals comments which have been 
thematically reviewed and put into themes. These things help 
inform our future beyond 2020 plan, the table in apex 4 gives 

some of the comments reported. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 290



53 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 291



54 
 

6) Beyond 2020  
 

April 2020 marks the end of Future in Mind and thus the LTP but County Durham 
has committed to continue the work, in the same structure and with the same 
measures and ambitions. The journey had started and a lot has been achieved but 
so much more can be done as so further work is needed. 

 
During this paper you will note that various comments regarding next steps have 
been made, such as better support for young people leaving custody, but all areas of 
service will aim to continuously improve, however, we will also use further data to 
support our decisions. 

 

 Data from the world mental health day event tells us what children and young 
people like and what they want us to work on; 

 At time of writing a perception study is being collated for views on stigma and 
discrimination; 

 Also work across the mental health at scale work will gather further views from 
children and young people. 

 

These data collections will be reviewed in February/March 2020 and a further plan 
will be created to build into the current LTP plan.  We do however already have 
some data such as the student voice data.  
 
The student voice survey 2019 gathered the views of 3,110 students in years 5 and 
6, attending 74 different primary schools across County Durham, this showed: 

MH Questions from Student 

Voice Survey 

Primary 

School 

Secondary 

School 

At school I can work to the best 

of my ability - Strongly Agree & 

Agree 

88.5% 

(2019) 

73.7% 

(2019) 

I can cope if things are difficult in 

my day to day life - Strongly 

Agree & Agree 

72.2% 

(2019) 

62.5% 

(2019) 

On a daily basis I can get things 

done - Strongly Agree & Agree 

86.6% 

(2019) 

77.4% 

(2019) 

I feel I can make things better at 

school - Strongly Agree & Agree 

70.4% 

(2019) 

68.2% 

(2019) 

I feel I can make things better at 

home - Strongly Agree & Agree 

80.5% 

(2019) 

52.6% 

(2019) 

 
This data gives us a measure to future compare and build upon.  

 
We know how important it is for our services to be as effective and responsive as 

Page 292



55 
 

possible to the needs and preferences of the children and young people in our 
communities.  All services record and submit anonymised information about how 
many people are using services and the impact of these services to a national 
organisation called NHS England. This information would never contain anyone’s 
name or personal details but does help make sure mental health services are as 
good as possible by: 

 

 Helping the NHS understand what is working well and what may need to 
improve further by reporting back feedback and outcomes from services; 

 Building a strong evidence base to inform research and future policy; 

 Enable a robust case and support for increasing investment for mental health 
services; 
  

This data is collected and shared and will help us in our beyond 2020 planning. 
 
However we must also ensure the LTP links in with local areas of work such as 
“Right Care Right Place”. In response to the NHS Long Term Plan, Five Year 
Forward View for Mental Health and forthcoming Community Mental Health 
Framework, the TEWV Trust Board have initiated a new programme of improvement 
covering community, inpatient and urgent care delivery.  This new programme is 
called “Right Care, Right Place” (RCRP) and it aims to deliver better experience and 
outcomes for service users, our staff and our partners by focusing on how all of our 
services and those of our partners, can work more seamlessly and better together, 
reflecting staff, users’, carers’ and partners’ feedback.  Using a recovery-focused and 
trauma informed approach, RCRP will work systemically (not just within TEWV) so 
that we can: 

 

 Improve how the whole system works together for both planned and 
unplanned care (especially thinking about how services better “wrap around” 
primary care networks); 

 Reduce “hand offs” (i.e. passing people between services) within the Trust 
and with other providers; 

 Ensure people’s needs are identified and addressed as early as possible; 

 Reduce unwarranted variations whilst making sure we provide what local 
communities need; 

 Achieve the best use of all resources (money/ staff/ community assets); 

 Address physical healthcare needs better and in a more joined up way; 

 The programme will link closely to all other Trust and multi-agency 
programmes of work to avoid duplication.   

 

Over future months more work connecting in with RCRP will take place to ensure the 
ambitions of the LTP link with the approach taken by RCRP. 

 
 

Page 293



56 
 

 
 

Services are also evolving all the time. In the past few months’ general practice have 
moved into Primary Care Models9 in which GP practices work closer together to 
share work, build assets and better use resource. As this work mobilises over the 
next few months its critical that the ambitions of the LTP work with primary care 
networks to ensure we are both aiming to achieve similar ambitions and work 
together. Further information about primary care networks can be found here 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=W19DtEsc8Ys  
 
 

While we will form our plans beyond 2020 based on intelligence and data locally and 
nationally, we will also use engagement and feedback to help inform our plan. 
However, an initial commitment from the Mental Health and Learning Disability 
Partnership is additional investment to support alternatives to children and young 
people’s crisis. We know that a number of young people in crisis have a need, but 
don’t meet the threshold for clinical intervention. However, the need is still valid and 
we want to ensure that young people get the right support at a time of need. This 
service will mobilise in 2020/21 and will build on existing youth support while also 
mapping geographical gaps and service gaps and ensuring that a greater offer to 
crisis support is available. 

 

Whole Pathway Commissioning for children and young people’s services 

Whole Pathway Commissioning means coming together to improve children and 
young people’s emotional health and wellbeing.  It will build greater understanding, 
relationships and integration across health, social care, education and beyond to 
improve outcomes for all children and young people and their families. This is 
needed because at the moment services are not joined up but they should be, so 
that children and young people have a better experience.   

It means that the needs of children and young people, families and carers are at the 

                                                           
9
 https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/primary-care-networks/ 

Page 294

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=W19DtEsc8Ys


57 
 

centre of everything. Each child and young person is treated as an individual and 
should experience joined-up care and that the key focus is on prevention and early 
intervention. 

What’s happened so far? 

In November an event was held with different types of organisations and people who 
are involved in the emotional health and wellbeing of young people and their 
families. Young people and parents were at the event and they shared their 
experiences of services and their messages were very powerful. 

At the event people were asked what their vision for the future would be. The 
collective vision developed at the event is:  

All Children and Young People are emotionally resilient and able to get appropriate 
help when and how they want it 

At the event people were asked key things we could do to improve services for 
children, young people and families. These were: 
1:  To have a single vision of what we want to achieve and that everyone signs up to    
the vision 
2: That co-production with children, young people and families is essential 
3: Children, young people and families are supported as early as possible 
4: People working in services to support emotional health and wellbeing have the 
right skills to support children, young people and their families  
5:  To focus on prevention and supporting greater resilience within the community  

What’s going to happen now beyond 2020? 

The Development of an action plan will take the key priorities forward and to ensure 
the progress of the work; children, young people and families are at the heart of this 
work. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 295



58 
 

Context and Data  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Association of Young People’s Health, Key Data on Young People, 2019. For further 
information see the association’s website10 or twitter #KeyData19 
 
 
 

 
 
 

                                                           
10

 http://ayph.org.uk/key-data-on-young-people 

Page 296



59 
 

Place Based 

(CCG and Local Authority) 

This is local work 

ICP  

This is sub regional work 

ICS  

This is large across the  

Northeast  

and cumbria 

 

 

7) Policy Context 
 

Future in Mind: Promoting, 
protecting and improving our 
children and young people’s mental 
health and wellbeing 11 emphasised 
the crucial importance of early 
intervention in emerging emotional 
and mental health problems for 
children and young people.  Its 
publication highlighted the difficulties 
children, young people and their 
families have in accessing mental 
health support and the need to 
transform the services offered.  All 
CCG’s were required to develop a 
LTP and as such North Durham and 
Durham, Dales and Easington CCG’s developed and published their LTP in 
November 2015 with yearly updates. This year’s update has been moved to March 
2020 in keeping with financial year end, as such this year’s LTP represents a longer 
time period than previous LTP refreshes. 
 

New systems of working emerge such as Integrated Care System (ICS) or 
Integrated Care Partnership (ICP) both include mental health as a priority area 
across the North East and Cumbria.  We will maximise opportunities to collaborate 
with commissioners and providers of care to share approaches and resources 
across the new systems to ensure sustainability.  We have a track record of 
working together across County Durham. 

 
Four integrated care partnerships are in place – County Durham sits within two of 
these with North Durham CCG being in the Central, and Durham Darlington 
Easington and Sedgefield CCG being in the Southern. 

 

                                                           
11

 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf 

Page 297

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/414024/Childrens_Mental_Health.pdf


60 
 

 
 

 
Integrated Care System (ICS) is a local partnership of NHS, Local Authorities and 
partners who can deliver a sustainable health and care system for the people across 
North East and North Cumbria (NENC).  There are six strategic health focused 
groups.  The Mental Health group is chaired by John Lawlor, CEO Cumbria, 
Northumberland, Tyne and Wear NHS Foundation Trust.  The reason for the 
multidisciplinary groups existence is: 

 
The socioeconomic and human costs associated with mental ill health are well 
publicised and the priorities identified by the mental health work stream focus on 
addressing health inequalities and delivering parity of esteem to prevent illness, 
promote wellbeing and improve the outcomes for people who experience mental ill 
health.   
 
One of the seven work groups is focused on Children and Young People Mental 
Health.  This group sponsor is Jacqui Old, Director of Children's and Adult Services, 
North Tyneside Council and led by The Northern Clinical Network and its associated 
clinical leads.  The group is comprised of commissioners and providers of children’s 
mental health services and informed by a parental voice.  The group has three key 
areas:  crisis services, integration of care and sharing best practice. 

 

 It has a number of project areas that are developed using a multidisciplinary 
and multi-agency approach; 

 Using the Local Transformation Plans to drive transformation; 

 Developing the voice of Children, Young People & Families; 

 Integrating along resilience, crisis and care pathways; 

 Using outcome measures to assess transformation; 

 Eating disorders network; 

 Transformation & workforce across the whole system. 
 

Page 298



61 
 

For further information regarding the NHS systems watch The Kings Fund Video 
‘How Does The NHS Work’  

 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DEARD4I3xtE 

 
 

More locally there are a range of documents which support children and young 
people’s mental health such as: 
 

 The County Durham Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy12 - This sets out the 
way in which every child can have the best start in life. It will be done by 
improving their emotional health and wellbeing. 

 The County Durham Children and Young Peoples Strategy 2019-202213 is 
complete and aims to: 

 
1. Ensure all children and young people have a safe childhood; 
2. Children and young people enjoy the best start in life, good health and 

emotional wellbeing; 
3. Young people can access good quality education, training and local 

employment; 
4. Achieve the best possible outcomes for children and young people with 

special educational needs and disabilities (SEND). 
 

The four aims will be underpinned by the following principles: 
 

 Participation of children, young people and families in service development 
and design; 

 'Think Family' approach with a focus on vulnerability; 

 Good transitions into adulthood; 

 Tackling the effects of inequality; 

 Regular performance review, challenge and learning, including learning from 
serious case reviews and serious incidents; 

 Support for young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 
(SEND). 

 
 
 

 

                                                           
12

 http://www.durham.gov.uk/jhws 
13

 http://www.countydurhampartnership.co.uk/article/8482/Documents 

Page 299

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DEARD4I3xtE


62 
 

We know how important it is for our NHS services to be as effective and 
responsive as possible to the needs and preferences of the children and young 
people in our communities. All services record and submit anonymised 
information about how many people are using services and the impact of these 
services to a national organisation called NHS England. This information would 
never contain anyone’s name or personal details but does help make sure 
mental health services are as good as possible by: 

 Helping the NHS understand what is working well and what may need to 
improve further by reporting back feedback and outcomes from services 

 Building a strong evidence base to inform research and future policy 

 Enable a robust case and support for increasing investment for mental health 
services  

Development & Assurance Manager NHS England (north) 
 

 

 
 
 

8) The Local Vision 
 

Our vision remains unchanged from the original plan: 
 

 
 

 
This vision was established from Future in Mind which recommended the 5 areas 
below: 
 

 

 The recommendations made in the report were based around five 
key themes: 

1 Promoting resilience, 
prevention and early 
intervention 

 

Our aim is to act early to prevent harm, by investing in the 
early years, supporting families and those who care for 
children and building resilience through to adulthood.  

 

2 Improving access to effective 
support  

 

Our aim is to change how care is delivered and build 
it around the needs of children and young people 
and families. This means moving away from a system 
of care defined in terms of the services organisations 
provide to ensure that children and young people 
have easy access to the right support from the right 
service at the right time. 

‘We want Children, Young People and their Families in County Durham to be 
supported to achieve their optimum mental health and wellbeing.  Every child and 

young person will have access to early help in supporting their emotional and 
mental health needs. We want to develop children and young people’s resilience 

and coping strategies.  We will transform the quality and availability of our 
services from early help through to specialist provision. Local services will be 

locally delivered within communities, closer to home, targeted to the most 
vulnerable ensuring fewer children and young people require specialist mental 

health services.’ 

Page 300



63 
 

3 Care for the most vulnerable 

 

Current service constructs present barriers making it 
difficult for many vulnerable children, young people 
and those who care for them to get the support they 
need. Our aim is to dismantle these barriers and reach 

out to children and young people in need. 

 

4 Accountability and 
Transparency 

 

Far too often, a lack of accountability and transparency 
defeats the best of intentions and hides the need for 
action in a fog of uncertainty. Our aim is to drive 
improvements in the delivery of care, and standards 
of performance to ensure we have a much better 
understanding of how to get the best outcomes for 
children, young people and families/carers and value 
from our investment. 

5 Developing the workforce 

 

It is our aim that everyone who works with 
children, young people and their families is 
ambitious for every child and young person to 
achieve goals that are meaningful and achievable 
for them. They should be excellent in their practice 
and able to deliver the best evidenced care, be 
committed to partnership and integrated working 
with children, young people, families and their 
fellow professionals and be respected and valued 
as professionals themselves. 

 

 

 Our ambitions too remain unchanged with a view that by 2020/21: 
 

 Every young person in County Durham has access to a graduated and timely 
response to emotional health issues, ranging from maintaining a healthy mind 
to acute crisis;  

 That County Durham has a joined up system for early help that operates 
based on the THRIVE14 approach and harnesses the capacity of the third 
sector; 

 All County Durham educational settings are better equipped to support the 
emotional health of their populations working within the getting advice and 
getting help quadrants of the THRIVE approach; 

 That access to getting more help and risk support is available through local 
settings including primary, acute and specialist care, is timely, and based on 
clear pathways of care linked to different types of need;  

 We will have one single point of access; 

 Coordinated robust risk support is available for the most vulnerable between 
partners including youth justice;  

 By 2020/21, in-patient stays for children and young people will only take place 
where clinically appropriate and will have the minimum possible length of stay 
and will be as close to home as possible and be commissioned on a ‘place-
basis’;  

 Everyone in contact with children and young people feels equipped to actively 
support their mental health and wellbeing;  

 Well informed commissioners with comprehensive intelligence about needs 
and provision who strive to co-produce with children, young people and their 
families leading to innovative, creative and responsive support across a range 
of services from primary to inpatient and secure settings; 

 Perinatal mental health service supporting the needs of our population to 

                                                           
14

 http://www.implementingthrive.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/thrive-elaborated-2nd-edition29042016-1.pdf 

Page 301



64 
 

ensure timely assessment, early intervention and appropriate referral into 
specialist services when required.    
 

So what are we doing; 
 

Priority Area 1: Promoting 
resilience, prevention and 
early intervention 

Priority Area 2: 
Improving access and 
effective support 

Priority Area 3: Caring 
for the most 
vulnerable 

Priority Area 4: 
Workforce 

We will do this through: 
1. Reducing stigma and 

discrimination 
2. Improving access to 

perinatal mental health 
intervention 

3. Helping parents and 
carers to support 
children and young 
people with their 
emotional health and 
wellbeing 

4. Helping to support 
children and young 
people with their 
emotional health and 
wellbeing. 

 

We will do this through: 
1. Ensuring continuation 

of offer of 
bereavement support 

2. Ensuring specialist 
NHS support is 
available at the right 
level when needed 
(crisis, home 
treatment, 
community) 

3. Ensuring digital 
solutions are 
available to meet the 
needs of CYPs 

4. Reduce delays in 
Autism diagnosis 

 

We will do this through: 
1. Understanding the 

needs of vulnerable 
groups 

2. Ensuring correct 
assessment and 
referrals 

3. Implementing 
interventions and 
recommendation 
that improve 
outcomes for the 
most vulnerable 

4. Working together to 
improve transitions 

 

We will do this through: 
1. Working within 

Education, Children’s 
Services and universal 
health services to 
improve the 
workforce’s ability to 
understand mental 
health 

2. Undertaking brief 
intervention and 
signposting accordingly 

 

 

9) Profile of Need (Data) 
 

National 
Trends on Children and Young People’s Mental Health were studied in 1999, 2004 
and 2017. However, in 2018 a complied data set 15 covering a broad range of areas 
of mental health was compiled. This found: 
 
Key facts: 
 

 One in eight (12.8%) 5 to 19 year olds had at least one mental disorder when 
assessed in 2017; 

 Specific mental disorders were grouped into four broad categories: emotional, 
behavioural, hyperactivity and other less common disorders. Emotional 
disorders were the most prevalent type of disorder experienced by 5 to 19 
year olds in 2017 (8.1%); 

 Rates of mental disorders increased with age, 5.5% of 2 to 4 year old children 
experienced a mental disorder, compared to 16.9% of 17 to 19 year olds. 
Caution is needed, however, when comparing rates between age groups due 
to differences in data collection. For example, teacher reports were available 
only for 5 to 16 year olds. Please refer to the Survey Design and Methods 
Report for full details. 

                                                           
15

 https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/publications/statistical/mental-health-of-children-and-young-people-in-

england/2017/2017 

Page 302



65 
 

 The 1001 Critical day’s Manifesto reports that mental health affects 144,000 
babies. The report identified that mental health is central to a child’s health 
and specifies that those identified as being at risk or suffering from mental 
health problems should be offered appropriate support at the earliest 
opportunity 

 Data from this survey series reveal a slight increase over time in the 
prevalence of mental disorder in 5 to 15 year olds (the age-group covered on 
all surveys in this series).  Rising from 9.7% in 1999 and 10.1% in 2004, to 
11.2% in 2017; 

 Emotional disorders have become more common in 5 to 15 year olds, going 
from 4.3% in 1999 and 3.9% in 2004 to 5.8% in 2017. All other types of 
disorder, such as behavioural, hyperactivity and other less common disorders, 
have remained similar in prevalence for this age group since 1999 as shown 
below. 

 

 
 

Further data can also be seen via the Mental Health Data Hub 16 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
16

 https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-tools-and-services/data-services/mental-health-data-hub 

Page 303



66 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Local 

 

Locally about 6,500 children and young people in County Durham are estimated to 
have a mental health disorder (2015). The most common mental health disorders for 
those aged 5-16 years old in County Durham are conduct disorders which matches 
national data.   
Locally we know: 
 

 Around 1 in 10 of children and young people in County Durham have a mental 
health disorder. (2015); 

 Young people’s admission rates (10-14 years) for self-harm in 2017/18 in 
County Durham (203.5 per 100,000) were not statistically significantly 
different than England (210.4/100,000) but not significantly different to the 
North East (216.9/100,000); 

 The rate of death by suicide for the period 2016-18 is statistically higher in 
County Durham (12.8 per 100,000) than England (9.6 per 100,000) and the 
North East (11.3 per 100,000); 

 2.6% of school children have additional social, emotional and mental health 
needs which equates to over 1,000 children; 

 There are thought to be at least 8,000 16-24 year olds with an eating disorder; 

Page 304



67 
 

 Around 8,500 children and young people are estimated to have ADHD. 

 Almost 400 children aged between 10-24 years old were admitted to hospital 
as a result of self-harm last year; 

 Nearly 100 under 18s were admitted to hospital for mental health conditions 
last year. 

 
We also under stand the needs of children looked after (CLA) and care leavers (CL) 
as a vulnerable sub-group of the population. Most children enter care often following 
a range of Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE’s), often as the result of abuse or 
neglect. Whilst they have many of the same health issues as their peers, the extent 
of these is often greater as a result of their past experiences. The available evidence 
suggests CLA and CL experience poorer health outcomes which can persist into 
adulthood. 

As at March 31st 2019 there were 840 children looked after in County Durham. The 
number of children in care has increased by 39% in the last 5 years, from 605 in 
2014. Just over a quarter of children (27%) who enter care are aged under 1 years. 4 
in 5 children come into care due to abuse or neglect. 73% of children in care are 
placed in foster care. 

In November 2018 Durham County Council (DCC) published the Children Looked 
After and Care Leavers Health Needs Assessment (HNA).  The HNA had four key 
priority areas including a specific focus on mental health and emotional wellbeing.  
The HNA identified a number of key findings and informed  a range of key 
recommendations including: 

 Strengthen leadership and partnerships in place for supporting CLA and CL 

 Review of current pathways for CLA and CL  

 Review of the use of the Strengths and Difficulties Questionnaire (SDQ) 

 Develop a training offer for professionals and carers  
 

These recommendations were incorporated into the work of the LTP and a multi-
agency implementation plan developed.  The LTP has been significantly enhanced 
by improved engagement with Children’s Social Care and the following activity has 
been completed to date: 

Rapid Improvement Workshop focusing on the MH and EW pathways for CLA and 
CL and the development of the Practitioners Guide to Making Mental Health 
Everyone’s business.  This interactive PDF utilises the Thrive approach to map MH 
and EW pathways across County Durham  

Improved the SDQ process for County Durham; work has been carried that 
reviewed local arrangements and national best practice to ensure that the process 
for completing SDQ’s in County Durham has been improved and that scores are 
routinely used to inform health assessments  

Workforce Development; A range of workforce development improvements have 
taken place including enhancing the offer of support to practitioners across Children 
and Young Peoples Services with a specific focus on foster carers. 

 

Page 305



68 
 

Moving forward, the LTP will continue to focus on ensuring that CLA and CL are 
considered, and inequalities identified and addressed. 

 
 
The latest 3-year pooled national suicide data (2016-2018) shows that: 
 

 In County Durham deaths by suicide are significantly higher for men than 
women, a trend reflected regionally and in England; 

 Male deaths by suicide in County Durham are similar to the regional rate but 
statistically significantly higher than the rate seen in England; 

 Female deaths by suicide in County Durham are similar to the rates seen 
regionally and in England; 

 The rate of deaths by suicide for all persons (male & female) in County 
Durham are not statistically different from other North East Local Authorities.  

 

 
Further date is placed on a NHS digital dashboard17 and while this express’s data for 
Tees and Esk Wear Valley as a whole and not just County Durham is a good place is 
you are interested in further date. 

 

Data is further gathered from commissioned NHS services via a cloud based data 
system (MHSDS) which helps inform national, regional, local level commissioning. 
 

                                                           
17

 https://digital.nhs.uk/data-and-information/data-tools-and-services/data-services/mental-health-data-hub/mental-health-
services-monthly-statistics 

Page 306



69 
 

 
 
 
 

10) Finance 
 

Numbers below explain the spend by CCGs on children and young people’s mental 
health. In short, spend in 2019/20 is higher than that of 2017/18 and is on an upward 
trend. Within services, eating disorders is a service with a greater spend now than in 
previous years. This is all in line to meet the investment standard – spending more 
on mental health and ensuring services are well funded and in turn well resourced. 

 
Total budget 

  Description 

County 
Durham  

County 
Durham  

County 
Durham  

2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

£,000 £,000 £,000 

North 
Durham 
CCG & 

CAMHS  £5,926 £6,105 £6,509 

DDES 
CCG 

LD CAMHS  £1,630 £1,680 £1,791 

Durham 
County 
Council 

Children 
and Young 
people’s 
mental 
health 
budget 

£2,110 

  

Note: this 
includes the 
Health 
contribution 
for 
Emotional 
Wellbeing 
and Mental 
Health 
Counselling  
(£236k)  

  

  Total  £9,666 £7,785 £8,300 

 
Budget by service 
 

  

Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

£,000 £,000 £,000 £,000 

CAMHS Transformation  £807 £807 £1,119 £1,421 

Eating Disorder £323 £306 £306 £310 

CYP IAPT (training backfill) £24 £71 £34 £13 

CYP Liaison £0 £79 £0 £0 

Waiting time initiative £0 £255 £0 £0 

Page 307



70 
 

Vanguard £0 £261 £0 £0 

  £1,154 £1,779 £1,460 £0 

 
 

11) Final 
 

This report was only possible due to commitment of the partners of the County 
Durham LTP which strive to improve children and young people’s mental health. We 
hope this report had been insightful of the work achieved in County Durham and that 
you continue to follow our journey. 
 
 
 
 
The below documents are Apex documents to support the information above.

Page 308



71 
 

APEX 1 CAMHS Data 

 
Total Referrals 2018/19 

 CCG Name Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total 

NHS DDES 393 438 432 497 437 370 416 436 306 447 381 437 4,990 

NHS NORTH 
DURHAM 326 363 391 334 287 307 300 361 259 298 294 329 3,849 

  719 801 823 831 724 677 716 797 565 745 675 766 8,839 

 

Referral Source Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total 

Other service or agency 126 181 175 191 150 127 148 180 135 180 140 191 1,924 

General Medical Practitioner Practice 105 113 108 158 103 88 129 114 101 109 112 109 1,349 

Community Mental Health Team (Adult Mental 
Health) 111 83 88 90 138 102 86 80 33 90 67 77 1,045 

Carer/Relative 4 17 6 11 6 7 4 15 1 10 5 10 96 

Education Service / Educational Establishment 3 3 2 5 3 6 10 8 0 4 4 7 55 

Accident And Emergency Department 15 16 17 15 8 11 13 13 13 13 12 14 160 

Self   4 8 12 9 12 9 10 11 10 28 23 13 149 

Other secondary care specialty 17 6 11 10 9 3 10 8 7 10 12 13 116 

Social Services 1 2 2 2 1 0 1 3 2 0 0 2 16 

Transfer by graduation from CAMHS to Adult  2 3 2 1 2 2 2 0 1 3 0 0 18 

School Nurse 0 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 

Police   1 2 0 1 2 7 0 1 1 0 0 0 15 

Inpatient Service (Adult Mental Health) 2 1 5 1 1 5 2 2 0 0 3 1 23 

Other Primary Health Care 0 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 4 

Not Recorded 1 1 3 1 1 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 10 

Internal Referral 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Single Point of Access Service 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 3 

Other Independent Sector Mental Health Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

P
age 309



72 
 

Voluntary Sector 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Hospital-based Paediatrics 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 3 

Jobcentre Plus 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Probation Service 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Out of Area Agency 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Community Mental Health Team (CAMHS) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Courts   0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Permanent transfer from another Trust 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Total 393 438 432 497 437 370 416 436 306 447 381 437 4,990 

 
 

              CYP Ref Source North Durham Referral Source 2018/19 

 Referral Source Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total 

Other service or agency 142 136 168 144 94 108 97 156 108 110 130 135 1,528 

General Medical Practitioner Practice 101 106 104 92 62 80 97 105 82 89 87 95 1,100 

Community Mental Health Team (Adult Mental 
Health) 42 58 52 34 70 66 56 49 41 42 37 50 597 

Transfer by graduation from CAMHS to Adult 16 22 15 16 38 14 5 3 2 10 7 0 148 

Accident And Emergency Department 9 13 19 8 12 14 16 16 8 12 9 11 147 

Self   6 5 10 8 5 7 8 12 4 27 14 17 123 

Carer/Relative 2 8 3 8 0 6 3 5 5 6 4 6 56 

Education Service / Educational Establishment 4 7 4 4 0 6 5 5 5 1 3 6 50 

Other secondary care specialty 2 1 4 5 1 0 4 4 1 0 1 5 28 

Inpatient Service (Adult Mental Health) 2 1 2 0 1 3 4 2 1 0 0 2 18 

Police   0 3 3 6 1 1 1 0 0 0 1 0 16 

Internal Referral 0 2 4 2 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 9 

Other Primary Health Care 0 1 0 3 1 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 8 

Single Point of Access Service 0 0 0 3 0 1 1 0 0 0 1 1 7 

Social Services 0 0 1 0 1 1 0 2 0 0 0 1 6 

P
age 310



73 
 

Not Recorded 0 0 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 4 

School Nurse 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Other Independent Sector Mental Health Services 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 

Community Mental Health Team (CAMHS) 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Permanent transfer from another  Trust 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 

Total   326 363 391 334 287 307 300 361 259 298 294 329 3,849 

  

P
age 311



74 
 

 
Face to Face Contacts 2018/19 

 CCG Name Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total 

DDES 1,982 2,379 2,521 2,626 2,165 2,089 2,447 2,463 1,911 2,618 1,998 2,507 27,706 

 NORTH 
DURHAM  1,553 1,849 2,021 1,959 1,750 1,669 1,856 1,963 1,305 1,711 1,623 1,766 21,025 

  3,535 4,228 4,542 4,585 3,915 3,758 4,303 4,426 3,216 4,329 3,621 4,273 48,731 

 

 
Discharges 2018/19 

 CCG Name Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total 

DDES 413 368 375 510 572 370 393 411 295 405 369 344 4,825 

NORTH 
DURHAM 318 322 398 388 446 281 296 330 259 276 283 231 3,828 

  731 690 773 898 1,018 651 689 741 554 681 652 575 8,653 

 

 
DNA 2018/19 

 CCG Name Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total 

DDES 10 15 9 5 12 4 15 12 7 20 31 18 158 

NORTH 
DURHAM  11 19 18 11 10 8 8 6 8 22 12 13 146 

  21 34 27 16 22 12 23 18 15 42 43 31 304 

 

 
Inappropriate Ref2018/19 

 CCG Name Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total 

DDES 168 162 205 216 251 159 185 202 130 170 170 148 2,166 

NORTH 
DURHAM  129 131 191 165 139 112 135 151 119 105 129 92 1,598 

  297 293 396 381 390 271 320 353 249 275 299 240 3,764 

P
age 312



75 
 

Apex 2 

Eating disorders 

 
Referrals 2018/19 

 CCG Name Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total 

DDES 14 14 17 17 15 13 12 15 7 12 18 6 160 

 NORTH 
DURHAM 15 13 13 13 12 22 31 15 12 12 23 8 189 

  29 27 30 30 27 35 43 30 19 24 41 14 349 

 

 
Face to Face 2018/19 

 CCG Name Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Total 

DDES 146 257 328 412 315 273 439 302 191 163 304 462 3,592 

 NORTH 
DURHAM 274 299 422 408 365 303 295 242 118 127 243 331 3,427 

  420 556 750 820 680 576 734 544 309 290 547 793 7,019 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

P
age 313



76 
 

Apex 3 

Tier 4 service 

Tier 4   2018/19 
 

2019/20 

Subjective Code Desc Subjective Summary WTE budget 
 

WTE budget 

Administrative And Clerical B4 Admin & Clerical 1.00 
 

1.00 

  B3 Admin & Clerical 3.80 
 

3.80 

  B2 Admin & Clerical 3.50 
 

3.50 

Administrative And Clerical Total   8.30 
 

8.30 

Allied Health Professionals B6 Dietitian 1.25 
 

1.25 

  B7 Dietitian 0.00 
 

0.00 

  B3 Dietitian 0.50 
 

0.50 

  
B6 Occupational 
Therapist 2.00 

 
2.00 

  
B3 Occupational 
Therapist 0.60 

 
0.60 

Allied Health Professionals Total   4.35 
 

4.35 

Medical And Dental Consultant 3.90 
 

3.90 

  
Staff Grade 
Practitioner 1.00 

 
1.00 

Medical And Dental Total   4.90 
 

4.90 

Nursing, Midwifery And Health Visiting B8c Nurse Consultant 1.00 
 

1.00 

  B8a Nurse Manager 2.00 
 

2.00 

  B7 Nurse Manager 3.00 
 

3.00 

  B7 Qualified Nurse 2.90 
 

2.90 

  B6 Qualified Nurse 6.00 
 

6.00 

  B5 Qualified Nurse 33.91 
 

33.91 

  B4 Unqualified Nurse 0.00 
 

0.00 

  B3 Unqualified Nurse 50.38 
 

50.38 

Nursing, Midwifery And Health Visiting Total   99.19 
 

99.19 

Scientific Therapeutic And Technical B8a Psychologist 1.80 
 

1.80 

  B8c Psychologist 1.29 
 

1.29 

  B7 psychologist 0.00 
 

0.00 

  B5 Psychologist 2.00 
 

2.00 

P
age 314



77 
 

Scientific Therapeutic And Technical Total   5.09 
 

5.09 

Grand Total   121.83 
 

121.83 

 
Crisis 2018 

County Durham and Darlington CHILD AND YP D AND D CRISIS 2018 
Budget 

WTE 
Budget 

WTE 

Subjective Summary Subjective Code Desc 
DDES 
CCG 

North 
Durham 

CCG 

Administrative And Clerical B4 Admin & Clerical 0.48 0.37 

  B3 Admin & Clerical 0.00 0.00 

Nursing, Midwifery And Health Visiting B6 Qualified Nurse 5.45 4.27 

 B7 Nurse Manager 0.00 0.00 

  B7 Qualified Nurse 0.48 0.37 

Scientific Therapeutic And Technical B8b Psychologist 0.00 0.00 

Grand Total   6.41 5.01 

 
Crisis 2019 

County Durham and Darlington CHILD AND YP D AND D CRISIS 2019 
 

Budget 
WTE 

Budget 
WTE 

Subjective Summary Subjective Code Desc 
 

DDES 
CCG 

North 
Durham 

CCG 

Administrative And Clerical B4 Admin & Clerical 
 

0.48 0.37 

  B3 Admin & Clerical 
 

0.00 0.00 

Nursing, Midwifery And Health Visiting B6 Qualified Nurse 
 

5.45 4.27 

 B7 Nurse Manager 
 

0.48 0.37 

  B7 Qualified Nurse 
 

0.48 0.37 

Scientific Therapeutic And Technical B8b Psychologist 
 

0.00 0.00 

Grand Total   
 

6.89 5.38 

P
age 315



78 
 

Eating Disorders 2018 

County Durham and Darlington CHILD AND YP D AND D EATING DISORDERS 
Budget 

WTE 
Budget 

WTE 

Subjective Summary Subjective Code Desc 
DDES 
CCG 

North 
Durham 

CCG 

Administrative And Clerical B3 Admin & Clerical 0.48 0.37 

Medical And Dental Consultant 0.29 0.22 

Nursing, Midwifery And Health Visiting B4 Unqualified Nurse 0.95 0.75 

  B5 Qualified Nurse 0.00 0.00 

  B6 Qualified Nurse 1.43 1.12 

  B7 Nurse Manager 0.48 0.37 

  B7 Qualified Nurse 0.48 0.37 

Scientific Therapeutic And Technical B5 Dietitian 0.48 0.37 

  B6 Dietitian 0.48 0.37 

  B7 Dietitian 0.00 0.00 

  B7 Psychologist 0.00 0.00 

  B8a Psychologist 0.48 0.37 

  B8c Psychologist 0.00 0.00 

Grand Total   5.55 4.31 

 
Eating Disorders 2019 

County Durham and Darlington CHILD AND YP D AND D EATING DISORDERS 
 

Budget 
WTE 

Budget 
WTE 

Subjective Summary Subjective Code Desc 
 

DDES 
CCG 

North 
Durham 

CCG 

Administrative And Clerical B3 Admin & Clerical 
 

0.48 0.37 

Medical And Dental Consultant 
 

0.29 0.22 

P
age 316



79 
 

Nursing, Midwifery And Health Visiting B4 Unqualified Nurse 
 

0.95 0.75 

  B5 Qualified Nurse 
 

0.00 0.00 

  B6 Qualified Nurse 
 

1.43 1.12 

  B7 Nurse Manager 
 

0.48 0.37 

  B7 Qualified Nurse 
 

0.48 0.37 

Scientific Therapeutic And Technical B5 Dietitian 
 

0.48 0.37 

  B6 Dietitian 
 

0.48 0.37 

  B7 Dietitian 
 

0.00 0.00 

  B7 Psychologist 
 

0.00 0.00 

  B8a Psychologist 
 

0.48 0.37 

  B8c Psychologist 
 

0.00 0.00 

Grand Total   
 

5.55 4.31 

 
Tier 3 

County Durham and Darlington CHILD AND YP - TIER 3 2018 

 
2019 

Subjective Summary Subjective Code Desc DDES CCG 

North 
Durham 

CCG 
Grand 
Total 

 

DDES 
CCG 

North 
Durham 

CCG 
Grand 
Total 

Administrative And Clerical B2 Admin & Clerical 2.00 1.48 3.48 
 

2.00 1.48 3.48 

  B3 Admin & Clerical 4.07 4.60 8.67 
 

4.07 4.60 8.67 

  B4 Admin & Clerical 4.56 3.60 8.16 
 

4.56 3.60 8.16 

Medical And Dental Associate Specialist 0.00 1.00 1.00 
 

0.00 1.00 1.00 

  Consultant 4.60 2.15 6.75 
 

4.60 2.15 6.75 

  Staff Grade Practitioner 0.00 0.80 0.80 
 

0.00 0.20 0.20 

Nursing, Midwifery And Health Visiting B4 Unqualified Nurse 1.00 1.00 2.00 
 

1.00 1.00 2.00 

  B3 Unqualified Nurse 0.00 1.00 1.00 
 

0.00 1.00 1.00 

  B5 Qualified Nurse 2.00 1.00 3.00 
 

2.00 1.00 3.00 

  B6 Nurse Manager 1.00 1.00 2.00 
 

1.00 1.00 2.00 

  B6 Qualified Nurse 9.43 5.31 14.74 
 

9.43 5.00 14.43 

  B7 Nurse Manager 2.00 1.00 3.00 
 

2.00 1.00 3.00 P
age 317



80 
 

  B7 Qualified Nurse 3.00 2.50 5.50 
 

2.00 1.50 3.50 

  B8a Nurse Consultant 0.00 1.00 1.00 
 

0.00 1.00 1.00 

Scientific Therapeutic And Technical B4 Psychologist 0.00 1.00 1.00 
 

0.00 1.00 1.00 

  B6 Psychologist 0.00 0.00 0.00 
 

0.00 0.00 0.00 

  B7 Psychologist 2.00 0.65 2.65 
 

2.00 0.65 2.65 

  B8a Psychologist 2.70 2.30 5.00 
 

2.70 2.30 5.00 

  B8c Psychologist 1.80 0.70 2.50 
 

1.80 0.70 2.50 

Grand Total   40.16 32.09 72.25 

 
39.16 30.18 69.34 

 

Learning Disabilities 

County Durham and Darlington CHILD AND YP - LD 

Budget 
WTE 
2018 

Budget 
WTE 
2018 

 

Budget 
WTE  
2019 

Budget 
WTE 
2019 

Subjective Summary Subjective Code Desc DDES CCG 

North 
Durham 

CCG 

 

DDES 
CCG 

North 
Durham 

CCG 

Administrative And Clerical B3 Admin & Clerical 1.07 0.00 
 

1.07 0.00 

Allied Health Professionals B7 Speech Therapist 0.24 0.19 
 

0.24 0.19 

Medical And Dental Consultant 0.84 0.65 
 

0.84 0.65 

Nursing, Midwifery And Health Visiting B3 Unqualified Nurse 0.76 1.00 
 

0.76 1.00 

  B4 Unqualified Nurse 1.34 1.04 
 

1.34 1.04 

  B5 Qualified Nurse 0.48 0.37 
 

0.48 0.37 

  B6 Qualified Nurse 2.68 2.06 
 

2.68 2.06 

  B7 Qualified Nurse 0.96 0.74 
 

0.96 0.74 

Scientific Therapeutic And Technical B4 Psychologist 0.48 0.37 
 

0.48 0.37 

  B7 Psychologist 0.00 1.00 
 

0.00 1.00 

  B8a Psychologist 0.30 0.30 
 

0.30 0.30 

  B8c Psychologist 0.45 0.00 
 

0.45 0.00 

Grand Total   9.60 7.71 

 
9.60 7.71 

P
age 318



81 
 

Tier 2 

Targeted Team CHILD AND YP - TIER 2 

Budget 
WTE 
2018 

Budget 
WTE 
2018 

 

Budget 
WTE 
2019 

Budget 
WTE 
2019 

Subjective Summary Subjective Code Desc DDES CCG 

North 
Durham 

CCG 

 

DDES 
CCG 

North 
Durham 

CCG 

Administrative And Clerical B2 Admin & Clerical 0.30 0.24 
 

0.00 0.00 

  B3 Admin & Clerical 0.00 0.00 
 

0.48 0.37 

Nursing, Midwifery And Health Visiting B3 Unqualified Nurse 0.54 0.42 
 

0.54 0.42 

  B4 Unqualified Nurse 0.48 0.37 
 

0.48 0.37 

  B6 Qualified Nurse 8.45 6.61 
 

8.45 6.61 

  B7 Qualified Nurse 0.95 0.75 
 

0.95 0.75 

Grand Total   10.72 8.39 

 
10.90 8.52 

       

 
Autism  

  CHILD AND YP - TIER 3   

  
  

 

CHILD AND YP D AND D AUTISM   

Budget 
WTE 
2018 

Budget 
WTE 
2018 

 

Budget 
WTE 
2019 

Budget 
WTE 
2019 

Subjective Summary Subjective Code Desc DDES CCG 

North 
Durham 

CCG 

 

DDES 
CCG 

North 
Durham 

CCG 

Allied Health Professionals B7 Speech Therapist 1.39 1.20 
 

0.91 0.84 

 
B6 Speech Therapist 0.00 0.00 

 
0.96 0.85 

  
B6 Occupational 
Therapist 0.53 0.47 

 
0.00 0.00 

Nursing, Midwifery And Health Visiting B6 Qualified Nurse 1.59 1.41 
 

4.50 4.11 

  B7 Nurse Manager 0.00 0.00 
 

0.48 0.36 

  B7 Qualified Nurse 0.53 0.47 
 

0.00 0.00 

P
age 319



82 
 

Medical And Dental Specialty Doctors 0.00 0.00 
 

1.06 0.89 

Administrative And Clerical B3 Admin & Clerical 0.00 0.00 
 

0.86 0.67 

  B4 Psychologist 1.06 0.94 
 

1.22 1.11 

  B8a Psychologist 0.00 0.00 
 

0.20 0.15 

Scientific Therapeutic And Technical B8c Psychologist 0.48 0.37 
 

0.81 0.65 

Grand Total   5.58 4.86 

 
11.00 9.63 

 
Early Intervention in Psychosis 

    2018/19 
 

2019/20 

EIP 
County Durham and 

Darlington 
North 

Durham 

South 
Durham & 

Dton 
 

North 
Durham 

South 
Durham & 

Dton 

    
WTE 

Budget 
WTE 

Budget 

 

WTE 
Budget 

WTE 
Budget 

Medical Consultant 0.00 1.00 
 

0.00 1.00 

  Associate Specialist 1.00 0.00 
 

1.00 0.00 

Manager B7 Nurse Manager 1.00 1.00 
 

1.00 1.00 

Nursing B7 Qualified Nurse 0.50 0.50 
 

0.50 0.50 

  B6 Qualified Nurse 7.60 7.60 
 

8.00 7.60 

  B5 Qualified Nurse 4.00 2.00 
 

4.00 2.00 

  B3 UnQualified Nurse 2.00 1.00 
 

2.50 0.00 

  B2 Unqualified Nurse 0.00 0.00 
 

0.00 0.00 

  B4 Unqualified Nurse 1.00 0.00 
 

0.50 1.00 

  B4 IPS worker 1.00 1.00 
 

1.00 1.00 

  B8b Psychologist 0.00 1.00 
 

0.00 1.00 

  B8a Psychologist 1.00 0.00 
 

1.00 0.00 

  B8d Psychologist 0.15 0.00 
 

0.00 0.00 

  B7 Psychologist 1.82 1.94 
 

1.82 1.94 

  B3 Admin & Clerical 1.00 1.00 
 

1.00 1.00 

  B2 Admin & Clerical 0.48 0.00 
 

0.48 0.00 

Pay Sub 
total   22.55 18.04 

 

22.80 18.04 

P
age 320



83 
 

Apex 4 

Examples of comments as part of the World MH Day Event to inform planning 
 

 
Priority Area 

 
Wishes for the 

future 
(aspirations) 

 
Areas that had you 
bowled over (good 

things) 

 
Areas that had you 

stumped (areas to improve 
on) 

 

 
Promote 

resilience, 
prevention and 

early intervention 
 

 

 Emotional 
wellbeing / 
meditation 
classes in 
schools. 

 

 Raise 
awareness 
amongst 
young people 
of self-care 
and their own 
ability & 
judgement to 
know what will 
help them. 

 

 That mental 
health 
becomes 
something 
that people 
are not afraid 
of, and 
stigmatised 
for. 

 

 

 Early 
intervention in 
Psychosis 
Team - person 
listened to, DBT 
better than 
CBT. 
 

 Knowledge 
about what to 
do to keep 
healthy 
mentally. 

 

 Advances in 
Co-Production. 

 

 Engagement 
with parents 
and young 
people. 

 

 Increased 
awareness of 

what's out there 

 

 Year 6 – transition. 
 

 Mindfulness/stimulation 
and mental health 
support in primary. 

 

 How do we 
support/challenge 
schools and education 
settings - do the right 
thing? 

 
 

 My biggest concern as 
a mother is the mental 
health of my 10yr old 
son, who is starting 
secondary school next 
year and is very scared 
of being bullied. I don't 
really know where to 
go when/if the school 
will not do enough 
about it. 

 

 
Improving access 

and effective 
support 

 

 

 Less tick 
boxes - 10 
sessions over 
x time 
(flexibility). 

 

 Max 4w 
waiting times. 

 

 Consistency 
with 1:1 
workers. 

 

 Easy access 
to services 
and an 

 

 Rollercoaster 
support group - 
online and in 
person is a 
massive source 
of support & 
friendship - glad 
funding is 
continuing. 
 

 MCT are 
invaluable in 
having a parent 
carer voice 
nationally. 

 

 

 Accessing Services. 
 

 Lack of services. 
 

 Length of time for 1-1 
support. 

 

 Long waiting lists. 
 

 Signposting to correct 
service. 

 

 Criteria to access 
services is strict. 

 

Page 321



84 
 

increased 
awareness of 
what is 
available. 

 

 More low cost 
activity 
centres for 
families to 
access. 

 

 1:1 working 
outside of 
school & home. 

 
 

 YASC - getting 
support and 
access to 
helpful services. 
 

 Street Triage 
because it was 
instant and 
effective 
support. 

 

 
Caring for the 

most vulnerable 
 

 

 Support for 
dual needs 
e.g. mental 
health and 
other need. 

 More help for 
isolated 
teenagers. 

 For all the 
people in 
need to get all 
the help they 
need. 

 

 
(this area was 

blank) 

 

 What's available for 
those who don't want 
to be helped. 
 

 My kiddo is nearly 
17yrs old, has social 
anxiety, asperges and 
they are transgender. 
We have struggled with 
my child not having a 
life. They have been 
isolated for 3 years in 
their bedroom. CAMHS 
haven't helped very 
much at all. 

 Need universal offer for 
all - not just identified 
vulnerable groups. 

 

 
Workforce/Training 
 

 

 That children 
in schools all 
obtain the 
mental health 
awareness 
training and 
support they 
deserve. 

 

 School staff 
training to 
support CYP 
mental health. 

 

 More 
resources, 
training & 

 

 Pleased that 
mental health 
services are 
starting to 
engage more. 
 

 Working 
together 

 

 For mental 
health to be 
considered on 
the same level 
as physical 
health. 

 

 The Police. 

 

 Staff turnover. 
 

 Unstable staff at 
school, constant 
supply. 
 

 Staff - no certainty 
 

Page 322



85 
 

funding. 
 

 School 
development - 
staff trained 
about mental 
health and 
equipped. 

 

 More parent / 
carer training. 

 

 

 Great feedback 
on fast track 
ASD 
assessments. 

 

 Feedback 
 

 Mental health is 
everyone's 
business and 
recognised as 
that. 

 

 
Other areas of 

focus 
 

 

 More services 
for specific 
things. 
 

 Child / Young 
person to be 
heard. 

 

 Stronger 
health 
communities 
that 'parent' 
the children in 
the 
community. 

 

 Parents & 
young people 
on all panels, 
meetings and 
interviews. 

 

 No postcode 
lottery. 

 

 

 Real life 
experience 
stories. 
 

 Being open 
when I was a 
stranger. 

 

 Young people's 
bravery / 
commitment. 

 

 Honesty 
between 
people. 

 

 More open 
discussions. 

 

 Positive energy 
about driving 
the agenda 
forward with 
multi-agency 
apparent; 
Professionals, 
Young People 
and Parents. 

 

 Seem to be a 
lot of projects. 

 

 

 Inconsistent advice. 
 

 Transition from 
children to adult. 

 

 Having to repeat 
yourself. 

 
 

 Assessment process. 
 

 Voice of child - telling 
their story too many 
times. 

 

 Getting the right 
support at the right 
time. 

 

 Children & young 
people with a raft of 
issues, including 
mental health - due to 
poor 
behaviour/inappropriat
e behaviour are 
excluded. 

 
 

 

Page 323



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 
 

Making Mental Health Everybody’s Business 
Children and Young People’s Mental Health, Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience Plan 
 
Three overarching aims for the LTP for 2018-2020 

 
 
 

1. Have a clear, transparent 
mental health offer for children 
and young people that is easy 
to access. This starts from 
universal prevention / early 
intervention, moving through to 
providing effective support and 
treatment.  See THRIVE model 
below (Tavistock and Portman NHS Foundation Trust) 

 
 

2. Have a CYP workforce that is skilled, 
competent and confident to talk 
about mental health, understands 
mental health issues and can 
effectively support and/or signpost/ 
refer. 

3. A developed and well tested 
mental health and wellbeing 
communications strategy. This 
will be a collaborative approach 
providing clarity of what is 
available in County Durham. 

             
  

NOTE: 
The mental health integrated needs assessment fact sheet is available at https://www.durhaminsight.info/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/MentalHealthAndWellbeingHSCW015.pdf this covers all applicable mental health intelligence 
available. 

 

Glossary: 
 
ASD    Autism spectrum disorder 
CAMHS   child and adolescent mental health services 
CDYOS  County Durham youth offenders services 
CYP    Children and Young people 
DRP    Durham Resilience Programme: Schools based covering all ages 
FE    Further education setting 
LAC   Looked after children 
LGBT+   Lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender and other groups  
MH    Mental health 
MHEWB  Mental health and emotional wellbeing 
SDQ    Strengths and difficulties questionnaire 
SEND    Special educational needs and disability 
SPOC   Single point of contact 
YAM    Youth aware mental health programme – for year 9 students (13-14 yrs) 
VCS    Voluntary and community sector 
 

P
age 125

P
age 325

http://www.durhaminsight.info/wp-content/uploads/2018/05/MentalHealthAndWellbeingHSCW015.pdf


 

 

 

County Durham’s Children and Young People’s Mental Health Emotional 
Wellbeing and Resilience Transformation Plan 2018-2020 

 

Children, Young People and their Families in County Durham to be supported to achieve their optimum mental health and wellbeing 
 
 

    
 

   
 

   
 

   
 

    

Promoting Resilience, Prevention 
and Early Intervention 

Improving Access and Effective Support Caring for the Most Vulnerable (LAC, care leavers, adopted, young carers,  
LGBT+, youth offenders, CYP with SEND, those with a known MH disorder) 

Workforce 

 
1. Continue with bereavement support and embed as 

mainstream offer 
2. CYP in crisis have access to support in the right place and 

close to home as possible 
3. Roll out intensive home treatment including community support 
4. Review and implement a multi-media support offer for 

advice, support and low-level interventions including 
digital platforms and social media technology 

5. Establish an autism assessment team to reduce the delay 
in diagnosis for ASD by redesigned pathway. 

1. Understand the MH needs of our vulnerable populations and commission/ provide 
targeted support accordingly based on identified need 

2. Reduce the rate of self-harm through the better identification of CYP, provide consistent 
support and develop schools and services to manage self harm in services 

3. Implement recommendations from SEND written statement of action plan 
4. Improve transition for CYP from CAMHS into appropriate adult services 
5. Deliver pre-birth programme and interventions to promote infant attachment, bonding 

and nurturing. 
6. All young people who offend will be assessed for mental health and emotional 

wellbeing needs when referred to CDYOS and given appropriate support 
7. Undertake a review of self-harm and suicide for CYP and reduce the risks/triggers 

through early identification of need 
8. Provide targeted Mental health and emotional wellbeing support for young people who 

are LGBT+ 

Work within: 

• Education  

• Children’s services 

• Universal health services 

 
To improve the CYP workforce’s 
ability to understand mental 
health, and where appropriate 
undertake a brief intervention 
and signpost or refer 
accordingly 

 
1. CYP receiving support and intervention report positive 

goals / outcomes achieved 
2. 90% of CYP who need crisis support will receive it with 

set time thresholds 
3. Intense home treatment is supporting reduction in tier 4 

admissions 
4. Commissioned multimedia offer that CYP can access 
5. Reduce waiting times and increase capacity 

 
1. MH of vulnerable groups will be audited using standard measurements and compared 

to overall outcomes of the group (e.g SDQ in LAC) 
2. A&E attendance for self-harm 
3. Detailed project plan to complete HNA and add to Durham JSNA, action plan implemented 
4. 90% of CYP open to CAMHS will have a good quality transition plan in place by 

age 17 ¾ 
5. Review programme outcomes and include mental health measures 
6. CDYOS health assessments to be audited for quality and impact on mental wellbeing 
7. Analysis of local data on self-harm from crisis dataset to identify children potentially 

at risk of repeated self-harm or suicide  
8. Undertake service review and consultations with redesigned service implemented 

Number of staff trained in 
each of the workforce groups 

 
CYP voice in feedback surveys 
stating that professionals 
understand mental health and 
can help effectively 

 
1. Bereavement support offered at scale which builds the 

resilience of CYP to cope with life adversities 
2. Crisis support will ensure CYP receive a timely 

and appropriate offer of support to reduce risk and 
avoid future crisis events 

3. More treatment within the community, closer to 
home when CYP need it 

4. Low level advice, support and intervention is 
available, which will reduce inappropriate  
CAMHS referrals 

5. CYP / families will have support while going through timely 
assessment 

1. Vulnerable groups needs will be understood and this will see an improvement in 
mental health support including a reduction in self-harm with clear pathways in place 

2. CYP will be coping with life’s adversity through resilience skills 
3. Mental Health needs of CYP with SEND are fully supported as part of SEND 

programme of work 
4. CYP will be effectively supported into the most appropriate service whether in 

mental health services or VCS 
5   Positive impact on the child’s emotional development and family attachment 

with reduction in babies being looked after 
6. All CDYOS cohort of CYP will receive support with their mental health to reduce risk 

of re-offending 
7. CYP who are at increased suicide risk receive earlier support through changes 

in pathways and delivery of services 
8. Improved mental health and wellbeing of LGBT&QI+ and a reduced risk of suicide 

and self-harm 

 
The work force will have the 
right skills at the right level to 
ensure they are confident and 
competent to support CYP. 

Cross 
cutting
themes 

Accountability, Transparency and Governance 
Ongoing monitoring of the implementation plan and progress against identified 
priorities using established national indicators and local metrics for improvement. 

Think Family Intelligence lead and 
sharing of data 

Engagement and Communication 
Implement a proactive engagement and communication strategy to support the delivery of the local 
transformation plan and ensure CYP, families and professionals know how to self-help, what support is available, 
when and how to access it 

Reduce stigma and discrimination about MH in 
communities and schools 
Improve the process to assess, give brief 
intervention and signpost parents during 
antenatal and postnatal period. 
Clear offer of support, advice and guidance for 
parents about  CYP MHEWB 
Support development of MH lead in all schools 
Develop a quality framework for Mental Health 
and wellbeing in schools and FE 
Roll out Durham Resilience Programme (DRP) 
to all primary and special schools 
Roll out Youth Aware Mental health (YAM) to all 
mainstream year 9 pupils and develop an adapted 
version for special schools 

Annual perceptions survey to monitor 
attitude changes in the community 
Number of midwives and health visitors trained 
in PNMH and delivering interventions 
Parents voice is obtained through parent 
engagement with VCS / community groups inc. 
Roller-coaster through an ‘annual conversation’ 
Number of schools/FE with a designated lead 
Implement health related behavior questionnaire 
(HRBQ) to measure mental and physical 
wellbeing – develop baseline 
Evaluation of schools DRP action plans: impact 
of change on school, staff and pupils 
Number of pupils accessing YAM and 
academic evaluation of YAM implementation 

Attitudes will shift to become more accepting that 
MH is every bodies business and we all have MH 
Women are better supported during and after 
pregnancy, improving attachment with their baby 
Parents will be better informed and resilient to 
support their children’s mental health 
Schools/FE  will have a SPOC for mental health  
Increase in mental wellbeing from HRBQ and 
reduced hospital admissions for self-harm (aged 10-
24 yrs) 
CYP are better supported in primary schools as  
staff and school environment promote resilience   
Pupils aged 13 to 14 years will be better 
equipped to manage life’s adversities, know how 
to support a friend and understand what support 
is available in County Durham 

W
ha

t d
iff

er
en

ce
 w

ill
 it

 
ha

ve
 m

ad
e 

to
 C

YP
? 

Ho
w

 w
ill

 w
e 

M
ea

su
re

 it
? 

W
ha

t a
re

 w
e 

G
oi

ng
 to

 d
o?

 

P
age 126

P
age 326


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 29 January 2020
	5 Selective Licensing: Report of Interim Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services, Durham County Council
	Item 5 - Selective Licensing - Presentation

	6 Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy: Report of Head of Partnerships and Community Engagement, Durham County Council
	Item 6 - Appendix 2 - JHWS 2020-25
	Item 6 - Appendix 4 - JHWS EIA

	8 County Durham Place Based Commissioning and Delivery Plan. 2020-25: Report of Corporate Director of Adults and Health Services, Durham County Council, and Chief Officer Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield and North Durham Clinical Commissioning Groups
	Item 8 - Appendix 2 - County Durham Place Based Commissioning Plan

	9 North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust update: Report of Head of Strategy & Corporate Affairs, North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust
	Item 9 - NTH NHS FT Strategy 2020-25 - Presentation

	10 GP Workforce Sustainability: Report of Director of Commissioning, Strategy and Development, Durham Dales, Easington and Sedgefield CCG and North Durham CCG
	11 Vaping Consensus Statement: Update from Director of Public Health, Durham County Council and Chief Officer, Durham Dales, Easington & Sedgefield and North Durham CCG
	Item 11 - Vaping Consensus Statement

	12 County Durham Approach to Wellbeing: Update of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council
	Item 12 - County Durham Approach to Wellbeing - Presentation

	13 Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns: Presentation of Director of Public Health, Durham County Council
	14 Children and Young People's Mental Health and Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan Assurance report: Report Director of Public Health, Durham County Council and Director of Corporate Programmes, Delivery and Operations, County Durham CCG's
	Item 14 - CYP MH LTP
	Item 14 - Appendix 4 - POP
	9 The children and young people's mental health, emotional wellbeing and resilience local transformation plan on a page consultation - Report of Corporate Director, Children and Young People's Services, Durham County Council, and Director of Public Health, Durham County Council
	Item 9 - CYP MH LTP - Appendix 2






